# Epidemiology and Health Care Utilization Associated with Chronic Pain in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada: A Population-Based Study Using Health Administrative Data

by

©Heather Elizabeth Foley

A Thesis submitted to the

School of Graduate Studies

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

### **Doctor of Philosophy (Community Health and Humanities)**

### **Faculty of Medicine**

Memorial University of Newfoundland

### February 2021

St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada

#### Abstract

**Background:** Chronic pain exerts a tremendous burden on individuals, families, and society, and has a high estimated prevalence (up to 54% globally and 44% in Canada) and direct health care cost (\$7.2 billion in Canada in 2014). Most Canadian epidemiological and cost estimates do not include Newfoundland and Labrador; a knowledge gap potentially filled using health administrative data.

**Aim:** To extract information about chronic pain as a single chronic disease in Newfoundland and Labrador using health administrative data.

**Methods:** Health administrative data algorithms that identify cases of chronic pain as a single chronic disease were derived from the Newfoundland and Labrador Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physician Claims File and Provincial Discharge Abstract Data of known chronic pain populations, and validated against an audit of the electronic medical records data of a primary care population sample. The most performant algorithm was used to identify chronic pain cases from fee-for-service physician claims data in Newfoundland and Labrador, which allowed estimation of both chronic pain incidence/prevalence, and chronic pain association with comorbidity presence and annual health care utilization.

**Results:** The most performant validated algorithm to ascertain chronic pain cases from Newfoundland and Labrador administrative data had 70.3% sensitivity, 66.8% specificity, and 40.3% positive predictive value. As defined by the algorithm, the 2009/10 age-standardized Newfoundland and Labrador chronic pain prevalence was estimated at 37,469 per 100,000 population and incidence rate was estimated at 4,585 per 100,000

ii

person-years at risk. Estimates were higher in females, residents of urban areas, and with increasing age. Residents identified as chronic pain cases had two to four times the odds of having a chronic comorbidity and up to twice the rate of publicly funded health care utilization compared to residents not identified as chronic pain cases.

**Conclusions:** A health administrative data algorithm was derived and validated to identify chronic pain cases and estimate disease burden in residents attending fee-for-service physician encounters in Newfoundland and Labrador. The Chronic Pain Algorithm identified almost four out of ten Newfoundland and Labrador residents and they had a higher prevalence of comorbidities and utilization of publicly funded health services.

**Key Words:** chronic pain, validation, health administrative data, population-based, epidemiology, incidence, prevalence, comorbidity, health care utilization

#### **General Summary**

Chronic pain affects the physical, psychological, social, and financial health of individuals, families, and communities. It is reported that one in five Canadians has chronic pain costing the health care system approximately \$7.2 billion annually. Our focus was to calculate statistics not previously reported about chronic pain in Newfoundland and Labrador by using data that is regularly collected each time a Newfoundland and Labrador resident attends an appointment with a doctor or is discharged from a hospital. This data is called health administrative data.

Data from people already diagnosed with chronic pain was used to build an algorithm that identifies them in Newfoundland and Labrador health administrative data. Algorithm accuracy was checked against an anonymous audit of medical charts from patients of local family doctors. We selected the best algorithm and identified people with chronic pain from the 1999-2010 health administrative data of all Newfoundland and Labrador residents. In 2009/10, 37.5% of Newfoundland and Labrador residents were identified, and 4.6% were newly identified, with chronic pain. We found that chronic pain was more common in females and people living in urban areas. Chronic pain also became more common as residents got older.

The presence of 16 different chronic diseases was determined, and the frequency of doctor visits, radiology tests, and hospital admissions for one year was counted. Residents in Newfoundland and Labrador identified with chronic pain were up to four times more likely to also have another chronic disease than residents not identified with chronic pain. They also used doctor and hospital services up to twice as often during one year.

iv

Despite its limitations, health administrative data provided the resources to derive estimates on chronic pain not previously available. These findings can help stimulate change in public health and health care delivery to decrease the impact of chronic pain on residents, their communities, the economy, and the health care system in Newfoundland and Labrador.

#### **Co-authorship Statement**

Chapter 1: Introduction.

Author: Heather Elizabeth Foley, B.Sc.P.T. (HF)

Author Contributions: HF drafted Chapter 1 and made substantial contributions to its content and revision. Michelle Ploughman, Ph.D. (MP) contributed to the draft writing and revision of Chapter 1. Rick Audas, Ph.D. (RA) contributed to the draft writing and revision of Chapter 1. John Knight, Ph.D. (JK) contributed to revision of Chapter 1. Shabnam Asghari, M.D., Ph.D. (SA) contributed to revision of Chapter 1.

Chapter 2: Identifying Cases of Chronic Pain Using Health Administrative Data: A Validation Study.

Authors: Heather Elizabeth Foley B.Sc.P.T., John C. Knight, Ph.D., Michelle

Ploughman, Ph.D., Shabnam Asghari, M.D., Ph.D., Rick Audas, Ph.D.

Author Contributions: All authors read and approved the submitted version of Chapter 2. All authors agreed to be personally responsible for their own contribution and ensure that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work, even ones in which the author was not personally involved, are appropriately investigated, resolved, and the resolution documented in the literature. HF drafted the work and substantively revised it, and made substantial contributions towards the study design, data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation. JK substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards the study design, data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation. MP substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards study conception and design and data acquisition and interpretation. SA made substantial contributions towards study design, and data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation, and writing of the manuscript. RA substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions to the study design, and data acquisition and interpretation.

Chapter 3: Incidence and Prevalence of Chronic Pain in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada: A Retrospective Cohort Study Using Health Administrative Data.

Authors: Heather Elizabeth Foley, B.Sc.P.T., John C. Knight, Ph.D., Michelle Ploughman, Ph.D., Shabnam Asghari, M.D., Ph.D., Rick Audas, Ph.D.

Author Contributions: All authors read and approved the submitted version of Chapter 3. All authors agreed to be personally responsible for their own contribution and ensure that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work, even ones in which the author was not personally involved, are appropriately investigated, resolved, and the resolution documented in the literature. HF drafted the work and substantively revised it, and made substantial contributions towards the study design, data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation. JK substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards study design, data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation. MP substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards study conception and design, and data acquisition and interpretation. SA substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards study design, and data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation. RA substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions to the study design, and data acquisition and interpretation.

Chapter 4: Association of Chronic Pain with Comorbidities and Health Care Utilization: A Retrospective Cohort Study Using Health Administrative Data.

vii

Authors: Heather Elizabeth Foley, B.Sc.P.T., John C. Knight, Ph.D., Michelle Ploughman, Ph.D., Shabnam Asghari, M.D., Ph.D., Rick Audas, Ph.D.

Author Contributions: All authors read and approved the submitted version of Chapter 4. All authors agreed to be personally responsible for their own contribution and ensure that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work, even ones in which the author was not personally involved, are appropriately investigated, resolved, and the resolution documented in the literature. HF drafted the work and substantively revised it, and made substantial contributions towards the study design, data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation. JK substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards study design, data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation. MP substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards study conception and design and data acquisition and interpretation. SA substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards study design, and data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation. RA substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions to the study design, and data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation.

Chapter 5: Summary.

Author: Heather Elizabeth Foley, B.Sc.P.T.

Author Contributions: HF drafted Chapter 5 and made substantial contributions to its content and revision. RA contributed to revision of Chapter 5. MP contributed to revision of Chapter 5. JK contributed to revision of Chapter 5. SA contributed to revision of Chapter 5.

#### Acknowledgements

We respectfully acknowledge the territory in which we gather as the ancestral homelands of the Beothuk, and the island of Newfoundland as the ancestral homelands of the Mi'kmaq and Beothuk. We would also like to recognize the Inuit of Nunatsiavut and NunatuKavut and the Innu of Nitassinan, and their ancestors, as the original people of Labrador. We strive for respectful relationships with all the peoples of this province as we search for collective healing and true reconciliation and honour this beautiful land together.

I acknowledge that Chapter 2: Identifying Cases of Chronic Pain Using Health Administrative Data: A Validation Study, was published as a preprint online on the Research Square Preprint Platform on December 17, 2019 and was published online in the *Canadian Journal of Pain* on December 3, 2020.

This research was financially supported by the 2013 B.E. Schnurr Memorial Fund Research Grant administered by the Physiotherapy Foundation of Canada, and by the 2012 Eastern Health Research Grant administered by the Health Care Foundation of the Eastern Regional Health Authority. Without the financial assistance of these two funding sources, the research presented in this thesis would not be possible.

I acknowledge the financial assistance received by the Evidence Informed Practice Council of Eastern Health through its Graduate Fellowship, and by the Health Care Foundation of the Eastern Regional Health Authority through its Employee Scholarship Program.

ix

I acknowledge Dr. James Flynn and Elsie Thistle for serving as clinical advisors in chronic pain management and in pain-related diagnostic and procedure code selection, Dr. Carla Dillon for serving as pharmaceutical advisor in pain medication selection, and Dr. Jason McCarthy for assistance in grant applications. I acknowledge all advice and direction provided by all institutions involved in the graduate study and research process.

I thank my academic supervisory committee, Dr. Rick Audas, Dr. John Knight, Dr. Michelle Ploughman, and Dr. Shabnam Asghari, for the opportunity to learn from their extensive knowledge and experience as educators and researchers. I also appreciate their patience, professionalism, encouragement, and respectful guidance throughout my transition into the field of academia and research.

I thank my fellow team members and friends at the Centre for Pain and Disability Management, both present and retired, for truly being the best. I thank my managers and program directors for supporting the completion of my graduate studies and this important project.

Finally, I thank my family, my husband Mike, my daughters Emily and Jessica, my dad Angus, and the memory of my mom Jean, for none of this would be possible without their patience and support. I dedicate this dissertation to them.

## **Table of Contents**

Abstract	ii
General Summary	iv
Co-authorship Statement	vi
Acknowledgements	ix
Lists of Abbreviations	xvii
List of Tables	xix
List of Figures	xxi
List of Appendices	xxii
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 Overview	1
1.2 The Evolution of Pain Theories	4
1.3 Chronic Pain as a Chronic Disease	9
1.4 Quality of Life with Chronic Pain	12
1.5 Chronic Pain Treatment	15
1.6 Cost and Health Care Utilization Associated with Chronic Pain	20
1.7 Chronic Pain Epidemiology	24
1.8 Health Administrative Data as an Epidemiological Data Source	
1.9 Thesis Objectives and Statement of Coherence	
1.10 Co-authorship Statement	34

Chapter 2 Identifying Cases of Chronic Pain using Health Administrative Data: A	
Validation Study	.35
Abstract:	.37
2.1 Introduction	.39
2.2 Methodology	.41
2.2.1 Setting	.42
2.2.2 Reference Standard Cohort and Reference Standard	.43
2.2.3 Administrative Data Sources	.45
2.2.4 Administrative Data Algorithms	.46
2.2.5 Algorithm Application to a Provincial Cohort	.51
2.2.6 Data Linkage	.51
2.2.7 Statistical Analysis	.52
2.3 Results	.54
2.3.1 Reference Standard Cohort Description	.54
2.3.2 Administrative Data Algorithm Development and Preliminary Sensitivity	
Testing	.60
2.3.3 Algorithm Validation and Selection	.62
2.4 Discussion	.71
2.4.1 Achieving Best Case Ascertainment	.72
2.4.2 Ascertainment versus Accuracy	.72

2.4.3 Algorithm Validity to Study Chronic Pain Distribution	73
2.4.4 Strengths and Limitations	74
2.4.5 Generalizability and Future Research	76
2.5 Conclusions	77
2.6 Acknowledgements	78
2.7 Co-authorship Statement	79
2.8 Chapter 2 Appendices	79
Chapter 3 Incidence and Prevalence of Chronic Pain in Newfoundland and Labrador,	
Canada: A Retrospective Cohort Study Using Health Administrative Data10	08
Abstract:	09
3.1 Introduction	11
3.2 Methodology1	13
3.2.1 Setting, Design, and Population Cohort1	13
3.2.2 Administrative Data Sources	13
3.2.3 Chronic Pain Case Identification	14
3.2.4 Statistical Analysis1	16
3.2.5 Ethics Approval and Consent to Participate1	18
3.3 Results	18
3.3.1 Provincial Cohort Characteristics1	18

3.3.2 Prevalence
3.3.3 Incidence Rate
3.4 Discussion
3.4.1 Chronic Pain Prevalence Over Time139
3.4.2 Sex-related Differences in Chronic Pain Distribution
3.4.3 Age-related Differences in Chronic Pain Distribution141
3.4.4 Rural/urban Differences in Chronic Pain Distribution142
3.4.5 Strengths, Limitations, and Generalizability143
3.5 Conclusions145
3.6 Acknowledgements146
3.7 Co-Authorship Statement147
3.8 Chapter 3 Appendix147
Chapter 4 Association of Chronic Pain with Comorbidities and Health Care Utilization: A
Retrospective Cohort Study using Health Administrative Data153
Abstract:
4.1 Introduction156
4.2 Methodology158
4.2.1 Setting, Design, and Population Cohort158
4.2.2 Health Administrative Data Sources159

4.2.3 Data Linkage	
4.2.4 Chronic Pain Case Identification	
4.2.5 Independent Variables	
4.2.5.1 Demographics	
4.2.5.2 Comorbid Conditions	
4.2.6 Dependent Variables	
4.2.6.1 Physician Claims-related Health Care Utiliz	ation163
4.2.6.2 Hospital Admission-related Health Care Uti	lization164
4.2.7 Statistical Analysis	
4.2.8 Ethics Approval and Consent to Participate	
4.3 Results	
4.3.1 Provincial Cohort Characteristics	
4.3.2 Comorbid Conditions	
4.3.3 Health Care Utilization	
4.4 Discussion	
4.4.1 Chronic Pain and Excess Health Care Utilization	ı190
4.4.2 Chronic Pain and Comorbid Conditions	
4.4.3 Pain-related Versus Non-pain-related Care	
4.4.4 Strengths, Limitations, and Generalizability	

4.5 Conclusions	196
4.6 Acknowledgements	197
4.7 Co-authorship Statement	197
Chapter 5 Summary	199
5.1 Thesis Overview	199
5.2 Summary of Findings	201
5.2.1 Chapter 2 Key Findings	201
5.2.2 Chapter 3 Key Findings	
5.2.3 Chapter 4 Key Findings	
5.3 General Discussion of Findings	210
5.3.1 Utilizing Newly Extracted Data to Inform Change in Chronic Pa	ain Care in
Newfoundland and Labrador	210
5.3.2 Recommendations for Short-term Clinical Practice Change	213
5.3.3 Newfoundland and Labrador Health Administrative Data as a D	ata Source on
Chronic Pain	216
5.3.4 Recommendations for Future Research	219
5.4 Concluding Remarks	221
5.5 Co-authorship Statement	221
Chapter 6 Bibliography and References	
Chapter 7 Appendices	273

### Lists of Abbreviations

aROC	area under the Receiver Operating Characteristic curve
ATC	Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical classification codes
CCDSS	Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System
CI	confidence interval
CPCSSN	Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network
CPDM	Centre for Pain and Disability Management
DDD	defined daily dose
DOR	diagnostic odds ratio
EMR	electronic medical record
FN	false negative
FP	false positive
HREB	Health Research Ethics Board
ICD	International Classification of Disease
ICD-9	International Classification of Disease – 9 <sup>th</sup> Revision
ICD-10-CA	International Classification of Disease $-10^{th}$ Revision (Canadian)
ICD-11	International Classification of Disease – 11 <sup>th</sup> Revision
LR-	likelihood ratio negative
LR+	likelihood ratio positive
MCP Claims File	Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims File

MCP	Medical Care Plan
NL Discharge Abstract Data	Provincial Discharge Abstract Database
NL	Newfoundland and Labrador
NPV	negative predictive value
Р	encounter with physician-recorded pain-related diagnostic code
	(Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in Medical Care Plan Fee-for-
	Service Physicians Claims File
PC	encounter with anesthesiologist-recorded pain clinic Medical Care
	Plan provincial procedure billing code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4,
	Appendix 4) in Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physicians
	Claims File
PDAD	Provincial Discharge Abstract Data
PPV	positive predictive value
S	encounter with medical specialist-recorded pain-related diagnostic
	code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in Medical Care Plan
	Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims File or Newfoundland and
	Labrador Provincial Hospital Discharge Abstract Data
TENS	transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation
TN	true negative
TP	true positive
WHO	World Health Organization
YR	year(s)

### List of Tables

Table 2.1. 2011 Demographics of Chronic Pain Group vs. No Chronic Pain Group in
Reference Standard Cohort
Table 2.2. Five Most Common and Five Least Common ICD-9 Pain-related Codes Used
for Chronic Pain Algorithm Selection
Table 2.3. Selection Accuracy of the Chronic Pain Algorithm in Reference Standard
Cohort Age and Sex Strata69
Table 3.1. 2009/10 Fiscal Year Characteristics of the Chronic Pain Group and No Chronic
Pain Group in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada (N=584,875)120
Table 3.2. Crude and Age-Standardized Chronic Pain Prevalence for the 2006-2010
Fiscal Years in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada124
Table 3.3. 2009/10 Fiscal Year Crude and Age-standardized Prevalence for the Regional
Health Authorities in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada130
Table 3.4. Crude and Age-standardized Chronic Pain Incidence Rates per 100,000
Person-years at Risk for the 2006-2010 Fiscal Years in Newfoundland and Labrador,
Canada133
Table 4.1. 2009/10 Fiscal Year Characteristics of the Provincial Cohort in Newfoundland
and Labrador, Canada170
Table 4.2. Association between Comorbid Conditions and Chronic Pain in Newfoundland
and Labrador, Canada178
Table 4.3. Risk to Utilize Health Services in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada in
2009/10

Table 4.4. 2009/10 Fisca	Year Health Service	Utilization Rates	in Newfoundland and
Labrador, Canada			

# List of Figures

Fig. 2.1. Summary of Methodology and Associated Data Flow
Fig. 2.2. 2011 Demographics of the Reference Standard Cohort versus the Newfoundland
and Labrador General Population55
Fig. 2.3. Chronic Pain Algorithm Sensitivity versus Specificity Plot from Validation Step
Fig. 3.1. 2009/10 Fiscal Year Chronic Pain Prevalence per 100,000 by Age Group in
Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada127
Fig. 3.2. 2009/10 Fiscal Year Chronic Pain Incidence Rate per 100,000 Person-years at
Risk by Age Group in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada136
Fig. 4.1a. Comorbid Condition Prevalence by Chronic Pain Case Status in Newfoundland
and Labrador, Canada174
Fig. 4.1b. Chronic Pain Group Percentage by Comorbid Condition Case Status in
Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada176

# List of Appendices

2.8.1 Appendix 2.1. Preliminary Chronic Pain Administrative Data Algorithms and
Sensitivity Testing in Pain Patient Populations80
2.8.2 Appendix 2.2. Selection Accuracy of Chronic Pain Algorithms in Reference
Standard Cohort102
3.8.1 Chapter 3 Appendix. 2006-2010 Fiscal Year Crude Chronic Pain Prevalence and
Incidence Rates for Each Age Group in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada148
7.1 Appendix 1. Anatomical Therapeutic Classification Codes of Opioid Medication Used
Almost Exclusively for Pain Treatment274
7.2 Appendix 2. Pain-related Diagnostic Codes Recorded by Primary Care Providers in
Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network-Newfoundland and Labrador
Electronic Medical Record Data
7.3 Appendix 3. Pain-related Diagnostic Codes Recorded by Physicians in the Medical
Care Plan Fee-For-Service Physicians Claims File and/or Provincial Discharge Abstract
Data of Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada282
7.4 Appendix 4. Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada, Provincial Medical Care Plan
Chronic Pain Clinic Procedure Billing Codes
7.5 Appendix 5. Health Administrative Databases Providing Study Data from
Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada296
7.6 Appendix 6. Summary of Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System Coding
Algorithm Case Definitions for Comorbid Conditions

7.7 Appendix 7. Provincial Medical Care Plan Procedure Billing Codes Used to Desc	ribe
Diagnostic Imaging Claims in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada	308
7.8 Appendix 8. Most Recent Approval from the Health Research Ethics Board of	
Newfoundland and Labrador	316

### **Chapter 1 Introduction**

### 1.1 Overview

Understanding the cause of and treatment for pain has remained elusive throughout human history.<sup>1-4</sup> Despite the advances of modern diagnostic and therapeutic medicine, no one can absolutely define the physical/physiological basis of pain; slowing the progress in pain treatment evolution.<sup>5-10</sup> Pain is said to become chronic after it persists beyond what is considered normal recovery time.<sup>11</sup> Past research defined the transition to chronicity as occurring three to six months post onset.<sup>11-13</sup> In the course of its development of a chronic pain classification system for the International Classification for Disease – 11<sup>th</sup> Revision (ICD-11), the International Association for the Study of Pain formalized the temporal definition of chronic pain as "pain that persists or recurs for longer than three months".<sup>13,14</sup> The phenomenon of pain was defined by the International Association for the Study of Pain in 2020 as "an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with, or resembling that associated with, actual or potential tissue damage".<sup>15</sup> This definition attempted to capture the multidimensional aspects of pain by defining it as an "experience" and confirming the consensus that tissue damage is not required for pain to be felt.<sup>11</sup> The unpleasantness of the pain experience generates a negative impact on the quality of life of the individual experiencing it<sup>10,16,17</sup>; the longer it takes for pain relief to occur the greater the impact.<sup>16,18</sup> A plethora of literature describes both qualitatively and quantitatively the burden of pain on the physical, emotional, cognitive, behavioral, and social aspects of people's lives.<sup>17-22</sup> As the pain experience

becomes chronic, sufferers become more desperate for relief and seek access to specialized diagnostic, medical, paramedical, and complimentary medical services.<sup>18,23</sup>

There are substantial costs associated with lost productivity due to chronic pain conditions,<sup>23-25</sup> estimated at \$297-336 billion in 2010 in the United States, A\$48 billion in 2018 in Australia, and CAD\$23.2 billion in 2019 in Canada.<sup>26,27,28</sup> With respect to direct health care costs, chronic pain is one of the most expensive conditions managed in the public health care system as 2019 annual estimates range from CAD\$15.1-17.2 billion in Canada.<sup>28</sup> Primary treatment of pain over the ages was, and remains, medication as medical practitioners and scientists develop chemical "recipes" that attempt to stimulate, enhance, or replicate the body's natural pain relieving systems.<sup>1,29</sup> Medication strategies are supplemented by various forms of physical-based therapies, counseling, and naturopathic medicine, often provided concurrently as a multidisciplinary approach.<sup>2,30</sup> However, interdisciplinary treatment programs evaluating and addressing the complex multidimensional aspects of the chronic pain experience is shown as the most effective form of treatment.<sup>3,30-33</sup> There is limited availability of such treatment programs in Canada; Newfoundland and Labrador (NL) has only one such program.<sup>18,34</sup> This lack of widely available programming makes for insufficient access to appropriate services for people and their families impacted by chronic pain.<sup>18,34,35</sup>

Chronic pain advisory groups were struck in Canada in 2019 to survey how pain is being managed federally and provincially, and provide recommendations for service improvement.<sup>35</sup> An important first step in this effort is determining baseline epidemiological and health care utilization statistics.<sup>36-38</sup> Wide variation exists in national estimates of chronic pain prevalence, both globally (2-54%)<sup>39-42</sup> and in Canada (14-

29%).<sup>43-49</sup> The variation is even wider when considering regional chronic pain prevalence estimates, with reports ranging from 5.5-53.8% globally<sup>39,50-52</sup> and 6.5-44% in Canada<sup>37,53-56</sup> depending on region and data source/methodology. In Canada, smaller provincial/territorial populations, such as NL, are frequently excluded or pooled with other provinces to calculate one regional estimate.<sup>45-47,49</sup> Furthermore, most estimates excluded young children and adults over 75 years relying on age-specific studies for estimates and making the profile of chronic pain somewhat incomplete.<sup>39,44.46,55,57-61</sup> In terms of the incidence of new cases of chronic pain, four global studies reported annual incidence as 1.8-16% of the study population at risk,<sup>52,60,62,63</sup> and one study in Canada reported the national annual chronic pain incidence as 5.4-7.8% in those aged 25 and older.<sup>57</sup> There is a clear need to map prevalence and incidence in each province in Canada, including NL, and across all ages to inform any change in policy, resource allocation, or clinical practice for chronic pain care.

Epidemiological estimates on chronic pain were derived primarily from longitudinal and/or cross-sectional survey data.<sup>39,40,45,49,57,64</sup> Although longitudinal surveys are necessary for estimates of disease incidence and provide descriptive information, they are expensive and time/labor intensive.<sup>65</sup> Another easily-accessible and low-cost method to obtain longitudinal epidemiological estimates is to use case definitions applied to the health administrative data collected by the provinces/territories in Canada.<sup>66</sup> Health administrative data is defined as "information that is passively collected, often by government and health care providers, for the purpose of managing the health care of patients".<sup>66</sup> Although it is population-based and less resource intensive in terms of time and cost, health administrative data is not collected for research purposes and its accuracy

is dependent on entry at source.<sup>66,67</sup> There is a paucity of studies examining whether cases of chronic pain, a complex and multi-faceted condition, could be extracted from administrative data, with specific chronic pain conditions often being the focus.<sup>68-72</sup> However, most queries from a policy perspective center on chronic pain as a single chronic disease.<sup>35</sup> If accurate and valid, this technique would enable a rapid and efficient method to obtain important epidemiological and health care utilization data for chronic pain as a discrete chronic disease.

### **1.2 The Evolution of Pain Theories**

The Oxford Dictionary of English defines "pain" as "highly unpleasant physical sensation caused by illness or injury" or "mental suffering or distress".<sup>73</sup> The word "pain" has its origin in Middle English meaning "suffering inflicted as punishment for an offense" derived from the Old French word "peine", which is rooted in the Latin word *poena* meaning "penalty".<sup>4</sup> Pain's word origin is a reflection of its sociocultural history that pain is a punishment for past or present transgressions, a millennia-held belief that continues today.<sup>4</sup> Pain also has political roots as a method to wield power over society's vulnerable and marginalized; used to rationalize horrific treatment, such as torture, abuse, or pain under treatment, inflicted on people of certain age or religious/ethnic origins.<sup>4</sup> The history of pain in the medical context lies in the evolution of theories that explain its physical causes and manifestations and inform treatment development.

The history of pain and its treatment goes back as far as the origin of man. Prehistoric human remains reveal evidence of painful conditions and injuries, as well as the attempts to ward off the advances of "pain demons".<sup>1</sup> Records describing the human pain experience, the theories of its origins, and its treatment date back to early civilizations.<sup>1,2</sup> For example, ancient Egyptians thought pain was caused by either the entrance of demons or foreign objects, Buddha in ancient India thought pain was attributed the frustration of desires,<sup>1</sup> ancient Chinese medicine wrote the source of pain was the imbalance of vital energy, or chi,<sup>2</sup> and Plato and Aristotle in ancient Greece wrote that pain arose from the senses in the periphery and was felt in the heart (believed to be the central organ for sensation) as the "epitome of unpleasantness".<sup>1</sup> Galen in ancient Rome did significant work with nerves and the nervous system. He classified the sensory, motor, and pain nerves, and hypothesized that the brain was the center that received the sensations.<sup>1</sup> Avicenna, an Iranian philosopher and physician, also proposed pain as a sensation independent from touch and temperature.<sup>2</sup> However, Aristotle's belief that pain was one of the five senses processed by the heart remained the main theory of pain until the Renaissance.<sup>1,2,4</sup>

In 1665, René Descartes defined the mind/body dichotomy and proposed that pain was the result of a physical direct connection between tissue damage and the brain and that the mind (or soul) did not contribute to pain sensation.<sup>1,2,4</sup> His theory was the first to propose that pain had an internal pathway to cerebral interpretation and was not externally based in the "soul".<sup>2,4</sup> According to Descartes, the physician took care of the pain while religious leaders took care of the suffering.<sup>4</sup> The Cartesian theory of pain was the birth of modern pain physiology and gave rise to multiple theories, the most popular being the specificity theory (pain had a specific pathway in the nervous system) and the pattern theory (pain results from a central nervous system coding of summation and

pattern of peripheral neural activity).<sup>1,2,4</sup> This reductionist, cause-effect, dichotomous body-mind view prevailed in pain medicine for 300 years.<sup>1</sup>

In 1965, Ronald Melzack and Pat Wall revolutionized medicine's understanding and treatment of pain by proposing the Gate Control Theory.<sup>1,2,4,74</sup> The Gate Control Theory combined the principals of the specificity theory by acknowledging the existence and function of pain-perceiving nerve endings (nociceptors) and the small nerve fibers carrying their signals, and the pattern theory by describing the interaction at the spinal cord between the nociceptive neural impulses and other ascending peripheral sensory impulses and descending modulating brain impulses.<sup>1,2,4,74</sup> The Gate Control Theory postulated that both the relative ascending nociceptive and sensory activity from the periphery and the descending modulating activity from the central nervous system will either open or close the "pain gate".<sup>1,2,4,74</sup> Melzack and Wall described for the first time that the brain could exert descending control over the pain experience finally blurring the lines between the mind and the body.<sup>4</sup> Melzack and Casey expanded the model three years later to include the action of specialized systems in producing the sensorydiscriminative, motivational-affective, and evaluative components of pain perception.<sup>1,75</sup> Although deemed a simplistic explanation given the expanding knowledge of pain physiology today, it revolutionized the stagnant direction of pain science and treatment.<sup>2,10</sup>

In the years following, the Gate Control Theory was expanded to account for the complex observations associated with pain. For example, John Loeser in 1982 proposed a pain model comprised of four successive but interlocking circles (nociception defined as the pain nerve stimulation, pain defined as the brain's processing and recognition of the

pain nerve stimulation, suffering defined as the individual's reaction to the pain, and pain behaviors defined as the unintentional communication of the pain and associated distress), which was eventually modified into a Venn diagram showing equal contribution of each component.<sup>76,77</sup> However, Ronald Melzack proposed in 1989 a new "conceptual nervous system" called the "neuromatrix" to explain the phenomenon of phantom limb, which he expanded to the areas of pain and chronic pain.<sup>75,78</sup> He proposed that the body-self, both internally and within the three-dimensional environment, is a widespread, complex network of connections, or neuromatrix, between many areas of the brain, including the cortex, thalamus, and limbic system, that is "determined genetically and later sculpted by sensory inputs".<sup>75,78</sup> The neuromatrix simultaneously processes past, present, and future stimuli, memories, and knowledge within a genetically pre-determined framework through "cyclical processing and synthesis", and produces a neurosignature sent to the "sentient neural hub" (of which the thalamus is considered a major component) that creates awareness of the internal and external self and motivates action.<sup>75,78</sup> The neuromatrix theory provided a new framework to explain the unexplainable, e.g. sensations that occur without sensory stimuli such as phantom limb sensations/pain or ongoing pain without organic evidence of tissue damage,<sup>75,78</sup> thrusting future pain research to focus its efforts more on the complex interaction of all levels of the nervous system.

The advancement of research and diagnostic technology continues to expand on the neuromatrix theory and pain science. Neuroimaging studies, using techniques such as functional magnetic resonance imaging and positron emission tomography, continues to identify multiple areas of the brain, brainstem, and spinal cord involved with the sensory-

discriminative, motivational-affective, and evaluative aspects of nociception and pain processing/expression.<sup>79</sup> Neuroimaging and animal studies provide the structural and physiological evidence of the links between the nervous system, the immune system, and the genetic profile.<sup>79,80</sup> The strong relationship between the stress response systems, in which the endocrine system plays an important role, continues to be established in basic science research.<sup>5,10,79,80</sup> Confirming the multisystem involvement in pain generation, interpretation, and modulation provides validation for the observable behavioral expression of the pain experience.<sup>10,79</sup>

Reviewing the physical, psychological, behavioral, social, and cultural aspects of pain begs the question of how to define pain. Clearly, the Oxford English Dictionary version is deficient. The International Association for the Study of Pain struck a task force for pain taxonomy, which defined pain in 1979 as "an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage, or described in terms of such damage".<sup>11</sup> While attempting to capture the multidimensional aspects of pain, the definition was, and continues to be, the subject of heated debate among pain experts.<sup>14,81,82</sup> In light of this debate and the research and clinical findings over the past four decades, the International Association for the Study of Pain struck another Definition of Pain Task Force who proposed the recently accepted (2020) revised definition of pain: "an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with, or resembling that associated with, actual or potential tissue damage".<sup>15</sup> The complexity of pain will ensure the debate over "what is pain" will continue for many years to come.

#### 1.3 Chronic Pain as a Chronic Disease

The neuromatrix theory and the advancement of pain science sought not just to explain the phenomenon of pain, but how it advances to the chronic pain states that prove intractable to treatment. Pain was defined as chronic once it continued beyond normal recovery time.<sup>11</sup> Past research determined the transition to chronicity as occurring three to six months post onset, but the definition of chronic pain was formalized by the International Association for the Study of Pain in 2019 as "pain that persists or recurs for longer than three months".<sup>11-14</sup> While this definition is a grossly inadequate representation of the multidimensional clinical presentation of chronic pain, it does indicate that ongoing biological, psychological, and social processes associated with ongoing pain must occur for a time period before permanent changes are made and pain becomes chronic.<sup>76,77,83</sup> The time period required to move a pain state to one of chronicity is individualized depending on a multitude of factors, but the temporal divide of three months was chosen because it classically coincided with progression from the subacute to the remodeling phase in the healing process, and of six months because it coincided with generations of clinical observations of many pain conditions.<sup>11</sup> The processes behind chronic pain development and maintenance are still being uncovered and are as complex as its clinical presentation.

The ongoing nature of pain, in the absence of apparent stimulus that is unalleviated by treatment, is one of the most challenging features of chronic pain conditions. Structural, physiological, and functional changes occur at all levels of the nervous system, and include changes in cortical thickness of grey matter and structural connectivity of

white matter in the brain,<sup>79,83</sup> altered correlated activity of brain regions both at rest and with noxious and non-noxious stimulation,<sup>79,83</sup> increased concentration and activity of nerve growth factor (involved in inflammation and sensitization), nociceptive facilitating neurotransmitters, and microglia (involved in neuroplastic and nociplastic changes)<sup>80</sup> at all nervous system levels. Neuroimaging studies described "characteristic fluctuations … that are distinct for different types of chronic pain and cannot be mimicked by healthy subjects pretending to have pain".<sup>80</sup> Although many nervous system changes demonstrate some reversal with effective pain treatment of the chronic pain states, they are rarely extinguished because of the potent induction and maintenance of pain memories influencing the learned association between pain and physical, psychological, and social activity.<sup>79,83</sup>

Chronic pain states also influence and are influenced by other body systems besides the nervous system.<sup>5,10,77</sup> Melzack in 1999 considered the significant role of stress and its impact on the immune and endocrine systems in the development and maintenance of chronic pain, and advocated for these systems to be included as part of the neuromatrix theory.<sup>10</sup> Pain, he postulated, disrupted the body's homeostasis activating the stress response through the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and the sympathetic nervous system.<sup>10</sup> The stress response mobilizes the immune system and release of several hormones, particularly cortisol, in an attempt to return the body to homeostasis. Prolonged pain states, as well as prolonged stress states, can lead to excessive, prolonged or abnormal patterning of cortisol output, which in turn may atrophy bone, muscle, and nerves.<sup>5,10</sup> The effect of abnormal cortisol output on the immune system may be implicated in the development of autoimmune disorders, such as rheumatoid arthritis and

multiple sclerosis, many of which have a chronic pain component to their clinical presentation.<sup>5,10</sup> The prolonged reciprocal relationship between chronic pain states and dysregulation of the delicate balance between the nervous system, immune system, and endocrine system contributes to poor treatment outcomes,<sup>5,6,10</sup> and it supports the notion that an external noxious stimulus is not necessary for chronic pain to develop or endure.

Growing evidence from neuroimaging and animal research in recent decades supported calls from pain experts to have chronic pain classified as a chronic disease "in its own right".<sup>84-86</sup> In 2011, the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador formally recognized chronic pain as a chronic disease when it formulated the Improving Health Together: A Policy Framework for Chronic Disease Prevention and Management in Newfoundland and Labrador.<sup>87</sup> The International Association for the Study of Pain successfully advocated for specific classification of chronic pain in the upcoming ICD-11.<sup>13,14</sup> The classification was based on chronic pain being defined as "persistent or recurrent pain lasting longer than three months".<sup>13,86</sup> Chronic pain is considered the "parent code" to seven top level diagnostic groups in the ICD-11. One top level diagnostic group is chronic primary pain syndromes defined as pain that "cannot be accounted for by another chronic pain condition," and includes chronic widespread pain, chronic regional pain syndrome, chronic primary headache, orofacial pain, visceral pain, and musculoskeletal pain. The other six top level diagnostic groups are considered chronic secondary pain syndromes defined as pain "linked to other diseases as the underlying cause", and includes chronic cancer-related pain (pain related to cancer or its treatment), chronic post-surgical or posttraumatic pain, chronic neuropathic pain (which may be a codiagnosis with chronic post-surgical/posttraumatic pain), chronic secondary

headache or orofacial pain (such as pain related to cervical injuries or dental issues), chronic secondary visceral pain (visceral pain where the primary cause can be defined), and chronic secondary musculoskeletal pain (where a disease process of the musculoskeletal system can be defined).<sup>86</sup> While we have different versions of chronic pain conditions, chronic pain itself is the overarching chronic disease warranting epidemiological and economical assessments within the context of public health and health care.

### 1.4 Quality of Life with Chronic Pain

Pain is an unpleasant human experience often equated with suffering, even when lasting a short time period measured in hours or days. The goal of acute pain treatment is to quickly relieve pain, reduce suffering, and allow the body's systems to reset to their normal homeostatic state.<sup>5,6,10</sup> This goal is achieved for most situations resulting in a timely reduction of pain sensation output and rapid return to activity levels enjoyed prepain onset.<sup>6</sup> For some individuals, the cure for pain does not occur when expected. This can result following injury (e.g. 50% of people post-whiplash injuries<sup>88</sup> and 33% of people post-acute low back pain episodes<sup>89</sup> experience continued pain one year later), surgery (e.g. 29% of people post-thoracotomy surgery<sup>90</sup> and 22.1% of people post-cardiac surgery<sup>91</sup> experience continued pain six months later), infection (e.g. 12.5% of people post herpes zoster infection<sup>92</sup> and 54% of people with HIV/AIDS<sup>93</sup> experience continued pain), psychological trauma (up to 83% of refugees who endured torture experience continued pain)<sup>94</sup>, or no known etiology. Persisting pain can result in reduced physical function and elevated fear levels as the body's nervous system, immune system,

endocrine system, and musculoskeletal system mobilize to protect against further harm.<sup>6,95</sup> As pain advances towards chronicity, the person descends the downward spiral towards chronic pain negatively impacting quality of life.<sup>95</sup>

Experiencing chronic pain reportedly interferes with daily physical, emotional, cognitive, and social functioning.<sup>16,17,95,96</sup> Physical sequelae of ongoing pain include increased fatigue, decreased endurance, strength, and vitality, and disturbed sleep and circadian rhythm.<sup>16,18,97,98</sup> Emotional sequelae include anger, frustration, fear, irritability, mood swings, reduced self-esteem, and guilt around being a burden.<sup>18,98</sup> Depression and anxiety are strongly associated with chronic pain, with more than half endorsing moderate to severe ranges.<sup>18,99-101</sup> Up to 35% of people with chronic pain endorse some degree of suicidal ideation, reported to be up to four times that reported in the general population.<sup>18,102,103</sup> Cognitive sequelae of chronic pain include catastrophic thinking, reduced concentration, dysfunctional coping skills, and difficulty making decisions.<sup>175,99,104</sup> Socially, both sufferers and their families report reductions in social and leisure activities, loss of circle of friends, financial stressors from reduced/lost work and out-of-pocket medical and household care expenses, social isolation, loss of sense of identity, altered relationships and family dynamics, failed marriages/relationships, and changed/lost roles within society and family circles.<sup>23,24,98,105-107</sup> Described experiences by people with chronic pain are supported by scores endorsed on quantitative quality of life measures, which are significantly lower on average in both physical and mental health indices when compared to both people without pain and people with function-limiting disease.18,98
It is not uncommon for chronic pain to occur co-morbidly with other chronic diseases (i.e. chronic pain prevalence is reported in 13-95%<sup>44,48,108-112</sup> of people with specific comorbid conditions). Chronic pain is cited as a factor negatively impacting disease recovery/management and health related quality of life. Those who experience chronic pain following ischemic stroke are known to achieve less functional independence and increased concurrent cognitive decline.<sup>113</sup> Pain is one of the predictors for reduced quality of life in people with types of neurological conditions other than ischemic stroke that are either traumatic (e.g. traumatic brain injuries<sup>114</sup> or spinal cord injuries<sup>115</sup>) or neurodegenerative (e.g. multiple sclerosis<sup>116</sup> or Parkinsonism<sup>112</sup>). Those who experience pain as a concurrent condition with heart failure report significant reductions in quality of life and increased psychological impact compared to those with heart failure who do not experience ongoing pain.<sup>117</sup> Chronic Pelvic Pain Syndrome is commonly reported by those diagnosed with chronic prostatitis, and pain intensity significantly predicts perceived quality of life.<sup>118</sup> A large prospective cohort study in the UK found that the onset of widespread pain significantly impacted quality of life and reduced healthy aging indices in older people with osteoarthritis.<sup>16</sup> With increasing survival rates of people with cancer or HIV infection, there is increasing incidence of those living with neuropathic pain resulting from the disease and/or treatment.<sup>119,120</sup> Pain is the factor that negatively affects their quality of life the most.<sup>105,121-123</sup>

The impact of pain in the global community is significant. In the 2017 Global Burden of Disease Study by the World Health Organization, four of the top eleven causes of years lost to disability were pain-related conditions (low back pain, headaches, neck pain, and other musculoskeletal disorders).<sup>124</sup> Musculoskeletal conditions alone affected

13,121 per 100,000 of the world's population with 135 million years lost to disability worldwide.<sup>124</sup> Low back pain alone was the number one disease for years lost to disability globally in 2017 with an estimated 65 million years lost to disability.<sup>124</sup> Chronic pain places a marked multidimensional burden on all levels of society from the individual to the global community.

## **1.5 Chronic Pain Treatment**

Pain treatment evolved over human history, often guided by the accepted pain theory at the time. Surprisingly, many treatments used in ancient civilizations are still employed today, albeit modified in the context of modern technology. The holy man or medicine man in ancient times carried out pain treatments using prayers, sacrifice, and natural remedies; pain sufferers today are reported to use prayer, faith practice, and naturopathic healing therapies.<sup>1,4,89</sup> Use of concoctions involving the opiate properties of the poppy date as far back as the earliest records in Babylon, Egypt and Greece.<sup>1,2</sup> Refinement of opiates from poppy and mandragora continued through the ages; opioid medications are used still.<sup>1</sup> Traditional Chinese medicine methods, including acupuncture, that were theorized to re-establish balance of the body's energy to relieve pain have been used for over 3,000 years.<sup>2</sup> Electrotherapy, now used through various forms of Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation (TENS), was applied via electric fish and torpedo fish by ancient civilizations in Egypt, Greece, and Rome.<sup>1</sup>

Technological advances in medicine combined with the continued adoption of the specificity theory in the early 1900's saw development of regional anesthesia and neurosurgical procedures to treat chronic pain conditions.<sup>1</sup> Psychological treatment

approaches came to the forefront by the 1960's due to John Bonica's observations of Second World War veterans' pain experiences, Melzack and Wall's Gate Control Theory, and William Fordyce's operant conditioning therapy.<sup>3,4</sup> The biopsychosocial model, which describes "pain and disability as a complex and dynamic interaction among physiologic, psychologic, and social factors that perpetuates - and may even worsen - the clinical presentation",<sup>33</sup> was developed around the same time and became the accepted model of care for chronic pain conditions.<sup>3,125</sup> The neuromatrix theory and modern discoveries in pain physiology promote our understanding of pain, and advances in pharmaceutical, procedural, and non-interventional therapies provide a significant repository of treatments for pain. Despite evolving research and treatments,<sup>6,7,80</sup> most chronic pain conditions remain poorly understood and/or managed.<sup>3,30</sup>

Modern chronic pain treatment delivery is medical (e.g. medication, intervention, or surgery) and/or nonmedical (e.g. physical modalities, complementary and alternative medicine, physical therapy, psychological therapy, education programs, and rehabilitation/functional restoration).<sup>30,125</sup> Medication is the first and most common medical treatment utilized, and includes analgesics (non-opioid, weak opioid, and strong opioid), non-steroidal anti-inflammatories, anti-depressants, anticonvulsants, muscle relaxants, and topical agents.<sup>3,29,30,125</sup> Interventional treatments (or injection therapy) are commonly utilized when conservative treatments prove ineffective in achieving desired pain relief, and include nerve blocks, epidural injections, articular injections, intravenous infusions, and intramuscular injections with various pharmaceuticals such as steroids, lidocaine, and Botulinum toxin.<sup>30,125-127</sup> Surgery is considered when pain is severe and

intractable to all other medical management, and includes spinal fusion, implanted spinal cord stimulation, and implanted deep brain stimulation.<sup>3,7,30,125,128,129</sup>

Nonmedical treatment for chronic pain comes in many forms. Passive physical modalities include electrotherapeutic (such as transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation known as TENS), ultrasound, thermal application (heat or ice), massage therapy, and articular manipulations (such as chiropractic treatment).<sup>130-134</sup> Complementary and alternative medicine includes acupuncture, herbal supplements, aromatherapy, and touch therapies (e.g. Reiki therapy or Healing Touch that manipulate life force energies to facilitate healing).<sup>135-138</sup> Physical therapy includes general and specific exercise, postural correction, and neurodynamic therapies (specific active or passive movements that facilitate nervous system tissue movement).<sup>139-143</sup> Psychological therapy includes operant conditioning, cognitive behavioral therapy, hypnosis, graded exposure, mindfulness-based stress reduction, and acceptance and commitment therapy.<sup>144-147</sup> Education programs include peer- or provider-led self-management programs and pain neurophysiology education (provision of specific information about the role of the nervous system in the perception of pain).<sup>12,148</sup>

Medical and nonmedical treatments are used as unimodal (a single treatment technique employed by a single health discipline), multimodal (multiple treatment techniques employed by a single health discipline), or multidisciplinary (uni- or multi- modal treatment techniques employed by multiple health disciplines working separately with the same person in pain and not necessarily with the same aims).<sup>149</sup> Research into the efficacy, effectiveness, indication, and contraindication for medical and nonmedical forms of treatment is ongoing. To date mediocre quality of evidence for each pain

treatment modality or combination of modalities demonstrates overall minimal to moderate impact on pain levels, return to function, and reduction in health care utilization.<sup>30,125,150</sup>

Rehabilitation programs are typically reserved for people whose pain did not respond to other treatments.<sup>125</sup> Most are comprehensive interdisciplinary pain rehabilitation programs that utilize psychological therapy (e.g. cognitive behavioral therapy) in conjunction with functional restoration to produce positive changes in quality of life, health care utilization, pain reduction, return to work, and medication reduction.<sup>3,30,125</sup> Interdisciplinary treatment comprises unimodal or multimodal treatments employed simultaneously by multiple health disciplines working with the person in pain, using the biopsychosocial approach to care, and regularly collaborating during assessment and treatment towards shared client-centered goals.<sup>149</sup> Multiple studies, systematic reviews, and meta-analyses demonstrate interdisciplinary care for chronic pain conditions based on the biopsychosocial model are more effective compared to unimodal or multimodal care for clinical, quality of life, and economic outcomes.<sup>33,151-153</sup> Despite the evidence in favor of early interdisciplinary intervention, there has been a reduction of true interdisciplinary pain clinics in the United States,<sup>3</sup> and clinics in Canada are located in urban areas with large waitlists.<sup>18,154,34</sup> NL only has one such clinic and it is located in St. John's.<sup>18</sup>

Any discussion on chronic pain treatment is deficient without considering the public health issues arising from opioid use. The escalation of strong opioid prescriptions since 1997 has engendered the unintended public health, social, and economic fallout from opioid diversion and problematic opioid use, such as opioid use disorder and

overdose.<sup>155,156</sup> Problematic opioid use contributed to an incurred estimated cost in 2014 of \$313.1 million in health care and \$1.83 billion in lost productivity,<sup>157</sup> and opioid overdose was responsible for over 3800 deaths in 2019 in Canada.<sup>158</sup> Despite the lack of evidence for the effectiveness of long-term opioid use for chronic pain management and mounting evidence regarding adverse events,<sup>159-163</sup> Canada had the third highest opioid defined daily dose per one million residents in 2018 in the world,<sup>164</sup> and NL had the highest opioid defined daily dose per 1,000 residents in 2019 in Canada.<sup>165</sup> The updated Canadian Guidelines for Opioids for Non-cancer Pain were released in 2017 to provide evidence-based guidance to both prescribers and policymakers involved in this issue.<sup>29</sup> While the public health, socioeconomic, and political context of the "opioid epidemic" globally and in Canada is beyond the scope of this project, it is important to recognize its intimate relationship with the issue of effective chronic pain management.

Multimodal interdisciplinary care for chronic pain is presently the gold standard, and there is growing support towards timely access to patient-oriented care that tailors treatment combinations to individual needs.<sup>27,32,35</sup> In 2019, Health Canada established the Canadian Pain Task Force that engaged a wide range of stakeholders across the country to survey how pain was being managed and make recommendations regarding service delivery improvements.<sup>35</sup> The Department of Health and Community Services, Government of NL established the Provincial Pain Management Advisory Council in 2019 with a similar mandate.<sup>35</sup> An important step is determining baseline epidemiologic and health care utilization statistics upon which to base decisions around policy and clinical practice.<sup>36-38</sup>

#### 1.6 Cost and Health Care Utilization Associated with Chronic Pain

While discussing financial cost is reductionist considering the wide, multidimensional, negative impact of chronic pain on all societal levels, the high financial cost associated with chronic pain is an important factor to examine. Costs not related to health care (indirect costs) provide an estimate of chronic pain's societal impact. Indirect costs were estimated in 2008 at €18.8 billion for patients with a diagnosis related to chronic pain in Sweden, and €2.5 billion for people aged 20 and older self-identified as having chronic pain in Ireland.<sup>41,166</sup> Australia estimated productivity costs in 2018 of A\$48.3 billion and loss of wellbeing costs at A\$66.1 billion related to chronic pain diagnoses.<sup>27</sup> Lost productivity costs secondary to chronic pain were estimated at \$299-334 billion for adults aged 18 and over in 2010 in the United States and CAD\$23.2 billion in 2019 in Canada.<sup>26,28</sup> Productivity costs are measured by work absenteeism/presenteeism, sick leave rates, and short-term/long-term disability claims. Cost reports per person and their family further illustrate the economic impact of chronic pain due lost employment and payment for assistance with personal and home maintenance care. Annual cost for assistance with personal and house care per person with chronic pain in Denmark was estimated at kr15,060 as paid by town councils and kr12,408 as paid privately.<sup>24</sup> In a similar Canadian study conducted in 2004-2007, people on waitlists to attend multidisciplinary pain clinics reported an average monthly cost of CAD\$3,112 per person for private care, lost work/leisure time, caregivers' lost work/leisure time, and assistance with housework and maintenance.<sup>23</sup> Parents of children attending intensive interdisciplinary pain programming reported a mean annual cost of \$12,229 in missed

work and a mean annual time commitment of 343 hours to assist in the personal care, transportation, and education for their child.<sup>106,167</sup> Such high cost of pain on individuals and society make it prudent to ensure accessible, timely, and appropriate treatment of pain conditions.

With respect to direct health care costs, several studies globally and in Canada provided national estimates. Direct health care costs were estimated at €13.2 billion in 2008 for patients with a diagnosis related to chronic pain in Sweden,<sup>41</sup> and €2.8 billion in 2008 for people aged 20 and older who self-identified as having chronic pain in Ireland.<sup>166</sup> Direct health costs attributable to chronic low back pain alone were estimated at £2.8 billion in 2009 in the United Kingdom.<sup>168</sup> Annual health system costs associated with chronic pain-related conditions were estimated at A\$12.2 billion in 2018 in Australia.<sup>27</sup> Incremental direct health care costs attributed to select chronic pain conditions were estimated between \$261-300 billion in 2010 for adults aged 18 and over<sup>26</sup> and \$11.8 billion in 2008 for children aged 6-17 in the United States.<sup>106</sup> In Canada, overall direct health care costs for chronic pain sufferers were estimated at CAD\$15.1-17.2 billion in 2019,<sup>28</sup> and incremental direct health care costs attributable to chronic pain were estimated at CAD\$7.2 billion in 2014 for residents aged 12 and older.<sup>169</sup> When compared to total annual direct health care costs attributed to other chronic diseases in Canada (CAD\$11.7 billion for cardiovascular disease, CAD\$11.4 billion for neuropsychiatric disorders, CAD\$5.8 billion for musculoskeletal diseases, CAD\$5.5 billion for digestive diseases, and CAD\$2.2 billion for diabetes in 2008),<sup>170</sup> it is clear that managing chronic pain conditions exerts a significant cost on the health care system from a national perspective.

Examining the cost per person provides a more comprehensive picture of the disease burden of chronic pain. Direct health care costs in 2008 were estimated at  $\notin 2,650$ per patient with a diagnosis related to chronic pain in Sweden,<sup>41</sup> and €2,959 per person aged 20 and older who self-identified as having chronic pain in Ireland.<sup>166</sup> In 2010, a person reporting chronic pain incurred more than twice the direct health care costs ( $\in$ 550) of a person reporting no pain (€260) in Germany.<sup>171</sup> Direct health care cost per person with chronic low back pain in the United Kingdom in 2009 was also estimated as twice that for matched controls ( $\pounds$ 1,074 versus  $\pounds$ 517).<sup>168</sup> A study in Denmark showed an increase in direct health care costs of kr17,500 in the first year post pain onset and kr8,000 annually in years two to nine post pain onset.<sup>24</sup> It was estimated the direct health care cost per person associated with chronic pain in 2018 was A\$3,771 in Australia.<sup>27</sup> Incremental direct health care cost related to a chronic pain condition was estimated at \$4,516 to \$7,726 for moderate and severe pain in 2010 per adult aged 18 and older<sup>26</sup> and \$1,339 in 2008 per child aged 6-17 in the United States.<sup>106</sup> In Canada, overall direct health care cost was estimated at CAD\$7,334 to CAD\$11,128 per person in 2009/10 who reported pain severity ranging from mild to severe.<sup>172</sup> Incremental cost attributable to a moderate to severe chronic pain condition was estimated at CAD\$1,643 to CAD\$3,960 in 2014 for Canadian residents aged 12 and over,<sup>169</sup> which was comparable to annual incremental costs attributed to managing hypertension (CAD\$2,341 in 2014)<sup>173</sup> and diabetes (approximately CAD\$3,800 the first year post diagnosis and CAD\$550-1,220 annually for year two to eight post diagnosis).<sup>174</sup> Reported direct health care costs per person were quite variable depending on country, defined pain severity, sample age range, and method of cost identification and calculation.

Health care utilization presents another metric to measure direct health care costs, since higher health care utilization of both high and low value translates into higher health care costs.<sup>175,176</sup> In the context of chronic pain, prolonged moderate to severe pain heightens a person's desperation for relief resulting in increased utilization of various and increasingly specialized health services.<sup>18,23</sup> Pain is one of the most common chief complaints of those accessing primary care globally, with up to 40% of people with chronic pain consulting with a primary care physician in the previous 3 months<sup>177</sup> and 96.7% consulting with a primary care physician ever for their pain condition.<sup>18</sup> Adults and children who self-identify as having chronic pain on surveys have 1.5 to 2.0 times the likelihood of having an encounter at the emergency department when compared to people who don't self-identify as having chronic pain.<sup>169,178-181</sup> It was reported that up to 25% of adults self-identified as having chronic pain<sup>169</sup> and 17% of children attending a chronic pain clinic<sup>106</sup> will have at least one inpatient admission, and up to 46% of adults on a multidisciplinary pain clinic waitlist<sup>18</sup> and 36% of children and adolescents self-identified as having chronic pain on a survey<sup>180</sup> will consult at least one specialist. Higher utilization of expensive diagnostic imaging was observed in people self-identified as having chronic pain on a survey compared to those who were not self-identified as having chronic pain (13% versus 9% had a computed tomography scan and 7% versus 4% had a magnetic resonance imaging scan).<sup>169</sup> A recent study reported that in 2013-2014 expensive magnetic resonance imaging scans accounted for just over half of all diagnostic imaging costs incurred by people seeking care for musculoskeletal conditions in Ontario.<sup>176</sup> The annual rate of visits per person with chronic pain to physicians (4.3 to 8.3 annual visits depending on the population sample) and allied health professionals (2.7 to

40.3 annual visits depending on the profession) was reported as high.<sup>41,108,172,182</sup> Costs and health care utilization estimates provide a method to inform and evaluate changes to health service delivery and clinical care, and are presently unavailable for NL.

# **1.7 Chronic Pain Epidemiology**

Referred to as "the hidden epidemic",<sup>183</sup> combined estimates place chronic pain prevalence at 21.5% globally.<sup>50</sup> However, national prevalence estimates of individual countries are widely variable (2-54%) due to methodology (particularly data source, chronic pain case definition, and sampling procedures) and heterogeneity in population sociocultural-demographics.<sup>40,41</sup> Survey estimates reported chronic pain prevalence as 12%-30% of residents aged 18 and over in 15 European countries and Israel,<sup>39</sup> 15.4% in residents aged 15 and over in Australia,<sup>27</sup> 15% of residents aged 20 and over in Japan,<sup>62</sup> 38.4% in residents aged 18 and over (except 20 and over in Japan, 21 and older in Israel, and 16 and over in New Zealand) in ten developed and seven developing countries,<sup>42</sup> and 20.4% of residents aged 18 and over in the United States.<sup>184</sup> National prevalence estimates obtained from administrative data were reported as 54% of all residents in Sweden.<sup>41</sup> Regional estimates within countries globally were also widely variable, reported as 2.4% for residents 26 and over in a German regional survey,<sup>40</sup> 53.2% for residents aged 25 and over in the Grampian region of the United Kingdom,<sup>52</sup> 32% for residents aged 18 and over in northern Italy,<sup>39</sup> less than 22% for residents aged 18 and over in southern Italy,<sup>39</sup> and 35% for residents aged 30 and over in the Tromso region of Norway.<sup>51</sup> Analysis of Veterans Affairs administrative data in the United States reported 2008 chronic pain prevalence ranging from 42.3% of veterans aged 35 and over with no

comorbid psychiatric diagnosis to 65.6% of veterans with comorbid depression.<sup>185</sup> Analysis of electronic medical record data reported chronic pain prevalence as 19% of a health center's patients aged 18 and older in Connecticut.<sup>186</sup>

Similar wide variations in chronic pain prevalence estimates exist in Canada. National survey estimates reported chronic pain prevalence as 15.7-21.0%<sup>49</sup> of residents aged 12 and over from the 2000/01 to 2013/14 cycles of the cross-sectional Canadian Community Health Survey, 15.3-19.5%<sup>57</sup> of residents aged 25 and over from the 1994/95 to 2006/07 cycles of the longitudinal National Population Health Survey, and 18.9-29%<sup>43,45,47</sup> of residents 18 and older from independent national surveys. Regional, provincial, or municipal survey estimates are significantly more variable, reporting chronic pain prevalence as 11%<sup>37</sup> of adults aged 20 years and older in 1984 in Burlington, Ontario, as 44%<sup>53</sup> of adults aged 18 years and older in 1998 in Edmonton, Alberta, and as 37%<sup>56</sup> of adults aged 20 and older in 2004 in southeastern Ontario. Some studies reported regional or provincial estimates derived from national surveys, and chronic pain prevalence ranged from 15.7% in Quebec to 36% in Atlantic Canada. 43,45,47 Prevalence of chronic pain in NL was estimated as 14.1% of women and 9.1% of men aged 25 and older in the 2006/07 National Population Health Survey, which had a sample size of 1,392 NL households.<sup>57,187</sup> No other chronic pain prevalence estimates for NL have been published, with many studies instead choosing to report on the four Atlantic Provinces as one region.<sup>45,47,49</sup> However, aging demographics, higher chronic disease rates, and poorer population health indicators in NL compared to other Canadian jurisdictions (including the other three Atlantic provinces) may contribute to higher chronic pain rates.<sup>188,189</sup> This

highlights the importance of determining NL-specific chronic pain disease distribution for the purposes of public health initiatives and resource planning.

There are fewer studies reporting chronic pain incidence versus prevalence estimates, possibly due to the expense associated with using survey methodology in a longitudinal study design.<sup>65</sup> Similar to chronic pain prevalence, reported incidence estimates are widely variable due to methodology (particularly chronic pain case definition and sampling procedures) and heterogeneity in population socioculturaldemographics.<sup>40</sup> Globally, one-year cumulative incidence was estimated as 1.8%<sup>63</sup> of residents at risk aged 16 and over in Denmark, 8.3%<sup>52</sup> of residents at risk aged 25 and over in the United Kingdom, and 11.1%<sup>62</sup> of residents at risk aged 20 and over in Japan. Three-year cumulative incidence was estimated as 48% of residents at risk aged 50 years and over in the United Kingdom.<sup>60</sup> One-year cumulative incidence in Canada was calculated from the 1996/97 to 2006/07 cycles of the longitudinal National Population Health Survey, and was estimated as 5.4-7.8% of residents at risk aged 25 years and older.<sup>57</sup> Incidence is an important measure of possible contributing exposures and of prevention program effectiveness;<sup>65</sup> it is prudent to explore economical and consistent methods to measure and report chronic pain incidence that can inform effective policy and clinical decision-making.

Global and Canadian studies reported similar prevalence trends based on sex and age. Females are observed to have higher chronic pain prevalence (estimated at 16.9-69.2% globally and 13-66.7% in Canada) than males (estimated at 15.0-68.4% globally and 8-57.1% in Canada).<sup>27,42,44-48,52,53,55-57,184,190,191</sup> Females also observed to have higher chronic pain incidence (estimated at 2.1-16.3% globally and 6.0%-8.7% in Canada) than

males (estimated at 1.4-15.7% globally and 4.8%-7.1% in Canada).<sup>57,60,62,63</sup> This phenomenon was reported both in the overall population and at different ages across the lifespan. Females are described as suffering from chronic pain and pain-related interference more often than males and have associated higher health care utilization.<sup>47,60,192-194</sup> Sex- and gender-related differences with respect to pain experiences are described as complex, and include biological, psychological, and social processes.<sup>192,193,195</sup> There is also consistent evidence of increasing chronic pain incidence and prevalence with increasing age in both sexes. Although chronic pain prevalence estimates in children and adolescents is widely variable (up to 88%) depending on the age range, pain condition(s), and time frame examined, it was generally reported that approximately 5-6% of children have moderate to severe chronic pain-related interference. <sup>58,191,196</sup> Most chronic pain epidemiology studies examined adult populations, and reported that prevalence increased with age, from 6.3-48.1% in the 18-25 age group to 14-69.0% over 65 years.<sup>27,44,53,60,63,184</sup> Surveys were the most common data collection method to estimate chronic pain epidemiology, and most surveys either included a disproportionately small sample size from the youngest and oldest members of the population, or excluded them altogether, making the profile of chronic pain somewhat incomplete. There is a clear need to find an efficient method to map prevalence and incidence of chronic pain across all ages in each Canadian province, including NL, and link it to information on health care utilization in order to plan for future health care needs.

#### 1.8 Health Administrative Data as an Epidemiological Data Source

With one exception,<sup>54</sup> chronic pain incidence and prevalence estimates in Canada were provided by studies using cross-sectional and/or longitudinal survey methodology.<sup>37,45,47,49,53,56,57</sup> Survey data is rich in descriptive information, but longitudinal data is required for estimates of disease incidence and can be expensive to obtain in terms of cost, time, and labor, making it prudent to consider a more feasible data source to fill the knowledge gap on chronic pain in Canada.<sup>65</sup> Health administrative data is a collection of information passively recorded in the course of rendering and/or remunerating health services.<sup>66,197</sup> Each province and territory in Canada administers a comprehensive health plan covering most hospital and physician services for nearly all residents generating large national and provincial/territorial databases.<sup>198</sup> These databases contain service dates with accompanying diagnostic, procedural, financial, and demographic information organized by each resident's unique provincial health insurance number.<sup>66,67,199</sup> Described as somewhat mirroring the medical record,<sup>197</sup> health administrative data is used to extract annual population-based estimates on distribution, trends, and direct health care costs of various medical conditions. 66,200

The use of health administrative data as a data source to provide epidemiologic and economic information on chronic pain conditions was reported by several studies. Some studies used diagnostic code sets not previously validated to identify chronic pain cases in administrative data and extract epidemiologic and/or cost estimates.<sup>41,185,201</sup> One study in the United States validated a case definition to identify chronic pain cases in a health group electronic medical record database, and used it to determine prevalence.<sup>186</sup> Health

administrative data case definitions were found valid to identify cases of only a few specific chronic pain conditions (e.g. chronic/recurrent low back pain, fibromyalgia, osteoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis, and painful neuropathy),<sup>68-70,202-207</sup> which were then used to extract epidemiologic and/or cost estimates. Cited limitations that contributed to the difficulty in creating valid health administrative data case definitions for chronic pain conditions included billing practices related to limits on permitted diagnostic/procedure codes per claim, coding practices related to possible lack of recognition and/or undertreatment of chronic pain, and unavailability of chronic pain coding taxonomy in commonly used diagnostic/procedural coding systems.<sup>41,68,70,86,186,206,208</sup> Other studies combined data sources by linking chronic pain comparator groups identified via survey/patient list data to health administrative data to report healthcare utilization and/or cost associated with chronic pain.<sup>55,169,172</sup> Even though chronic pain is considered a chronic disease in its own right,<sup>84,86</sup> no study to the best of knowledge obtained epidemiologic and/or health care utilization information related to chronic pain as a "single disease entity"<sup>150</sup> from health administrative data via the use of a validated case definition.<sup>70</sup>

There are several issues to address when determining the validity of NL health administrative data to provide information on chronic pain as a single disease entity. First, administrative data is not collected for research purposes making its record level data accuracy dependent on data entry at source.<sup>66,67</sup> Assessing the data's validity is complicated by the temporal criterion (three to six months) of chronic pain that must be met and the comorbid occurrence of chronic pain with other chronic diseases.<sup>209-211</sup> Second, chronic pain is a multidimensional condition involving complex neurological and

systemic interactions influenced by all aspects of the human experience.<sup>5,10,32,76</sup> It is often considered, and therefore recorded, as a symptom of another trauma or disease process with no objective diagnostic "gold standard" to use for validation, unlike other chronic diseases such as diabetes.<sup>32,41,86,186,208,212,213</sup> Finally, best practice recommends validating the health administrative data case definition against the medical record audit of a cohort that closely resembles the overall population under study in all respects, including disease prevalence rates.<sup>66</sup> Finding an efficient means to perform such an audit on a large enough cohort representative of NL age and rural/urban demographics was a challenge.

The NL Provincial Pain Management Advisory Council is currently working to bring about changes to health service delivery to mitigate the devastating impact chronic pain has on sufferers, their families, their communities, the economy, and the health care system.<sup>35</sup> However, there is a significant knowledge gap on the disease distribution and health care utilization associated with chronic pain in NL. The main aim of this thesis was to determine if the NL health administrative data was a valuable source of information on chronic pain, and provide a feasible method to fill this knowledge gap and assist in improving the quality and timeliness of health service delivery to this important subpopulation.

# 1.9 Thesis Objectives and Statement of Coherence

The aim of the overall study titled "Epidemiology and Health Care Utilization Associated with Chronic Pain in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada: A Population-Based Study Using Health Administrative Data" was to compile detailed statistics on the chronic pain condition in the NL context, which can be used to inform policy around health service provision for people with chronic pain. Most studies examining chronic pain epidemiology and health care utilization in Canada used the Canadian Community Health Survey and/or National Population Health Survey as data sources.<sup>44,46,48,49,55,57</sup> However, the sample drawn from NL in these two surveys was considered too small (target of 4010 individuals surveyed for the Canadian Community Health Survey and 1392 households surveyed for the National Population Health Survey)<sup>187,214</sup> to allow for sufficient stratification needed to give meaningful information on disease distribution. Designing and administering a survey specific to the NL context, particularly one longitudinal in design, was deemed unfeasible due to its cost in terms of funding, time, and human resources.<sup>65</sup> Routinely collected health administrative data in NL is a readily available data source that is regularly subjected to rigorous quality control procedures.<sup>215-</sup> <sup>218</sup> Since the health administrative datasets were already used to monitor annual incidence and prevalence trends of other chronic diseases in NL,<sup>200</sup> it was postulated that these were valid data sources from which to extract information on chronic pain.

The thesis is comprised of three distinct studies - each building on the results of the study preceding it - to achieve the overall study aim. The first study aimed to test the validity of the NL health administrative data to provide information on chronic pain through derivation and validation of a chronic pain health administrative data case definition. The second study aimed to apply the validated case definition to the health administrative data of all NL residents and determine incidence and prevalence of chronic pain in NL. The third study aimed to utilize the validated case definition to establish two population-based comparator groups (the Chronic Pain Group and the No Chronic Pain Group) to examine utilization of publicly funded health care services. The manuscript

style was the chosen format for the thesis; each manuscript was prepared for publication submission. As such, there was unavoidable overlap of the content contained in the Introduction, Methodology, and Limitations sections of each manuscript. Preliminary results of all three studies were briefly presented in a teleconference to the Provincial Pain Management Advisory Council on June 11, 2019, and as an oral presentation at the 2019 PriFor Conference in St. John's, NL, on June 28, 2019.

Chapter 2 is entitled "Identifying Cases of Chronic Pain using Health Administrative Data: A Validation Study". The study aim was to determine whether NL health administrative data would provide valid information on cases of chronic pain. The specific study objectives were: (1) to derive a case definition that could identify cases of chronic pain from NL health administrative data; and (2) determine validity and reliability of the case definition against an electronic medical record database audit. An earlier version of Chapter 2 was published as a Preprint online on the Research Square Preprint Platform on December 18, 2019.<sup>219</sup> The presented manuscript was published with the *Canadian Journal of Pain* on December 3, 2020.<sup>220</sup>

Chapter 3 is entitled "Incidence and Prevalence of Chronic Pain in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada: A Retrospective Cohort Study using Health Administrative Data". The study aim was to describe incidence and prevalence of chronic pain in NL by using a provincial health administrative data algorithm validated to identify cases of chronic pain among residents who attended encounters with fee-for-service physicians for pain-related conditions. The specific study objectives were: (1) to determine annual prevalence of chronic pain in NL from 2006/07 to 2009/10 fiscal years; (2) to determine annual incidence rates of chronic pain in NL from 2006/07 to 2009/10 fiscal years; and (3) to

determine distribution of chronic pain in NL stratified by sex, age group, health authority region of residence, and rural/urban residential location. This manuscript was submitted for consideration to the *Journal of Pain*.

Chapter 4 is entitled "Association of Chronic Pain with Comorbidities and Health Care Utilization: A Retrospective Cohort Study using Health Administrative Data". The study aim was to determine the association of chronic pain with other comorbid conditions and publicly funded health care utilization in NL. The study hypotheses were: (1) having a likely chronic pain diagnosis would be strongly associated with having other comorbid conditions; and (2) having a likely chronic pain diagnosis would be strongly associated with having a higher utilization of publicly funded health care resources. The study objectives were: (1) to characterize and compare comorbidity prevalence in provincial cohort members identified as having a likely chronic pain diagnosis to provincial cohort members not identified as having a likely chronic pain diagnosis; and (2) to characterize and compare the 2009/10 fiscal year health care utilization of provincial cohort members identified as having a likely chronic pain diagnosis to provincial cohort members identified as having a likely chronic pain diagnosis. This manuscript was submitted for consideration to the journal *Pain*.

Chapter 5 is entitled "Summary". The chapter will first summarize the aims, objectives, and methodology of the preceding three chapters. The key findings and concluding takeaways of each chapter is then summarized. The general discussion of the application of the thesis findings will include two main themes. First is a discussion of how the epidemiologic and health care utilization information reported in this thesis related to chronic pain in NL can inform health service changes currently being

considered at a policy and clinical level. Second is a discussion of the challenges around utilizing NL health administrative data to extract information about chronic pain. The thesis will close with general recommendations for future research and concluding remarks.

Chapters 2 and 3 contain pertinent, chapter-specific results tables that are too large to include in the chapter text. These tables are placed at the end of the associated chapter in Section 2.8.1, Appendix 2.1 (contains results pertaining to Chapter 2), Section 2.8.2, Appendix 2.2 (contains results pertaining to Chapter 2), and Section 3.8.1, Chapter 3 Appendix (contains results pertaining to Chapter 3). The references (Chapter 6) are formatted in the American Medical Association style and are consolidated at the end of this thesis after Chapter 5. Eight appendices (Chapter 7) follow the Reference List. Seven appendices contain important information in tabular form referenced in the methodology for Chapters 2, 3, and 4. The eighth appendix contains the most recent ethics approval.

## 1.10 Co-authorship Statement

Heather E. Foley drafted Chapter 1 and made substantial contributions to its content and revision. Dr. Rick Audas contributed to the draft writing and revision of Chapter 1. Dr. Michelle Ploughman contributed to the draft writing and revision of Chapter 1. Dr. John C. Knight contributed to revision of Chapter 1. Dr. Shabnam Asghari contributed to revision of Chapter 1.

# Chapter 2 Identifying Cases of Chronic Pain using Health Administrative Data: A Validation Study

Foley HE, Knight JC, Ploughman M, Asghari S, Audas R. Identifying cases of chronic pain in health administrative data: A validation study. *Can J Pain*. 2020;4(1):252-267. doi: 10.1080/24740527.2020.1820857.

Foley HE, Knight JC, Ploughman M, Asghari S, Audas R. Identifying cases of Chronic Pain in Health Administrative Data: A Validation Study. PREPRINT (Version 1) available at Research Square. 2019. doi:10.21203/rs.2.19115/v1.

Copyright © 2019 Heather E. Foley et al. Preliminary results from this chapter were presented in a teleconference to the Provincial Pain Management Advisory Council on June 11, 2019, and as an oral presentation at the 2019 PriFor Conference in St. John's, NL, on June 28, 2019. Preliminary results from this chapter were accepted for a poster presentation at the 41<sup>st</sup> Annual Scientific Meetings of the Canadian Pain Society that were scheduled for May 19-22, 2020 but cancelled due to the global pandemic. An earlier version of this chapter was published as an open-access pre-print article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, as I have cited Research Square Preprint Platform as the original source. The present version of this chapter was published with the *Canadian Journal of Pain* on December 3, 2020 as an open-access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and

reproduction in any medium as I have cited the *Canadian Journal of Pain* as the original source. For more information on copyrights, please visit: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/

#### Abstract:

**Background:** Most prevalence estimates of chronic pain are derived from surveys and vary widely, both globally (2-54%) and in Canada (6.5-44%). Health administrative data is increasingly used for chronic disease surveillance, but its validity as a source to ascertain chronic pain cases is understudied.

**Aim:** To derive and validate an algorithm to identify cases of chronic pain as a single chronic disease using provincial health administrative data.

**Methods:** A reference standard was developed and applied to the electronic medical records data of a Newfoundland and Labrador general population sample participating in the Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network. Chronic pain algorithms were created from the administrative data of chronic pain patient populations, and their classification performance was compared to that of the reference standard via statistical tests of selection accuracy.

**Results:** The most performant algorithm for chronic pain case ascertainment from the Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims File was: one anesthesiology encounter ever recording a chronic pain clinic procedure code OR five physician encounter dates recording any pain-related diagnostic code in five years with more than 183 days separating at least two encounters. The algorithm demonstrated 0.703 (95% confidence interval: 0.685-0.722) sensitivity, 0.668 (95% confidence interval: 0.657-0.678) specificity, and 0.408 (95% confidence interval: 0.393-0.423) positive predictive value. The Chronic Pain Algorithm selected 37.6% of a Newfoundland and Labrador provincial cohort.

**Conclusions:** A health administrative data algorithm was derived and validated to identify chronic pain cases and estimate disease burden in residents attending fee-for-service physician encounters in Newfoundland and Labrador.

**Keywords:** chronic pain, validation, health administrative data, algorithm, populationbased, electronic medical records data, case ascertainment

## **2.1 Introduction**

Chronic pain is a pervasive and challenging public health issue.<sup>32,39,41,46,50</sup> Globally, prevalence estimates range drastically from 2 to 54%, <sup>39-41,62,64,186,221</sup> with similar variability reported in Canada (6.5-44%).<sup>37,43-48,53-56</sup> Such variability in prevalence creates uncertainty when planning for present and future health care needs. Annual costs related to chronic pain in Canada are expected to exceed over \$10 billion by 2025.<sup>55,222</sup> In Canada, most chronic pain prevalence estimates were derived from national or regional surveys.<sup>37,43,45-47,53,55,56</sup> Although surveys provide descriptive information, they are expensive and labor intensive.<sup>65</sup> Another easily-accessible and low-cost method to obtain prevalence estimates is to use algorithms applied to health administrative data that is collected by provinces in Canada.<sup>66</sup> There is a paucity of studies examining whether cases of chronic pain, a complex and multi-faceted condition, could be extracted from administrative data, with specific chronic pain conditions often being the focus.<sup>68-72</sup> However, most queries from a policy perspective center on chronic pain as a single chronic disease.<sup>35</sup> If accurate and valid, using health administrative data as an information source will enable a rapid and efficient method to obtain important epidemiological, health planning, and policy data on this significant chronic condition.

Each province and territory in Canada administers universal health plans that cover most hospital and physician services to nearly all of their residents.<sup>198</sup> Despite only capturing information obtained through physician and hospital encounters, the health administrative data generated is used to extract annual population-based estimates on distribution, trends, and direct health care costs of various medical conditions in Canada

through validated algorithms.<sup>200</sup> Previous studies on chronic pain that used administrative data ascertained cases through convenience samples,<sup>24</sup> surveys,<sup>169</sup> code sets not previously validated,<sup>41,185</sup> or validated algorithms for specific pain conditions,<sup>69,71,72,206</sup> such as low back pain.<sup>68</sup> One study successfully derived a chronic pain case definition for electronic medical record data,<sup>186</sup> but the clinical information utilized (in an American health care setting) is not universally collected and is not available in Canadian administrative data.<sup>199,223</sup>

The growing dependence on administrative data for chronic disease surveillance emphasizes the importance of using valid algorithms for case ascertainment.<sup>66</sup> The challenge of using health administrative datasets is that its record level data is not collected for research purposes and may have significant data entry errors.<sup>66,67</sup> This is exacerbated by chronic pain often being considered a symptom of another trauma or disease process with no objective diagnostic "gold standard" to use for validation,<sup>32,41,86,186,208</sup> unlike other chronic diseases with standard objective diagnostic tests such as diabetes,<sup>212,213</sup> multiple sclerosis,<sup>67</sup> and rheumatoid arthritis.<sup>205</sup> Applying standardized methodology to create, validate, and report administrative data algorithms that identify cases of chronic pain as "a single disease entity"<sup>150</sup> advances the utility of the information obtained and examined by researchers, clinicians, and health policy makers.<sup>66</sup>

An administrative data algorithm is a combination of diagnostic and procedural code patterns (known as spatial frequency) together with encounter frequency patterns (known as temporal frequency).<sup>66,224</sup> It operates similar to diagnostic testing in medical practice.<sup>66,224</sup> A chronic pain algorithm must include spatial and temporal frequency criteria that align with accepted practice in the diagnosis of chronic pain.<sup>66</sup> A standardized

set of diagnostic and/or procedural codes is required to identify chronic pain-related conditions and treatments in administrative data.<sup>66</sup> Pain extending beyond three months post onset, or six months for the purposes of research, as defined by The International Association for the Study of Pain is the required temporal benchmark for chronic pain case ascertainment.<sup>11</sup> A review of eleven studies in the field revealed eleven different chronic pain definitions and/or code sets used in research.<sup>37,39,41-43,46,51,62,64,185,221</sup> Currently, there is no consistency in chronic pain research regarding appropriate spatial and temporal frequency.

The aim of the present study was to determine whether Canadian health administrative data would provide valid information on cases of chronic pain in the context of a single disease. The study sought to achieve this by using administrative data collected in one Canadian province, Newfoundland and Labrador (NL), to develop an algorithm with the appropriate spatial and temporal criteria. Validity and reliability were examined against an electronic medical record database audit. This study marks the first step in addressing the long-term goal of compiling detailed statistics on the chronic pain condition in the Canadian context, which can be used to inform policy around health service provision for this high needs population.

## 2.2 Methodology

The Health Research Ethics Board (HREB) of the Health Research Ethics Authority of Newfoundland and Labrador provided full approval of the study protocol (HREB Reference #13.157). The Secondary Uses Committee of the NL Centre for Health Information and the Research Proposals Approval Committee of the Eastern Regional

Health Authority also reviewed and approved the study protocol following HREB approval.

## 2.2.1 Setting

The Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network (CPCSSN)-NL data was used for algorithm validation. The CPCSSN is a clinical data source comprised of information retrieved directly from the electronic medical records of patients attending participating primary care practices across Canada.<sup>225</sup> In February 2013, the CPCSSN-NL was annually receiving de-identified data on just over 35,000 patients of all ages (approximately 7% of the NL population)<sup>188</sup> from 45 physicians (approximately 9% of the NL registered primary care physicians)<sup>226</sup> practicing in 8 primary care clinics in mainly urban NL.<sup>218</sup>

The primary care physicians participating in the CPCSSN database provided written consent on behalf of their patients to have their patient electronic medical record data regularly transferred to the CPCSSN, which follows strict and secure privacy protocols when using the de-identified data from the patients' electronic medical records. Data sharing and confidentiality agreements were put in place. The participating primary care physicians provided written information (posters and pamphlets in their offices) to patients about the CPCSSN, how their data will be used, and that they had the option to opt out of data collection at any time. The ethics approval obtained for the CPCSSN project in NL included a waiver of explicit patient consent because of the infeasibility of obtaining individual consent for the large geographical population involved in the project, and because only secondary data analysis of pre-existing de-identified data was

performed. Patients' consent to participate in the CPCSSN database and for their deidentified information in the electronic medical record to be used for research purposes, including data linkages, was thus implied.<sup>227,228</sup>

The CPCSSN data tables containing medical record information utilized for the purposes of this study included the Encounter, Encounter Diagnosis, Health Conditions, Medication, Patient Demographics, and Provider tables. These tables contained clinical information extracted directly from each entry in the medical record and included raw text, diagnostic codes, Anatomical Therapeutic Classification codes (medication codes), procedures performed, and relevant dates (e.g. dates of encounters and medication start/stop dates) as entered by the attending primary care physician.<sup>227</sup> The World Health Organization maintains and updates a standardized system of numeric or alphanumeric codes to classify medical diagnoses called the International Classification of Disease (ICD), and the CPCSSN utilizes three- to five-digit codes from the 9th revision of the ICD (ICD-9).<sup>227,229</sup> Clinical data is organized via the patient's unique health insurance number and is de-identified prior to data transfer to CPCSSN.<sup>225</sup> The CPCSSN data undergoes rigorous quality control procedures and was previously determined to be a valid data source to study eight chronic diseases,<sup>230</sup> and a valid proxy (77.5-97.2% sensitivity and 93.1-99.4% specificity) to manual review of electronic chart raw data for validation studies.<sup>231</sup>

# 2.2.2 Reference Standard Cohort and Reference Standard

The Reference Standard Cohort was comprised of primary care patients of all ages who met the inclusion criteria of implied consent to participate in the CPCSSN-NL since December 31, 2009 or earlier, and a minimum of two years of electronic medical record data for analysis. Since the CPCSSN-NL data has only been collected since 2005,<sup>225</sup> the data range from January 1, 2006 to December 31, 2011 was extracted for this cohort.

The presence of chronic pain in the Reference Standard Cohort was determined using both spatial and temporal benchmarks that align with a chronic pain definition. The temporal benchmark was defined as persistent or recurrent pain lasting longer than six months.<sup>11,86</sup> A comprehensive search of all sources of clinical information for evidence of assessment/treatment of pain-/chronic pain-related conditions was performed by one of the authors with clinical expertise in chronic pain (HF). A combination of ICD-9 diagnostic codes, Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical Classification Codes, medication start/stop dates, raw and cleaned textual data, and encounter frequency from the CPCSSN data served as the CPCSSN-NL reference standard for chronic pain. The spatial benchmark for the reference standard was informed by published literature,<sup>41,68,71,72,185,186,206,208,232-238</sup> consultations with chronic pain experts (HF, ET, and JF) and a pharmacy expert (CD), and codes/text utilized in the CPCSSN-NL data. Patients in the Reference Standard Cohort were classified as having chronic pain if any one of the following CPCSSN-NL data criteria was met in the cumulative patient electronic medical record data up to December 31, 2011: (1) a single encounter date recording (the ICD-9 diagnostic codes 338.0<sup>1</sup>, 338.21<sup>1</sup>, or 338.4) OR (text with "chronic" and "pain" in the same text entry not necessarily following each other); OR (2) receipt of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> International Classification of Disease-9th Revision diagnostic codes of 338.0 and 338.2 are not utilized in Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network-Newfoundland and Labrador data but are included in this manuscript for completeness.

at least 90 days of opioid medication used almost exclusively for pain (Chapter 7, Section 7.1, Appendix 1) in the CPCSSN-NL study period; OR (3) four or more encounter dates recording (any ICD-9 pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.2 Appendix 2)) OR (text with "pain") within a 2-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related encounter dates.

## 2.2.3 Administrative Data Sources

Two administrative data sources were used for the chronic pain algorithms: (1) the Provincial Discharge Abstract Database (NL Discharge Abstract Data), which is the NL component of the Canadian Institute of Health Information national Discharge Abstracts Database, containing information on all separations from acute health care facilities in NL, including admission date and up to 16 diagnostic codes, and (2) Medical Care Plan (MCP) Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims File (MCP Claims File) containing information, including one diagnostic code and one provincial billing code, on all claims for health services provided by fee-for-service physicians in NL. All data is organized by each NL resident's unique health insurance number.<sup>199,239</sup>

All NL Discharge Abstract and MCP Claims File data is used for research and surveillance of multiple injuries and disease states.<sup>200</sup> Rigorous quality control procedures are applied to the NL Discharge Abstract data on an annual basis, and MCP Claims File data is considered complete due to its collection for service remuneration.<sup>215,216,218</sup> The MCP Beneficiary File was used to obtain demographic and benefits eligibility information, including age, sex, rural/urban location of residence, and health authority

region of residence. All required record-level data from January 1, 1999 to March 31, 2010 were obtained from these datasets.

The NL Discharge Abstract Data used five-digit ICD-9 codes up to March 31, 2001, and six-digit *International Classification of Disease – 10th Revision (Canadian)* (ICD-10-CA) codes from April 1, 2001 onwards. The MCP Claims File data used three-digit ICD-9 codes throughout the data study period. Although the eleventh revision of the ICD contains specific classifications of chronic pain conditions,<sup>86</sup> the ICD-9 and ICD-10-CA do not.<sup>229</sup> To determine the spatial benchmark and account for the many proxies used by clinicians and researchers for pain-related diagnoses,<sup>41,185,186,208</sup> previous studies and consultations with pain experts (HF, ET, and JF) were used to select the pain-related ICD-9 and ICD-10-CA diagnostic codes (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) searched in the NL administrative data.<sup>41,68,71,72,185,186,206,208,232-237</sup> Chronic pain-related provincial procedure billing codes (Chapter 7, Section 7.4 Appendix 4) searched in the MCP Claims File were reserved for medical assessment and treatment of people with chronic pain carried out by anesthesiologists in organized hospital pain clinics.<sup>240</sup>

#### 2.2.4 Administrative Data Algorithms

Convenience samples of known chronic pain cases were obtained to develop and sensitivity-test preliminary chronic pain algorithms. Inclusion criteria for the pain patient populations were: (1) attending an interdisciplinary chronic pain rehabilitation program from 2006-2011, (2) attending an interdisciplinary chronic pain rehabilitation program from 1999-2005, (3) being on the waitlist to attend an interdisciplinary chronic pain rehabilitation program rehabilitation program on September 1, 2012, or (4) being prescribed and dispensed any

opioid medication used almost exclusively for pain (Chapter 7, Section 7.1, Appendix 1) during the period from 1999-2011 as a subsidized patient of the NL Prescription Drug Program. The interdisciplinary chronic pain rehabilitation program is located in St. John's, NL, and is known as the Centre for Pain and Disability Management.<sup>241</sup> The NL Prescription Drug Program provides financial assistance for eligible prescription medications to qualified seniors and low-income individuals/families.<sup>242</sup>

Since the health administrative data analyzed was part of routine data collection and normal operations of the NL Centre for Health Information, NL Prescription Drug Plan, and the Eastern Regional Health Authority, and the data was then de-identified, individual patient and/or NL resident consent was not required.

For the algorithm development step, MCP Claims File and NL Discharge Abstract Data for the pain patient population attending the interdisciplinary chronic pain rehabilitation program from 2006-2011 was searched for the presence of pain-related diagnostic and procedure codes (spatial benchmarks). Encounter and hospitalization dates associated with pain-related diagnostic codes were searched for the presence of the sixmonth temporal benchmark. Preliminary algorithms were created by combining the presence of: (1) up to five dates of encounters and/or hospitalizations with any physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in either the MCP Claims File or NL Discharge Abstract Data, (2) one or more encounters with a medical specialist recording any pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in either the MCP Claims File or NL Discharge Abstract Data, (3) more than 183 days separating at least two encounter dates with a physician recording any painrelated diagnostic code in the MCP Claims File or the NL Discharge Abstract Data, and

(4) chronic pain-related physician procedure billing codes (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4) in the MCP Claims File. Initially, the algorithms were observed for all available years of the data (1999-2010). The algorithms were then observed for specified time windows to maximize potential chronic disease surveillance utility. A previous study identified up to seven years as the optimal clearance period for recurrent low back pain<sup>202</sup>; therefore, the time windows of between one and seven years were chosen to observe required algorithm spatial and temporal benchmarks.

For the preliminary algorithm sensitivity-testing step, the algorithms were tested for sensitivity on the administrative data of the four pain patient population groups.

For the algorithm validation and selection step, a refined list of algorithms was selected, applied to the Reference Standard Cohort administrative data, and rigorously tested for validity via multiple statistical tests of selection accuracy comparing administrative data case ascertainment to that of the reference standard. In all steps, the administrative data algorithm classified pain patient population group or validation cohort members as having chronic pain if the algorithm criteria were met at any time in the administrative data period (1999-2010). Using the entire data period accommodated both the nature of chronic pain as having no cure and the uncertain timing of diagnosis due to the lack of a standard objective diagnostic test. Fig. 2.1 summarizes the methodology and associated dataflow.

Algorithm development



#### Fig. 2.1. Summary of Methodology and Associated Data Flow

Notes: The CPDM is an interdisciplinary chronic pain rehabilitation program located in St. John's, NL. Members of the CPDM pain patient groups either attended or were waiting to attend the rehabilitation program. The NL Prescription Drug Plan is a financial assistance program covering eligible prescription medications to qualified seniors and low-income individuals/families. Members of the NL Prescription Drug Plan pain patient group were prescribed and dispensed opioid medication used almost exclusively for pain (Chapter 7, Section 7.1, Appendix 1) during the period from 1999-2011 as a subsidized patient of the NL Prescription Drug Program.
Abbreviations: CPDM, Centre for Pain and Disability Management; MCP, Medical Care Plan; NL, Newfoundland and Labrador; CPCSSN, Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network; EMR, Electronic Medical Records.

#### 2.2.5 Algorithm Application to a Provincial Cohort

Once the most performant algorithm to identify chronic pain cases from administrative data was selected, it was applied to the administrative data of a provincial cohort of NL residents. All residents identified as eligible for MCP benefits (approximately 98% of the total NL population) in the MCP Beneficiary File for any fiscal year between 2003 and 2010 were included in the provincial cohort, of which 99.6% had linkages to the MCP Claims File (fee-for-service physician visits) and 65.3% had linkages to the NL Discharge Abstract Data (acute-care hospitalizations).

#### 2.2.6 Data Linkage

The CPCSSN-NL data, the NL Discharge Abstract Data, and the MCP Claims File data were obtained from the NL Centre for Health Information.<sup>239</sup> The CPCSSN-NL data was linked to the Reference Standard Cohort via the unique provincial health insurance (MCP) numbers. Record-level data from the MCP Claims File and NL Discharge Abstract Data were linked to the Reference Standard Cohort, the interdisciplinary chronic pain rehabilitation program patient populations, the NL Prescription Drug Plan pain patient population, and the provincial cohort via the MCP numbers. Analysts at the NL Centre for Health Information performed all data extraction, linkage, cleaning, and deidentification prior to the provision of the linked datasets to the research team for analysis.

#### 2.2.7 Statistical Analysis

Distribution of chronic pain cases as defined by the reference standard in the Reference Standard Cohort were described and compared to those not identified as having chronic pain through a t-test for mean age and Chi-squared tests for proportions (statistical significance defined by p < 0.05). Preliminary algorithm sensitivity was calculated in each pain patient population by dividing algorithm-selected cases by the total corresponding pain patient population.

For algorithm validation and selection, the chronic pain algorithms were applied to the administrative data of the Reference Standard Cohort, and algorithm classification performance was compared to that of the reference standard. There are complexities inherent to validating chronic disease administrative data algorithms, including: 1) multiple required health care provider encounters to deem the disease chronic, 2) multiple codes entered for the same medical issue as the provider works to "rule out" other conditions to arrive at the best diagnosis, 3) varying prevalence of the chronic disease in a population based on age, sociodemographics, and geographic location (an indicator of health service availability), and 4) varying severity of disease according to individuals.<sup>66</sup> A broad range of statistical tests for accuracy and their 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated for each proposed administrative data algorithm using the classic 2x2 table to adequately account for these complexities and to sufficiently illustrate algorithm performance.<sup>66,243</sup>

Sensitivity and specificity assessed case ascertainment utility, and positive predictive value, negative predictive value, likelihood ratio positive, likelihood ratio

negative, and diagnostic odds ratio assessed selection accuracy.<sup>66,224,244,245</sup> The Kappa agreements between each administrative data algorithm and the CPCSSN reference standard were calculated using the classic 2x2 table.<sup>244,246,247</sup> The area under the Receiver Operating Characteristic curve, also a selection accuracy test, for each proposed algorithm was obtained.

To optimize algorithm functionality in assessing the disease burden of chronic pain, the research team sought to maximize case selection while minimizing false positives. The most performant algorithm was chosen based on the balance between sensitivity and specificity while maximizing positive predictive value,<sup>212,224,248</sup> with the goal of each being greater than 0.70.<sup>54</sup> A plot of calculated sensitivity and specificity values for each algorithm was made and the intersection of the plot lines assisted in choosing the most performant algorithm. Once the selected most performant Chronic Pain Algorithm was applied to the Reference Standard Cohort administrative data, identified false positive and false negative cases were reviewed in further detail. Finally, the most performant Chronic Pain Algorithm was applied to validation cohort strata for age (14 years and under, 15-24 years, 25-34 years, 35-44 years, 45-54 years, 55-64 years, 65-79 years, and 80 years and over) and sex (male and female), and its selection accuracy at each stratum was assessed for potential differences in performance.

SPSS version 24 and Excel 2013 were used for statistical analysis.

#### 2.3 Results

# 2.3.1 Reference Standard Cohort Description

The reference standard cohort was comprised of 9,715 people, of which 51.3% were female, 23.3% were 65 years or older, and 90.6% lived in the Eastern Regional Health Authority catchment area. Compared to the Statistics Canada 2011 census-reported NL general population (Fig. 2.2),<sup>249-253</sup> the 2011 demographics of the Reference Standard Cohort had similar sex distribution but a higher median age (48.0 years vs. 44.0 years). The Reference Standard Cohort had an overrepresentation of people aged 65 and over and underrepresentation of people aged 14 and under. There was also a higher percentage of people in the Reference Standard Cohort residing in the Eastern Regional Health Authority (mostly urban) catchment area. The Eastern Regional Health Authority is one of four located in NL.



Fig. 2.2. 2011 Demographics of the Reference Standard Cohort versus the Newfoundland and Labrador General Population

Notes: X-axis: age, sex, and regional health authority strata. Y-axis: proportion of each stratum in the corresponding cohort (Reference Standard Cohort and Statistics Canada 2011 census-reported NL population cohort). Eastern, Western, Central, and Labrador-Grenfell are the four Regional Health Authorities in NL. Abbreviations:NL, Newfoundland and Labrador. Table 2.1 details the distribution of chronic pain cases in the Reference Standard Cohort. Chronic pain prevalence as defined by the reference standard was 24.6%, of which 58.8% were identified as female and 54.2% were aged 55 or older. Mean age was significantly higher at 55.5 years (19.1 years standard deviation) in the Chronic Pain Group versus 44.1 years (22.9 years standard deviation) in the No Chronic Pain Group (p < 0.001).

Table 2.1. 2011 Demographics of Chronic Pain Group vs. No Chronic Pain Group inReference Standard Cohort

Demographic Characteristic	Chronic Pain	No Chronic Pain	P-value
	Group <sup>a</sup>	Group <sup>a</sup>	
	N=2386	N=7329	-
	n(% of group)	n(% of group)	-
Age Group			
0-14	32(1.3)	755(10.3)	< 0.001
15-24	133(5.6)	1005(13.7)	< 0.001
25-34	206(8.6)	1039(14.2)	< 0.001
35-44	288(12.1)	1019(13.9)	0.0248
45-54	435(18.2)	1081(14.7)	< 0.001
55-64	521(21.8)	934(12.7)	< 0.001
65-79	500(21.0)	892(12.2)	< 0.001
80+	271(11.4)	604(8.2)	< 0.001
Sex			
Male	984(41.2)	3744(51.1)	< 0.001
Female	1402(58.8)	3585(48.9)	< 0.001
<b>Regional Health Authority</b>			
Eastern	2262(94.8)	6548(89.3)	< 0.001
Central	34(1.4)	321(4.4)	< 0.001

Western	84(3.5)	390(5.3)	< 0.001
Labrador-Grenfell	6(0.3)	67(0.9)	0.0018
Pain Conditions <sup>b</sup>			
Musculoskeletal Conditions	1715(71.9)	1853(25.3)	< 0.001
& Arthritis			
Other Conditions	1567(65.7)	1729(23.6)	< 0.001
Associated with Chronic			
Pain			
Neck & Back Pain	1546(64.8)	1412(19.3)	< 0.001
Musculoskeletal Trauma	864(36.2)	883(12.0)	< 0.001
Neuropathic Pain	766(32.1)	531(7.2)	< 0.001
Headaches	700(29.3)	631(8.6)	< 0.001
Bone Disorders	427(17.9)	353(4.8)	< 0.001
Central Pain Syndrome,	98(4.1)	0	< 0.001
Chronic Pain, or Chronic			
Pain Syndrome			

Abbreviation: N, total population of group.

<sup>a</sup> The Chronic Pain Group was comprised of members of the Reference Standard Cohort identified by the reference standard, and the No Chronic Pain Group was comprised of members of the Reference Standard Cohort not identified by the reference standard as applied to the Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network-NL data. Chi square tests were used to determine significance of difference between group proportions. Statistical significance was defined by p < 0.05. Difference between the proportions of the Chronic Pain Group and the No Chronic Pain Group in all strata were considered significant.

<sup>b</sup> Inclusion in the pain condition group was defined as an individual having >/= 1
encounter for any condition in the Pain Condition diagnostic group (Chapter 7, Section
7.2 Appendix 2) in the Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance NetworkNewfoundland and Labrador electronic medical record data at any time from January 1,
2006 to December 31, 2011. A cohort member could be counted as a case in more than
one Pain Condition diagnostic group.

# 2.3.2 Administrative Data Algorithm Development and Preliminary Sensitivity Testing

The 2006-2011 interdisciplinary chronic pain rehabilitation patient group consisted of 266 patients. The mean age was 48.0 years and 57.9% were identified as female. After linkages, 256 (97.0%) had at least one physician encounter recording any pain-related diagnostic code in the MCP Claims File and 172 (64.7%) had at least one hospitalization recording at least one pain-related diagnostic code in the NL Discharge Abstract Data (all 16 codes per separation were considered). Twelve people (4.5%) had an entry with the ICD-10-CA code for the diagnosis of acute or chronic pain (R52) in the NL Discharge Abstract Data. After linkages, 96.7% of the 1999-2005 interdisciplinary chronic pain rehabilitation program patient group (N=361, mean age of 52.4 years, 50.1% female), 93.8% of the interdisciplinary chronic pain rehabilitation program waitlist patient group (N=130, mean age of 45.6 years, 64.6% female), and 93.7% of the NL Prescription Drug Plan pain patient group (N=38,532, mean age of 61.0 years, 57.6% female) had at least one encounter or hospitalization recording any pain-related diagnostic code in either the MCP Claims File or the NL Discharge Abstract Data.

Section 2.8.1 Appendix 2.1 provides a complete list of possible algorithm combinations considered, the number of each pain patient group identified by each algorithm, and the calculated sensitivities. The algorithm sensitivities were widely variable, ranging from 0.029 to 0.962, depending on the pain patient group and the algorithm restrictiveness. The algorithm sensitivities were lower in the NL Prescription Drug Plan pain patient group than the interdisciplinary chronic pain rehabilitation

program patient groups. This is possibly due to there being no defined opioid prescription period indicative of long-term use (e.g. 90 days) in the inclusion criteria for the NL Prescription Drug Plan pain patient group.

The first 33 algorithms applied to the administrative data for the pain patient groups explored if known chronic pain cases could be identified from the administrative data in the full data period (1999-2010) time window via physician encounters or hospital admissions recording any pain-related diagnostic code for up to five unique encounter dates. The next 32 algorithms explored if: 1) known cases of chronic pain could be identified in administrative data while meeting the six-month temporal criterion in the full data period time window for up to five physician encounter or hospitalization dates recording any pain-related diagnostic code, and 2) the inclusion of hospital admission dates recording any pain-related diagnostic code significantly improved identification of known chronic pain cases in the full data period time window. Combining hospital admission dates with fee-for-service physician encounter dates to satisfy the six-month temporal criterion was a complex process and minimally improved case ascertainment. However, including hospital admission dates recording any pain-related diagnostic code by a medical specialist to satisfy the medical specialist encounter criterion significantly improved case ascertainment in those tested algorithms. In the interest of parsimony, no hospital admission dates recording any pain-related diagnostic codes were included for algorithm validation, except for the algorithms requiring a medical specialist encounter where hospital admission dates with a medical specialist recording any pain-related diagnostic code could satisfy this criterion. The next 56 algorithms explored if known cases of chronic pain could be identified if the observation window was defined (one- to

seven-year observation windows) while meeting the six-month temporal criterion for a defined number of encounter dates recording any pain-related diagnostic code (two to five dates). The final 56 algorithms explored if including the MCP physician procedure billing codes reserved for anesthesiologist-delivered intervention treatments in a hospital-based chronic pain clinic would have an impact on the utility of the previous 56 algorithms. The final 56 algorithms had the best performance and were selected for the final validation step.

## 2.3.3 Algorithm Validation and Selection

The most performant 56 administrative data chronic pain algorithms from the administrative data algorithm development step were tested against the reference standard in the Reference Standard Cohort. Section 2.8.2 Appendix 2.2 provides the tested algorithms and their validation statistics.

The highest sensitivity (0.917, 95% CI: 0.906-0.928) resulted from the least restrictive algorithm requiring the lowest required number of encounter dates recording any pain-related diagnostic code (>/=2) in the longest observation time window (7 years). Algorithm sensitivity decreased as the number of required encounter dates increased, the observation time window decreased, or the medical specialist encounter criterion was added. The algorithm with the highest sensitivity had the lowest specificity (0.332, 95% CI: 0.326-0.339) and the highest false positive rate (0.668). The negative predictive value (ranging from 0.783 to 0.925) and the likelihood ratio negative (ranging from 0.852 to 0.249) followed the same trend as the sensitivity.

The highest specificity (0.938, 95% CI: 0.929-0.947) resulted from the most restrictive algorithm requiring the highest number of encounter dates recording any pain-related diagnostic code ( $\geq$ /= 5) in the shortest observation time window (1 year) and requiring an encounter with a medical specialist recording any pain-related diagnostic code. Algorithm specificity decreased as the number of required encounter dates decreased, the observation time window increased, or the specialist encounter criterion was removed. The algorithm with the highest specificity had the lowest sensitivity (0.200, 95% CI: 0.184-0.216) and the lowest false positive rate (0.062). The positive predictive value (ranging from 0.309 to 0.513) and the likelihood ratio positive (ranging from 1.374 to 3.241) followed the same trend as the specificity. The intersection of sensitivity and specificity plot lines was observed at approximately 0.67 (Fig. 2.3).



# Fig. 2.3. Chronic Pain Algorithm Sensitivity versus Specificity Plot from Validation Step

Notes: X-axis: chronic pain administrative data algorithms ordered by sensitivity and specificity values calculated during the final validation and selection step (algorithms were tested against the reference standard in the Reference Standard Cohort). Y-axis: calculated specificity and sensitivity values. The 0.668 value was a plot value in the intersection of the sensitivity and specificity lines.

The area under the Receiver Operating Characteristic curve ranged from poor (0.569, 95% CI: 0.555-0.583) to acceptable (0.690, 95% CI: 0.678-0.702) selection accuracy of the chronic pain algorithms.<sup>254</sup> The Kappa agreement between the administrative data algorithms and the CPCSSN reference standard ranged from slight (0.150, 95% CI: 0.137-0.163) to fair (0.303, 95% CI: 0.289-0.317).<sup>255</sup>

The most performant algorithm was chosen based on: 1) the sensitivity and specificity being closest to 0.67 (the intersection of the sensitivity and specificity plot lines in Fig. 2.3), 2) the best concurrent positive predictive value, and 3) the consensus of the research team regarding the algorithm functionality in assessing the disease burden of chronic pain. Considering the study's goal and the validation test results, the most performant Chronic Pain Algorithm to identify chronic pain cases in residents attending fee-for-service physician care for pain-related conditions in NL was determined to be: (1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related provincial MCP procedure billing code in the MCP Claims File; OR (2) five or more physician encounter dates recording any pain-related diagnostic code in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related encounter dates in the MCP Claims File. This algorithm identified 42.3% of the Reference Standard Cohort and 37.6% of the 584,875 people in the provincial cohort. Each cohort member selected by the algorithm had a mean of 2.7, a median of three, and a mode of three unique painrelated diagnostic codes recorded in the five required encounter dates. The five most common and five least common ICD-9 pain-related diagnostic codes recorded in the five required encounter dates for algorithm selection are found in Table 2.2.

Table 2.2. Five Most Common and Five Least Common ICD-9 Pain-related Codes<sup>a</sup>Used for Chronic Pain Algorithm<sup>b</sup> Selection

Mos	t common ICD-9 pain-related	Least common ICD-9 pain-related				
	diagnostic codes		diagnostic codes			
ICD-9	Description	ICD-9	Description			
Code		Code				
724	Other and unspecified disorders	738	Other acquired deformity			
	of back					
781	Symptoms Involving nervous and	756	Other congenital musculoskeletal			
	musculoskeletal systems		anomalies			
715	Osteoarthritis and allied disorders	831	Dislocation of shoulder			
564	Functional digestive disorders,	846	Sprains and strains of sacroiliac			
	not elsewhere classified		region			
714	Rheumatoid arthritis and other	843	Sprains and strains of hip and			
	inflammatory polyarthopathies		thigh			

Abbreviations: ICD-9, International Classification of Disease – 9<sup>th</sup> Revision.

<sup>a</sup> The ICD-9 pain-related diagnostic codes found in the Medical Care Plan Fee-for-

Service Physicians Claims File are found in Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3.

<sup>b</sup> Chronic Pain Algorithm was used to identify cases of chronic pain from the Medical Care Plan Physician Fee-for-Service Claims File data of the Reference Standard Cohort and was defined as: 1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related provincial Medical Care Plan procedure billing code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4) in the Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims File; OR 2) five or more encounter dates with a physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related encounter dates in the Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims File. The Chronic Pain Algorithm had 0.703 (95% CI: 0.685-0.722) sensitivity, 0.668 (95% CI: 0.657-0.678) specificity, 0.408 (95% CI: 0.393-0.423) positive predictive value, 0.874 (95% CI: 0.865-0.882) negative predictive value, 2.117 (95% CI: 2.030-2.207) likelihood ratio positive, 0.444 (95% CI: 0.474-0.417) likelihood ratio negative, 4.763 (95% CI: 4.308-5.267) diagnostic odds ratio, 0.685 (95% CI: 0.673-0.698) area under the Receiver Operating Characteristic curve (or adequate indicator of selection accuracy),<sup>254</sup> and 0.298 (95% CI: 0.285-0.312) Kappa agreement (or fair).<sup>255</sup> The Chronic Pain Algorithm had 0.601-0.868 sensitivity in the pain patient groups.

Of the 2435 false positive cases, 1794 (73.7%) had at least one encounter with a specialist for any pain-related condition and 34 (1.4%) attended treatment for chronic pain at an organized pain clinic. As well, 758 (31.1%) false positive cases were identified by the Chronic Pain Algorithm in administrative data prior to (but not within) the date range of the CPCSSN-NL data. Of the 708 false negative cases, only 66 (9.3%) did not have at least one encounter in the MCP Claims Data recording any pain-related diagnostic code, and 166 (23.4%) did not meet the benchmark of more than six months between at least two encounter dates recording any pain-related diagnostic code. As well, 651 (62.9%) false negative cases would be selected if fewer treatments were required and/or the observation time window was longer (i.e. a less restrictive algorithm).

The Chronic Pain Algorithm was tested further for selection accuracy in the age and sex strata of the Reference Standard Cohort (Table 2.3). In summary, the Chronic Pain Algorithm had lower sensitivity and higher specificity in selecting people aged 34 and younger, and higher sensitivity and lower specificity in selecting people aged 65 and over when compared to its selection performance in the overall Reference Standard Cohort.

Reference	Prevalence	Prevalence	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	LR+	LR-	DOR	Kappa
Standard	Defined by	Defined by								
Cohort	Reference	Chronic								
	Standard	Pain								
		Algorithm								
	24.6%	42.3%	0.703	0.668	0.408	0.874	2.12	0.44	4.76	0.30
Age										
Group										
14 <b>&amp;</b> U	4.1%	7.6%	0.250	0.931	0.133	0.967	3.63	0.81	4.51	0.13
15-24	11.7%	21.2%	0.346	0.805	0.190	0.903	1.77	0.81	2.18	0.11
25-34	16.5%	34.2%	0.576	0.705	0.279	0.894	1.95	0.60	3.26	0.20
35-44	22.0%	38.3%	0.635	0.689	0.366	0.870	2.04	0.53	3.86	0.25
45-54	28.7%	48.6%	0.747	0.619	0.441	0.859	1.96	0.41	4.80	0.30

 Table 2.3. Selection Accuracy of the Chronic Pain Algorithm<sup>a</sup> in Reference Standard Cohort Age and Sex Strata

55-64	35.8%	52.2%	0.738	0.600	0.507	0.805	1.85	0.44	4.24	0.31
65-79	35.9%	59.0%	0.780	0.516	0.475	0.807	1.61	0.43	3.79	0.26
80+	31.0%	64.8%	0.815	0.427	0.390	0.838	1.42	0.43	3.29	0.19
Sex										
Male	20.8%	36.6%	0.652	0.709	0.371	0.886	2.24	0.49	4.58	0.28

Abbreviations: PPV, positive predictive value; NPV, negative predictive value; LR+, likelihood ratio positive; LR-, likelihood ratio negative; DOR, diagnostic odds ratio.

<sup>a</sup> The most performant Chronic Pain Algorithm was defined as: 1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related provincial Medical Care Plan procedure billing code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4) in the Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims File; OR 2) five or more encounter dates recording any pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related encounter dates in the Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims File; OR 2) five or Service Physicians Claims at least two pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related encounter dates in the Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims File.

### 2.4 Discussion

There is a critical need to determine the societal burden of chronic pain.<sup>32,40,50,55,154</sup> A validated administrative data algorithm to estimate the epidemiology of chronic pain not only enables financial estimates to be determined,<sup>197</sup> it also enables assessment of the effects of change to health care and population health policy.<sup>248</sup> To help answer policylevel questions being posed,<sup>35</sup> this study was undertaken to develop and test an algorithm to identify cases of chronic pain as a single chronic disease using Canadian health administrative data. By linking data from known chronic pain patient groups and a general population group over an 11-year study period, a chronic pain algorithm was created and its selection performance was assessed at 0.703 sensitivity, 0.668 specificity, and 0.408 positive predictive value. While no tested algorithm met the study goal of >/=0.70 sensitivity, specificity, and positive predictive value, the algorithm deemed best at ascertaining cases of chronic pain from MCP Claims File data to be used for future study was: (1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related provincial MCP procedure billing code in the MCP Claims File; OR (2) five or more encounter dates with a physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related encounter dates in the MCP Claims File. This algorithm satisfied both spatial and temporal benchmarks consistent with the diagnosis of chronic pain.<sup>11,66,185,186,224</sup> The algorithm selected 37.6% of a NL population cohort from health administrative data.

#### 2.4.1 Achieving Best Case Ascertainment

The Chronic Pain Algorithm validation performance was comparable to other validation studies assessing health administrative data algorithms for specific chronic pain conditions with respect to the ascertainment measures of sensitivity and specificity. Algorithms identifying cases of neck and back disorders had the best and most consistent performance on tests of selection accuracy (up to 0.71 sensitivity, 0.89 specificity, and 0.83 positive predictive value).<sup>208</sup> That study's population included only people with known chronic pain diagnoses, unlike our study. A validation study examining administrative data of survey respondents found very good specificity (>0.90) but poor sensitivity (0.20-0.55) for arthritis case definitions.<sup>248</sup> Algorithms for other specific and less common chronic pain conditions performed less consistently on validation testing. These included fibromyalgia (0.32-0.42 sensitivity, 0.94-0.97 specificity),<sup>208</sup> painful neuropathy (0.22-0.39 sensitivity, 0.58-0.80 specificity),<sup>206,208</sup> chronic regional pain syndrome (0.04-0.07 sensitivity, 0.93-0.98 specificity),<sup>208</sup> and irritable bowel syndrome (0.112-0.989 sensitivity).<sup>209,232,256</sup> Choice of codes, frequency criteria, and the chosen validation cohort contributed to variability in the validation results of these studies. Since no other study reported validation of administrative data algorithms for chronic pain as a single disease, the present study will form the benchmark against which future studies validating chronic pain algorithms will be compared.

## 2.4.2 Ascertainment versus Accuracy

The present study overcame significant challenges to create and validate an administrative data algorithm for chronic pain that included all necessary spatial and

temporal benchmarks. There being no measurable objective diagnostic test and no consistent agreement among experts on the diagnostic criteria for chronic pain made for a less explicit reference standard against which to compare the chronic pain administrative data algorithms.<sup>32,86</sup> Algorithm development was further complicated by the discord among physicians regarding best treatment practices for chronic pain conditions, <sup>32,86</sup> as evidenced by the high number of unique three-digit ICD-9 (67 in total) and ICD-10-CA (83 in total) codes used to identify pain-related conditions in the NL administrative data. The Chronic Pain Algorithm identified a high number of false positive and false negative cases, which negatively impacted the selection accuracy tests of positive predictive value, likelihood ratio, and area under the Receiver Operating Characteristic curve. Since the goal of this study was to create an administrative data algorithm to eventually measure the disease burden of chronic pain in the general population, more weight was placed on ascertainment measures (i.e. sensitivity and specificity) than on selection accuracy measures.<sup>212,224,248</sup> As such, the Chronic Pain Algorithm is better suited for assessment of disease distribution and measuring strength of association with other captured administrative data information in Newfoundland and Labrador than assessment of causation, adverse events, and intervention effectiveness.<sup>224</sup>

# 2.4.3 Algorithm Validity to Study Chronic Pain Distribution

The Chronic Pain Algorithm identified 42.3% of the Reference Standard Cohort, which was higher than the 24.6% identified by the reference standard. The high number of false positives identified by the Algorithm influenced this discrepancy. When considering the overrepresentation of people 65 years and older in the Reference Standard

Cohort, it is possible that the reference standard under-ascertained cases of chronic pain. Selection accuracy results may also be discordant with clinical reality as nearly 74% of false positive cases had at least one encounter with a medical specialist for any painrelated condition. This may indicate that many people receiving care for their chronic pain condition from a specialist may no longer have their pain addressed by their primary care physician. The identification of 37.6% in the NL provincial cohort by the Chronic Pain Algorithm was comparable to the 36% chronic pain prevalence in Atlantic Canada (which includes NL) reported by a survey in 2007 but higher than the 21.5% Atlantic Canada prevalence reported in 2011 by another survey.<sup>45,47</sup> Poor Kappa agreement between survey data and administrative data for identifying cases of a pain condition was previously reported and may influence this observation.<sup>209</sup> Although disagreement between administrative data and medical record or survey data exists, the Chronic Pain Algorithm applied to population-based, widespread administrative data will provide an accurate reflection of geographic and demographic variation of chronic pain distribution in residents attending encounters with fee-for-service physicians in NL.<sup>197</sup>

## 2.4.4 Strengths and Limitations

The main strength of this study lies in its methodology that followed established guidelines.<sup>66</sup> First, the spatial and temporal patterns in the administrative data of patient groups known to have chronic pain were studied to develop the preliminary chronic pain algorithms. Second, the algorithms were validated by calculating multiple tests of selection accuracy in a general population cohort whose demographics approximated that of the NL general population.<sup>66,227</sup> Third, using the CPCSSN electronic medical record

data to apply the reference standard provided comprehensive clinical information for a sufficient sample size to test sensitivity and specificity of multiple algorithms with 0.02 precision and 0.05 alpha that was economical in terms of funding and human resources when compared to a manual chart audit. Finally, a broad range of validation statistics obtained from testing a large number of administrative data algorithms using different criteria were reported. These can inform future studies on chronic pain that plan to use NL health administrative data to achieve different research goals.

There were several limitations to this study. A chronic limitation for all validation studies involving administrative and medical records data is the dependence of its data accuracy on entry at source.<sup>66,67,231</sup> Algorithm development and case ascertainment may have been impacted by the non-capture of pain-related treatments delivered by allied health professionals, salaried physicians, or those funded by a third party (such as Workers Compensation), and the allowance of only one diagnostic code entry per episode of care per practitioner (a non-pain-related diagnostic code might have been the chosen code entry for a particular visit even if a pain condition was assessed/treated).<sup>208</sup> There was differential misclassification bias of the Chronic Pain Algorithm in age groups 34 years and under and 65 years and older possibly impacting algorithm generalizability in studying chronic pain distribution in these age ranges. Chronic pain prevalence is lower in the younger age groups and higher in the older age groups, which, when combined with the age demographics of the pain patient populations used to develop the preliminary algorithms, factor into the age-related misclassification bias.<sup>43-46,48,58,66</sup> While the CPCSSN electronic medical record data was determined a valid proxy to manual chart audits for the eight chronic diseases with previously validated CPCSSN case definitions

(i.e. hypertension, diabetes mellitus, depression, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, osteoarthritis, dementia, epilepsy, and Parkinsonism),<sup>230,231</sup> it was not specifically assessed for chronic pain and may impact validation results. Finally, the Chronic Pain Algorithm may bias estimates of disease risk to the NL general population (through measures of incidence and prevalence) or disease burden on the NL health system (through measures of association) associated with chronic pain.<sup>66,224</sup> Any disease risk or burden estimates obtained from using the Chronic Pain Algorithm should be adjusted for this bias as effectively as possible (which may be complex requiring multiple variables).<sup>224</sup> If this is not possible, the risk of bias should be explicitly acknowledged and the resultant estimates should be interpreted with caution.

## 2.4.5 Generalizability and Future Research

The nature of the NL administrative data and the Chronic Pain Algorithm selection accuracy performance limits its generalizability to extracting disease burden information based on residents attending encounters for pain-related conditions with fee-for-service physicians in NL. Validation of the Chronic Pain Algorithm in target population administrative data is recommended prior to its use in non-NL jurisdictions. The required five-year observation window reduces the practicality of the algorithm for ongoing disease surveillance (due to the long longitudinal data period required to accommodate algorithm application and the recommended four to seven year lead-in period for incidence rate calculations),<sup>202,212</sup> and reduces the sensitivity of the algorithm to assess the impact of critical societal events (e.g. global pandemic) on chronic pain incidence. The methodology used in this study is generalizable to other Canadian jurisdictions due to similarities in the structure of provincial/territorial physician claims and hospital discharge abstract data.<sup>200</sup>

This is the first study in Canada to derive and validate a health administrative data algorithm for chronic pain as a single chronic disease. To increase algorithm generalizability and maximize the potential of this data source in chronic pain research, future studies are recommended. Future research recommendations include deriving more flexible algorithms to reduce differential misclassification bias based on age, adapting ICD and procedure code lists to specific jurisdictions, assessing the impact of including available administrative pharmacy and allied health data, and exploring the impact of including other medications and procedures used for pain treatment. In the absence of a "gold standard" objective diagnostic test to confirm the presence of chronic pain, it is recommended a reference standard with a practical, robust set of criteria be developed and validated for future use in comprehensive health records, electronic medical records, and cleaned electronic medical record datasets (such as CPCSSN).

#### 2.5 Conclusions

The present study sought to derive and validate an algorithm that identifies cases of chronic pain from provincial administrative data in Canada. The Chronic Pain Algorithm aligned with both spatial and temporal frequency benchmarks indicative of a chronic pain diagnosis, and was the most performant algorithm based on available data to identify cases of chronic pain from residents attending fee-for-service physician encounters for pain-related conditions in NL. The recommended applications of the Chronic Pain Algorithm include assessment of geographic and demographic variation in disease

distribution, and assessment of strength of association with other NL administrative dataderived variables (such as health service use and comorbid conditions). While selection accuracy results preclude use of the Chronic Pain Algorithm for evaluation of interventions, adverse events, and causation, a more restrictive algorithm validated in this study might be considered a more viable option for such research. Further investigation is indicated to fully realize the potential of health administrative data as a valid and efficient source of information to study epidemiology, health care utilization, long-term health outcomes, and effectiveness of policy/health service delivery change associated with chronic pain.

## 2.6 Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the 2013 B.E Schnurr Memorial Fund Research Grant and administered by the Physiotherapy Foundation of Canada awarded to Heather E. Foley; and the Eastern Health Research Grant administered by the Health Care Foundation of the Eastern Regional Health Authority awarded to Heather E. Foley and Dr. Jason McCarthy. The study sponsors were not involved in any stage of the study from initial design to publication.

The authors thank Dr. James Flynn and Elsie Thistle for serving as clinical advisors in chronic pain management and in pain-related diagnostic and procedure code selection, Dr. Carla Dillon for serving as pharmaceutical advisor in pain medication selection, and Dr. Jason McCarthy for assistance in grant applications.

#### 2.7 Co-authorship Statement

All authors read and approved the submitted version of this chapter. All authors agreed to be personally responsible for their own contribution and ensure that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work, even ones in which the author was not personally involved, are appropriately investigated, resolved, and the resolution documented in the literature. Heather E. Foley drafted the work and substantively revised it, and made substantial contributions towards the study design, data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation. Dr. John C. Knight substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards study design, data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation. Dr. Michelle Ploughman substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards study conception and design, and data acquisition and interpretation. Dr. Shabnam Asghari made substantial contributions towards study design, and writing of the manuscript. Dr. Rick Audas substantively revised the work, and made substantively revised the work, and made substantively revised the work and study design, and data acquisition and interpretation.

## 2.8 Chapter 2 Appendices

# 2.8.1 Appendix 2.1. Preliminary Chronic Pain Administrative Data Algorithms and Sensitivity Testing in Pain Patient Populations<sup>a</sup>

Algorithm	06-11 CPDM	99-05 CPDM	CPDM	NLPDP Pain
	Patients	Patients	Waitlist	Patients
			Patients	
	N=266	N=361	N=130	N=38532
	n(sensitivity)	n(sensitivity)	n(sensitivity)	n(sensitivity)
1 PC ever	95(0.357)	79(0.219)	21(0.162)	1138(0.029)
2 P ever	255 (0.959)	340(0.942)	118(0.908)	33713(0.875)
2 H ever	133(0.500)	149(0.413)	51(0.392)	8056(0.209)
2 P OR 2 H ever	256(0.962)	340(0.942)	119(0.915)	34274(0.889)
2 P OR H ever	256(0.962)	342(0.947)	120(0.923)	34434(0.894)
3 P ever	254(0.955)	336(0.931))	114(0.877)	31941((0.829)
3 H ever	103(0.387)	103(0.285)	26(0.20)	4672(0.121)
3 P OR 3 H ever	255(0.959)	339(0.939)	114(0.877)	32619(0.847)

3 P OR H ever	255(0.959)	339(0.939)	117(0.900)	32929(0.855)
4 P ever	253(0.951)	329(0.911)	112(0.862)	30310(0.787)
4 H ever	80(0.301)	80(0.222)	21(0.162)	2961(0.077)
4 P OR 4 H ever	254(0.955)	332(0.920)	112(0.862)	31193(0.810)
4 P OR H ever	254(0.955)	333(0.922)	113(0.869)	31559(0.819)
5 P ever	248(0.932)	319(0.884)	109(0.838)	28738(0.771)
5 H ever	60(0.226)	60(0.166)	15(0.115)	2003(0.052)
5 P OR 5 H ever	249(0.936)	323(0.895)	109(0.838)	29786(0.773)
5 P OR H ever	250(0.940)	328(0.909)	109(0.838)	30190(0.784)
2 P ever AND >/=1 S ever	244(0.917)	307(0.850)	100(0.769)	24930(0.647)
2 H ever AND >/= 1 S ever	133(0.500)	147(0.407)	51(0.392)	7868(0.204)
2 P OR 2 H ever AND >/= 1 S ever	245(0.921)	307(0.850)	101(0.777)	25336(0.658)
2 P OR H ever with >/= 1 S ever	245(0.921)	309(0.856)	101(0.777)	25465(0.661)
3 P ever AND >/= 1 S ever	244(0.917)	305(0.845)	98(0.754)	24167(0637)
3 H ever AND >/= 1 S ever	103(0.387)	102(0.283)	26(0.20)	4598(0.119)

3 P OR 3 H ever AND >/= 1 S ever	245(0.921)	307(0.850)	98(0.754)	24696(0.641)
3 P OR H ever AND >/= 1 S ever	245(0.921)	307(0.850)	101(0.777)	24963(0.648)
4 P ever AND >/= 1 S ever	244(0.917)	302(0.837)	97(0.746)	23399(0.607)
4 H ever AND >/= 1 S ever	80(0.301)	79(0.219)	21(0.162)	2926(0.076)
4 P OR 4 H ever AND >/= 1 S ever	245(0.921)	304(0.842)	97(0.746)	24071(0.625)
4 P OR H ever AND >/= 1 S ever	245(0.921)	305(0.845)	98(0.754)	24392(0.633)
5 P ever AND >/= 1 S ever	240(0.902)	295(0.817)	97(0.746)	22559(0.585)
5 H ever AND >/= 1 S ever	60(0.226)	59(0.163)	15(0.115)	1987(0.052)
5 P OR 5 H ever AND >/= 1 S ever	241(0.906)	299(0.828)	97(0.746)	23403(0.607)
5 P OR H ever AND >/= 1 S ever	242(0.910)	304(0.842)	97(0.746)	23761(0.617)
2 P ever AND > 183 days between 2 P	253(0.951)	338(0.936)	117(0.900)	32829(0.852)
2 H ever AND P > 183 days between 2 H	133(0.500)	149(0.413)	51(0.392)	7959(0.207)
2 P OR 2 H ever AND > 183 days between 2 P	245(0.921)	338(0.936)	118(0.908)	33085(0.859)
or 2 H				

2 P OR H ever AND > 183 days between 2 P	254(0.955)	340(0.942)	119(0.915)	33220(0.862)
or H				
3 P ever AND > 183 days between 2 P	253(0.951)	335(0.928)	113(0.869)	31586(0.820)
3 H ever AND > 183 days between 2 H	103(0.387)	103(0.285)	26(0.200)	4642(0.120)
3 P OR 3 H ever AND > 183 days between 2 P	254(0.955)	337(0.934)	113(0.869)	32027(0.831)
or 2 H				
<b>3 P OR H ever AND P &gt; 183 days between 2 P</b>	254(0.955)	337(0.934)	116(0.892)	32309(0.838)
or H				
4 P ever AND > 183 days between 2 P	252(0.947)	329(0.911)	111(0.854)	30134(0.782)
4 H ever AND > 183 days between 2 H	80(0.301)	80(0.222)	21(0.162)	2952(0.077)
4 P OR 4 H ever AND P > 183 days between 2	253(0.951)	331(0.917)	111(0.854)	30831(0.800)
P or 2 H				
4 P OR H ever AND > 183 days between 2 P	253(0.951)	332(0.920)	112(0.862)	31179(0.809)
or H				
5 P ever AND > 183 days between 2 P	247(0.929)	319(0.884)	108(0.831)	28645(0.743)

5 H ever AND > 183 days between 2 H	60(0.226)	60(0.166)	15(0.115)	2002(0.052)
5 P OR 5 H ever AND > 183 days between 2 P	248(0.932)	322(0.892)	108(0.831)	29542(0.767)
or 2 H				
5 P OR H ever AND > 183 days between 2 P	249(0.936)	327(0.906)	108(0.831)	29931(0.777)
or H				
2 P ever AND > 183 days between 2 P AND	244(0.917)	305(0.845)	100(0.769)	24534(0.637)
>/= 1 S ever				
2 H ever AND > 183 days between 2 H AND	133(0.500)	147(0.407)	51(0.392)	7791(0.202)
>/= 1 S ever				
2 P OR 2 H ever AND > 183 days between 2 P	245(0.921)	305(0.845)	101(0.777)	24745(0.642)
or 2 H AND >/= 1 S ever				
2 P OR H ever AND > 183 days between 2 P	245(0.921)	307(0.850)	101(0.777)	24857(0.645)
or H AND >/= 1 S ever				
3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P AND >/= 1 S	244(0.917)	304(0.842)	98(0.754)	23980(0.622)
ever				

3 H ever AND > 183 days between 2 H AND	103(0.387)	102(0.281)	26(0.200)	4574(0.119)
>/= 1 S ever				
3 P OR 3 H ever AND > 183 days between 2 P	245(0.921)	305(0.845)	98(0.754)	24315(0.631)
or 2 H AND >/= 1 S ever				
3 P OR H ever AND > 183 days between 2 P	245(0.921)	305(0.845)	101(0.777)	24555(0.637)
or H AND >/= 1 S ever				
4 P ever AND > 183 days between 2 P AND	244(0.917)	302(0.837)	97(0.746)	23296(0.605)
>/= 1 S ever				
4 H ever AND > 183 days between 2 H AND	80(0.301)	79(0.219)	21(0.162)	2917(0.076)
>/= 1 S ever				
4 P OR 4 H ever AND > 183 days between 2 P	245(0.921)	303(0.839)	97(0.746)	23810(0.618)
or 2 H AND >/= 1 S ever				
4 P OR H ever AND > 183 days between 2 P	245(0.921)	304(0.842)	98(0.754)	24116(0.626)
or H AND >/= 1 S ever				
5 P ever AND > 183 days between 2 P AND	240(0.902)	295(0.817)	97(0.746)	22505(0.584)
--	------------	------------	------------	--------------
>/= 1 S ever				
		50(0.1(2))	15(0,115)	100((0.050)
5 H ever AND > 183 days between 2 H AND	60(0.226)	59(0.163)	15(0.115)	1986(0.052)
>/= 1 S ever				
5 P OR 5 H ever AND > 183 days between 2 P	241(0.906)	298(0.825)	97(0.746)	23217(0.603)
	( )			
or 2 H AND >/= 1 S ever				
5 P OR H ever AND > 183 days between 2 P	242(0.910)	303(0.839)	97(0.746)	23562(0.611)
5	( )	( )		
or H AND >/= 1 S ever				
2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 1 VR	148(0,556)	215(0,596)	68(0,523)	15509(0.402)
	110(01000)	210(0.030)	00(0.020)	10003(01102)
2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 2 YR	210(0.789)	289(0.801)	100(0.769)	23890(0.620)
2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 3 YR	222(0.835)	305(0.845)	108(0.831)	27213(0.706)
v				× ,
2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 4 YR	237(0.891)	322(0.892)	111(0.854)	29163(0.757)
2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 5 YR	243(0.914)	328(0.909)	114(0.877)	30360(0.788)
2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 6 YR	248(0.932)	332(0.920)	116(0.892)	31185(0.809)
2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 7 YR	249(0.936)	335(0.928)	117(0.900)	31785(0.825)

3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 1 YR	132(0.496)	192(0.532)	62(0.477)	12807(0.332)
3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 2 YR	192(0.722)	267(0.740)	86(0.662)	20617(0.535)
3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 3 YR	213(0.801)	294(0.814)	95(0.731)	24278(0.630)
3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 4 YR	226(0.850)	314(0.870)	101(0.777)	26638(0.691)
3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 5 YR	236(0.887)	320(0.886)	107(0.823)	28178(0.731)
3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 6 YR	248(0.932)	326(0.903)	111(0.854)	29273(0.760)
3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 7 YR	249(0.936)	329(0.911)	112(0.862)	30148(0.782)
4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 1 YR	103(0.387)	167(0.463)	51(0.392)	10043(0.261)
4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 2 YR	171(0.643)	249(0.690)	77(0.592)	17108(0.444)
4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 3 YR	197(0.741)	274(0.759)	89(0.685)	20951(0.544)
4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 4 YR	214(0.805)	295(0.817)	94(0.723)	23746(0.616)
4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 5 YR	229(0.861)	308(0.853)	101(0.777)	25646(0.666)
4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 6 YR	237(0.891)	316(0.875)	108(0.831)	27080(0.703)
4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 7 YR	243(0.914)	319(0.884)	109(0.838)	28152(0.731)
5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 1 YR	78(0.293)	145(0.402)	42(0.323)	7667(0.199)

5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 2 YR	144(0.541)	223(0.618)	68(0.523)	14088(0.366)
5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 3 YR	183(0.688)	255(0.706)	81(0.623)	17961(0.466)
5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 4 YR	202(0.759)	274(0.759)	88(0.677)	20911(0.543)
5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 5 YR	222(0.835)	293(0.812)	92(0.708)	23061(0.598)
5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 6 YR	231(0.868)	304(0.842)	100(0.769)	24795(0.643)
5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 7 YR	238(0.895)	310(0.859)	104(0.800)	26102(0.677)
2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 1 YR	144(0.541)	201(0.557)	61(0.469)	12537(0.325)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 2 YR	204(0.767)	268(0.742)	87(0.669)	18662(0.484)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 3 YR	216(0.812)	281(0.778)	94(0.723)	20927(0.543)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 4 YR	231(0.868)	294(0.814)	95(0.731)	22215(0.577)
AND >/= 1 S ever				

2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 5 YR	236(0.887)	298(0.825)	97(0.746)	22958(0.596)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 6 YR	240(0.902)	301(0.834)	99(0.762)	23480(0.609)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 7 YR	241(0.906)	303(0.839)	100(0.769)	23858(0.619)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 1 YR	128(0.481)	183(0.507)	59(0.454)	10678(0.277)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 2 YR	187(0.703)	251(0.695)	79(0.608)	16608(0.431)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 3 YR	208(0.782)	274(0.759)	85(0.654)	19232(0.499)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 4 YR	221(0.831)	289(0.801)	89(0.685)	20826(0.540)
AND >/= 1 S ever				

3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 5 YR	230(0.865)	294(0.814)	92(0.708)	21804(0.566)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 6 YR	240(0.902)	299(0.828)	96(0.738)	22501(0.584)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 7 YR	241(0.906)	299(0.828)	97(0.746)	23071(0.599)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 1 YR	102(0.383)	160(0.443)	49(0.377)	8564(0.222)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 2 YR	168(0.632)	237(0.657)	72(0.554)	14210(0.369)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 3 YR	194(0.729)	261(0.723)	81(0.623)	17088(0.443)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 4 YR	210(0.789)	277(0.767)	83(0.638)	19079(0.495)
AND >/= 1 S ever				

4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 5 YR	225(0.846)	287(0.795)	87(0.669)	20349(0.528)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 6 YR	232(0.872)	292(0.809)	94(0.723)	21296(0.553)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 7 YR	237(0.891)	294(0.814)	95(0.731)	22017(0.571)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 1 YR	78(0.293)	138(0.382)	40(0.308)	6662(0.179)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 2 YR	141(0.530)	213(0.590)	66(0.508)	11961(0.310)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 3 YR	180(0.677)	243(0.673)	77(0.592)	15001(0.389)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 4 YR	199(0.748)	260(0.720)	81(0.623)	17220(0.447)
AND >/= 1 S ever				

5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 5 YR	218(0.820)	276(0.765)	82(0.631)	18756(0.487)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 6 YR	227(0.853)	285(0.789)	89(0.685)	19954(0.518)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in 7 YR	233(0.876)	288(0.798)	93(0.715)	20850(0.541)
AND >/= 1 S ever				
(1 PC) OR (2 P ever AND > 183 days between	244(0.917)	305(0.845)	100(0.769)	24388(0.633)
2 P AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR (3 P ever AND > 183 days between	244(0.917)	304(0.842)	98(0.754)	23920(0.621)
2 P AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR (4 P ever AND > 183 days between	244(0.917)	303(0.839)	97(0.746)	23274(0.604)
2 P AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR (5 P ever AND > 183 days between	241(0.906)	298(0.825)	97(0.746)	22501(0.584)
2 P AND >/= 1 S ever)				

(1 PC) OR (2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	191(0.718)	237(0.657)	74(0.569)	15882(0.412)
in 1 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	227(0.853)	295(0.817)	101(0.777)	24022(0.623)
in 2 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	233(0.876)	307(0.850)	108(0.831)	27275(0.708)
in 3 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	240(0.902)	323(0.895)	111(0.854)	29197(0.758)
in 4 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	245(0.921)	328(0.909)	114(0.877)	30382(0.788)
in 5 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	249(0.936)	332(0.920)	116(0.892)	31200(0.810)
in 6 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	250(0.940)	335(0.928)	117(0.900)	31797(0.825)
in 7 YR)				

(1 PC) OR (3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	180(0.677)	217(0.601)	70(0.538)	13239(0.344)
in 1 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	218(0.820)	276(0.765)	89(0.685)	20800(0.540)
in 2 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	230(0.865)	299(0.828)	96(0.738)	24385(0.633)
in 3 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	237(0.891)	316(0.875)	102(0.785)	26693(0.693)
in 4 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	242(0.910)	320(0.886)	107(0.823)	28211(0.732)
in 5 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	249(0.936)	326(0.903)	111(0.854)	29295(0.760)
in 6 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	250(0.940)	329(0.911)	112(0.862)	30166(0.783)
in 7 YR)				

(1 PC) OR (4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	158(0.594)	197(0.546)	59(0.454)	10559(0.274)
in 1 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	205(0.771)	262(0.726)	80(0.615)	17368(0.451)
in 2 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	219(0.823)	281(0.778)	90(0.692)	21111(0.548)
in 3 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	230(0.865)	299(0.828)	95(0.731)	23843(0.619)
in 4 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	237(0.891)	310(0.859)	101(0.777)	25702(0.667)
in 5 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	241(0.906)	317(0.878)	108(0.831)	27113(0.704)
in 6 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	245(0.921)	320(0.886)	109(0.838)	28174(0.731)
in 7 YR)				

(1 PC) OR (5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	143(0.538)	178(0.493)	52(0.400)	8269(0.215)
in 1 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	187(0.703)	238(0.659)	73(0.562)	14426(0.374)
in 2 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	207(0.778)	264(0.731)	82(0.631)	18173(0.472)
in 3 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	220(0.827)	280(0.776)	89(0.685)	21045(0.546)
in 4 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P in	231(0.868)	297(0.823)	93(0.715)	23151(0.601)
5 YR) <sup>b</sup>				
(1 PC) OR (5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	236(0.887)	307(0.850)	100(0.769)	24844(0.645)
in 6 YR)				
(1 PC) OR (5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	241(0.906)	313(0.867)	104(0.800)	26135(0.678)
in 7 YR)				

(1 PC) OR ((2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	187(0.703)	223(0.618)	67(0.515)	12911(0.335)
in 1 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	221(0.831)	274(0.759)	88(0.677)	18795(0.488)
in 2 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	227(0.853)	283(0.784)	94(0.723)	20990(0.545)
in 3 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	234(0.880)	295(0.817)	95(0.731)	22250(0.577)
in 4 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	238(0.895)	298(0.825)	97(0.746)	22981(0.596)
in 5 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	241(0.906)	301(0.834)	99(0.762)	23496(0.610)
in 6 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((2 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	242(0.910)	303(0.839)	100(0.769)	23871(0.620)
in 7 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				

(1 PC) OR ((3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	176(0.662)	208(0.576)	67(0.515)	11111(0.288)
in 1 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	213(0.801)	260(0.720)	82(0.631)	16797(0.436)
in 2 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	225(0.846)	279(0.773)	86(0.662)	19340(0.502)
in 3 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	232(0.872)	291(0.806)	90(0.692)	20882(0.542)
in 4 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	236(0.887)	294(0.814)	92(0.708)	21838(0.567)
in 5 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	241(0.906)	299(0.828)	96(0.738)	22524(0.585)
in 6 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((3 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	242(0.910)	299(0.828)	97(0.746)	23090(0.599)
in 7 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				

(1 PC) OR ((4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	157(0.590)	190(0.526)	57(0.438)	9081(0.236)
in 1 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	202(0.759)	250(0.693)	75(0.577)	14471(0.376)
in 2 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	216(0.812)	268(0.742)	82(0.631)	17249(0.448)
in 3 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	226(0.850)	281(0.778)	84(0.646)	19177(0.498)
in 4 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	233(0.876)	289(0.801)	87(0.669)	20406(0.530)
in 5 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	236(0.887)	293(0.812)	94(0.723)	21330(0.554)
in 6 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((4 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	239(0.898)	295(0.818)	95(0.731)	22040(0.572)
in 7 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				

(1 PC) OR ((5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	143(0.538)	171(0.474)	50(0.385)	7265(0.189)
in 1 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	184(0.692)	228(0.632)	71(0.546)	12300(0.319)
in 2 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	204(0.767)	252(0.698)	78(0.600)	15214(0.395)
in 3 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	217(0.816)	266(0.737)	82(0.631)	17355(0.450)
in 4 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	227(0.853)	280(0.776)	83(0.638)	18847(0.489)
in 5 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	232(0.872)	288(0.798)	89(0.685)	20004(0.519)
in 6 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				
(1 PC) OR ((5 P AND > 183 days between 2 P	236(0.887)	291(0.806)	93(0.715)	20884(0.542)
in 7 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)				

Abbreviations: CPDM, Centre for Pain and Disability Management (an interdisciplinary chronic pain rehabilitation program); NLPDP, Newfoundland and Labrador Prescription Drug Plan (a financial assistance program covering eligible prescription medications to qualified seniors and low-income individuals/families); PC, encounter with anesthesiologist-recorded pain clinic Medical Care Plan provincial procedure billing code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4) in Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims File; P, encounter with physician-recorded pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims File; H, encounter with physician-recorded pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in Newfoundland and Labrador hospital Discharge Abstract Data; S, encounter with medical specialist-recorded pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims File or Newfoundland and Labrador hospital Discharge Abstract Data; YR, year(s). <sup>a</sup> Inclusion criteria for the pain populations were: 1) attending an interdisciplinary chronic pain rehabilitation program from 2006-2011, 2) attending an interdisciplinary chronic pain rehabilitation program from 1999-2005, 3) being on the waitlist to attend an interdisciplinary chronic pain rehabilitation program on September 1, 2012, or 4) being prescribed and dispensed any opioid medication used almost exclusively for pain (Chapter 7, Section 7.1, Appendix 1) during the period from 1999-2011 as a subsidized patient of the NL Prescription Drug Program.

<sup>b</sup> The most performant Chronic Pain Algorithm

Algorithm	Selected	Test	ТР	FP	FN	TN	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	LR+	LR-	DOR	Kappa	aROC
	<b>(n)</b>	Prevalence					(95% CI)								
		n/9715													
(1 PC ever) OR (2 P AND > 183 days	2807	0.289	1066	1741	1320	5588	0.447	0.762	0.380	0.809	1.881	0.726	2.592	0.197	0.604
between 2 P in 1 YR)							(0.427,0.467)	(0.751,0.774)	(0.362,0.398)	(0.800,0.818)	(1.770,1.998)	(0.698,0.754)	(2.348,2.856)	(0.183,0.212)	(0.591,0.618)
(1 PC ever) OR (2 P AND > 183 days	4850	0.499	1704	3146	682	4183	0.714	0.571	0.351	0.860	1.664	0.501	3.322	0.211	0.642
between 2 P in 2 YR)							(0.696,0.732)	(0.560,0.581)	(0.338,0.365)	(0.850,0.870)	(1.604,1.726)	(0.469,0.535)	(3.006,3.656)	(0.198,0.225)	(0.630,0.655)
(1 PC ever) OR (2 P AND > 183 days	5820	0.599	1951	3869	435	3460	0.818	0.472	0.335	0.888	1.549	0.386	4.011	0.195	0.645
between 2 P n 3 YR)							(0.802,0.833)	(0.463,0.481)	(0.323,0.347)	(0.878,0.898)	(1.505,1.594)	(0.354,0.422)	(3.580,4.493)	(0.182,0.208)	(0.633,0.657)
(1 PC ever) OR (2 P AND > 183 days	6349	0.654	2060	4289	326	3040	0.863	0.415	0.324	0.903	1.475	0.329	4.479	0.178	0.639
between 2 P in 4 YR)							(0.850,0.877)	(0.407,0.423)	(0.313,0.336)	(0.893,0.913)	(1.439,1.513)	(0.297,0.366)	(3.950,5.079)	(0.165,0.191)	(0.627,0.651)
(1 PC ever) OR (2 P AND > 183 days	6703	0.690	2124	4579	262	2750	0.890	0.375	0.317	0.913	1.425	0.293	4.869	0.165	0.632
between 2 P in 5 YR)							(0.878,0.903)	(0.368,0.382)	(0.306,0.328)	(0.903,0.923)	(1.393,1.457)	(0.260,0.329)	(4.246,5.582)	(0.152,0.178)	(0.621,0.644)
(1 PC ever) OR (2 P AND > 183 days	6935	0.714	2167	4768	219	2561	0.908	0.349	0.312	0.921	1.396	0.263	5.315	0.157	0.629
between 2 P in 6 YR)							(0.897,0.920)	(0.343,0.356)	(0.302,0.323)	(0.911,0.931)	(1.367,1.426)	(0.231,0.299)	(4.588,6.157)	(0.144,0.170)	(0.617,0.640)
(1 PC ever) OR (2 P AND > 183 days	7083	0.729	2189	4894	197	2435	0.917	0.332	0.309	0.925	1.374	0.249	5.529	0.150	0.625
between 2 P in 7 YR)							(0.906,0.928)	(0.326,0.339)	(0.298,0.320)	(0.915,0.935)	(1.347,1.402)	(0.217,0.285)	(4.741,6.447)	(0.137,0.163)	(0.612,0.636)
(1 PC ever) OR (3 P AND > 183 days	2061	0.212	876	1185	1510	6144	0.367	0.838	0.425	0.803	2.271	0.755	3.008	0.215	0.603
between 2 P in 1 YR)							(0.348,0.386)	(0.827,0.849)	(0.404,0.446)	(0.794,0.812)	(2.108,2.445)	(0.731,0.780)	(2.711,3.337)	(0.200,0.230)	(0.589,0.616)
(1 PC ever) OR (3 P AND > 183 days	3753	0.386	1453	2300	933	5029	0.609	0.686	0.387	0.844	1.940	0.570	3.405	0.247	0.647
between 2 P in 2 YR)							(0.589,0.629)	(0.675,0.697)	(0.372,0.403)	(0.834,0.853)	(1.852,2.033)	(0.541,0.601)	(3.094,3.748)	(0.233,0.261)	(0.634,0.660)

# 2.8.2 Appendix 2.2. Selection Accuracy of Chronic Pain Algorithms in Reference Standard Cohort<sup>a</sup>

(1  DC  array)  OD (2  D  AND > 192  dama)	4720	0.496	1741	2070	615	4250	0.720	0.504	0.260	0.971	1 705	0.455	2 0/1	0.242	0.661
(1 PC ever) OR (3 P AND > 183 days	4/20	0.480	1/41	2979	645	4350	0.730	0.394	0.369	0.871	1.795	0.455	3.941	0.243	0.001
between 2 P in 3 YR)							(0.712,0.747)	(0.583,0.604)	(0.355,0.383)	(0.862,0.880)	(1.730,1.863)	(0.425,0.488)	(3.560,4.363)	(0.229,0.257)	(0.649,0.674)
(1 PC ever) OR (3 P AND > 183 days	5391	0.555	1912	3479	474	3850	0.801	0.525	0.355	0.890	1.688	0.378	4.464	0.229	0.663
between 2 P in 4 YR)							(0.785,0.817)	(0.516,0.534)	(0.342,0.367)	(0.881,0.900)	(1.636,1.742)	(0.348,0.411)	(3.997,4.986)	(0.216,0.243)	(0.651,0.675)
(1 PC ever) OR (3 P AND > 183 days	5821	0.599	2003	3818	383	3511	0.839	0.479	0.344	0.902	1.611	0.335	4.809	0.214	0.659
between 2 P in 5 YR)							(0.825,0.854)	(0.486,0.487)	(0.332,0.356)	(0.892,0.911)	(1.567,1.657)	(0.305,0.368)	(4.259,5.414)	(0.201,0.228)	(0.647,0.671)
(1 PC ever) OR (3 P AND > 183 days	6136	0.632	2079	4057	307	3272	0.871	0.446	0.339	0.914	1.574	0.288	5.462	0.208	0.659
between 2 P in 6 YR)							(0.858,0.885)	(0.439,0.454)	(0.327,0.351)	(0.905,0.923)	(1.534,1.615)	(0.259,0.321)	(4.804,6.210)	(0.195,0.221)	(0.647,0.670)
(1 PC ever) OR (3 P AND > 183 days	6339	0.652	2121	4218	265	3111	0.889	0.424	0.335	0.922	1.545	0.262	5.903	0.201	0.656
between 2 P in 7 YR)							(0.876,0.902)	(0.417,0.432)	(0.323,0.346)	(0.912,0.931)	(1.508,1.582)	(0.233,0.294)	(5.153,6.762)	(0.188,0.214)	(0.645,0.668)
(1 PC ever) OR (4 P AND > 183 days	1452	0.149	678	774	1708	6555	0.284	0.894	0.467	0.793	2.691	0.800	3.362	0.206	0.589
between 2 P in 1 YR)							(0.266,0.302)	(0.884,0.905)	(0.441,0.493)	(0.785,0.802)	(2.454,2.950)	(0.779,0.822)	(2.994,3.775)	(0.190,0.221)	(0.575,0.603)
(1 PC ever) OR (4 P AND > 183 days	2804	0.289	1186	1618	1200	5711	0.497	0.779	0.423	0.826	2.252	0.645	3.488	0.261	0.638
between 2 P in 2 YR)							(0.477,0.517)	(0.768,0.791)	(0.405,0.441)	(0.817,0.835)	(2.123,2.388)	(0.619,0.673)	(3.165,3.845)	(0.246,0.275)	(0.625,0.651)
(1 PC ever) OR (4 P AND > 183 days	3686	0.379	1494	2192	892	5137	0.626	0.701	0.405	0.852	2.094	0.533	3.925	0.276	0.663
between 2 P in 3 YR)							(0.607,0.646)	(0.690,0.712)	(0.389,0.421)	(0.843,0.861)	(1.998,2.194)	(0.505,0.563)	(3.563,4.324)	(0.262,0.290)	(0.651,0.676)
(1 PC ever) OR (4 P AND > 183 days	4397	0.453	1716	2681	670	4648	0.719	0.634	0.390	0.874	1.966	0.443	4.440	0.275	0.676
between 2 P in 4 YR)							(0.701,0.737)	(0.624,0.644)	(0.376,0.405)	(0.865,0.883)	(1.890,2.045)	(0.414,0.473)	(4.013,4.913)	(0.261,0.289)	(0.664,0.689)
(1 PC ever) OR (4 P AND > 183 days	4906	0.505	1850	3056	536	4273	0.775	0.583	0.377	0.889	1.859	0.385	4.826	0.264	0.679
between 2 P in 5 YR)							(0.759,0.792)	(0.573,0.593)	(0.364,0.391)	(0.880,0.897)	(1.796,1.925)	(0.357,0.416)	(4.337,5.370)	(0.251,0.278)	(0.667,0.691)
(1 PC ever) OR (4 P AND > 183 days	5287	0.544	1939	3348	447	3981	0.813	0.543	0.367	0.899	1.779	0.345	5.158	0.252	0.678
between 2 P in 6 YR)							(0.797,0.828)	(0.534,0.552)	(0.354,0.380)	(0.890,0.908)	(1.724,1.836)	(0.316,0.376)	(4.608,5.753)	(0.239,0.266)	(0.666,0.689)
(1 PC ever) OR (4 P AND > 183 days	5554	0.572	2009	3545	377	3784	0.842	0.516	0.362	0.909	1.741	0.306	5.688	0.247	0.679
between 2 P in 7 YR)							(0.827,0.857)	(0.508,0.525)	(0.349,0.374)	(0.901,0.918)	(1.690,1.793)	(0.278,0.337)	(5.049,6.408)	(0.234,0.261)	(0.667,0.691)

(1 PC ever) OR (5 P AND > 183 days	1057	0.109	521	536	1865	6793	0.218	0.927	0.493	0.785	2.986	0.843	3.540	0.179	0.572
between 2 P in 1 YR)							(0.202,0.235)	(0.917,0.936)	(0.463,0.523)	(0.776,0.793)	(2.671,3.337)	(0.825,0.862)	(3.106,4.036)	(0.163.0.194)	(0.559,0.586)
(1 PC ever) OR (5 P AND > 183 days	2118	0.218	968	1150	1418	6179	0.406	0.843	0.457	0.813	2.586	0.705	3.668	0.259	0.624
between 2 P in 2 YR)							(0.386,0.425)	(0.832,0.854)	(0.436,0.478)	(0.805,0.822)	(2.406,2.778)	(0.681,0.730)	(3.308,4.066)	(0.244,0.273)	(0.611,0.638)
(1 PC ever) OR (5 P AND > 183 days	2902	0.299	1252	1650	1134	5679	0.525	0.775	0.431	0.834	2.331	0.613	3.800	0.279	0.650
between 2 P in 3 YR)							(0.505,0.545)	(0.763,0.786)	(0.413,0.449)	(0.825,0.842)	(2.201,2.468)	(0.587,0.641)	(3.448,4.188)	(0.265,0.293)	(0.636,0.663)
(1 PC ever) OR (5 P AND > 183 days	3555	0.366	1483	2072	903	5257	0.622	0.717	0.417	0.853	2.198	0.528	4.167	0.291	0.669
between 2 P in 4 YR)							(0.602,0.641)	(0.706,0.728)	(0.401,0.433)	(0.845,0.862)	(2.095,2.307)	(0.500,0.557)	(3.781,4.592)	(0.277,0.305)	(0.656,0.682)
(1 PC ever) OR (5 P AND > 183 days between	4113	0.423	1678	2435	708	4894	0.703	0.668	0.408	0.874	2.117	0.444	4.763	0.298	0.685
2 P in 5 YR) <sup>b</sup>							(0.685,0.722)	(0.657,0.678)	(0.393,0.423)	(0.865,0.882)	(2.030,2.207)	(0.417,0.474)	(4.308,5.267)	(0.285,0.312)	(0.673,0.698)
(1 PC ever) OR (5 P AND > 183 days	4553	0.469	1794	2759	592	4570	0.752	0.624	0.394	0.885	1.997	0.398	5.020	0.287	0.688
between 2 P in 6 YR)							(0.735,0.769)	(0.614,0.633)	(0.380,0.408)	(0.877,0.894)	(1.924,2.073)	(0.370,0.428)	(4.523,5.571)	(0.274,0.301)	(0.676,0.700)
(1 PC ever) OR (5 P AND > 183 days	4881	0.502	1883	2998	503	4331	0.789	0.591	0.386	0.896	1.929	0.357	5.408	0.281	0.690
between 2 P in 7 YR)							(0.773,0.806)	(0.582,0.600)	(0.372,0.399)	(0.887,0.905)	(1.864,1.997)	(0.329,0.386)	(4.850,6.030)	(0.268,0.295)	(0.678,0.702)
(1 PC ever) OR ((2 P AND > 183 days	2089	0.215	887	1202	1499	6127	0.372	0.836	0.425	0.803	2.267	0.751	3.016	0.217	0.604
between 2 P in 1 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.352,0.391)	(0.825,0.847)	(0.403,0.446)	(0.795,0.812)	(2.106,2.439)	(0.727,0.776)	(2.720,3.345)	(0.202,0.232)	(0.590,0.617)
(1 PC ever) OR ((2 P AND > 183 days	3360	0.346	1343	2017	1043	5312	0.563	0.725	0.400	0.836	2.045	0.603	3.391	0.253	0.644
between 2 P in 2 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.543,0.583)	(0.713,0.736)	(0.383,0.416)	(0.827,0.845)	(1.943,2.153)	(0.575,0.633)	(3.081,3.732)	(0.239,0.267)	(0.631,0.657)
(1 PC ever) OR ((2 P AND > 183 days	3920	0.403	1517	2403	869	4926	0.636	0.672	0.387	0.850	1.939	0.542	3.579	0.253	0.654
between 2 P in 3 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.616,0.655)	(0.661,0.683)	(0.372,0.402)	(0.841,0.859)	(1.854,2.028)	(0.513,0.573)	(3.249,3.941)	(0.239,0.267)	(0.641,0.667)
(1 PC ever) OR ((2 P AND > 183 days	4190	0.431	1585	2605	801	4724	0.664	0.645	0.378	0.855	1.869	0.521	3.588	0.246	0.654
between 2 P in 4 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.645,0.683)	(0.634,0.655)	(0.364,0.393)	(0.846,0.864)	(1.792,1.949)	(0.491,0.552)	(3.255,3.956)	(0.232,0.260)	(0.642,0.667)
(1 PC ever) OR ((2 P AND > 183 days	4388	0.452	1628	2760	758	4569	0.682	0.623	0.371	0.858	1.812	0.510	3.555	0.238	0.653
between 2 P in 5 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.664,0.701)	(0.613,0.634)	(0.357,0.385)	(0.848,0.867)	(1.740,1.886)	(0.479,0.542)	(3.223,3.923)	(0.224,0.252)	(0.640,0.665)

(1 PC ever) OR ((2 P AND > 183 days	4508	0.464	1654	2854	732	4475	0.693	0.611	0.367	0.859	1.780	0.502	3.543	0.234	0.652
between 2 P in 6 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.675,0.712)	(0.600,0.621)	(0.353,0.381)	(0.850,0.869)	(1.712,1.851)	(0.472,0.535)	(3.209,3.911)	(0.220,0.248)	(0.639,0.664)
(1 PC ever) OR ((2 P AND > 183 days	4579	0.471	1666	2913	720	4416	0.698	0.603	0.364	0.860	1.757	0.501	3.508	0.230	0.650
between 2 P in 7 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.680,0.717)	(0.592,0.613)	(0.350,0.378)	(0.850,0.869)	(1.690,1.826)	(0.470,0.534)	(3.177,3.873)	(0.216,0.243)	(0.638,0.663)
(1 PC ever) OR ((3 P AND > 183 days	1645	0.169	753	892	1633	6437	0.316	0.878	0.458	0.798	2.593	0.779	3.328	0.217	0.597
between 2 P in 1 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.297,0.334)	(0.868,0.889)	(0.434,0.482)	(0.789,0.806)	(2.381,2.824)	(0.757,0.802)	(2.977,3.719)	(0.201,0.232)	(0.583,0.611)
(1 PC ever) OR ((3 P AND > 183 days	2812	0.289	1186	1626	1200	5703	0.497	0.778	0.422	0.826	2.240	0.646	3.466	0.260	0.637
between 2 P in 2 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.477,0.517)	(0.767,0.790)	(0.404,0.440)	(0.817,0.835)	(2.112,2.376)	(0.620,0.674)	(3.145,3.821)	(0.245,0.274)	(0.624,0.651)
(1 PC ever) OR ((3 P AND > 183 days	3417	0.352	1399	2018	987	5311	0.586	0.725	0.409	0.843	2.129	0.571	3.730	0.271	0.655
between 2 P in 3 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.567,0.606)	(0.713,0.736)	(0.393,0.426)	(0.834,0.852)	(2.025,2.239)	(0.543,0.600)	(3.388,4.107)	(0.256,0,286)	(0.642,0.668)
(1 PC ever) OR ((3 P AND > 183 days	3810	0.392	1509	2301	877	5028	0.632	0.686	0.396	0.851	2.014	0.536	3.760	0.265	0.659
between 2 P in 4 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.613,0.652)	(0.675,0.697)	(0.381,0.412)	(0.842,0.861)	(1.925,2.108)	(0.507,0.566)	(3.413,4.142)	(0.251,0.279)	(0.646,0.672)
(1 PC ever) OR ((3 P AND > 183 days	4047	0.417	1566	2481	820	4848	0.656	0.661	0.387	0.855	1.939	0.520	3.732	0.257	0.659
between 2 P in 5 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.637,0.675)	(0.651,0.672)	(0.372,0.402)	(0.846,0.864)	(1.857,2.024)	(0.490,0.550)	(3.386,4.113)	(0.243,0.271)	(0.646,0.671)
(1 PC ever) OR ((3 P AND > 183 days	4225	0.435	1613	2612	773	4717	0.676	0.644	0.382	0.859	1.897	0.503	3.768	0.254	0.660
between 2 P in 6 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.657,0.695)	(0.633,0.654)	(0.367,0.396)	(0.850,0.868)	(1.820,1.977)	(0.474,0.535)	(3.416,4.157)	(0.235,0.268)	(0.647,0.672)
(1 PC ever) OR ((3 P AND > 183 days	4331	0.446	1636	2695	750	4634	0.686	0.632	0.378	0.861	1.865	0.497	3.751	0.249	0.659
between 2 P in 7 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.667,0.704)	(0.622,0.643)	(0.363,0.392)	(0.851,0.870)	(1.791,1.942)	(0.467,0.529)	(3.399,4.139)	(0.236,0.263)	(0.646,0.671)
(1 PC ever) OR ((4 P AND > 183 days	1231	0.127	603	628	1783	6701	0.253	0.914	0.490	0.790	2.949	0.817	3.609	0.200	0.583
between 2 P in 1 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.235,0.270)	(0.904,0.924)	(0.462,0.518)	(0.781,0.799)	(2.664,3.265)	(0.798,0.837)	(3.190,4.082)	(0.184,0.215)	(0.569,0.597)
(1 PC ever) OR ((4 P AND > 183 days	2253	0.232	1012	1241	1374	6088	0.424	0.831	0.449	0.816	2.505	0.693	3.613	0.260	0.627
between 2 P in 2 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.404,0.444)	(0.819,0.842)	(0.429,0.470)	(0.807,0.825)	(2.338,2.684)	(0.669,0.719)	(3.264,4.000)	(0.245,0.274)	(0.614,0.641)
(1 PC ever) OR ((4 P AND > 183 days	2857	0.294	1248	1608	1138	5721	0.523	0.781	0.437	0.834	2.384	0.611	3.902	0.285	0.652
between 2 P in 3 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.503,0.543)	(0.769,0.792)	(0.419,0.455)	(0.825,0.843)	(2.250,2.526)	(0.585,0.638)	(3.539,4.302)	(0.270,0.299)	(0.638,0.665)

(1 PC ever) OR ((4 P AND > 183 days	3307	0.340	1400	1907	986	5422	0.587	0.740	0.423	0.846	2.255	0.559	4.037	0.289	0.663
between 2 P in 4 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.567,0.607)	(0.729,0.751)	(0.407,0.440)	(0.837,0.855)	(2.142,2.374)	(0.532,0.587)	(3.665,4.447)	(0.275,0.303)	(0.650,0.676)
(1 PC ever) OR ((4 P AND > 183 days	3622	0.373	1490	2132	896	5197	0.624	0.709	0.411	0.853	2.147	0.530	4.054	0.284	0.667
between 2 P in 5 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.605,0.644)	(0.698,0.720)	(0.395,0.427)	(0.844,0.862)	(2.047,2.251)	(0.502,0.559)	(3.679,4.466)	(0.270,0.298)	(0.654,0.679)
(1 PC ever) OR ((4 P AND > 183 days	3847	0.396	1548	2299	838	5030	0.649	0.686	0.402	0.857	2.068	0.512	4.042	0.278	0.667
between 2 P in 6 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.630,0.668)	(0.675,0.697)	(0.387,0.418)	(0.848,0.866)	(1.977,2.163)	(0.484,0.542)	(3.666,4.455)	(0.264,0.292)	(0.655,0.680)
(1 PC ever) OR ((4 P AND > 183 days	4005	0.412	1588	2417	798	4912	0.666	0.670	0.397	0.860	2.018	0.499	4.044	0.273	0.668
between 2 P in 7 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.647,0.684)	(0.659,0.681)	(0.381,0.412)	(0.851,0.869)	(1.933,2.107)	(0.471,0.529)	(3.667,4.462)	(0.259,0.287)	(0.655,0.680)
(1 PC ever) OR ((5 P AND > 183 days	931	0.096	478	453	1908	6876	0.200	0.938	0.513	0.783	3.241	0.852	3.803	0.174	0.569
between 2 P in 1 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.184,0.216)	(0.929,0.947)	(0.481,0.546)	(0.774,0.791)	(2.875, 3.654)	(0.835,0.870)	(3.312,4.366)	(0.159,0.190)	(0.555,0.583)
(1 PC ever) OR ((5 P AND > 183 days	1787	0.184	849	938	1537	6391	0.356	0.872	0.475	0.806	2.780	0.739	3.764	0.249	0.614
between 2 P in 2 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.337,0.375)	(0.861,0.883)	(0.452,0.498)	(0.797,0.815)	(2.565,3.013)	(0.716,0.762)	(3.377,4.194)	(0.234,0.264)	(0.600,0.627)
(1 PC ever) OR ((5 P AND > 183 days	2356	0.243	1073	1283	1313	6046	0.450	0.825	0.455	0.822	2.569	0.667	3.851	0.276	0.637
between 2 P in 3 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.430,0.470)	(0.814,0.836)	(0.435,0.476)	(0.813,0.830)	(2.403,2.746)	(0.642,0.693)	(3.482,4.259)	(0.261,0.290)	(0.624,0.651)
(1 PC ever) OR ((5 P AND > 183 days	2815	0.290	1250	1565	1136	5764	0.524	0.786	0.444	0.835	2.453	0.605	4.053	0.293	0.655
between 2 P in 4 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.504,0.544)	(0.775,0.798)	(0.426,0.462)	(0.827,0.844)	(2.315,2.601)	(0.579,0.632)	(3.675,4.469)	(0.278,0.307)	(0.642,0.668)
(1 PC ever) OR ((5 P AND > 183 days	3183	0.328	1389	1794	997	5535	0.582	0.755	0.436	0.847	2.378	0.553	4.298	0.303	0.668
between 2 P in 5 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.562,0.602)	(0.744,0.767)	(0.419,0.454)	(0.839,0.856)	(2.256,2.507)	(0.527,0.581)	(3.900,4.737)	(0.289,0.317)	(0.656,0.681)
(1 PC ever) OR ((5 P AND > 183 days	3457	0.356	1462	1994	923	5335	0.613	0.728	0.423	0.853	2.254	0.531	4.241	0.296	0.670
between 2 P in 6 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.594,0.633)	(0.717,0.739)	(0.407,0.440)	(0.844,0.861)	(2.146,2.367)	(0.504,0.560)	(3.848,4.673)	(0.282,0.310)	(0.658,0.683)
PC ever) OR ((5 P AND > 183 days between	3665	0.377	1519	2146	867	5183	0.637	0.707	0.414	0.857	2.174	0.514	4.231	0.291	0.672
2 P in 7 YR) AND >/= 1 S ever)							(0.617,0.656)	(0.696,0.718)	(0.399,0.430)	(0.848,0.866)	(2.075,2.278)	(0.486,0.543)	(3.839,4.664)	(0.277,0.305)	(0.659,0.684)

Abbreviations: TP, true positive; FP, false positive; FN, false negative; TN, true negative; CI, confidence interval; PPV, positive predictive value; NPV, negative predictive value; LR+, likelihood ratio positive; LR-, likelihood ratio negative; DOR, diagnostic odds ratio; aROC, area under the Receiver Operating Characteristic curve; PC, encounter with anesthesiologist-recorded pain clinic Medical Care Plan provincial procedure billing code (Chapter 7, Section

7.4, Appendix 4) in Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims File; P, encounter with physician-recorded pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims File; YR, year(s); S, encounter with medical specialist-recorded pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims File or Newfoundland and Labrador Provincial hospital Discharge Abstract Data.

<sup>a</sup> The Reference Standard Cohort was comprised of primary care patients of all ages who met the inclusion criteria of implied consent to participate in the Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network-Newfoundland and

Labrador since December 31, 2009 or earlier and had a minimum of two years of electronic medical record data for analysis.

<sup>b</sup> The most performant Chronic Pain Algorithm.

# Chapter 3 Incidence and Prevalence of Chronic Pain in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada: A Retrospective Cohort Study Using Health Administrative Data

Foley HE, Knight JC, Ploughman M, Asghari S, Audas R. Incidence and Prevalence of Chronic Pain in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada: A Retrospective Cohort Study Using Health Administrative Data.

Preliminary results of this chapter were presented in a teleconference to the Provincial Pain Management Advisory Council on June 11, 2019, and as an oral presentation at the 2019 PriFor Conference in St. John's, NL, on June 28, 2019. Preliminary results from this chapter were accepted for a poster presentation at the 41<sup>st</sup> Annual Scientific Meetings of the Canadian Pain Society that were scheduled for May 19-22, 2020 but cancelled due to the global pandemic. As the first author of this manuscript, please note that I retain the right to include it in my doctoral thesis. This manuscript was submitted to the Journal of Pain for consideration for publication.

#### Abstract:

**Background:** Survey estimates are widely variable for chronic pain prevalence, deficient for incidence, and often exclusory of less populous jurisdictions, which is a knowledge gap potentially filled using health administrative data.

**Aim:** To describe incidence and prevalence of chronic pain in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada using provincial health administrative data.

**Methods:** An algorithm validated to ascertain chronic pain cases among residents attending fee-for-service physician encounters for pain-related conditions was applied to the Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physician Claims data of a cohort including 98% of the provincial population. Annual prevalence and incidence rates for the 2006-2010 fiscal years were calculated, as were the 2009/10 prevalence for rural/urban and regional health authority residential location strata.

**Results:** Age-standardized chronic pain incidence rates (4585 per 100,000 personyears in 2009/10) remained relatively stable over the four fiscal years, but agestandardized prevalence steadily increased from 32,716 to 37,469 per 100,000 population. Other important findings included: significantly higher chronic pain prevalence and incidence rates in females (p-value < 0.01), significantly increasing prevalence and incidence rates with increasing age (p-value < 0.05), and significantly higher prevalence in urban (p-value < 0.001) and the Eastern Regional Health Authority residential locations (p-value < 0.001).

**Conclusions:** Previously undetermined demographic and geographic strata-specific chronic pain estimates were obtained from health administrative data, and indicated a

high number of people in Newfoundland and Labrador are impacted by this disabling condition, especially females, older persons, and urban residents.

**Keywords:** chronic pain, epidemiology, incidence rate, prevalence, health administrative data

## **3.1 Introduction**

Pain is defined as "an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience" and is said to become chronic after it persists beyond what is considered normal recovery time.<sup>11,14,15</sup>, Past research defined the temporal criterion for chronic pain as up to six months post onset, but the International Association for the Study of Pain recently formalized the chronic pain definition as "pain that lasts or recurs for longer than three months".<sup>11,86,257</sup> Referred to as "the hidden epidemic"<sup>183</sup> affecting people at all stages of life, <sup>39,58,190</sup> chronic pain has grown to be one of the most complex,<sup>5,10,76</sup> pervasive,<sup>32,40,50</sup> and expensive<sup>26,41,154</sup> health issues worldwide. Direct health care costs for chronic pain treatment in Canada were estimated at \$7.2 billion in 2014, with an increased incremental health care cost of 51% attributable to a chronic pain diagnosis.<sup>169</sup> The significant burden chronic pain exerts on the community, economy, and health care system motivated the Government of Canada in 2019 to establish the Canadian Pain Task Force to investigate and advise government on best practice for prevention and management.<sup>35</sup> The first step in addressing chronic pain is to obtain detailed national and regional epidemiological statistics.<sup>37</sup> Wide variation exists in national estimates of chronic pain prevalence, both globally (2-54%)<sup>39-42</sup> and in Canada (14-29%).<sup>43-49</sup> The variation is even wider when considering municipal, provincial, or regional chronic pain prevalence estimates with reports ranging from 6.5-44% in Canada depending on geographical location and data source/methodology,<sup>37,53-56</sup> and with smaller provincial populations frequently excluded or pooled and reported as a region.<sup>45-47,49</sup> Furthermore, most estimates excluded young children, making the profile of chronic pain somewhat incomplete.<sup>44-46,55</sup> In terms of the

incidence of new cases of chronic pain, there has been only one study in Canada, which reported annual incidence from a national longitudinal survey ranging from 5.4% to 7.8% of those aged 25 and older.<sup>57</sup> Aging demographics, higher chronic disease rates, and poorer population health indicators in NL compared to other Canadian jurisdictions (including the other three Atlantic provinces) may contribute to higher chronic pain rates.<sup>188,189</sup> This highlights the importance of determining NL-specific chronic pain disease distribution for the purposes of public health initiatives and resource planning.

Most epidemiological statistics on chronic pain in Canada were derived from crosssectional and/or longitudinal survey data.<sup>37,45,47,53,56,57</sup> Longitudinal data is required for estimates of disease incidence and can be expensive to obtain in terms of cost, time, and labor.<sup>65</sup> In contrast, health administrative data, which is continuously recorded, less resource intensive in terms of time and cost, and population-based, is routinely utilized for chronic disease surveillance in Canada via validated algorithms.<sup>65,200</sup> Previous studies obtaining chronic pain estimates from administrative data utilized code sets or case algorithms that were not validated in either the study jurisdiction or at all<sup>41,54,185</sup> contrary to current methodological standards.<sup>65,255</sup> The objective of the present study was to describe prevalence and incidence of chronic pain in NL for each fiscal year from 2006/07 to 2009/10 as defined by an algorithm validated to identify cases in the NL provincial health administrative data.

#### **3.2 Methodology**

# 3.2.1 Setting, Design, and Population Cohort

A retrospective cohort study design using provincial health administrative data was performed in the province of NL, Canada, which had a population of 516,729 in 2009.<sup>259</sup> All residents identified as eligible for Medical Care Plan (MCP) benefits for one or more fiscal years between 2003/04 and 2009/10 were included in the provincial cohort, comprising over 98% of the NL population for each fiscal year (Canadian Armed Forces personnel, Royal Canadian Mounted Police members, and international students were ineligible for benefits and, therefore, excluded).<sup>260</sup> Each member of the provincial cohort was followed annually from birth, migration to the NL jurisdiction, or the first eligible fiscal year (2003/04) until death, migration from the NL jurisdiction, or the end of the study (2009/10).

## 3.2.2 Administrative Data Sources

Two administrative data sources were used in the study: 1) the MCP Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims Database File containing data on claims for health services by fee-for-service physicians in NL, including one diagnostic code (recorded using the threedigit *International Classification of Disease – 9th Revision* (ICD-9) code) and one provincial billing code, was used to identify cases of chronic pain, while 2) the MCP Beneficiary Registration Database was used to extract benefits eligibility and demographic information on the provincial cohort. Data in the MCP Claims File was considered complete due to its collection for service remuneration.<sup>218</sup> Minimal missing data was anticipated in the MCP Beneficiary Database as regular checks were made by

the administrators to ensure completeness and accuracy of information.<sup>217</sup> All required record-level administrative data from January 1, 1999 to March 31, 2010 (the latest available data at the time of study initiation) was obtained from these datasets. Information on MCP benefits eligibility was available for each fiscal year (April – March) from 2003 onwards.

Information regarding eligibility for benefits, age, and sex was obtained for each fiscal year. Regional health authority and rural/urban residential classification was based on the community of residence, which was determined by the postal code recorded in the MCP Beneficiary Database for each cohort member. The four regional health authorities in NL were Eastern, Central, Western, and Labrador-Grenfell; each catchment area was defined by the Department of Health and Community Services of the Government of NL. For the purposes of this study, individuals were considered to have an urban place of residence if their community of residence had a population of 4000 or more people in the 2011 Statistics Canada Census, while those from communities with less than 4000 people were considered rural. A cut off of 4000 was used because it better represented community level access to health services in NL compared to the Statistics Canada population center cut off of 1000 or census agglomeration cut off of 10,000.<sup>261,262</sup>

## 3.2.3 Chronic Pain Case Identification

The development and validation of a health administrative data algorithm (the Chronic Pain Algorithm) to identify cases of chronic pain from residents attending feefor-service physician encounters for pain-related conditions in NL was described in Chapter 2. The Chronic Pain Algorithm had 70.3% sensitivity, 66.8% specificity, 40.8%

positive predictive value, and 87.4% negative predictive value when validated against a primary care electronic medical records data audit of a NL general population sample. The Chronic Pain Algorithm was considered appropriate to assess geographic and demographic variation in chronic pain distribution in NL. The algorithm was defined as: 1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related provincial MCP procedure billing code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4) in the MCP Claims File, OR 2) five or more encounter dates with any physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related encounter dates in the MCP Claims File. A chronic pain case for the purposes of this study was defined as any provincial cohort member identified by the Chronic Pain Algorithm.

The algorithm was applied to the provincial cohort MCP Claims File data for the 1999-2010 fiscal years. The first cases of chronic pain were identified in the 2003/04 fiscal year because this was the first year MCP benefits eligibility was recorded and the Chronic Pain Algorithm required five years of data (although five full years of MCP Claims File data were not available to identify cases for the 2003/04 fiscal year (identified from the April 1, 1999 - March 31, 2004 data)). Cases eligible for MCP benefits for each remaining fiscal year were identified from five full years of MCP Claims File data up to and including the 2009/10 fiscal year (i.e. cases for the 2004/05 fiscal year were identified from the April 1, 1999 - March 31, 2005 data, and so on up until cases for the 2009/10 fiscal year were identified from the April 1, 2010 data). The prevalence and incidence rate was reported from the 2006/07 to 2009/10 fiscal years to allow for a

three-year run-in period approximating that recommended by other studies reporting chronic disease epidemiology from Canadian administrative data.<sup>202,263</sup>

#### 3.2.4 Statistical Analysis

Demographics (2009/10 fiscal year data) were described for the overall provincial cohort, the Chronic Pain Group (members of the cohort identified by the Chronic Pain Algorithm), and the No Chronic Pain Group (members of the cohort not identified by the Chronic Pain Algorithm for demographic comparison). Group differences were tested using a t-test for mean age and Chi-squared tests for categorical variable proportions (statistical significance defined as p < 0.05).

Once identified by the Chronic Pain Algorithm, a case was counted as a prevalent case for each eligible fiscal year in the remainder of the study period given the status of chronic pain as a chronic disease with no cure.<sup>86,264</sup> A person was considered an incident case in the fiscal year containing the earliest eligible date that they were identified by the Chronic Pain Algorithm. The crude chronic pain prevalence per 100,000 population, incidence rate per 100,000 person-years at risk, and the 95% confidence interval (CI) were calculated for the overall population and sex strata for each fiscal year from 2006/07 to 2009/10; identified eligible chronic pain cases served as the numerator and the Statistics Canada reported NL population estimates<sup>259</sup> served as the denominator to provide population estimates for chronic pain distribution in NL. Any prevalent case ineligible for MCP benefits in a fiscal year was excluded from the prevalence numerator for that fiscal year. Prevalence and incidence rates were age-standardized to the 2011

Canadian census population using the direct method to compare between fiscal years and sex strata.

Since the regional health authority and rural/urban residential designation was extracted only for the final fiscal year (2009/10) of the data study period, the crude chronic pain prevalence and 95% CI per 100,000 population for the regional health authority and rural/urban strata were calculated only for that year. Eligible 2009/10 prevalent chronic pain cases in each regional health authority stratum served as the numerator and the 2009 population estimates, being the best available regional health authority population estimates,<sup>259</sup> served as the denominator for crude chronic pain prevalence. The crude prevalence was age-and sex-standardized to the 2011 Canadian census population using the direct method to compare between the four regional health authorities. Since Statistics Canada population data were unavailable for rural/urban residential designation in NL as defined by the 4000-population cut-off, only crude prevalence and 95% CI was calculated. Eligible 2009/10 prevalent chronic pain cases in each rural/urban stratum served as the numerator and the total provincial cohort eligible for MCP benefits per rural/urban stratum in the 2009/10 fiscal year served as the denominator. Cases with missing category data were omitted from the numerator for regional health authority and rural/urban prevalence calculations.

Tests of significant difference in prevalence and incidence rates were performed using Z-score tests for significance. Tests were performed for differences in: 1) agestandardized prevalence and incidence rates between fiscal years and sex strata; 2) crude prevalence and incidence rates between age groups and between fiscal year and sex strata for each age group; 3) age- and sex-standardized 2009/10 prevalence between the four

regional health authority strata; and 4) crude 2009/10 prevalence between rural and urban strata. Statistical significance was defined by p < 0.05.

SPSS version 24 and Excel 2013 were used for the statistical analyses.

## **3.2.5 Ethics Approval and Consent to Participate**

The Health Research Ethics Board of the Health Research Ethics Authority of NL provided full approval of the study protocol (HREB Ref#2017.273). The Secondary Uses Committee of the NL Centre for Health Information and the Research Proposals Approval Committee of the Eastern Regional Health Authority also reviewed and approved the study protocol following Health Research Ethics Board approval. Since the health administrative data analyzed was part of routine data collection and normal operations of the NL Centre for Health Information, and the data was then de-identified, individual patient and/or NL resident consent was not required.

#### **3.3 Results**

# **3.3.1 Provincial Cohort Characteristics**

The provincial cohort was comprised of 584,875 people, of which 50.6% were female, 17.4% were 65 years or older, 54.7% lived in urban locations, 58.0% lived in the Eastern Regional Health Authority catchment area, and 99.6% had linkages to the MCP Claims File (fee-for-service physicians visits). Each member of the provincial cohort was followed for a mean of 6.27 fiscal years (1.58 years standard deviation) and a range of 1-7 fiscal years for a total of 3,669,440 person-years. The Chronic Pain Group was comprised of 219,798 people or 37.6% of the provincial cohort (Table 3.1). Proportions in the female, 45 years and older age groups, urban residential location, Eastern Regional Health Authority residential location, and each pain condition group strata were all significantly higher in the Chronic Pain Group compared to the No Chronic Pain Group using the Chi square test for significance (p-value < 0.001 for all comparisons). The mean age was significantly higher at 51.7 years (19.3 years standard deviation) in the Chronic Pain Group versus 38.3 years (21.8 years standard deviation) in the No Chronic Pain Group (p-value < 0.001) using the t-test for significance. Prevalent chronic pain cases lost to follow up due to death or outmigration included 4,100 cases in the 2007/08 fiscal year, 5,040 cases in the 2008/09 fiscal year, and 3,762 cases in the 2009/10 fiscal year.

Demographic Characteristics	Chronic Pain	No Chronic Pain
	Group <sup>a</sup>	Group <sup>a</sup>
	N <sub>group</sub> = 219,798	N <sub>group</sub> = 365,077
	n(% of N <sub>group</sub> )	n(% of N <sub>group</sub> )
Age Group (years)		
0-14	5,369(2.4) <sup>b</sup>	55,827(15.3)
15-24	15,573(7.1) <sup>b</sup>	57,243(15.7)
25-34	22,955(10.4) <sup>b</sup>	59,292(16.2)
35-44	32,637(14.8)	54,229(14.9)
45-54	43,903(20.0) <sup>b</sup>	50,819(13.9)
55-64	44,300(20.2) <sup>b</sup>	40,638(11.1)
65-79	36,492(16.6) <sup>b</sup>	31,645(8.7)
80+	18,569(8.4) <sup>b</sup>	15,383(4.2)
Sex		
Female	129,655(59.0) <sup>b</sup>	166,278(45.5)
Male	90,143(41.0) <sup>b</sup>	198,798(54.5)
Rural/Urban		
Urban	129,032(58.7) <sup>b</sup>	190,716(52.4)
Rural	90,244(41.1) <sup>b</sup>	173,514(47.5)
Missing Category Data	522(0.2)	847(0.2)

Table 3.1. 2009/10 Fiscal Year Characteristics of the Chronic Pain Group and NoChronic Pain Group in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada (N=584,875)

<b>Regional Health Authority</b>		
Eastern	144,050(65.5) <sup>b</sup>	195,067(53.4)
Central	39,908(18.2) <sup>b</sup>	71,024(19.5)
Western	31,305(14.2) <sup>b</sup>	61,770(16.9)
Labrador-Grenfell	4,013(1.8) <sup>b</sup>	36,369(9.8)
Missing Category Data	522(0.2)	847(0.2)
Pain Condition <sup>c</sup>		
Other Conditions Associated with	194,235(88.4) <sup>b</sup>	136,480(37.4)
Chronic Pain		
Musculoskeletal Pain/Arthritis	171,309(77.9) <sup>b</sup>	87,736(24.0)
Back/Neck	142,093(64.6) <sup>b</sup>	60,932(16.7)
Headaches	108,214(49.2) <sup>b</sup>	53,591(14.7)
Musculoskeletal Trauma	62,812(28.6) <sup>b</sup>	28,893(7.9)
Neuropathic	53,418(24.3) <sup>b</sup>	20,044(5.5)
Bone Disease	24,191(11.0) <sup>b</sup>	7,078(1.9)

Abbreviations: N<sub>group</sub>, total population of group.

<sup>a</sup> The Chronic Pain Group was comprised of members of the cohort identified by the Chronic Pain Algorithm, and the No Chronic Pain Group was comprised of members of the cohort not identified by the Chronic Pain Algorithm in the Medical Care Plan
Physicians Fee-for-Service Claims File data. The Chronic Pain Algorithm was defined as:
1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related
provincial MCP procedure billing code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4), OR 2) five
or more encounter dates with any physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related encounter dates.

<sup>b</sup> Proportion of the stratum in the Chronic Pain Group significantly different from that of the No Chronic Pain Group using Chi square test for significance (p-value < 0.001 for all comparisons indicated as significant). Statistical significance defined as p < 0.05. <sup>c</sup> Inclusion in the pain condition group was defined as an individual having >/= 1 encounter recording a diagnosis in the pain condition diagnostic group (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in the Medical Care Plan Physician Fee-for-Service Claims File data from 1999-2010. A cohort member could be counted as a case for multiple pain condition groups.

# **3.3.2** Prevalence

Age-standardized prevalence of chronic pain per 100,000 (Table 3.2) in the overall population steadily and significantly (p-value < 0.001 for all between year comparisons) increased from 32,716 (95% CI: 32,595-32,838) in 2006/07 to 37,469 (95% CI: 37,347-37,591) in 2009/10 using Z-score test for significance. The same growth pattern (Table 3.2) was observed in sex strata with significantly higher age-standardized prevalence per 100,000 population (p-value < 0.001) observed in females (43,278 (95% CI: 43,108-43,448) in 2009/10) than males (31,418 (95% CI: 31,248-31,588) in 2009/10).

Table 3.2. Crude and Age-Standardized Chronic Pain Prevalence for the 2006-2010 Fiscal Years in Newfoundland andLabrador, Canada

Fiscal	Prevalence per 100,000 (95% CI) <sup>a</sup>									
Year	Overall	population	F	emale	Male					
	Crude	Age- Crude		Age-	Crude	Age-				
	<b>Standardized<sup>b</sup></b>		Standardized <sup>b</sup>			Standardized <sup>b</sup>				
2006/07	33,099(32,970-	32,716(32,595-	39,130(38,942-	38,165(37,991-	26,888(26,715-	27,021(26,854-				
	33,228)	32,838)	39,318)	38,339) <sup>d</sup>	27,062)	27,189)				
2007/08	35,230(35,099-	34,590(34,468-	41,415(41,225-	40,156(39,982-	28,842(28,664-	28,759(28,590-				
	35,361)	34,713) <sup>c</sup>	41,605)	40,330) <sup>c,d</sup>	29,019)	28,929)°				
2008/09	36,818(36,686-	35,975(35,853-	43,158(42,967-	41,679(41,505-	30,274(30,094-	30,009(29,839-				
	36,951)	36,098) <sup>c</sup>	43,348)	41,853) <sup>c,d</sup>	30,453)	30,179)°				
2009/10	38,522(38,389-	37,469(37,347-	44,962(44,772-	43,278(43,108-	31,880(31,698-	31,418(31,248-				
	38,654)	37,591)°	45,152)	43,448) <sup>c,d</sup>	32,061)	31,588)°				

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval.

<sup>a</sup> Selection by the Chronic Pain Algorithm in the Medical Care Plan Physicians Fee-for-Service Claims File data determined case status. The Chronic Pain Algorithm was defined as: 1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related provincial Medical Care Plan procedure billing code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4), OR 2) five or more encounter dates with any physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related encounter dates.

<sup>b</sup> Tests for statistical difference between fiscal years and sex performed for age-standardized prevalence only.

<sup>c</sup> Estimated age-standardized chronic pain prevalence was significantly higher than the previous fiscal year in the same stratum using Z-score test for significance (p-value < 0.001 for all comparisons indicated as significant). Statistical significance defined as p < 0.05.

<sup>d</sup> Estimated age-standardized chronic pain prevalence was significantly higher in the female stratum than the male stratum in the same fiscal year using Z-score test for significance (p-value < 0.001 for all comparisons indicated as significant). Statistical significance defined as p < 0.05.

Chronic pain prevalence in each age group of the overall population and sex strata increased significantly (p-value < 0.05) each year over the four fiscal years (Section 3.8.1, Chapter 3 Appendix), except the 0-14 age group. The highest increase occurred in the 80 and over age group for a total difference of 8,482 per 100,000 population from 2006/07 to 2009/10 in the overall population. The prevalence for females was significantly higher than males in all age groups (p-value < 0.001), except the 0-14 age group. Within each fiscal year, prevalence significantly increased with increasing age (p-value < 0.05) in the overall population and sex strata (as illustrated in Fig. 3.1 for the 2009/10 fiscal year). An exception was a consistent and small decrease in chronic pain prevalence between the 55-64 age group and the 65-79 age group in the female stratum, which was significant in the 2007/08 and 2008/09 fiscal years (p-value < 0.05). Chronic pain was most prevalent in females aged 80 and over, peaking at 66,339 (95% CI: 65,464-67,214) per 100,000 population in the 2009/10 fiscal year.



Fig. 3.1. 2009/10 Fiscal Year Chronic Pain Prevalence per 100,000 by Age Group in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada

Notes: X-axis: age group strata. Y-axis: estimated 2009/10 fiscal year prevalence per 100,000 population in each age group stratum for the overall eligible NL population and for males and females. Data table for the displayed prevalence and the 95% confidence intervals is found in Section 3.8.1, Chapter 3 Appendix. Selection by the Chronic Pain Algorithm in the MCP Physicians Fee-for-Service Claims File data determined case status. The Chronic Pain Algorithm was defined as: 1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related provincial MCP procedure billing code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4), OR 2) five or more encounter dates with any physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related

encounter dates. The estimated chronic pain prevalence in each age group was significantly higher than the next younger age group in all strata (p-value < 0.05), except between the 55-64 years and the 65-79 years age groups in the female stratum, using Z-score test for significance. The estimated chronic pain prevalence in the female stratum was significantly higher than the male stratum for all age groups (p-value < 0.001), except the 0-14 age group, using Z-score test for significance. Statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05.

Abbreviation: MCP, Medical Care Plan.

Age- and sex-standardized chronic pain prevalence (Table 3.3) was significantly higher in the Eastern region compared to the other three regions, and was significantly lower in the Labrador-Grenfell region compared to the other three regions (p-value < 0.001 for all comparisons). Age-and sex-standardized prevalence was significantly higher in the Central region compared to the Western region (p-value < 0.001). Crude prevalence per 100,000 population was significantly higher in urban areas at 42,281 (95% CI: 42,097-42,464) compared to rural areas at 35,953 (95% CI: 35,756-36,136) (p-value < 0.001).

Table 3.3. 2009/10 Fiscal Year Crude and Age-standardized Prevalence for theRegional Health Authorities in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada

<b>Regional Health</b>	Prevalence per 100,000 (95% CI) <sup>a</sup>					
Authority	Crude	Age- and Sex-				
		Standardized <sup>b</sup>				
Eastern	43,029(42,854-43,205)	42,371(42,213-42,529)°				
Central	37,288(36,981-37,596)	34,861(34,581-35,142)°				
Western	36,013(35,679-36,348)	33,827(33,524-34,131) <sup>c</sup>				
Labrador-Grenfell	9,670(9,370-9,971)	10,224(9,906-10,541) <sup>c</sup>				

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval.

<sup>a</sup> Selection by the Chronic Pain Algorithm in the Medical Care Plan Physicians Fee-for-Service Claims File data determined case status. The Chronic Pain Algorithm was defined by: 1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related provincial Medical Care Plan procedure billing code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4), OR 2) five or more encounter dates with any physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related encounter dates.

<sup>b</sup> Statistical tests for significance of the difference between the Newfoundland and Labrador regional health authorities was performed only for the age- and sexstandardized prevalence. <sup>c</sup> Age-standardized prevalence was significantly different from the other three regional health authorities using the Z-score test for significance (p-value < 0.001 for all comparisons). Statistical significance was defined by p < 0.05.

## 3.3.3 Incidence Rate

Age-standardized incidence rates of chronic pain in NL remained stable over the observed fiscal years for the overall population and sex strata (Table 3.4), with the exception of a small but statistically significant increase in the rates for the 2009/10 fiscal year using the Z-score test for significance (p-value < 0.001). Age-standardized rates per 100,000 person-years at risk for the overall population ranged from 4,363 (95% CI: 4,290-4,436) in 2008/09 to 4,585 (95% CI: 4,510-4,661) in the 2009/10 fiscal year. The age-standardized incidence rate per 100,000 person-years at risk for females (5,491 (95% CI: 5,370-5,612) in 2009/10) was significantly higher than that for males (3,846 (95% CI: 3,751-3,942) in 2009/10) in all four fiscal years (p-value < 0.001).

Table 3.4. Crude and Age-standardized Chronic Pain Incidence Rates per 100,000 Person-years at Risk for the 2006-2010Fiscal Years in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada

Fiscal	Incidence Rate per 100,000 person-years at risk (95% CI) <sup>a</sup>								
Year	Overa	ll population	F	emale	Male				
	Crude Age-		Crude Age-		Crude	Age-			
		<b>Standardized</b> <sup>b</sup>		<b>Standardized<sup>b</sup></b>		Standardized <sup>b</sup>			
2006/07	4,130(4,005	4,457(4,386-	4,942(4,806-	5,330(5,217-	3,422(3,309-	3,707(3,617-			
	-4,257)	4,529)	5,081)	5,443) <sup>d</sup>	3,538)	3,798)			
2007/08	4,084(3,960	4,420(4,347-	4,930(4,794-	5,335(5,219-	3,353(3,241-	3,644(3,553-			
	-4,211)	4,492)	5,069)	5,451) <sup>d</sup>	3,468)	3,736)			
2008/09	4,016(3,893	4,363(4,290-	4,884(4,748-	5,319(5,201-	3,273(3,162-	3,566(3,474-			
	-4,142)	4,436)	5,022)	5,437) <sup>d</sup>	3,387)	3,657)			
2009/10	4,210(4,084	4,585(4,510-	5,012(4,875-	5,491(5,370-	3,532(3,417-	3,846(3,751-			
	-4,339)	4,661)°	5,152)	5,612) <sup>c,d</sup>	3,650)	3,942)°			

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval.

<sup>a</sup> Selection by the Chronic Pain Algorithm in the Medical Care Plan Physicians Fee-for-Service Claims File data determined case status. The Chronic Pain Algorithm was defined as: 1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related provincial Medical Care Plan procedure billing code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4), OR 2) five or more encounter dates with any physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related encounter dates.

<sup>b</sup> Tests for statistical difference between fiscal years and sex performed for age-standardized incidence rates only.

<sup>c</sup> Estimated incidence rate was significantly higher than the previous fiscal year in the same stratum using Z-score test for significance (p-value < 0.05 for all comparisons indicated as significant). Statistical significance defined as p < 0.05. <sup>d</sup> Estimated incidence rates were significantly different higher in the female stratum than the male stratum in the same fiscal year using Z-score test for significance (p-value < 0.001 for all comparisons indicated as significant). Statistical significant). Statistical significance defined as p < 0.05. Incidence rates in age strata remained relatively stable over the first three years for the overall population and sex strata (Section 3.8.1, Chapter 3 Appendix). There was a small but statistically significant increase in incidence rate in 2009/10 compared to that in 2008/09 for age groups between 15-44 years and 55-79 years (p-value < 0.05). The incidence rate of chronic pain was significantly higher in females than males in all age groups (p-value < 0.01), except the 0-14 age group. Within each fiscal year, rates significantly increased as age increased (p-value < 0.05) in the general population and sex strata (as illustrated in Fig. 3.2 for the 2009/10 fiscal year). An exception was a consistent, small, but statistically insignificant decrease in chronic pain incidence rate of chronic pain in NL was highest in females 80 years and older, peaking at 8,966 (95% CI: 8,143-9,788) per 100 000 person-years at risk in the 2007/08 fiscal year.



Fig. 3.2. 2009/10 Fiscal Year Chronic Pain Incidence Rate per 100,000 Person-years at Risk by Age Group in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada

Notes: X-axis: age group strata. Y-axis: estimated 2009/10 fiscal year incidence rate per 100,000 person-years at risk in each age group stratum for the overall eligible NL population and for males and females. Data table for the displayed incidence rates and the 95% confidence intervals is found in Section 3.8.1, Chapter 3 Appendix. Selection by the Chronic Pain Algorithm in the MCP Physicians Fee-for-Service Claims File data determined case status. The Chronic Pain Algorithm was defined as: 1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related provincial MCP procedure

billing code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4), OR 2) five or more encounter dates with any physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two painrelated encounter dates. The estimated chronic pain incidence rate for each age group was significantly higher than the next younger age group in all strata (p-value < 0.05), except between the 45-54 and the 55-64 age groups in the female stratum, using Z-score test for significantly higher than the male stratum for all age groups (p-value < 0.01), except the 0-14 age group, using Z-score test for significance. Statistical significance defined by p < 0.05.

Abbreviation: MCP, Medical Care Plan.

### **3.4 Discussion**

The present study outlines for the first time detailed epidemiological estimates on chronic pain as a single chronic condition in a Canadian province extracted from health administrative data utilizing a validated algorithm. Although possible bias introduced by the Chronic Pain Algorithm may overestimate chronic pain prevalence, the estimated 37.5% age-standardized NL chronic pain prevalence as defined by the Chronic Pain Algorithm in 2009/10 was within the upper range of that reported from surveys in Canada (11-44%).<sup>37,43,45,47,53,56</sup> The estimated 4.6% age-standardized NL chronic pain incidence as defined by the Chronic Pain Algorithm in the 2009/10 fiscal year was in the mid-range of that reported globally and in Canada (1.8-11.1%).<sup>52,57,60,62</sup> The age-standardized 2009/10 chronic pain statistics were much higher than that reported for other chronic diseases in NL in 2009/10 using similar methodology, including diabetes (8.2% prevalence, 0.8% incidence), hypertension (30.7% prevalence, 3.5% incidence), and ischemic heart disease (8.5% prevalence, 0.8% incidence).<sup>265</sup> The study had four main findings. First, although incidence rates of chronic pain were relatively stable, the prevalence steadily increased over the four observed fiscal years. Second, chronic pain prevalence and incidence rates were higher for females than males in all four fiscal years for all age groups (except the 0-14 age group). Third, chronic pain prevalence and incidence rates in NL increased with increasing age, peaking in those 80 years and older. And finally, 2009/10 chronic pain prevalence was highest in urban locations.

## **3.4.1 Chronic Pain Prevalence Over Time**

Utilizing health administrative data that was population-based with widespread coverage revealed a steady increase in chronic pain prevalence over four observed fiscal years for the overall population and all strata (except the 0-14 age group). Considered a chronic, non-fatal disease with no cure,<sup>32,84,86</sup> chronic pain case status for the purposes of this study only changed with mortality or outmigration from the NL jurisdiction. The consistent annual incidence combined with the low rate of lost prevalent cases contributed to the increase in annual chronic pain prevalence, a phenomenon observed for other chronic diseases surveyed by the Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System using similar data sources and methodology.<sup>265</sup> However, this finding contrasted with that reported by studies using Canadian national survey data from either the population-based longitudinal cohort study (National Population Health Survey) or the repeated crosssectional study (Canadian Community Health Survey).<sup>46,49,57</sup> Chronic pain case status in these studies depended on the response to one question on each national survey cycle that had no temporal component (i.e. how long pain was experienced), which classified a respondent as having chronic pain based on their pain experience at a point in time. This resulted in fluctuations in reported chronic pain prevalence each cycle between ranges of 15.3-19.5%<sup>57</sup> in the National Population Health Survey and 16.3-21.0%<sup>46,49</sup> in the Canadian Community Health Survey. The chronic pain case definition and measurement utilized in surveys has been cited as a potential contributor to the wide variation in reported chronic pain epidemiological statistics.<sup>40,45</sup> This is a limitation that can potentially be minimized through consistent case ascertainment from health

139

administrative data via validated algorithms that include a temporal component to ensure chronicity of the disease, such as that used in this study and in the Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System.<sup>200</sup>

# 3.4.2 Sex-related Differences in Chronic Pain Distribution

Chronic pain prevalence was up to 49% higher and incidence rates were up to 96% higher in females than males for all four fiscal years and for all age group strata (except the 0-14 age group). Most other studies reporting sex-related differences observed higher chronic pain prevalence in females (prevalence ranging from 13% to 66.7% in Canada) versus males (prevalence ranging from 8% to 57.1% in Canada), both overall and at different ages across the lifespan.<sup>45-48,57,59</sup> Females were observed to have higher chronic pain incidence (6.0%-8.7%) versus males (4.8%-7.1%) in the National Population Health Survey, although the difference was reported as statistically insignificant.<sup>57</sup> It was previously described that females report suffering from chronic pain and pain-related interference more often than males<sup>60,192-194</sup> and have associated higher health care utilization,<sup>47,194</sup> a phenomenon supported by the present study's analysis of physician billing data. Sex- and gender-related differences with respect to pain experiences are described as complex, and include biological, psychological, and social processes.<sup>192,193,195</sup> Examining the link between these processes and health care utilization will foster more effective sex-and gender-informed individualized pain management practices.

## 3.4.3 Age-related Differences in Chronic Pain Distribution

The nature of health administrative data allowed examination of chronic pain distribution across the lifespan, which was previously rarely reported.<sup>41,55</sup> Most population-based surveys had low or no representation in children under 12 years or adults over 75 years<sup>39,45,57</sup> with rates for these age ranges provided mostly by age-specific studies.<sup>58,59,61,190</sup> The present study demonstrated a significant age-related rise in prevalence and incidence rates across all age groups. The marked rate increase from children (the 0-14 age group) to the young working-age adults (the 15-24 and 25-34 age groups), particularly in females, followed by the continued increase in chronic pain rates up to 65 years, may have a negative impact on the workforce and economy in NL in terms of long-term disability, high sick leave levels, and reduced work productivity.<sup>32,47,53,58,64</sup>

Chronic pain rates continued to increase in adults over 65 years, peaking in those 80 years and older. These findings from physician billing data support other studies that described adults over 75 years as having the highest chronic pain prevalence,<sup>37,44,60</sup> seeking and receiving treatment for pain-related conditions more often,<sup>266</sup> consuming more opioid medication,<sup>43</sup> and requiring more medical management of other chronic diseases<sup>266</sup> leading to more frequent physician encounters. High rates of chronic pain in older adults could have a crippling impact on healthy aging and health care delivery for NL's rapidly aging population.<sup>259</sup> These findings stress the societal and economic importance of addressing age-specific pain management needs.

## 3.4.4 Rural/urban Differences in Chronic Pain Distribution

The finding of higher chronic pain prevalence in urban locations differs from that previously reported from Canadian surveys (either no difference<sup>57</sup> in rural/urban or higher rural<sup>56</sup> chronic pain prevalence). In Canada, there are typically two remuneration methods for medical care: fee-for service and alternate payment plan (which includes salary).<sup>267</sup> The Chronic Pain Algorithm identified residents who attended encounters with fee-forservice physicians for pain-related conditions, and so may not capture cases who primarily had their pain-related conditions managed by physicians practicing under alternate payment plans. Up to 75% of physicians (especially family physicians) practicing in rural areas of NL<sup>267</sup> and 90% practicing in the Labrador-Grenfell Regional Health Authority (unpublished data) receive 90% or more of their payments by alternate payment plans, which would contribute to possible under-ascertainment of cases and lower calculated rates in these areas. The higher chronic pain rates in urban centers (such as in the Eastern Regional Health Authority (69% of which is urban) versus the other health authorities (25-45% of which is urban)) (unpublished data) could also be related to access to pain management services. Such services are more comprehensive in urban locations resulting in higher per capita health care utilization. 56,62,260,268,269 It was previously postulated that people move from rural to urban locations for increased health service access to meet their growing health care needs.<sup>268</sup> Additional research into the regional disparities in chronic pain rates and treatment access is warranted.

### 3.4.5 Strengths, Limitations, and Generalizability

The present study had two main strengths. First, using the MCP Claims File (containing physician encounter information on approximately 98% of the NL population) as the main data source made this study truly population-based. Second, this study followed established guidelines by using an algorithm validated in the target population to select cases of chronic pain as a single chronic disease from health administrative data.<sup>66</sup> The similarities between incidence rate and prevalence findings presented here and that reported in the literature further endorses the utility of this methodology for the purpose of studying disease distribution of chronic pain in NL.

There were three main limitations to this study. First, a limitation of all studies involving the secondary use of administrative data is related to such data not being collected for research purposes and its data accuracy being dependent on entry at source.<sup>66</sup> The data was, therefore, subject to potential coding entry errors resulting from lack of staff training, inconsistent application of coding definitions, and variations in clinical practice patterns, which can contribute to over- or under- ascertainment of cases.<sup>66</sup> Second, the Chronic Pain Algorithm was determined the most performant to identify cases of chronic pain from available NL health administrative data sources, but its moderate performance on tests for selection accuracy during validation (70.3% sensitivity, 66.8% specificity, and 40.8% positive predictive value) makes it a source of misclassification bias. Age-related differential misclassification bias was pronounced in people aged 34 and under (with 25.0-57.8% sensitivity and 70.5-93.1% specificity, the Chronic Pain Algorithm possibly underestimated disease prevalence), and in people aged

143

65 and over (with 78.0-81.5% sensitivity and 42.7-51.6% specificity, the Chronic Pain Algorithm possibly overestimated disease prevalence). Misclassification bias was further influenced by the unavailability of data collected from visits to pharmacies (i.e. medication data), emergency rooms, salaried physicians, allied health professionals, and those funded by third-party payers. This likely impacted Chronic Pain Algorithm development/validation, case ascertainment, and incidence/prevalence estimation particularly in rural and/or non-Eastern Regional Health Authority areas.<sup>270</sup> Third, adjusting for the potential bias to chronic pain incidence and prevalence estimates introduced by the Chronic Pain Algorithm (potential overestimation) and the non-fee-forservice physician data unavailability (potential underestimation)<sup>270</sup> would be complex and require access to variables and datasets outside the scope of this thesis.<sup>224,270</sup> While the Chronic Pain Algorithm illustrated the potential for chronic pain prevalence overestimation during its validation, the estimates provided for NL (nearly two out of five population) being higher than the overall reported global estimate (approximately one out of five adults)<sup>40,50</sup> is not excessive given the wide range of estimates reported globally in different population samples (even within a single study)<sup>39,42</sup> and the nature of NL demographics that may contribute to higher chronic pain rates (e.g. older population, higher rates of chronic disease, and poorer population health indicators).<sup>188,189</sup> The incidence and prevalence estimates provided in this study should be interpreted as an illustration of chronic pain disease distribution and the associated demographic and geographic variation in NL and not as an exact case count per stratum. Caution should be exercised not to over-interpret statistical significance of incidence and prevalence

estimate differences between strata given the large, inclusive population sample size and large number of identified cases.

The chronic pain incidence and prevalence reported for NL in this study should not be generalized to the Canadian population, especially given regional disparities in chronic disease distribution in Canada.<sup>265</sup> The estimates provided are representative for the NL population up to the 2009/10 fiscal year. Given that patterns of disease may have shifted in the last decade, the present study provides a baseline against which to compare future estimations using the presented methodology. It is recommended the Chronic Pain Algorithm undergo validation in target population health administrative data prior to its utilization in non-NL jurisdictions.<sup>66</sup> Similarity in the structure of health service delivery and physician claims datasets across Canadian jurisdictions increases the generalizability of the case ascertainment methods presented in this study.<sup>67,200,208,271</sup> Since this is the first attempt in Canada to use this methodology to determine population estimates of chronic pain distribution, this study provides an incipient point from which other Canadian studies can adapt and utilize a chronic pain algorithm with stronger validation performance that is generalizable across jurisdictions to obtain epidemiological information on chronic pain.

# **3.5 Conclusions**

Using a validated health administrative data case definition, this study showed that nearly four out of ten people in NL accessed fee-for-service physician care for pain treatment and were identified as having chronic pain in 2009/10, much higher than that identified for other chronic diseases using similar data sources and methodology.<sup>265</sup> With

available multiyear data for most of the NL population, previously unknown detailed demographic and geographic estimates on chronic pain rates were provided, and illustrated stable incidence rates but increasing prevalence over four years. There were progressively increasing chronic pain prevalence and incidence rates with increasing age. Rates were also consistently higher in females and in residents of urban locations. While these results should be interpreted with caution, the similarity in consistency and pattern of chronic pain prevalence and incidence rates in NL compared to survey data globally and in Canada reinforced this method as providing an accurate reflection of chronic pain distribution, and affirmed its status as a potentially effective but less expensive population-based alternative to survey methods.<sup>197</sup>

## 3.6 Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the 2013 B.E. Schnurr Memorial Fund Research Grant and administered by the Physiotherapy Foundation of Canada awarded to Heather E. Foley; and the Eastern Health Research Grant administered by the Health Care Foundation of the Eastern Regional Health Authority awarded to Heather E. Foley and Dr. Jason McCarthy. The study sponsors were not involved in any stage of the study from initial design to publication.

Dr. James Flynn and Elsie Thistle are acknowledged for serving as clinical advisors in chronic pain management and in pain-related diagnostic and procedure code selection. Dr. Jason McCarthy is acknowledged for assistance in grant applications.

146

### **3.7 Co-Authorship Statement**

All authors read and approved the submitted version of this chapter. All authors agreed to be personally responsible for their own contribution and ensure that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work, even ones in which the author was not personally involved, are appropriately investigated, resolved, and the resolution documented in the literature. Heather E. Foley drafted the work and substantively revised it, and made substantial contributions towards the study design, data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation. Dr. John C. Knight substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards study design, data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation. Dr. Michelle Ploughman substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards study conception and design, and data acquisition and interpretation. Dr. Shabnam Asghari substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards study design, and data acquisition. Dr. Rick Audas substantively revised the work, and made substantively revised the work, and made substantively revised the work and made substantively revised the work and made substantial contributions towards study design, and data acquisition and interpretation. Dr. Shabnam Asghari substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards study design, and data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation. Dr. Rick Audas substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions to the study design, and data acquisition and interpretation.

## **3.8 Chapter 3 Appendix**

	Prevalence per 100,000(95% CI) <sup>a</sup>				Incidence Rate per 100,000 person-years at risk(95% CI) <sup>a</sup>			
Fiscal Year	2006/07	2007/08	2008/09	2009/10	2006/07	2007/08	2008/09	2009/10
0-14 years								
Overall	6,638(6,463-	6,806(6,627-	6,834(6,655-	6,811(6,633-	1,089(1,014-	1,153(1,076-	1,062(988-	1,093(1,018-
	6,813)	6,984)	7,011)	6,988)	1,164)	1,231)	1,137)	1,169)
Male	6,732(6,487-	6,915(6,664-	6,896(6,646-	6,859(6,610-	1,079(975-	1,102(996-	1,012(910-	1,016(914-
	6,977)	7,165)	7,146)	7,108)	1,183)	1,208)	1,114)	1,118)
Female	6,539(6,290-	6,691(6,438-	6,768(6,513-	6,760(6,506-	1,100(992-	1,208(1,094-	1,115(1,006-	1,173(1,061-
	6,788)	6,944)	7,022)	7,013)	1,208)	1,322)	1,225)	1,285) <sup>d</sup>
15-24 years								
Overall	20,263(19,959-	21,246(20,932-	21,925(21,607-	22,822(22,497-	2,984(2,841-	2,914(2,771-	3,000(2,853-	3,246(3,093-
	20,568) <sup>c</sup>	21,559) <sup>b,c</sup>	22,245) <sup>b,c</sup>	23,147) <sup>b,c</sup>	3,125) <sup>c</sup>	3,057)°	3,146)°	3,400) <sup>b,c</sup>
Male	15,624(15,239-	16,702(16,302-	17,487(17,077-	18,510(18,088-	2,023(1,862-	1,971(1,809-	1,981(1,817-	2,247(2,071-
	16,009) <sup>c</sup>	17,103) <sup>b,c</sup>	17,897) <sup>b,c</sup>	18,931) <sup>b,c</sup>	2,184) <sup>c</sup>	2,133)°	2,145) <sup>c</sup>	2,423) <sup>b,c</sup>

3.8.1 Chapter 3 Appendix. 2006-2010 Fiscal Year Crude Chronic Pain<sup>a</sup> Prevalence and Incidence Rates for Each Age

# Group in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada

Female	25,087(24,618-	25,957(25,478-	26,547(26,061-	27,301(26,808-	4,085(3,842-	3,991(3,748-	4,164(3,913-	4,385(4,125-
	25,561) <sup>c,d</sup>	26,436) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	27,033) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	27,793) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	4,327) <sup>c,d</sup>	4,235) <sup>c,d</sup>	4,416) <sup>c,d</sup>	4,644) <sup>c,d</sup>
25-34 years								
Overall	29,218(28,858-	31,192(30,821-	31,938(31,566-	33,403(33,029-	4,068(3,886-	3,914(3,731-	3,818(3,636-	4,164(3,974-
	29,577)°	31,562) <sup>b,c</sup>	32,310) <sup>b,c</sup>	33,777) <sup>b,c</sup>	4,250)°	4,097)°	4,000)°	4,354) <sup>b,c</sup>
Male	20,166(19,713-	21,860(21,388-	22,507(22,031-	23,715(23,234-	2,828(2,621-	2,831(2,619-	2,716(2,509-	3,027(2,809-
	20,618)°	22,333) <sup>b,c</sup>	22,983) <sup>b,c</sup>	24,196) <sup>b,c</sup>	3,034)°	3,042)°	2,924)°	3,246) <sup>b,c</sup>
Female	37,954(37,416-	40,128(39,579-	41,033(40,482-	42,773(42,223-	5,564(5,251-	5,234(4,921-	5,180(4,865-	5,592(5,263-
	38,492) <sup>c,d</sup>	40,676) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	41,583) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	43,324) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	5,878) <sup>c,d</sup>	5,548) <sup>c,d</sup>	5,494) <sup>c,d</sup>	5,920) <sup>b,c,d</sup>
35-44 years								
Overall	35,632(35,300-	37,710(37,371-	39,254(38,909-	40,956(40,606-	4,726(4,547-	4,712(4,528-	4,797(4,608-	5,153(4,953-
	35,963)°	38,049) <sup>b,c</sup>	39,599) <sup>b,c</sup>	41,307) <sup>b,c</sup>	4,905)°	4,895)°	4,986)°	5,352) <sup>b,c</sup>
Male	27,719(27,276-	29,459(29,002-	30,549(30,082-	32,047(31,571-	3,971(3,748-	3,663(3,443-	3,722(3,496-	4,216(3,972-
	28,161)°	29,916) <sup>b,c</sup>	31,016) <sup>b,c</sup>	32,523) <sup>b,c</sup>	4,194)°	3,883) <sup>b,c</sup>	3,947)°	4,459) <sup>b,c</sup>
Female	43,214(42,734-	45,575(45,088-	47,515(47,023-	49,438(48,940-	5,631(5,343-	5,976(5,671-	6,113(5,797-	6,326(5,996-
	43,693) <sup>c,d</sup>	46,063) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	48,008) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	49,935) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	5,918) <sup>d</sup>	6,281) <sup>c,d</sup>	6,430) <sup>c,d</sup>	6,655) <sup>c,d</sup>

45-54 years

Overall	43,030(42,698-	45,265(44,391-	47,195(46,860-	48,969(48,635-	5,697(5,497-	5,717(5,513-	5,652(5,445-	5,614(5,405-
	43,362) <sup>c</sup>	45,598) <sup>b,c</sup>	47,530) <sup>b,c</sup>	49,304) <sup>b,c</sup>	5,897) <sup>c</sup>	5,921) <sup>c</sup>	5,859) <sup>c</sup>	5,824) <sup>c</sup>
Male	35,668(35,210-	37,392(36,929-	39,117(38,651-	40,620(40,152-	4,699(4,453-	4,616(4,369-	4,612(4,361-	4,581(4,328-
	36,126)°	37,854) <sup>b,c</sup>	39,583) <sup>b,c</sup>	41,087) <sup>b,c</sup>	4,945) <sup>c</sup>	4,864) <sup>c</sup>	4,863) <sup>c</sup>	4,833)°
Female	50,159(49,689-	52,914(52,444-	55,062(54,593-	57,153(56,867-	6,916(6,590-	7,102(6,762-	6,991(6,645-	6,983(6,630-
	50,629) <sup>c,d</sup>	53,384) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	55,531) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	57,620) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	7,243) <sup>c,d</sup>	7,442) <sup>c,d</sup>	7,336) <sup>c,d</sup>	7,337) <sup>c,d</sup>
55-64 years								
Overall	46,992(46,620-	50,212(49,846-	52,246(51,887-	54,424(54,073-	6,048(5,811-	6,129(5,888-	5,794(5,558-	6,166(5,923-
	47,365)°	50,578) <sup>b,c</sup>	52,605) <sup>b,c</sup>	54,775) <sup>b,c</sup>	6,285) <sup>c</sup>	6,370) <sup>c</sup>	6,030)	6,410) <sup>b,c</sup>
Male	40,280(39,762-	43,310(42,796-	45,312(44,485-	47,325(46,826-	5,417(5,116-	5,449(5,145-	5,080(4,786-	5,654(5,345-
	40,798) <sup>c</sup>	43,824) <sup>b,c</sup>	45,819) <sup>b,c</sup>	47,824) <sup>b,c</sup>	5,718) <sup>c</sup>	5,753) <sup>c</sup>	5,375) <sup>b,c</sup>	5,963) <sup>b,c</sup>
Female	53,673(53,148-	57,051(56,540-	59,119(58,620-	61,454(60,970-	6,845(6,468-	7,004(6,616-	6,724(6,340-	6,851(6,460-
	54,199) <sup>c,d</sup>	57,562) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	59,618) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	61,938) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	7,223) <sup>d</sup>	7,392) <sup>d</sup>	7,107) <sup>d</sup>	7,241) <sup>d</sup>
65-79 years								
Overall	48,049(47,622-	50,558(50,136-	53,357(52,943-	56,144(55,740-	6,503(6,220-	6,175(5,895-	6,265(5,980-	6,744(6,447-
	48,476) <sup>c</sup>	50,980) <sup>b</sup>	53,771) <sup>b,c</sup>	56,548) <sup>b,c</sup>	6,785) <sup>c</sup>	6,455)	6,550) <sup>c</sup>	7,042) <sup>b,c</sup>
Male	42,597(41,987-	45,411(44,803-	47,962(47,364-	50,825(50,239-	5,819(5,449-	5,704(5,332-	5,642(5,270-	6,141(5,752-
	43,207) <sup>c</sup>	46,018) <sup>b,c</sup>	48,561) <sup>b,c</sup>	51,411) <sup>b,c</sup>	6,189) <sup>c</sup>	6,076)	6,014) <sup>c</sup>	6,530)°

Female	53,083(52,492-	55,305(54,723-	58,335(57,768-	61,086(60,535-	7,263(6,830-	6,700(6,277-	6,973(6,535-	7,442(6,985-
	53,675) <sup>d</sup>	55,888) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	58,902) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	61,637) <sup>b,d</sup>	7,695) <sup>d</sup>	7,123) <sup>b,d</sup>	7,411) <sup>d</sup>	7,900) <sup>c,d</sup>
80 years and								
over								
Overall	54,792(54,042-	58,138(57,402-	60,930(60,205-	63,274(62,565-	8,051(7,466-	8,149(7,544-	7,975(7,357-	7,921(7,291-
	55,543) <sup>c</sup>	58,875) <sup>b,c</sup>	61,655) <sup>b,c</sup>	63,984) <sup>b,c</sup>	8,636) <sup>c</sup>	8,754) <sup>c</sup>	8,592) <sup>c</sup>	8,550)°
Male	49,053(47,806-	52,502(51,268-	55,200(53,982-	58,010(56,812-	6,923(6,067-	6,970(6,089-	6,911(6,016-	7,278(6,341-
	50,300)°	53,736) <sup>b,c</sup>	56,418) <sup>b,c</sup>	59,208) <sup>b,c</sup>	7,779)°	7,850)°	7,807)°	8,215)°
Female	58,096(57,163-	61,382(60,470-	64,268(63,372-	66,339(65,464-	8,824(8,032-	8,966(8,143-	8,736(7,892-	8,382(7,535-
	59,030) <sup>c,d</sup>	62,295) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	65,164) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	67,214) <sup>b,c,d</sup>	9,615) <sup>c,d</sup>	9,788) <sup>c,d</sup>	9,580) <sup>c,d</sup>	9,229) <sup>c,d</sup>

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval.

<sup>a</sup> Selection by the Chronic Pain Algorithm in the Medical Care Plan Physicians Fee-for-Service Claims File data determined case status. The Chronic Pain Algorithm was defined as: 1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related provincial Medical Care Plan procedure billing code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4), OR 2) five or more encounter dates with any physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related encounter dates.

<sup>b</sup> Estimated prevalence or incidence rate was significantly different from previous fiscal year in the same sex and age group stratum (p-value < 0.05 for all comparisons indicated as significant) using Z-score tests of significance.

<sup>c</sup> Estimated prevalence or incidence rate was significantly different from next younger age group in the same sex and fiscal year stratum (p-value < 0.05 for all comparisons indicated as significant) using Z-score tests of significance.

<sup>d</sup> Estimated prevalence or incidence rate was significantly different in the female stratum than the male stratum in the same fiscal year and age group stratum (p-value < 0.001 for all prevalence comparisons indicated as significant and p-value < 0.01 for all incidence rate comparisons indicated as significant) using Z-score tests of significance. Statistical significance defined by p < 0.05.

# Chapter 4 Association of Chronic Pain with Comorbidities and Health Care Utilization: A Retrospective Cohort Study using Health Administrative Data

Foley HE, Knight JC, Ploughman M, Asghari S, Audas R. Association of Chronic Pain with Comorbidities and Health Care Utilization: A Retrospective Cohort Study using Health Administrative Data.

Preliminary results from this chapter were presented in a teleconference to the Provincial Pain Management Advisory Council on June 11, 2019, and as an oral presentation at the 2019 PriFor Conference in St. John's, NL, on June 28, 2019. As the first author of this manuscript, please note that I retain the right to include it in my doctoral thesis. This manuscript was submitted to *Pain* for consideration for publication.

### Abstract:

**Background:** Multi-morbidity and health care utilization are measurable indicators associated with the high disease burden exerted by chronic pain, and were not previously quantified in smaller Canadian jurisdictions.

**Aim:** This study aimed to use health administrative data to estimate comorbidity prevalence and annual health care utilization for chronic pain in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada.

**Methods:** A validated chronic pain algorithm applied to provincial Fee-for-Service Physician Claims File data (1999-2009) established the Chronic Pain and No Chronic Pain comparator groups. Applying the Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System coding algorithms to Claims File and Provincial Discharge Abstract Data (1999-2009) determined the prevalence of 16 comorbidities. The 2009/10 risk and person-year rate of physician and diagnostic imaging visits and hospital admissions were calculated and adjusted using robust Poisson model with log link function for risks and negative binomial model for rates.

**Results:** The Chronic Pain Group had significantly higher prevalence of all comorbidities and up to four times the odds of multi-morbidity (p-value < 0.001). Chronic Pain Group members accounted for 58.8% of all physician visits, 57.6% of all diagnostic imaging visits, and 54.2% of all hospital admissions in 2009/10, but only 12-16% of these were for pain-related conditions. The Chronic Pain Group had significantly higher rates of physician visits and high-cost hospital admission/diagnostic imaging visits (p-value < 0.001) when adjusted for demographics and comorbidities.

154

**Conclusions:** The strong association of chronic pain with multi-morbidity and health care utilization indicate possible service delivery changes are required to meet the complex needs of this population.

**Keywords:** chronic pain, chronic comorbidities, health care utilization, health administrative data

## 4.1 Introduction

Effective treatment for chronic pain is historically elusive.<sup>1,3</sup> While research and treatment techniques continue to evolve,<sup>6,7</sup> most chronic pain conditions remain poorly understood and managed, which negatively impacts all facets of a sufferer's life.<sup>10,16,17</sup> Prolonged moderate to severe pain heightens a person's desperation for relief resulting in increased utilization of various and increasingly specialized health services.<sup>18,23</sup> Overall annual direct health care costs for chronic pain were estimated up to €32 billion in Europe,<sup>41,166</sup> \$261-300 billion in the United States,<sup>26</sup> and CAD\$15.1-17.2 billion in Canada.<sup>28</sup> Indirect annual societal costs in terms of lost productivity are even higher,<sup>23</sup> estimated at \$299-335 billion in the United States<sup>26</sup> and CAD\$23.2 billion in Canada.<sup>28</sup> Attempts to effectively treat pain was one of several factors that contributed to the unintended public health and societal fallout from opioid diversion and problematic opioid use, such as opioid use disorder and overdose.<sup>155,156</sup> Problematic opioid use was considered responsible for an incurred estimated cost in 2014 of CAD\$313.1 million in health care and CAD\$1.83 billion in lost productivity in Canada.<sup>157</sup> The importance of mitigating the devastating cost of chronic pain to individuals, families, communities, and society at large is clear.

Multiple risk factors are postulated to influence the overall cost escalation of chronic pain.<sup>179,272,273</sup> From an epidemiological perspective, chronic pain prevalence globally (2-54%)<sup>39-42</sup> and in Canada (6.5-44%)<sup>37,45,46,53,54</sup> represents a high volume of people impacted. From a behavioral perspective,<sup>272</sup> overall costs are amplified when excess utilization of health care resources by people with chronic pain, such as hospital

156

admissions, emergency department visits, and health practitioner encounters, are multiplied by this high prevalence.<sup>26,41,169,172,180</sup> From a needs perspective,<sup>272</sup> people with chronic pain are consistently measured to have higher comorbidity index scores,<sup>175,274,275</sup> higher prevalence of specific comorbidities (such as mood disorder, coronary artery disease, and chronic pulmonary disease),<sup>168,276,277</sup> and higher odds of multi-morbidity,<sup>178</sup> which are reported to significantly increase the likelihood of frequent physician consultations.<sup>278</sup> These three cost drivers (high prevalence, high per person health care utilization, and multi-morbidity) represent measurable indicators for impact evaluation of any public health policy or health care practice change.

Chronic pain advisory groups were struck in Canada in 2019 to survey how pain is being managed federally and provincially, and provide recommendations for service improvement.<sup>35</sup> An important first step is determining baseline epidemiological and health care utilization estimates.<sup>36-38</sup> Studies in other jurisdictions achieved this through data analysis from sources such as surveys,<sup>26,180,275</sup> electronic medical records,<sup>182</sup> and administrative datasets.<sup>41,169,207,279</sup> Neither health care utilization nor economic costs related to chronic pain were quantified in the setting of Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada, limiting the ability of its Provincial Pain Management Advisory Council to make informed recommendations for service delivery change. Health administrative data, an economical data source with wide coverage, presents considerable potential to identify people with a complex condition like chronic pain, determine its epidemiological distribution, and quantify health care utilization in any jurisdiction.<sup>66,70</sup> Previous work involved validating an algorithm to identify chronic pain cases in provincial health administrative data (described in Chapter 2), which was utilized to estimate provincial

157
incidence and prevalence (described in Chapter 3). The objectives of this study were to: 1) characterize and compare comorbidity prevalence in chronic pain-identified members to non-chronic pain-identified members of a provincial cohort; and 2) characterize and compare the 2009/10 fiscal year health care utilization of chronic pain-identified members to non-chronic pain-identified members of a provincial cohort. The study hypotheses were: (1) being identified as having chronic pain would be strongly associated with being identified with other comorbid conditions; and (2) being identified as having chronic pain would be strongly associated with having a higher utilization of publicly funded health care resources.

#### 4.2 Methodology

#### 4.2.1 Setting, Design, and Population Cohort

A retrospective cohort study design using health administrative data was performed in the province of Newfoundland and Labrador (NL), Canada, which had a population of 516,729 in 2009.<sup>259</sup> All residents identified as eligible for Medical Care Plan (MCP) benefits for the 2009/10 fiscal year (April to March) were included in the provincial cohort, comprising approximately 98% of the NL population for that year (Canadian Armed Forces personnel, Royal Canadian Mounted Police members, and international students were ineligible for benefits and, therefore, excluded).<sup>260</sup> Provincial cohort follow-up was based on MCP eligibility status that is released once each fiscal year, rather than birth/death or migration. Thus, physician visits and hospital admissions for each provincial cohort member were followed for one fiscal year from April 1, 2009 to March 31, 2010 with no assumed loss to follow up.

#### 4.2.2 Health Administrative Data Sources

The three administrative data sources used in the study were previously described (summarized in Chapter 7, Section 7.5, Appendix 5).<sup>199</sup> The data from all three datasets were organized via each resident's unique health insurance number.<sup>199,239</sup> The data sources were: 1) the MCP Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims Database File to identify cases of chronic pain, identify cases of comorbid conditions, and determine the number and type of physician service visits per person; 2) the Provincial Discharge Abstract Database (PDAD), the NL component of the Canadian Institute of Health Information national Discharge Abstracts Database, to identify cases of comorbid conditions and to determine admissions per person (number, type, and most responsible reason); and 3) the MCP Beneficiary Registration Database to identify benefits eligibility and demographics of the provincial cohort. All required record-level administrative data from January 1, 1999 to March 31, 2010 (the latest available data at the time of study initiation) were obtained from these datasets.

The MCP Claims File and PDAD data are regularly used for research and surveillance of multiple injuries and disease states.<sup>200</sup> Data in the MCP Claims File is considered complete due to its collection for service remuneration.<sup>218</sup> Rigorous quality control procedures are applied to the PDAD on an annual basis.<sup>215,216,218</sup> The MCP Beneficiary Database has minimal missing data due to regular checks made by the administrators to ensure completeness and accuracy of information.<sup>217</sup>

#### 4.2.3 Data Linkage

The MCP Claims File, the PDAD, and the MCP Beneficiary Database are held at the NL Centre for Health Information. The health insurance numbers (MCP numbers) of the provincial population cohort were linked to the MCP Beneficiary File, the PDAD, and the MCP Claims File. Analysts at the NL Centre for Health Information performed all data extraction, linkage, cleaning, and de-identification prior to provision of the linked dataset to the research team for analysis.

#### 4.2.4 Chronic Pain Case Identification

The exposure of interest in this study was the presence of chronic pain as defined by a validated health administrative data algorithm (Chronic Pain Algorithm) applied to the MCP Claims File for the 1999-2009 fiscal years. The Chronic Pain Algorithm identifies chronic pain cases from residents attending fee-for-service physician encounters for painrelated conditions in NL. Development and validation of the Chronic Pain Algorithm was previously described in Chapter 2, and had 70.3% sensitivity, 66.8% specificity, 40.8% positive predictive value, and 87.4% negative predictive value when validated against a primary care electronic medical records data audit of a NL general population sample. Assessing the strength of association between NL health administrative data-derived variables and the presence of chronic pain as defined by the Chronic Pain Algorithm was considered an appropriate use of the Algorithm. The Chronic Pain Algorithm was defined as: 1) a single claim date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related provincial MCP procedure billing code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4), OR 2) five or more claim dates with any physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code

(Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related claim dates.

Since a prevalence-based approach was used in this study,<sup>169,280</sup> all provincial cohort members identified by the Chronic Pain Algorithm from 1999-2009 was counted as a chronic pain case and formed the Chronic Pain Group. All members of the provincial cohort not identified by the Chronic Pain Algorithm from 1999-2009 formed the No Chronic Pain Group.

#### 4.2.5 Independent Variables

#### 4.2.5.1 Demographics

Information regarding sex, age, regional health authority, and rural/urban residential classification was obtained for the 2009/10 fiscal year from the MCP Beneficiary file. Sex classification (male/female) was determined by the cohort member's registration in the MCP Beneficiary file. Age as of September 1, 2009 was classified into four categorical age groups representing children and youth (0-24 years), young adults (25-44 years), older adults (45-64 years), and seniors (65 and over). Regional health authority and rural/urban residential classification was based on the community of residence, which was determined by the postal code recorded in the MCP Beneficiary Database for each cohort member. There were four health authority regions of residence, and the Department of Health and Community Services of the NL Government defined the catchment area for each. They were the Eastern, Central, Western, and Labrador-Grenfell Regional Health Authorities. For the purposes of this study, individuals were considered to have an urban residential location if their community of residence had a population of 4000 or more

people in the 2011 Statistics Canada Census, while those from communities with less than 4000 people were considered rural. A cut off of 4000 was used because it better represented community level access to health services in NL compared to the Statistics Canada population center cut off of 1000 or census agglomeration cut off of 10,000.<sup>261,262</sup>

#### 4.2.5.2 Comorbid Conditions

The presence of mental illness, mood and anxiety disorders, hypertension, diabetes, ischemic heart disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, asthma, heart failure, acute myocardial infarction, stroke, hip fracture, epilepsy, dementia, Parkinsonism, and multiple sclerosis was determined by applying the Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System (CCDSS) administrative data case definitions to the cohort's 1999-2009 MCP Claims File and PDAD data (summarized in Chapter 7, Section 7.6, Appendix 6).<sup>265</sup> These fifteen case definitions are coding algorithms used by the Public Health Agency of Canada to provide annual federal and provincial/territorial estimates on chronic disease distribution for health care resource and policy planning.<sup>200</sup> These chronic disease case definitions were chosen for this study because, at the time of data analysis initiation, they were 15 of 22 case definitions validated for use in claims and discharge abstract data in the Canadian provinces (including NL) that were known to be associated with chronic pain with diagnostic codes not included in the chronic pain case definition. 44,48,108,112,113,116,117,200,281 The CCDSS case definitions for mental illness and mood and anxiety disorders annually identify individuals who used health services for but are not necessarily diagnosed with these mental health conditions.<sup>282</sup> Comorbid condition case status for mental illness and mood and anxiety disorders for the purposes of this study

was defined as any provincial cohort member identified by the corresponding CCDSS case definition. The presence of cancer as another comorbid condition related to pain<sup>119</sup> was determined by the recording of one or more entries in any one or more of the 16 allowable diagnostic codes per admission in the PDAD of one or more cancer *International Classification of Disease – 10th Revision(Canadian)* (ICD-10-CA) diagnostic codes<sup>283</sup> published by the Public Health Agency of Canada.

Since all Public Health Agency of Canada codes and coding algorithms are published on the public domain of the Government of Canada website,<sup>265,283</sup> permission was not required to use them for non-commercial activities as long as the Public Health Agency of Canada source was cited (personal communication). Comorbid case status was determined prior to the health care utilization observation period of the 2009/10 fiscal year to evaluate its impact on health care utilization. Since a prevalence-based approach was used for this study,<sup>169,280</sup> all cohort members identified by the CCDSS case definitions from 1999-2009 were counted as a comorbid condition case.

#### 4.2.6 Dependent Variables

#### 4.2.6.1 Physician Claims-related Health Care Utilization

The MCP Claims File data for the provincial cohort was searched for all visits made from April 1, 2009 to March 31, 2010. For the purposes of this study, a visit was defined as any assessment, intervention, or procedure billed to the MCP by a fee-for-service physician in NL. Frequency of visits by physician type was captured based on the physician specialty code, and was classified as: 1) family physician only, and 2) physician from another specialty. Frequency of visits by reason for encounter was captured based on the associated three-digit *International Classification of Disease – 9th Revision* (ICD-9) diagnostic code, and was classified as: 1) all-cause, and 2) pain-related (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3). The diagnostic codes used to classify a visit as pain- versus non-pain-related were validated as part of the Chronic Pain Algorithm. Frequency of diagnostic imaging visits was captured based on MCP Provincial Procedure Billing Codes (Chapter 7, Section 7.7, Appendix 7), and was classified as: 1) general radiograph, 2) computed tomography scan, and 3) magnetic resonance imaging scan.

#### 4.2.6.2 Hospital Admission-related Health Care Utilization

The PDAD for the provincial cohort was searched for all hospital admissions occurring from April 1, 2009 to March 31, 2010. Frequency of admissions by service type was captured, and was classified as: 1) day surgery admission (defined as the admission and discharge dates being the same day indicating no overnight stay), and 2) inpatient admission (defined as the admission and discharge dates not being on the same day indicating an overnight stay of at least one night). Frequency of admissions by most responsible diagnosis (i.e. reason for admission) was captured based on the associated ICD-10-CA diagnostic code, and was classified as: 1) all-cause, and 2) pain-related (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3). The diagnostic codes used to classify an admission as pain- versus non-pain-related were validated as part of the Chronic Pain Algorithm.

#### 4.2.7 Statistical Analysis

The 2009/10 fiscal year characteristics for the Chronic Pain Group and the No Chronic Pain Group were described by calculating mean and standard deviation for age, and frequency and percentage for age group, sex, regional health authority, and

rural/urban residential location. Frequency and percentage for seven pain condition categories (other conditions associated with chronic pain, arthritis and musculoskeletal pain, back and neck pain, headaches, musculoskeletal trauma and related conditions, painful neuropathy, and bone disorders) were calculated for the Chronic Pain Group and the No Chronic Pain Group. Pain condition category case status was determined by an individual having at least one visit in the MCP Claims File data or at least one hospitalization in the PDAD (all 16 allowable diagnostic codes per admission considered) with a diagnostic code from the pain condition category diagnostic code group (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) from 1999-2010. Cohort members could be counted as a case for multiple pain condition categories. The diagnostic code groupings used to identify a case in each pain condition category were informed by the literature, 41,68,71,72,185,186,206,208,232-237 utilized for descriptive purposes only, and comprised of pain-related diagnostic codes validated as part of the Chronic Pain Algorithm. However, the diagnostic code groupings did not undergo a specific validation process. Between group differences for mean age were tested using t-test, and for categorical variable proportions using Chi-squared test (statistical significance defined as p < 0.05).

Prevalence of each comorbid condition in the Chronic Pain Group and the No Chronic Pain Group was calculated. Prevalence of being in the Chronic Pain Group for comorbid condition cases and non-cases was calculated. Since chronic pain and comorbid condition case status was determined by March 31, 2009, the unadjusted odds ratio (95% confidence interval (CI)) between the Chronic Pain Group and the No Chronic Pain Group was calculated and reported for each comorbid condition. Each odds ratio was adjusted for the covariates of sex, regional health authority, and rural/urban residential

location using a logistic regression model. Age group was not included as a covariate in the logistic regression due to collinearity with the case status of several comorbid conditions (age was an algorithm inclusion/exclusion criterion for several comorbid conditions. See Chapter 7, Section 7.6, Appendix 6). Collinearity was tested using a correlation matrix and the variables were considered collinear if the correlation coefficient was 0.80 or higher. Number of comorbid conditions was classified into groupings of 0, 1, 2, or 3 or more. Since the codes for the use of health services for mood and anxiety disorders coding algorithm were included in the codes for the use of health services for mental illness coding algorithm, mood and anxiety disorders were not counted as a separate comorbid condition for the purpose of these groupings.<sup>265,282</sup> Odds of having 1, 2, or 3 or more comorbid conditions and the unadjusted odds ratio (95% CI) between the Chronic Pain Group and the No Chronic Pain Group were calculated and reported. Each odds ratio was adjusted for the covariates of sex, regional health authority, and rural/urban residential location using a logistic regression model.

Risks for having a physician visit, a diagnostic imaging visit, and a hospital admission and the unadjusted relative risk ratio (95% CI) between the Chronic Pain Group and the No Chronic Pain Group were calculated and reported. The dependent variable was binary (yes/no), therefore, each relative risk ratio was adjusted for the covariates of age group, sex, regional health authority, rural/urban residential location, and comorbid condition grouping using a robust Poisson regression model with log link function of the generalized linear model family (determined to be superior to the log binomial regression model in providing unbiased estimates of relative risk ratios).<sup>284</sup> Statistical significance was defined by p < 0.05 that being in the Chronic Pain Group was

predictive of risk of using each health service as measured by the relative risk ratio while controlling for the measured covariates.

The mean rates of physician visits, diagnostic imaging visits, and hospital admissions per 100 person-years and the unadjusted rate ratio (95% CI) between the Chronic Pain Group and the No Chronic Pain in 2009/10 were calculated and reported. Each rate ratio was adjusted for the covariates of age group, sex, regional health authority, rural/urban residential location, and comorbid condition grouping using a negative binomial regression model of the generalized linear model family. It was considered the most parsimonious model with good performance when assessed for predicted versus observed probabilities of each dependent variable count value.<sup>175,285</sup> The negative binomial model performed superior to the Poisson and zero-inflated Poisson models and closely comparable/superior to the zero-inflated negative binomial model. Statistical significance was defined by p < 0.05 that being in the Chronic Pain Group was predictive of the mean annual rates of visits and admissions per 100 person-years as measured by the rate ratio while controlling for the measured covariates.

The categorical covariates for the regression analyses were age group (reference category: 0-24 years), sex (reference category: male), regional health authority (reference category: Eastern Regional Health Authority), rural/urban residential location (reference category: urban), and comorbid condition grouping (reference category: 0 comorbid conditions). Cohort members with missing age, sex, regional health authority, or rural/urban category data were omitted from the regression models.

Statistical Package for Social Sciences version 25 by IBM and StataIC16 by StataCorp were used for the data analysis.

#### 4.2.8 Ethics Approval and Consent to Participate

The Health Research Ethics Board of the Health Research Ethics Authority of NL provided full approval of the study protocol (HREB Ref#2017.273). The Secondary Uses Committee of the NL Centre for Health Information and the Research Proposals Approval Committee of the Eastern Regional Health Authority also reviewed and approved the study protocol following Health Research Ethics Board approval. Since the health administrative data analyzed was part of routine data collection and normal operations of the NL Centre for Health Information, and the data was then de-identified, individual patient and/or NL resident consent was not required.

#### 4.3 Results

#### **4.3.1 Provincial Cohort Characteristics**

The provincial cohort was comprised of 504,693 people (or 97.7% of the 2009 Census Canada reported NL population)<sup>259</sup> with a mean (standard deviation) age of 42.4 (21.1) years, and of which 50.9% were female, 24.2% were 24 years or younger, 15.4% were 65 years or older, 55.1% lived in urban locations, and 58.9% lived in the Eastern Regional Health Authority catchment area. With respect to health care utilization, each member of the provincial cohort was followed from April 1, 2009 to March 31, 2010 for a total of 504,693 person-years and no assumed loss to follow up. The Chronic Pain Group was comprised of 184,580 people or 36.6%% of the provincial cohort (Table 4.1). Proportions in the female, 45 years and older age groups, urban residential location, Eastern Regional Health Authority residential location, and each pain condition group stratum were all significantly higher in the Chronic Pain Group compared to the No Chronic Pain Group (p-value < 0.001 for all comparisons) using the Chi square test. The mean age was significantly higher at 50.8 years (18.1 years standard deviation) in the Chronic Pain Group versus 37.5 years (21.1 years standard deviation) in the No Chronic Pain Group (p-value < 0.001) using the t-test for significance.

Demographic Characteristics	Chronic Pain	No Chronic Pain	Р-	
	Group <sup>a</sup>	Group <sup>a</sup>	value <sup>b</sup>	
	N <sub>group</sub> = 184,580	N <sub>group</sub> = 320,113	_	
	n(% of N <sub>group</sub> )	n(% of N <sub>group</sub> )	_	
Age group				
0-24 years	17,353(9.4)	104,433(32.6)	< 0.001	
25-44 years	46,937(25.4)	93,326(29.2)	< 0.001	
45-64 years	78,930(42.8)	86,112(26.9)	< 0.001	
65 and over years	41,360(22.4)	36,241(11.3)	<0.001	
Missing Category Data		1		
Sex				
Female	110,024(59.6)	146,742(45.8)	< 0.001	
Male	74,556(40.4)	173,370(54.2)	< 0.001	
Missing Category Data		1		
Rural/urban <sup>c</sup>				
Urban	109,202(59.2)	168,720(52.7)	< 0.001	
Rural	75,258(40.8)	151,193(47.2)	< 0.001	
Missing Category Data	120(0.1)	200(0.1)		
Regional health authority <sup>d</sup>				

# Table 4.1. 2009/10 Fiscal Year Characteristics of the Provincial Cohort in

122,433(66.4) 174,681(54.6) <0.001

Eastern

Central	33,033(17.9)	60,766(19.0)	< 0.001
Western	25,701(13.9)	53,429(16.7)	< 0.001
Labrador-Grenfell	3,293(1.8)	31,037(9.7)	< 0.001
Missing Category Data	120(0.1)	200(0.1)	
Pain condition group <sup>e</sup>			
Other Conditions Associated	165,674(89.8)	138,976(43.4)	< 0.001
with Chronic Pain			
Musculoskeletal/Arthritis	147,211(79.8)	89,511(28.0)	< 0.001
Back/Neck	124,385(67.4)	62,762(19.6)	< 0.001
Headaches	94,183(51.0)	54,618(17.1)	< 0.001
Musculoskeletal Trauma	56,633(30.7)	31,276(9.8)	< 0.001
Neuropathic	50,496(27.4)	22,323(7.0)	< 0.001
Bone Disorders	21,885(11.9)	7,535(2.4)	< 0.001

Abbreviations: N<sub>group</sub>, total population of group; n, number selected in stratum.

<sup>a</sup> Selection by the Chronic Pain Algorithm applied to 1999-2009 provincial cohort Newfoundland and Labrador Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physician Claims File data determined Chronic Pain Group or No Chronic Pain Group membership. The Chronic Pain Algorithm was defined as: 1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related provincial Medical Care Plan procedure billing code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4), OR 2) five or more encounter dates with any physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two painrelated encounter dates.

<sup>b</sup> Statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05 via Chi square test.

<sup>c</sup> Urban residential location was defined by the community of residence having a population of 4000 or more people in the 2011 Statistics Canada Census, while communities with less than 4000 people were considered rural.

<sup>d</sup> Regional health authority residential classification was defined by the community of residence being in one of four of the Newfoundland and Labrador Department of Health and Community Services-defined regions.

<sup>e</sup> Inclusion in the pain condition group was defined as an individual having at least one encounter in the Medical Care Plan Claims File data or at least one admission in the Provincial Discharge Abstract Data (any one of the 16 allowable diagnostic codes per admission) recording a diagnosis from the pain condition diagnostic group (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) from 1999-2010 (cohort members could be counted as a case for more than one pain condition group).

#### 4.3.2 Comorbid Conditions

The prevalence of each comorbid condition as identified at any time from 1999-2009 by the CCDSS case definitions was significantly higher in the Chronic Pain Group than in the No Chronic Pain Group (Fig. 4.1a). The prevalence of being in the Chronic Pain Group was significantly higher for cases compared to non-cases of each comorbid condition (Fig. 4.1b). The odds of having each comorbid condition was significantly higher for the Chronic Pain Group compared to the No Chronic Pain Group as determined by the adjusted odds ratio and 95% CI (Table 4.2) via logistic regression. The adjusted odds ratio for each comorbid condition (adjusted for sex, regional health authority, and rural/urban residential location) ranged from 1.40 (95% CI: 1.36-1.43) to 4.27 (95% CI: 3.55-5.14).



## Fig. 4.1a. Comorbid Condition Prevalence by Chronic Pain Case Status in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada

Notes: X-axis: estimated prevalence of each comorbid condition in the Chronic Pain Group and No Chronic Pain Group. Y-axis: comorbid conditions. Selection by the corresponding Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System case definition (Chapter 7, Section 7.6, Appendix 6) applied to the 1999-2009 provincial cohort NL MCP Fee-for-Service Physician Claims File and Provincial Discharge Abstract Data determined comorbid condition case status. Selection by the Chronic Pain Algorithm applied to 19992009 provincial cohort NL MCP Fee-for-Service Physician Claims File data determined Chronic Pain Group or No Chronic Pain Group membership. The Chronic Pain Algorithm was defined as: 1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related provincial MCP procedure billing code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4), OR 2) five or more encounter dates with any physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related encounter dates.

Abbreviations: NL, Newfoundland and Labrador; MCP, Medical Care Plan.





Notes: X-axis: estimated percentage of the cases and non-cases of each comorbid condition identified by the Chronic Pain Algorithm. Y-axis: comorbid conditions. Selection by the corresponding Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System case definition (Chapter 7, Section 7.6, Appendix 6) applied to the 1999-2009 provincial cohort NL MCP Fee-for-Service Physician Claims File and Provincial Discharge Abstract Data determined comorbid condition case status. Selection by the Chronic Pain Algorithm applied to 1999-2009 provincial cohort NL MCP Fee-for-Service Physician Claims File data determined Chronic Pain Group membership. The Chronic Pain Algorithm was defined as: 1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic painrelated provincial MCP procedure billing code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4), OR 2) five or more encounter dates with any physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related encounter dates.

Abbreviations: NL, Newfoundland and Labrador; MCP, Medical Care Plan.

## Table 4.2. Association between Comorbid Conditions<sup>a</sup> and Chronic Pain<sup>b</sup> in

## Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada

Co-morbid Condition	Unadjusted	Adjusted <sup>c</sup> Odds	P-value <sup>d</sup>
	<b>Odds Ratio</b>	Ratio (95% CI)	
	(95% CI)		
All Mental Illness	4.05(4.00-4.10)	3.62(3.58-3.67)	< 0.001
Mood/Anxiety Disorders	3.96(3.91-4.02)	3.51(3.46-3.56)	< 0.001
Hypertension	3.40(3.36-3.45)	3.25(3.21-3.30)	< 0.001
Diabetes	2.31(2.26-2.35)	2.35(2.30-2.40)	< 0.001
Ischemic Heart Disease	2.89(2.83-2.96)	3.20(3.12-3.29)	< 0.001
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary	3.53(3.43-3.63)	3.67(3.57-3.78)	< 0.001
Disease			
Asthma	1.53(1.50-1.57)	1.40(1.36-1.43)	< 0.001
Cancer	2.71(2.62-2.80)	2.75(2.65-2.84)	< 0.001
Heart Failure	2.66(2.56-2.76)	3.15(3.02-3.27)	< 0.001
Acute Myocardial Infarction	2.04(1.95-2.13)	2.31(2.20-2.41)	< 0.001
Stroke	3.11(2.94-3.29)	3.30(3.12-3.50)	< 0.001
Hip Fracture	3.76(3.41-4.15)	3.31(3.00-3.66)	< 0.001
Epilepsy	2.21(2.03-2.41)	2.27(2.08-2.48)	< 0.001
Dementia	3.14(2.84-3.47)	2.89(2.61-3.20)	< 0.001
Parkinsonism	3.96(3.31-4.74)	4.27(3.55-5.14)	< 0.001

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval.

<sup>a</sup> Selection by the corresponding Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System case definition (Chapter 7, Section 7.6, Appendix 6) applied to the 1999-2009 provincial cohort Newfoundland and Labrador Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physician Claims File and Provincial Discharge Abstract Data determined comorbid condition case status <sup>b</sup> Selection by the Chronic Pain Algorithm applied to 1999-2009 provincial cohort Newfoundland and Labrador Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physician Claims File data determined chronic pain case status. The Chronic Pain Algorithm was defined as: 1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related provincial billing Medical Care Plan procedure code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4), OR 2) five or more encounter dates with any physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related encounter dates.

c. Adjusted for sex, regional health authority, and rural/urban residential location using a logistic regression model.

d. Statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05.

An estimated 74.7% of the Chronic Pain Group were identified to have at least one comorbid condition between 1999 and 2009, and 16.9% were identified to have at least three comorbid conditions. The Chronic Pain Group members were identified to have a mean (standard deviation) of 1.41 (1.30) comorbid conditions (range 0-10), compared to the No Chronic Pain Group members who were identified to have a mean (standard deviation) of 0.58 (0.93) comorbid conditions (range 0-9). The likelihood of being identified as having one, two, or three or more comorbid conditions was significantly higher in the Chronic Pain Group than in the No Chronic Pain Group as determined by the odds ratio and 95% CI adjusted for the covariates of sex, regional health authority, and rural/urban residential location. The adjusted odds ratio between the Chronic Pain Group of having one comorbid conditions was 2.87 (95% CI: 2.83-2.93), and of having three or more comorbid conditions was 4.25 (95% CI: 4.16-4.34).

#### 4.3.3 Health Care Utilization

In the 2009/10 fiscal year, 73.0% (95% CI: 72.9-73.2%) of the overall provincial cohort had at least one family physician visit, 58.3% (95% CI: 58.1-58.4%) had at least one other specialty physician visit, 37.3% (95% CI: 37.2-37.5%) had at least one general radiograph assessment visit, 9.3% (95% CI: 9.2-9.4%) had at least one computed tomography scan visit, and 2.2% (95% CI: 2.2-2.3%) had at least one magnetic resonance imaging scan visit. In the 2009/10 fiscal year, 11.0% (95% CI: 10.9-11.1%) of the

provincial cohort had at least one day surgery admission, and 7.1% (95% CI: 7.1-7.2%) had at least one inpatient admission.

In 2009/10, there was a significantly higher likelihood (Table 4.3) of Chronic Pain Group members than No Chronic Pain Group members to have a physician visit (94.6% (95% CI: 94.5-94.7%) versus 74.5% (95% CI: 74.3-74.6%), adjusted relative risk ratio: 1.12 (95% CI: 1.12-1.13)), a diagnostic imaging visit (62.5% (95% CI: 62.3-62.7%) versus 35.0% (95% CI: 34.8-35.1%), adjusted relative risk ratio: 1.41 (95% CI: 1.40-1.42)), or a hospital admission (23.0% (95% CI: 22.8-23.1%) versus 12.7% (95% CI: 12.6-12.8%), adjusted relative risk ratio: 1.40 (95% CI: 1.38-1.42)) as determined by the relative risk ratio, adjusted for age group, sex, regional health authority, rural/urban residential location, and number of comorbid conditions using a robust Poisson regression model with log link function. As expected, the relative risk ratio for visits (2.14 (95% CI: 2.12-2.16)) and admissions (3.07 (95% CI: 2.92-3.23)) for pain-related conditions (based on the diagnostic code associated with the visit or admission being classified as painrelated (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3)) between Chronic Pain Group members and No Chronic Pain Group members was higher than the relative risk ratio for all-cause visits (1.12 (95% CI: 1.12-1.13)) and admissions (1.40 (95% CI: 1.38-1.42)).

Health Service Type	Chronic Pain	No Chronic	Unadjusted	Adjusted <sup>b</sup>	P-value <sup>c</sup>
	Group <sup>a</sup>	Pain Group <sup>a</sup>	<b>Relative Risk</b>	Relative Risk	
			Ratio (95% CI)	Ratio (95% CI)	
	N=184,580	N=320,113	-		
	% risk (95% CI)	% risk (95% CI)	-		
All-cause reason					
Any Family Physician visit	90.2 (90.1-90.4)	63.1 (63.0-63.3)	1.43(1.42-1.43)	1.20(1.20-1.21)	< 0.001
Any Specialist <sup>d</sup> Visit	75.9 (75.7-76.1)	48.1 (47.9-48.2)	1.58(1.57-1.59)	1.28(1.28-1.29)	< 0.001
Any Day Surgery Admission	16.3 (16.2-16.5)	8.0 (7.9-8.1)	2.05(2.02-2.09)	1.55(1.52-1.57)	< 0.001
Any Inpatient Admission	9.3 (9.2-9.5)	5.9 (5.8-5.9)	1.59(1.56-1.62)	1.20(1.18-1.23)	< 0.001
Pain-related reason <sup>e</sup>					
Any Family Physician Visit	52.9 (52.7-53.1)	19.1 (19.0-19.3)	2.77(2.74-2.79)	2.21(2.19-2.23)	< 0.001
Any Specialist Visit	16.1 (15.9-16.3)	4.2 (4.2-4.3)	3.81(3.73-3.88))	2.74(2.68-2.80)	< 0.001
Any Day Surgery Admission	1.9 (1.9-2.0)	0.5 (0.5-0.5)	4.03(3.80-4.27)	3.24(3.04-3.46)	< 0.001

### Table 4.3. Risk to Utilize Health Services in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada in 2009/10

Any Inpatient Admission	1.3 (1.2-1.3)	0.4 (0.3-0.4)	3.65(3.41-3.92)	2.89(2.68-3.13)	<0.001
Diagnostic Imaging					
Any General Radiograph	53.2 (52.9-53.4)	28.2 (28.1-28.4)	1.88(1.87-1.90)	1.46(1.45-1.47)	< 0.001
Assessment					
Any Computed Tomography	15.2 (15.1-15.4)	5.9 (5.8-5.9)	2.60(2.55-2.65)	1.72(1.69-1.76)	< 0.001
Scan					
Any Magnetic Resonance	3.7 (3.6-3.8)	1.4 (1.3-1.4)	2.66(2.57-2.77)	2.05(1.96-2.14)	< 0.001
Imaging Scan					

Abbreviations: N, total number in group; CI, confidence interval.

<sup>a</sup> Selection by the Chronic Pain Algorithm applied to 1999-2009 provincial cohort Newfoundland and Labrador Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physician Claims File data determined Chronic Pain Group or No Chronic Pain Group membership. The Chronic Pain Algorithm was defined as: 1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related provincial Medical Care Plan procedure billing code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4), OR 2) five or more encounter dates with any physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related encounter dates. <sup>b</sup> Adjusted for the covariates of age group, sex, regional health authority, rural/urban residential location, and number of comorbid conditions using a robust Poisson regression model with log link function.

<sup>c</sup> Statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05.

<sup>d</sup> Specialist defined as any physician from another specialty than family medicine.

<sup>e</sup> Presence of a pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) with the physician claim or as the Most Responsible Reason for admission.

In 2009/10, the mean all-cause visit rates per 100 person-years for the overall provincial cohort was 478 (95% CI: 476-480) family physician visits, 418 (95% CI: 415-420) other specialty physician visits, 92 (95% CI: 91-92) general radiograph assessment visits, 21 (95% CI: 21-21) computed tomography scan visits, and 6 (95% CI: 6-6) magnetic resonance imaging visits. The mean all-cause admission rates per 100 person-years in 2009/10 for the overall provincial cohort was 15 (95% CI: 15-15) day surgery admissions and 10 (95% CI: 10-10) inpatient admissions. Pain-related visits/admissions comprised 17.4% of all family physician visits, 6.9% of all specialist visits, 9.9% of all day surgery admissions, and 7.6% of all inpatient admissions.

In 2009/10, 58.8% of all physician visits, 57.6% of all diagnostic imaging visits, and 54.2% of all hospital admissions were attributed to the Chronic Pain Group. Proportion of all visits/admissions attributed to pain-related conditions was higher for the Chronic Pain Group compared to the No Chronic Pain Group, comprising 21.5% versus 11.6% of all per group family physician visits, 8.7% versus 4.4% of all per group specialist visits, 13.1% versus 5.6% of all per group day surgery admissions, and 10.4% versus 4.9% of all per group inpatient admissions.

In 2009/10, the mean all-cause rates and 95% CI per 100 person-years (Table 4.4) was significantly higher for the Chronic Pain Group compared to the No Chronic Pain Group for physician visits (1440 (95% CI: 1432-1448) versus 582 (95% CI: 579-584), adjusted rate ratio: 1.63 (95% CI: 1.62-1.65)), diagnostic imaging visits (260 (95% CI: 258-262) versus 110 (95% CI: 109-111), adjusted rate ratio: 1.64 (95% CI: 1/62-1/66)), and hospital admissions (36 (95% CI: 36-37) versus 18 (95% CI: 18-18), adjusted rate ratio: 1.50 (95% CI: 1.47-1.52)) as determined by the rate ratio adjusted for age group,

sex, regional health authority, rural/urban residential location, and number of comorbidities using a negative binomial regression model. As expected, the adjusted rate ratio for pain-related physician visits (3.28 (95% CI: 3.24-3.32)) and hospital admissions (3.72 (95% CI: 3.52-3.93)) between Chronic Pain Group members and No Chronic Pain Group members was higher than the adjusted rate ratio for all-cause physician visits (1.63 (95% CI: 1.62-1.65)) and admissions (1.50 (95% CI: 1.47-1.52)).

Health Service Type	Chronic Pain	No Chronic Pain	Unadjusted	Adjusted <sup>b</sup> Rate	P-value <sup>c</sup>
	Group <sup>a</sup>	Groupª	Rate Ratio	Ratio	
			(95% CI)	(95% CI)	
	Mean rate (95% CI)	Mean rate (95% CI)	-		
	per 100 person-	per 100 person-			
	years	years			
All-cause reason					
Family Physician Visits	770 (766-775)	309 (308-311)	2.49(2.47-2.51)	1.71(1.70-1.72)	< 0.001
Specialist <sup>d</sup> Visits	669 (664-675)	272 (270-273)	2.46(2.43-2.48)	1.57(1.56-1.59)	< 0.001
Day Surgery Admissions	23 (23-23)	10 (10-10)	2.32(2.28-2.36)	1.68(1.65-1.72)	< 0.001
Inpatient Admissions	13 (13-14)	8 (8-8)	1.71(1.67-1.75)	1.24(1.20-1.27)	< 0.001
Pain-related reason <sup>e</sup>					
Family Physician Visits	166 (165-167)	36 (35-36)	4.64(4.59-4.70)	3.34(3.30-3.38)	< 0.001
Specialist Visits	58 (57-59)	12 (12-12)	4.83(4.71-4.96)	3.12(3.03-3.21)	< 0.001

### Table 4.4. 2009/10 Fiscal Year Health Service Utilization Rates in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada

Day Surgery Admissions	3 (3-3)	0.6 (0.5-0.6)	5.39(5.05-5.75)	4.17(3.88-4.49)	< 0.001
Inpatient Admissions	1 (1-1)	0.4 (0.4-0.4)	3.64(3.39-3.91)	2.94(2.71-3.19)	< 0.001
Diagnostic Imaging					
General Radiograph	145 (143-146)	61 (61-61)	2.37(2.34-2.39)	1.71(1.70-1.73)	< 0.001
Assessment					
Computed Tomography	34 (34-35)	13 (13-13)	2.60(2.54-2.67)	1.68(1.64-1.73)	< 0.001
Scans					
Magnetic Resonance	10 (10-10)	4 (4-4)	2.69(2.55-2.84)	2.13(2.01-2.26)	< 0.001
Imaging Scans					

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval.

<sup>a</sup> Selection by the Chronic Pain Algorithm applied to 1999-2009 provincial cohort Newfoundland and Labrador Medical Care Plan Fee-for-Service Physician Claims File data determined Chronic Pain Group or No Chronic Pain Group membership. The Chronic Pain Algorithm was defined as: 1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related provincial Medical Care Plan procedure billing code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4), OR 2) five or more encounter dates with any physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related encounter dates.

<sup>b</sup> Adjusted for the covariates of age group, sex, regional health authority, rural/urban residential location, and number of comorbid conditions using a negative binomial regression model.

<sup>c</sup> Statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05.

<sup>d</sup> Specialist defined as any physician from another specialty than family medicine.

<sup>e</sup> Presence of a pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) with the physician claim or as the Most Responsible Reason for admission.

#### 4.4 Discussion

The present study used a validated health administrative data case definition to create population-based chronic pain comparator groups, and measured prevalence of comorbid conditions and one-year levels of hospitalizations and fee-for-service physician visits by using province-level health administrative datasets in Canada. There were three main findings. First, the Chronic Pain Group (36.6% of the provincial cohort) accounted for significantly higher total utilization of measured publicly funded health care, including physician visits (58.8%), diagnostic imaging visits (57.6%), and hospital admissions (54.2%). Second, even after controlling for potential confounding variables, the Chronic Pain Group had about 2-4 times the odds of being identified as having other comorbid conditions, most notably mental health, cardiovascular, and neurodegenerative conditions. And finally, additional data analysis exposed the clinically unexpected finding that physician visits and hospital admissions for pain-related conditions formed a small percentage of the total measured utilization, even for the Chronic Pain Group.

#### 4.4.1 Chronic Pain and Excess Health Care Utilization

When adjusting for demographics and comorbid conditions, the Chronic Pain Group had a 24-113% higher rate of public health service use in 2009/10 than the No Chronic Pain Group. While variation in sample characteristics and health service availability described in other Canadian and global studies make it difficult to compare statistics,<sup>169,171,180,273,286,287</sup> the present study adds to the body of knowledge that the presence of chronic pain is strongly associated with increased health care utilization.<sup>169,171,172</sup> Multiple factors are cited to contribute to this excess service use, including provider practice patterns, increased health service availability, higher painrelated interference, multi-morbidity, and lower socioeconomic status.<sup>179,273,288</sup> Health care utilization is also known to increase with use of prescribed opioids,<sup>289</sup> for which multi-morbidity<sup>290</sup> and increased psychological distress<sup>291</sup> are known risk factors. It was beyond the scope of the administrative data and this study to investigate all contributing factors and determine causation, but some confounding was mitigated by controlling for the age and sex predisposing factors, the residential location enabling factor, and the comorbidity need factor.<sup>179,272,280</sup>

Health care utilization statistics can serve as a proxy for cost estimates, the more services utilized the higher the direct health care costs.<sup>203,292</sup> Chronic Pain Group members had particularly high usage of expensive services (specialist assessments, hospital admissions, and specialized imaging tests), which increase overall direct health care costs.<sup>176,179</sup> Appropriate management of chronic pain conditions might have necessitated high utilization of these services.<sup>175</sup> However, it's more likely that lack of satisfactory pain control and subsequent reduced quality of life contributed to the increased family physician visits, multiple specialist referrals, and multiple diagnostic imaging requisitions.<sup>62,175</sup> Coordinated management of chronic pain emphasizing selfmanagement/pain self-efficacy reduces pain-related interference on function reducing reliance on acute and specialized health care resources.<sup>41,175,179-181</sup> The present study provides estimated health care utilization levels in one province in Canada against which to compare when recommended changes to policy, resource allocation, and clinical management occur.<sup>293</sup>

#### 4.4.2 Chronic Pain and Comorbid Conditions

The aging demographics, higher chronic disease rates, and poorer population health indicators in NL compared to other Canadian jurisdictions highlight the importance of measuring the association between chronic pain and comorbid conditions for the purposes of public health initiatives and resource planning.<sup>188,189</sup> Provincial cohort members in the Chronic Pain Group had up to four times the odds of having any single comorbid condition and four times the odds of having three or more comorbid conditions than members in the No Chronic Pain Group. The findings from the NL data support other studies describing the strong association between chronic pain and other chronic diseases, despite varying methods of case ascertainment and data sources.<sup>108,178,275</sup> Reports indicate a comorbid condition prevalence of 4.2% to 76.1% in chronic pain populations, depending on the comorbid condition,<sup>296,287</sup> and a chronic pain prevalence of 13%-94%<sup>44,48,108-111</sup> in people with specific comorbid conditions. There is commonality in the complex biological, psychological, social, cultural, and genetic processes involved in the development of the comorbid conditions measured in this study and chronic pain.<sup>32,38,101,277,294</sup> Regardless of whether chronic pain was the primary or secondary chronic disease diagnosis, its effect on stress levels, physical activity, and overall quality of life negatively impacts a person's ability to maximize recovery and effectively manage chronic disease in the long term.<sup>109,113,295-297</sup> Concurrent management of pain with chronic disease may improve clinical outcomes and mitigate the negative effects on quality of life.<sup>293</sup>

#### 4.4.3 Pain-related Versus Non-pain-related Care

Not surprisingly, the Chronic Pain Group had 3.64-5.39 times (unadjusted) the rate of physician visits and hospitalizations for pain-related conditions compared to the No Chronic Pain Group. However, only 15.6% of the physician claims and 12.1% of the hospital admissions attributed to the Chronic Pain Group were for pain-related conditions. Studies previously reported more than 50% of physician and hospital encounters in other jurisdictions were for non-pain-related reasons.<sup>24,279</sup> Chronic pain has a strong association with multi-comorbidity, and chronic diseases - such as diabetes - necessitate more frequent medical follow-up to monitor treatment effectiveness (e.g. medication or lifestyle changes) over time.<sup>179,286,298</sup> Pain developing secondary to some chronic diseases may represent disease progression requiring more advanced care management (e.g. specialist referral, hospitalization, or advanced diagnostic testing).<sup>293</sup> Since only one diagnostic code was allowed per claim, the attending physician may have recorded the code for the worsening chronic disease rather than the pain related to it.<sup>208</sup> However, coding errors may have resulted, in part, from delayed recognition of pain as the primary issue, thus recording the non-pain-related diagnosis as the primary reason for the encounter/admission.<sup>180,182,299</sup> The discord in care versus the patient's needs is known to delay appropriate referral to pain management services prolonging suffering, which influences higher utilization of acute care services.<sup>111,295,300</sup> Despite multiple studies highlighting the significant impact of pain on chronic disease management, clinical practice guidelines frequently do not include pain management in the
recommendations.<sup>171,279,301</sup> Clearly, people identified as having chronic pain in NL have complex health needs requiring complex, interdisciplinary care.

## 4.4.4 Strengths, Limitations, and Generalizability

There were two main strengths to this study. First, the NL health administrative data sources used in this study had wide coverage and regular data quality checks,<sup>216,218</sup> and it was not subject to the recall bias, sampling errors, or low response rates that can plague survey data.<sup>65,302</sup> The large sample size, large number of identified chronic pain cases, and large number of observations allowed for tests for significance of association between chronic pain and many variables (involving comorbidities and health care utilization types) while minimizing the risk of Type 1 error. Second, the chronic pain and comorbid condition coding algorithms were validated in the same datasets (MCP Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims File and NL PDAD) and were subjected to the same data limitations, which increased internal reliability of results.

There were six main limitations in this study. First, a limitation for all studies involving secondary use of health administrative data is the dependence of its data accuracy on entry at source.<sup>66,67,231</sup> Second, there was non-differential misclassification bias between the chronic pain and the comorbid condition case definitions in the NL claims data when assessing strength of association in this study, with contributions from potential coding errors, undiagnosed chronic conditions, and one code entry per claim limit.<sup>66,199,270</sup> Third, the strength of the association between chronic pain and comorbid conditions were, in part, influenced by medical surveillance bias where regular health care encounters to manage one condition increased the likelihood of identifying presence

of another.<sup>303</sup> Fourth, the unavailability of data collected from visits to pharmacies (i.e. medication data), emergency rooms, salaried physicians, allied health professionals, and those funded by third-party payers likely negatively impacted chronic pain and comorbid condition case ascertainment, particularly in rural and/or non-Eastern Regional Health Authority areas.<sup>169,172,176,267,270</sup> The large range of unavailable health service data also significantly narrowed the descriptive scope of health care utilization associated with chronic pain from a geographic and demographic patterns of behavior perspective. Fifth, adjusting for the potential bias to the chronic pain exposure measurement introduced by the Chronic Pain Algorithm (potential over-ascertainment) and the non-fee-for-service physician data unavailability (potential under-ascertainment)<sup>270</sup> would be complex and require access to variables and datasets outside the scope of this thesis.<sup>224,270</sup> Therefore, the measures of the chronic pain disease burden on the health care system should be interpreted with caution. Finally, subjective data describing important factors impacting health care utilization, such as self-reports of pain severity/interference,<sup>181</sup> were not captured by the administrative data sources.

The health care utilization rates reported in this study should not be generalized to the Canadian population due to potential differences in regional practice and remuneration patterns.<sup>197,267</sup> The comorbid condition presence and health care utilization estimates provided are representative for the NL population up to the 2009/10 fiscal year. Given that patterns of disease may have shifted in the last decade, the present study provides a baseline against which to compare future estimations using the presented methodology. While assessing the strength of association between NL health administrative data-derived variables and the presence of chronic pain as determined by

the Chronic Pain Algorithm was considered an appropriate use of the Algorithm, its performance on selection accuracy testing precludes its utility in assessing causation with chronic pain as the exposure or outcome. It is recommended the Chronic Pain Algorithm undergo validation in target population health administrative data prior to its utilization in non-NL jurisdictions.<sup>66</sup> However, similarity in the structure of health service delivery and physician claims/hospital discharge datasets across Canadian jurisdictions increases the generalizability of the chronic pain/chronic disease case ascertainment and health care utilization quantification methods presented in this study.<sup>200,281</sup>

## 4.5 Conclusions

The present study provides, for the first time in NL, estimates of comorbid condition prevalence and publicly funded health care utilization of people identified as having chronic pain from health administrative data. There was a modest to strong association, approximately 2-4 times the odds, between having chronic pain and having one or more chronic comorbid conditions. Being identified as having chronic pain was modestly associated with having more annual physician visits (nearly 8 family physician visits and 7 specialist visits) and a higher likelihood of expensive diagnostic imaging scans (17%) and hospital admissions (23%), up to twice that of people not identified as having chronic pain when controlling for measured confounders. However, about 84% of physician and 88% of hospital care of Chronic Pain Group members was for conditions not related to pain; a further indication of the complexities to address when managing a chronic pain condition. Deeper examination of the patient-level, practitioner-level, and

system-level factors driving higher health care utilization by NL residents may foster more effective personalized care of individuals with chronic conditions, including pain.

#### 4.6 Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the 2013 B.E. Schnurr Memorial Fund Research Grant and administered by the Physiotherapy Foundation of Canada awarded to Heather E. Foley. This research was also supported by the Eastern Health Research Grant administered by the Health Care Foundation of the Eastern Regional Health Authority awarded to Heather E. Foley and Dr. Jason McCarthy. The study sponsors were not involved in any stage of the study from initial design to publication.

Dr. James Flynn and Elsie Thistle are acknowledged for serving as clinical advisors in chronic pain management and in pain-related diagnostic and procedure code selection. Dr. Jason McCarthy is acknowledged for assistance in grant applications.

#### 4.7 Co-authorship Statement

Author Contributions: All authors read and approved the submitted version of Chapter 4. All authors agreed to be personally responsible for their own contribution and ensure that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work, even ones in which the author was not personally involved, are appropriately investigated, resolved, and the resolution documented in the literature. Heather E. Foley drafted the work and substantively revised it, and made substantial contributions towards the study design, data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation. Dr. John C. Knight substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards study design, data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation. Dr. Michelle Ploughman substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards study conception and design and data acquisition and interpretation. Dr. Shabnam Asghari substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards study design, and data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation. Dr. Rick Audas substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions to the study design, and data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation.

## **Chapter 5 Summary**

## 5.1 Thesis Overview

Epidemiologic and health care utilization estimates associated with chronic pain in Canada were reported from national/regional survey data and/or provincial administrative data.<sup>18,23,35,43,45,46,49,54-57,169,178,222</sup> However, such estimates varied widely, utilized inconsistent chronic pain case definitions and data collection/linkage methods, and often excluded smaller jurisdictions such as Newfoundland and Labrador (NL).<sup>45,46,47,49,54,57,178</sup> To fill this knowledge gap, this study aimed to apply standardized methodology to compile detailed estimates on the chronic pain condition in the NL context, which can be used to inform health service provision policy for people with chronic pain. Most published estimates on the disease burden of chronic pain globally and in Canada utilized cross-sectional and/or longitudinal surveys as a data source to identify cases of chronic pain and estimate disease epidemiology and costs.<sup>26,39,57,169</sup> The Canadian Community Health Survey and the National Population Health Survey administered by Statistics Canada regularly collect data that is used to estimate the prevalence and quality of life impact of chronic pain in Canada, but the sample drawn from NL was too small to stratify estimates and provide meaningful statistics.<sup>187,214</sup> Using survey methodology with a longitudinal cohort study design to obtain incidence and prevalence estimates of chronic pain in NL was considered cost prohibitive with respect to funding, time, and human resources.65

This study sought to achieve its aim by using health administrative data as its data source, which contains regularly collected demographic and health care information on

nearly all NL residents eligible for the Medical Care Plan (MCP). Current guidelines recommend using an algorithm validated for the target NL jurisdiction to ascertain chronic pain cases from health administrative data and obtain disease-specific information.<sup>66</sup> While there are reports of health administrative data algorithms being developed and validated for specific chronic pain conditions, there are none for chronic pain as a single chronic disease to the best of knowledge.<sup>70</sup> Three steps were utilized in this thesis to compile statistics on chronic pain in NL using health administrative data as a data source.

The first step (Chapter 2) was to determine whether NL health administrative data would provide valid information on cases of chronic pain. The study did this by: (1) deriving a case definition that could identify cases of chronic pain as a single chronic disease from NL health administrative data; and (2) validating the case definition against an audit of the primary health electronic medical record data of a NL patient cohort. The second step (Chapter 3) was to utilize the most performant chronic pain algorithm from step one to ascertain cases of chronic pain from residents attending encounters with feefor-service physicians for pain-related conditions in NL and describe incidence and prevalence of chronic pain. The most performant algorithm was defined as: 1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related provincial MCP procedure billing code (Chapter 7, Section 7.4, Appendix 4) in the MCP Claims File, OR 2) five or more encounter dates with any physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code (Chapter 7, Section 7.3, Appendix 3) in a five-year period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related encounter dates in the MCP Claims File. The study determined: (1) annual prevalence of chronic pain (as defined by the most performant

chronic pain algorithm) in NL from 2006/07 to 2009/10 fiscal years; (2) annual incidence rates of chronic pain (as defined by the most performant chronic pain algorithm) in NL from 2006/07 to 2009/10 fiscal years; and (3) demographic and geographic distribution of chronic pain (as defined by the most performant chronic pain algorithm) in NL stratified by sex, age group, health authority region of residence, and rural/urban residential location. The third step (Chapter 4) was to determine the association of chronic pain (as defined by the most performant algorithm) with other comorbid conditions and publicly funded health care utilization in NL. The study did this by: (1) characterizing and comparing comorbid condition prevalence in NL provincial cohort members identified as having chronic pain (as defined by the most performant chronic pain algorithm) to NL provincial cohort members not identified as having chronic pain; and (2) characterizing and comparing the 2009/10 fiscal year health care utilization of NL provincial cohort members identified as having chronic pain (as defined by the most performant chronic pain; and (2) characterizing and comparing the 2009/10 fiscal year health care utilization of NL provincial cohort members identified as having chronic pain (as defined by the most performant chronic pain; and (2) characterizing and comparing the 2009/10 fiscal year health care utilization of NL provincial cohort members identified as having chronic pain (as defined by the most performant chronic pain; and (2) characterizing and comparing the 2009/10 fiscal year health care utilization of NL provincial cohort members identified as having chronic pain (as defined by the most performant chronic pain algorithm) to NL provincial cohort members not identified as having chronic pain.

## **5.2 Summary of Findings**

The following sections summarize and discuss the key findings of each thesis chapter.

## 5.2.1 Chapter 2 Key Findings

Chapter 2 aimed to determine if Canadian health administrative data would provide valid information on cases of chronic pain as a discrete chronic disease. The aim was achieved via algorithm derivation using administrative data of known chronic pain cases,

and validation against an electronic medical records data audit of a primary health care patient population. There were three key findings. First, the most performant algorithm was chosen based on its utility for chronic pain case ascertainment from NL health administrative data. The Chronic Pain Algorithm was defined as: (1) a single encounter date with an anesthesiologist recording a chronic pain-related provincial MCP procedure billing code in the MCP Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims File; OR (2) five or more encounter dates with any physician recording any pain-related diagnostic code in a fiveyear period with more than 183 days separating at least two pain-related encounter dates in the MCP Fee-for-Service Physicians Claims File. Second, the Chronic Pain Algorithm identified a high number of false positive and false negative cases impacting its performance on validation tests for selection accuracy, especially positive predictive value, likelihood ratio positive and negative, and area under the Receiving Operator Characteristic curve. It was thus indicated that caution be exercised in assigning an individual a diagnosis of having/not having chronic pain based on Chronic Pain Algorithm selection status, which precluded Algorithm utilization for assessment of causation, adverse events, and intervention effectiveness. Since disease measurement was based on physician encounters, lower performance on selection accuracy measures, especially positive predictive value, does not necessarily indicate uneven distribution of chronic pain cases across geographic and demographic strata. The Chronic Pain Algorithm has significant value in assessing the basic characteristics of chronic pain distribution provincially and regionally in NL, and making comparisons of captured health administrative data variables across groups in NL. As a result, the third key finding was that a credible reflection of geographic and demographic variation in chronic pain

distribution among NL residents could be obtained by ascertaining cases from MCP Feefor-Service Physicians Claims Data using the Chronic Pain Algorithm. This was evidenced by the Chronic Pain Algorithm identifying 37.6% of a NL provincial cohort that was comparable to the 36% Atlantic Canada chronic pain prevalence previously reported by a national survey, even though apparent bias toward case over-ascertainment occurred in the Reference Standard Cohort. When interpreting NL strata-specific estimates for age and health authority region of residence obtained by the Chronic Pain Algorithm, an important caveat to consider is the demographic skew of the Reference Standard Cohort towards older age groups and the Eastern Regional Health Authority residential locations compared to the NL general population (as demonstrated in Fig. 2.2.). This potentially exposed the Chronic Pain Algorithm to differential misclassification bias (which was quantified in age group strata but may also have impacted Regional Health Authority strata) during validation and suggests caution be exercised in interpreting Algorithm-obtained age and regional health authority strataspecific estimates, particularly in children/young adults and older persons.

There were three main conclusions elicited from Chapter 2. First, the discord among clinicians and researchers regarding diagnostic criteria for chronic pain in the absence of an objective diagnostic test made, and continues to make, for an uncertain reference standard to confirm chronic pain presence. This discord is also evident in surveys (as demonstrated by the presence of multiple definitions and methods used to measure chronic pain presence)<sup>37,39,42,43,46,51,62,64,221</sup> and medical records (as demonstrated by audits exposing low adherence to documenting use of standardized criteria when diagnosing certain chronic pain conditions).<sup>232</sup> Given that low agreement between health

administrative data and medical record or survey data was previously demonstrated for pain-related conditions, <sup>197,209,208,232,236</sup> low Kappa agreement between the Chronic Pain Algorithm and the Reference Standard as applied to the CPCSSN data was not unexpected. However, a low Kappa agreement does not necessarily indicate uneven distribution of chronic pain cases across geographic and demographic strata nor preclude the utilization of the Chronic Pain Algorithm in assessing this distribution in NL. Second, the limitations in the scope and structure of the NL health administrative data may have contributed to the limitations in the Chronic Pain Algorithm utility due to non-capture of other sources of care sought by people with chronic pain (i.e. visits to emergency rooms, pharmacies, non-fee-for-service physicians, and allied health practitioners).<sup>18</sup> Third, despite its limitations, the Chronic Pain Algorithm could be considered an efficient means to begin answering questions posed by policy makers in Canada and NL regarding disease distribution and health care utilization of people with chronic pain. When comparing this study's findings to the literature, the third conclusion is supported by: 1) the Chronic Pain Algorithm validation performance on measures of sensitivity and specificity was comparable to that reported for other health administrative data algorithms for specific chronic pain conditions such as neck/back disorders, arthritis, fibromyalgia, and painful neuropathy<sup>206,208,248</sup> (although it did not perform as well on validation tests as administrative data algorithms for diseases with an objective diagnostic gold standard such as diabetes, <sup>212,213</sup> multiple sclerosis, <sup>67</sup> and rheumatoid arthritis<sup>205</sup>), 2) disagreement between medical record/survey data and administrative data (including validation of case definitions for chronic pain-related conditions) was previously documented, <sup>197,209</sup> and 3) the Chronic Pain Algorithm identified 37.6% of a NL provincial cohort, which was within

the range previously reported for various Canadian regions (6.5-44%) that included the 36% chronic pain prevalence reported for Atlantic Canada.<sup>37,53-56</sup>

## 5.2.2 Chapter 3 Key Findings

Chapter 3 aimed to describe incidence and prevalence of chronic pain as defined by the Chronic Pain Algorithm in NL. The Chronic Pain Algorithm was applied to the feefor-service physicians claims data of a provincial cohort to identify cases and estimate annual chronic pain prevalence and incidence rate for the 2006/07 to 2009/10 fiscal years. Demographic variation in chronic pain incidence rate and prevalence (as defined by the Chronic Pain Algorithm) according to sex and age group was estimated for the 2006/07 to 2009/10 fiscal years, and geographic variation in chronic pain prevalence (as defined by the Chronic Pain Algorithm) according to health authority region of residence and rural/urban residential location was estimated for the 2009/10 fiscal year.

There were four key findings. First, annual incidence rates of chronic pain as defined by the Chronic Pain Algorithm were relatively stable but the prevalence steadily increased over the four fiscal years. The 2009/10 age-standardized prevalence was estimated at 37,469 (95% confidence interval (CI): 37,347-37,591) per 100,000 population and incidence rate was estimated at 4,585 (95% CI: 4,510-4,661) per 100,000 person-years at risk. Second, prevalence and incidence rates were higher for females than males in all four fiscal years for all age groups (except the 0-14 age group). The 2009/10 age-standardized chronic pain prevalence per 100,000 population was estimated at 43,278 (95% CI: 43,108-43,448) for females versus 31,418 (95% CI: 31,248-31,588) for males, and incidence rate per 100,000 person-years at risk was estimated at 5,491 (95% CI:

5,370-5,612) for females versus 3,846 (95% CI: 3,751-3,942) for males. Third, chronic pain prevalence and incidence rates in NL increased as age increased, peaking in those 80 years and older (for whom the 2009/10 prevalence was estimated at 63,274 (95% CI: 62,565-63,984) per 100,000 population and incidence rate was estimated at 7,921 (95% CI: 7,291-8,550) per 100,000 person-years at risk). Fourth, the 2009/10 chronic pain prevalence was highest in the Eastern Regional Health Authority and urban locations. The 2009/10 age- and sex-standardized prevalence per 100,000 population was estimated at 42,371 (95% CI: 42,213-42,529) for the Eastern Regional Health Authority, 33,827 (95% CI: 33,524-34,131) for the Western Regional Health Authority, and 10,224 (95% CI: 9,906-10,541) for the Labrador-Grenfell Regional Health Authority. The 2009/10 crude prevalence per 100,000 population was estimated at 42,281 (95% CI: 42,097-42,464) for urban locations versus 35,953 (95% CI: 35,756-36,136) for rural locations.

There were three main conclusions from Chapter 3. First, nearly four out of ten NL residents in 2009/10 were identified as having chronic pain as defined by the Chronic Pain Algorithm making chronic pain more prevalent than other chronic diseases. The Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System uses similar methodology to that used in this study (applying validated algorithms to provincial/territorial fee-for-service claims files and provincial discharge abstract data) and reported that 3 out of 10 people in NL had hypertension, over 8 out of 100 people in NL had ischemic heart disease, and just over 8 out of 100 people in NL had diabetes in the 2009/10 fiscal year.<sup>265</sup> Second, the chronic pain incidence/prevalence and their demographic/geographic variations estimated in Chapter 3 compared with that reported in Canada and globally, and furthered the

argument that this methodology was an efficient means to obtain population-based estimates on chronic pain distribution in NL. The second conclusion was supported by: 1) the 38% annual prevalence estimated in this study being within the 2-54% annual prevalence reported globally<sup>38-41</sup> and 6.5-44% prevalence reported in Canada,<sup>37,43-49,53-56</sup> 2) the 4% annual incidence estimated in this study being within the 1.8-11.1% chronic pain annual incidence reported globally and in Canada, <sup>52,57,62,63</sup> 3) the higher annual incidence and prevalence estimated in females versus males in this study coinciding with the higher chronic pain annual incidence and prevalence in females versus males reported globally and in Canada,<sup>42,45-48,52,57-59,62-64,184</sup> and 4) the increasing annual incidence and prevalence with increased age estimated in this study coinciding with the increasing chronic pain annual incidence and prevalence with increased age reported globally and in Canada.<sup>39,45,57-59,61,190</sup> However, with respect to geographic variation, this study estimated higher annual prevalence in urban areas, which coincided with the higher urban chronic pain annual prevalence reported globally<sup>62</sup> but differed from the rural/urban variation reported in Canada (either no difference<sup>57</sup> in rural/urban or higher rural<sup>56</sup> chronic pain prevalence). Third, there was possible underestimation of chronic pain rates in NL residents under 34 years (due to the differential age-related misclassification bias of the Chronic Pain Algorithm discussed in Chapter 2 where algorithm sensitivity was 0.250-0.576 for these age groups) and in residents of rural regions and the Labrador-Grenfell Health Authority region (due to non-capture of encounters with physicians remunerated through salary and alternate payment plans), which is an important consideration when examining service access for these subpopulations.

#### 5.2.3 Chapter 4 Key Findings

Chapter 4 aimed to determine the strength of association of chronic pain (as defined by the Chronic Pain Algorithm) with the presence of other comorbid chronic conditions and the utilization of publicly funded health services. The Chronic Pain Algorithm was applied to the fee-for-service physician claims data of a NL population cohort to create population-based Chronic Pain and No Chronic Pain comparator groups. The prevalence of 16 comorbid conditions as defined by the Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System case definitions was determined for both comparator groups; their strength of association with the presence of chronic pain was estimated. The utilization of fee-forservice physician services and hospital-based services was quantified in both comparator groups; their strength of association with the presence of chronic pain was estimated.

There were three key findings. First, after controlling for potential confounding variables, there was a modest association between the presence of chronic pain (as defined by the Chronic Pain Algorithm) and the utilization of fee-for-service physician services (adjusted relative risk ratio of 1.63 (95% CI: 1.62-1.65)) and hospital services (adjusted relative risk ratio of 1.50 (95% CI: 1.47-1.52)). Second, after controlling for potential confounding variables, there was a modest to strong association between the presence of chronic pain (as defined by the Chronic Pain Algorithm) and the presence of chronic pain (as defined by the Chronic Pain Algorithm) and the presence of chronic pain (as defined by the Chronic Pain Algorithm) and the presence of chronic comorbid conditions (as defined by the Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System case definitions) (odds ratio ranging from 1.40 (95% CI: 1.36-1.43) to 4.27 (95% CI: 3.55-5.14)). The association was also strong between the presence of chronic pain and the presence of multi-morbidity (odds ratio of 4.25 (95% CI: 4.16-4.34) to have three or

more comorbid conditions). Third, additional data analysis exposed the clinically unexpected finding that physician visits and hospital admissions for pain-related conditions formed a small percentage of the total measured utilization, even for the Chronic Pain Group (where 15.6% of the physician claims and 12.1% of the hospital admissions were for pain-related conditions according to documented diagnoses).

There were two main conclusions taken from Chapter 4. First, the strong association between the presence of chronic pain (as defined by the Chronic Pain Algorithm) and multi-morbidity combined with the high percentage of health services used for non-pain-related versus pain-related conditions, even in the Chronic Pain Group, supports the implementation of concurrent management of pain with chronic disease. Previous studies described higher comorbidity index scores,<sup>175,274,275</sup> higher chronic comorbid disease prevalence, <sup>168,276,277</sup> and higher multi-morbidity odds<sup>178</sup> in people with chronic pain, and similarly recommended an increased focus on effective pain management to improve clinical outcomes and mitigate the negative effects on quality of life.<sup>111,168,171,279</sup> Second, the narrow scope of available NL health administrative data limited quantification of health care utilization to fee-for-service physician services and hospital-delivered services. To illustrate, other studies reported that people with chronic pain had excessively higher rates of emergency department visits, medication use, and allied/complementary health practitioner encounters in addition to higher rates of physician encounters and hospital admissions.<sup>26,41,169,172,180,182,290</sup> The exclusion of emergency department, pharmaceutical, salaried physician, allied health, and complementary health services data represents a significant underestimation of direct health care utilization by people with chronic pain in NL.

#### 5.3 General Discussion of Findings

The findings of this thesis provide previously undetermined epidemiologic and health care utilization information related to chronic pain in NL, which can inform health service changes currently being considered at a policy and clinical level. This thesis also adds to the scarce body of knowledge around utilizing health administrative data to extract information about chronic pain.

# 5.3.1 Utilizing Newly Extracted Data to Inform Change in Chronic Pain Care in Newfoundland and Labrador

The Department of Health and Community Services struck the Provincial Pain Management Advisory Council in 2019 to review best practices in chronic pain management, identify available current services in the four regional health authorities, and recommend/implement strategies for coordinated services to improve care.<sup>35</sup> This thesis provides valuable data associated with chronic pain regarding the demographic and geographic variation in disease distribution, the strength of association with other prevalent chronic comorbid conditions, and the pattern of publicly funded health service use in NL. It is important to note that the information presented in this thesis was based on data from encounters/admissions up to and including March 31, 2010. While some positive changes in recent years have occurred in health promotion and wellness initiatives,<sup>304</sup> mental health service access,<sup>304</sup> and anesthesiologist-delivered intervention pain treatment access (personal communication), there remains three main foci for change that can benefit from this data, namely prevention, service access, and clinical care of chronic pain.

Given the heavy cost of chronic pain for individuals, families, communities, the economy, and the health care system, prevention emerges as a key mitigation strategy. The estimates provided in this thesis highlight several subpopulations on which to focus for chronic pain prevention strategies. However, the chronic pain incidence and prevalence in youth/young adults aged 15-24 years reported in Chapter 3 stood out as an important observation in the context of prevention. There was a significant increase in chronic pain incidence and prevalence between children aged 0-14 years and youth/young adults aged 15-24 years, particularly in females, in all four observed fiscal years. High national and provincial rates of obesity,<sup>305</sup> sedentary lifestyles,<sup>306</sup> mood and anxiety disorders,<sup>307</sup> child poverty,<sup>308</sup> and children in foster care<sup>309</sup> are important biopsychosocial factors that contribute to chronic pain development and maintenance. Adverse childhood events, such as abuse, assault, family/parental distress, and major injury/illness, are also considered risk factors for chronic pain development in childhood and adulthood.<sup>310,311</sup> Public health, mental health, and child welfare initiatives can address these "upstream" biopsychosocial influences, and include increased physical and mental health education programming, injury prevention, community-level access to physical activity participation, timely access to effective mental health care, and family/child income and welfare support.<sup>32</sup> Children and youth with chronic pain are more likely to develop mental health and chronic pain disorders as adults<sup>312-314</sup> making this subpopulation an important focus for prevention initiatives.

One of the main objectives for the Provincial Pain Management Advisory Council is to improve access for pain/chronic pain management services.<sup>35</sup> Demographic and geographic variation in chronic pain disease distribution observed in Chapter 3 can

inform recommendations regarding expansion of pain management services in NL, particularly in light of increasing NL chronic pain prevalence over time. Although the Eastern Health region was observed to have the highest chronic pain prevalence, one out of three people were identified as having chronic pain in the Western and Central Health regions respectively. At present, the only interdisciplinary chronic pain management program is located in the Eastern Health region (St. John's) presenting a significant geographic barrier to appropriate gold-standard pain service access for residents located in the Central, Western, and Labrador-Grenfell Health regions.<sup>34</sup> There is no dedicated pediatric pain service in NL (unpublished data) making for grossly inadequate access to effective pain management for the 6% of children aged 14 years and under and 22% of youth/young adults aged 15-24 years identified as having chronic pain in this study. Finally, NL residents in the 65 and older age groups were estimated to have the highest incidence and prevalence of chronic pain (8% and 63% respectively). There is no dedicated pain service for older persons in NL (unpublished data) often leaving the family doctor (to whom about one in five NL residents have reduced access)<sup>315</sup> overwhelmed as the sole provider of pain management in addition to chronic disease management services. There are clear gaps in timely, effective pain treatment services for identified NL geographic and demographic subpopulations.

Effective clinical management of pain/chronic pain is also important in preventing and mitigating the devastating long-term sequelae of chronic pain. The strength of association observed in Chapter 4 between chronic pain and both comorbid chronic conditions and publicly funded health care utilization provide important insights into the characteristics of NL residents in pain and the practice patterns of the NL fee-for-service

physicians treating them. NL has among the highest rates of chronic disease in Canada.<sup>189,316</sup> The negative impact of pain-related interference on activity levels and mental health suggests effective pain management is an important component of effective chronic disease management.<sup>109,113,296,297</sup> However, a very low proportion of physician and hospital services were recorded for pain-related conditions in the Chronic Pain Group. There are multiple plausible explanations for this finding, including frequent medical follow-up to monitor treatment effectiveness of multiple comorbid conditions, more advanced care required for deteriorating comorbid conditions, and only one allowable diagnostic code per claim where a non-pain-related code was entered even though a pain-related condition may have been assessed/treated during the encounter.<sup>208</sup> There was also the potential that concurrent pain management was not prioritized in the course of chronic disease management during physician/hospital encounters in NL. Inclusion of effective pain management as a recommendation in chronic disease clinical practice guidelines may engender positive clinical practice change, reduce patient suffering, and reduce subsequent reliance on acute and specialized health services.

## 5.3.2 Recommendations for Short-term Clinical Practice Change

The data presented in this thesis can inform short-term changes to clinical practice in NL in addition to the broad view long-term changes already presented. Chapter 3 provided evidence that chronic pain (as defined by the Chronic Pain Algorithm indicating frequent use of fee-for-service physician services for pain-related conditions) was highly prevalent in 2009/10 (particularly in female and in increasingly older residents), and that the prevalence was increasing annually. Chapter 4 provided evidence of modest to strong

association between chronic pain and other chronic diseases, and of modest association between chronic pain and health service use (particularly for non-pain-related conditions). The association between chronic pain and health service use was strongest for specialist assessments, hospital admissions, and specialized imaging tests (the more expensive publicly funded services).

There are four recommended changes to clinical practice in the short-term to help reduce the impact of chronic pain on NL residents and the health care system. First, more consistent adherence to clinical practice guidelines for managing painful conditions is recommended (these provide evidence-informed recommendations for pain medication prescriptions, diagnostic imaging requisitions, medical/surgical specialist referrals, and allied health/complementary medicine referrals).<sup>29,35</sup> Particularly pertinent guidelines include the Canadian Guidelines for Opioids for Non-cancer Pain<sup>29</sup> (NL had the highest opioid defined daily dose per 1,000 residents in 2019<sup>165</sup> with cited barriers to guideline implementation including resistance by patients and financial barriers to/low availability of non-pharmacological pain treatment)<sup>317</sup> and Referral Guidelines for diagnostic imaging<sup>318</sup> (physicians practicing in the Eastern Health Region had a high level of ordered computed tomography imaging exams for low back pain in 2016<sup>319</sup> with cited barriers to guideline implementation including patient expectations and level of physician experience with respect to low back pain treatment).<sup>320</sup> Second, increased participation in professional development opportunities that increase competency in pain/chronic pain care is recommended.<sup>35</sup> Such professional development training could include the opioid prescribing course offered by the Atlantic Mentorship Network Pain and Addiction group<sup>321</sup> or Cognitive Behavioral Therapy training similar to that previously offered by

the Office of Professional and Educational Development, Faculty of Medicine, Memorial University.<sup>322</sup> Third, increased utilization of eConsultation<sup>323</sup> services by primary care providers is recommended. This is a relatively new service offered to physicians and lack of awareness may be a barrier to maximizing its uptake. The service is also currently undergoing changes to its access platform and is not taking new users at the present time. Once new users are again accepted onto its access platform, the Government of NL and the NL Medical Association should undertake a media campaign to promote its availability and benefits. Finally, increased utilization of virtual care platforms<sup>35</sup> by NL pain specialists is recommended. NL health professional associations (such as the NL Medical Association, NL Physiotherapy Association, and Association of Psychology NL), Memorial University (through the Faculty of Medicine, Faculty of Nursing, School of Pharmacy, School of Social Work, Faculty of Humanities and Social Science (Psychology), and School of Human Kinetics and Recreation), and the Department of Health and Community Services of the Government of NL can facilitate implementation of these recommendations by increasing professional education opportunities, increasing interprofessional collaboration opportunities, expanding eConsultation opportunities to front-line primary health, allied health, and complementary health care professionals, and expanding remote patient access to medical pain specialists and interdisciplinary pain management teams via virtual care.

# 5.3.3 Newfoundland and Labrador Health Administrative Data as a Data Source on Chronic Pain

The main objective of this thesis was to obtain important information on chronic pain using health administrative data to inform health policy and clinical practice with the underlying goal to reduce the overall negative impact of chronic pain on NL residents. Health administrative data was considered a population-based, continuously collected, convenient, easily accessible, and economical data source compared to other data sources, such as survey data<sup>66,67</sup>; its use in the NL context was not without its challenges. First, each administrative dataset utilized in this study (MCP Fee-for-Service Physician Claims File, Provincial Discharge Abstract Data, Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network-Newfoundland and Labrador data, Newfoundland and Labrador Prescription Drug Plan data, and Eastern Regional Health Authority data) had a different data custodian despite most (exceptions include the Newfoundland and Labrador Prescription Drug Plan data and the Eastern Regional Health Authority data) being maintained at the Newfoundland and Labrador Centre for Health Information. Permission to use each data source was required from each data custodian (the Department of Health and Community Services of the Newfoundland and Labrador Government, the Newfoundland and Labrador Centre for Health Information, the Atlantic Practice Based Research Network of the Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network, and the Eastern Regional Health Authority) following ethics approval by the Health Research Ethics Board of the Health Research Ethics Authority. Second, once approval to use the requested data sources was granted from the data custodians, approval from the Newfoundland and

Labrador Centre for Health Information was required to use their resources to build the requested datasets and to ensure security protocols were in place to protect the security of the released datasets. The datasets were not built and released until all approvals were obtained and the process took three years (2012-2015) in total. The data was five years old and considered outdated before it was received for analysis. A recent publication provides valuable strategies to more efficiently navigate this process,<sup>324</sup> but the process is still complex and prolonged. While health administrative data has advantages over other methods of health data collection in some respects, it involves navigating complex privacy-confidentiality issues and complicated data linkage and management that precludes its ability to provide timely information for disease surveillance and health policy considerations in NL at this time.

The unavailability of data for this study regarding visits to pharmacies (medication data), physicians remunerated through alternate payment plans, allied health professionals, emergency rooms, and WorkplaceNL-remunerated health professionals was an important limitation of NL health administrative data in the context of extracting information on chronic pain. Data is now available (since 2015 that is beyond this study's data period) on all prescriptions filled in NL pharmacies through the Pharmacy Network (maintained at the Newfoundland and Labrador Centre for Health Information),<sup>324</sup> but NL health administrative datasets are still deficient on other health service data. Other provincial jurisdictions are not as reliant as NL on medical services provided by physicians remunerated by salary and/or alternate payment plans, and they collect and maintain data from salaried physicians through "shadow-bill claims".<sup>270</sup> Several other

room and publicly funded ambulatory allied health care visits through the National Ambulatory Care Reporting System.<sup>325</sup> The NL regional health authorities maintain information on emergency room visits, which is not submitted to the National Ambulatory Care Reporting System, is not standardized, and has reduced data quality for the purposes of research (particularly the medical diagnosis data) (personal communication). WorkplaceNL maintains administrative data on all costs associated with the management of each workplace injury claim, including those incurred through physician visits, diagnostic imaging exams, and allied health professional visits, but these are used for internal evaluation of expenses/liabilities.<sup>326</sup> Other provincial and global jurisdictions maintain information via centralized data repositories on welfare, employment, and disability status, which are important variables to consider in the context of chronic pain.<sup>41,327</sup> Access to such data could possibly enable development of an improved chronic pain algorithm with respect to selection accuracy, and construction of a more complete portrait of chronic pain in society from a social determinants of health perspective.

Considering the limitations to the NL health administrative data comprehensiveness and the procedural barriers to its timely access, four main recommendations are provided to maximize the potential of this valuable data resource. First, to streamline the request process for secondary use of administrative data, it is recommended all NL health administrative datasets be maintained under a single organization (the Newfoundland and Labrador Centre for Health Information) that is authorized to grant all permissions for NL health data access thus creating a single data request entry point. Second, to enhance timeliness of extraction of meaningful information from administrative data, it is

recommended a process be developed for fast-tracked updating of previously approved/constructed datasets by the Newfoundland and Labrador Centre for Health Information. Third, to broaden the scope of available health data, it is recommended the four NL regional health authorities regularly contribute data collected from emergency room and publicly funded ambulatory allied health care visits to the National Ambulatory Care Reporting System. It is also recommended a process be developed to track services provided by physicians remunerated through salary or alternate payment plans, such as through "shadow billing" or province-wide electronic medical record entries. And finally, it is recommended the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador consider expanding data assets held at the Newfoundland and Labrador Centre for Health Information to include information on social determinants of health, such as that collected by the Departments of Education, Justice and Public Safety, and Advanced Education, Skills, and Labour.

## 5.3.4 Recommendations for Future Research

As discussed in Chapter 2, the focus of future research in extracting information on chronic pain from health administrative data lies in further algorithm development and validation. This thesis describes the first known attempt to use standardized methodology to derive an algorithm that ascertains cases of chronic pain as a discrete chronic condition from health administrative data. While the Chronic Pain Algorithm performed moderately well on validation tests for ascertainment, its performance on selection accuracy precluded its use for case selection to assess causation, treatment effectiveness, and adverse events. Similar to clinical diagnostic tests, a single validation study in one

jurisdiction is not sufficient to judge the validity and reliability of a health administrative data algorithm.<sup>70</sup> Future research is recommended to: 1) modify and validate the Chronic Pain Algorithm by utilizing other appropriate administrative datasets, such as the NL Pharmacy Network data, 2) modify and validate the Chronic Pain Algorithm that incorporates flexible algorithms based on age- and/or condition-specific health service use/codes to reduce strata-specific misclassification bias, 3) utilize a validation cohort that more closely resembles the target population with respect to demographics to reduce strata-specific misclassification bias, 4) compare the Chronic Pain Algorithm case selection utility to that of the Canadian Community Health Survey (NL data), 5) explore the potential of creating a reference standard for chronic pain from the raw electronic medical record data generated and maintained in the Med Access electronic medical records solution now being implemented in primary care province-wide, and 6) modify and validate the Chronic Pain Algorithm in other Canadian jurisdictions utilizing available provincial-level health administrative data sources. Creating a chronic pain algorithm with strong performance on validation tests for ascertainment and selection accuracy that is generalizable across jurisdictions can unlock the considerable potential of Canadian health administrative data as a valuable and efficient source of information. A chronic pain algorithm with a high degree of selection accuracy can facilitate research into the epidemiology, health care utilization, treatment effectiveness/harms, causation (assessing the presence of chronic pain as either an exposure or outcome), and long-term health outcomes associated with chronic pain.

## 5.4 Concluding Remarks

In the context of research, this thesis was the first, to the best of our knowledge, to use a standardized methodology to create, validate, and report an algorithm that identified cases of chronic pain as "a single disease entity",<sup>150</sup> a complex and multi-faceted chronic condition, in health administrative data. The methodology and results described added to a significantly understudied area of chronic pain research as recently iterated in a systematic review.<sup>70</sup> Recommendations to the research community moving forward include the scientific advancement of the methodology described here to increase the validity, reliability, and generalizability of chronic pain case ascertainment from health administrative data. This, in turn, advances the utility of the information obtained and examined by researchers, clinicians, and health policy makers.<sup>66</sup>

In the context of public health and health care delivery, this thesis significantly adds to the body of knowledge regarding chronic pain epidemiology (particularly in the context of NL) and publicly funded health resource utilization. Additional information in the NL context was also provided regarding the strong association between chronic pain and chronic comorbid conditions previously described in other jurisdictions. The recommendation moving forward is to translate this data into tangible positive changes in the prevention and treatment of chronic pain in NL and Canada.

## 5.5 Co-authorship Statement

Heather E. Foley drafted Chapter 5 and made substantial contributions to its content and revision. Dr. Rick Audas contributed to revision of Chapter 5. Dr. Michelle Ploughman contributed to revision of Chapter 5. Dr. John C. Knight contributed to revision of Chapter 5. Dr. Shabnam Asghari contributed to revision of Chapter 5.

## **Chapter 6 Bibliography and References**

- Bonica JJ. History of pain concepts and pain therapy. *Mt Sinai J Med.* 1991;58(3):191-202.
- Chen J. History of pain theories. *Neurosci Bull.* 2011;27(5):343-350. doi:10.1007/s12264-011-0139-0.
- Gatchel RJ, McGeary DD, McGeary CA, Lippe B. Interdisciplinary chronic pain management: past, present, and future. *Am Psychol.* 2014;69(2):119-130. doi:10.1037/a0035514.
- Gatchel RJ, Turk DC. *Psychosocial factors in pain: Critical perspectives*. 1st ed. New York: The Guildford Press; 1999.
- Chapman CR, Tuckett RP, Song CW. Pain and stress in a systems perspective: reciprocal neural, endocrine, and immune interactions. *J Pain*. 2008;9(2):122-145. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2007.09.006.
- Chapman CR, Vierck CJ. The transition of acute postoperative pain to chronic pain: An integrative overview of research on mechanisms. *J Pain*. 2017;18(4):359.e351-359.e338. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2016.11.004.
- 7. Vallejo R, Bradley K, Kapural L. Spinal cord stimulation in chronic pain: Mode of action. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)*. 2017;42 Suppl 14:S53-s60. doi:10.1097/BRS.00000000002179.
- Davis KD, Bushnell MC, Iannetti GD, St Lawrence K, Coghill R. Evidence against pain specificity in the dorsal posterior insula. *F1000Res*. 2015;4:362. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.6833.1.

- Iannetti GD, Mouraux A. From the neuromatrix to the pain matrix (and back). *Exp* Brain Res. 2010;205(1):1-12. doi: 10.1007/s00221-010-2340-1.
- Melzack R. From the gate to the neuromatrix. *Pain*. 1999;Suppl 6:S121-126. doi: 10.1016/s0304-3959(99)00145-1.
- Merskey H, Bogduk N. Introduction. In: *Classification of Chronic Pain*. 2nd ed. Seattle, WA: IASP Press; 1994:1-8.
- LeFort SM, Gray-Donald K, Rowat KM, Jeans ME. Randomized controlled trial of a community-based psychoeducation program for the self-management of chronic pain. *Pain.* 1998;74(2-3):297-306. doi: 10.1016/s0304-3959(97)00190-5.
- Treede RD, Rief W, Barke A, et al. A classification of chronic pain for ICD-11.
   *Pain*. 2015;156(6):1003-1007. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000000160.
- Treede RD. The International Association for the Study of Pain definition of pain: as valid in 2018 as in 1979, but in need of regularly updated footnotes. Pain Rep. 2018;3(2):e643. doi: 10.1097/PR9.00000000000643.
- Raja S, Carr D, Cohen M, et al. The revised International Association for the Study of Pain definition of pain: concepts, challenges, and compromises. Pain. 2020;161(9):1976-1982. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.000000000001939.
- Wilkie R, Tajar A, McBeth J. The onset of widespread musculoskeletal pain is associated with a decrease in healthy ageing in older people: a population-based prospective study. *PloS one*. 2013;8(3):e59858. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0059858.

- Sturge-Jacobs M. The experience of living with fibromyalgia: confronting an invisible disability. *Res Theory Nurs Pract.* 2002;16(1):19-31. doi: 10.1891/rtnp.16.1.19.52994.
- Choiniere M, Dion D, Peng P, et al. The Canadian STOP-PAIN project Part 1: Who are the patients on the waitlists of multidisciplinary pain treatment facilities? *Can J Anaesth.* 2010;57(6):539-548. doi: 10.1007/s12630-010-9305-5.
- Demyttenaere K, Bruffaerts R, Lee S, et al. Mental disorders among persons with chronic back or neck pain: results from the World Mental Health Surveys. *Pain*. 2007;129(3):332-342. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2007.01.022.
- Gerrits MM, van Marwijk HW, van Oppen P, van der Horst H, Penninx BW. Longitudinal association between pain, and depression and anxiety over four years. *J Psychosom Res.* 2015;78(1):64-70. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2014.10.011.
- Hayaki C, Anno K, Shibata M, et al. Family dysfunction: A comparison of chronic widespread pain and chronic localized pain. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2016;95(49):e5495. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000005495.
- Lacey RJ, Belcher J, Rathod T, Wilkie R, Thomas E, McBeth J. Pain at multiple body sites and health-related quality of life in older adults: results from the North Staffordshire Osteoarthritis Project. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2014;53(11):2071-2079. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keu240.
- 23. Guerriere DN, Choiniere M, Dion D, et al. The Canadian STOP-PAIN project -Part 2: What is the cost of pain for patients on waitlists of multidisciplinary pain

treatment facilities? *Can J Anaesth*. 2010;57(6):549-558. doi: 10.1007/s12630-010-9306-4.

- Kronborg C, Handberg G, Axelsen F. Health care costs, work productivity and activity impairment in non-malignant chronic pain patients. *Eur J Health Econ*. 2009;10(1):5-13. doi: 10.1007/s10198-008-0096-3.
- White AG, Birnbaum HG, Mareva MN, Henckler AE, Grossman P, Mallett DA.
   Economic burden of illness for employees with painful conditions. *J Occup Environ Med.* 2005;47(9):884-892. doi: 10.1097/01.jom.0000172867.29041.eb.
- Gaskin DJ, Richard P. The economic costs of pain in the United States. *J Pain*.
   2012;13(8):715-724. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2012.03.009.
- 27. Deloitte Access Economics. The cost of pain in Australia.
   https://www2.deloitte.com/au/en/pages/economics/articles/cost-painaustralia.html. Published March, 2019. Accessed April 6, 2020.
- 28. Health Canada. Working together to better understand, prevent, and manage chronic pain: What we heard. A Report by the Canadian Pain Task Force, October 2020. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/corporate/about-healthcanada/public-engagement/external-advisory-bodies/canadian-pain-taskforce/report-2020.html. Published October 2020. Accessed December 22, 2020.
- 29. Busse JW, Craigie S, Juurlink DN, et al. Guideline for opioid therapy and chronic noncancer pain. *CMAJ*. 2017;189(18):E659-E666. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.170363.
- Turk DC, Wilson HD, Cahana A. Treatment of chronic non-cancer pain. *Lancet*.
   2011;377(9784):2226-2235. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60402-9.

- 31. van Middelkoop M, Rubinstein SM, Kuijpers T, et al. A systematic review on the effectiveness of physical and rehabilitation interventions for chronic non-specific low back pain. *Eur Spine J.* 2011;20(1):19-39. doi: 10.1007/s00586-010-1518-3.
- 32. IOM (Institute of Medicine). *Relieving Pain in America: A Blueprint for Transforming Prevention, Care, Education, and Research.* Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2011. https://www.nap.edu/catalog/13172/relieving-pain-in-america-a-blueprint-for-transforming-prevention-care. Accessed May 7, 2019.
- 33. Gatchel RJ, Okifuji A. Evidence-based scientific data documenting the treatment and cost-effectiveness of comprehensive pain programs for chronic nonmalignant pain. J Pain. 2006;7(11):779-793. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2006.08.005.
- Peng P, Choiniere M, Dion D, et al. Challenges in accessing multidisciplinary pain treatment facilities in Canada. *Can J Anaesth*. 2007;54(12):977-984. doi: 10.1007/BF03016631.
- 35. Health Canada. Chronic Pain in Canada: Laying a Foundation for Action. A Report by the Canadian Pain Task Force. https://www.canada.ca/en/healthcanada/corporate/about-health-canada/public-engagement/external-advisorybodies/canadian-pain-task-force/report-2019.html#intro. Published June 2019. Accessed October 4, 2019.
- Bouck Z, Pendrith C, Chen XK, et al. Measuring the frequency and variation of unnecessary care across Canada. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2019;19(1):446. doi: 10.1186/s12913-019-4277-9.

- Crook J, Rideout E, Browne G. The prevalence of pain complaints in a general population. *Pain*. 1984;18(3):299-314. doi: 10.1016/0304-3959(84)90824-8.
- van Hecke O, Torrance N, Smith BH. Chronic pain epidemiology and its clinical relevance. *Br J Anaesth.* 2013;111(1):13-18. doi: 10.1093/bja/aet123.
- 39. Breivik H, Collett B, Ventafridda V, Cohen R, Gallacher D. Survey of chronic pain in Europe: prevalence, impact on daily life, and treatment. *Eur J Pain*. 2006;10(4):287-333. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpain.2005.06.009.
- 40. Verhaak PF, Kerssens JJ, Dekker J, Sorbi MJ, Bensing JM. Prevalence of chronic benign pain disorder among adults: a review of the literature. *Pain*. 1998;77(3):231-239. doi: 10.1016/s0304-3959(98)00117-1.
- Gustavsson A, Bjorkman J, Ljungcrantz C, et al. Socio-economic burden of patients with a diagnosis related to chronic pain-register data of 840,000 Swedish patients. *Eur J Pain*. 2012;16(2):289-299. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpain.2011.07.006.
- 42. Tsang A, Von Korff M, Lee S, et al. Common chronic pain conditions in developed and developing countries: gender and age differences and comorbidity with depression-anxiety disorders. *J Pain*. 2008;9(10):883-891. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2008.05.005.
- 43. Moulin DE, Clark AJ, Speechley M, Morley-Forster PK. Chronic pain in Canadaprevalence, treatment, impact and the role of opioid analgesia. *Pain Res Manag.* 2002;7(4):179-184. doi: 10.1155/2002/323085.
- Rashiq S, Dick BD. Factors associated with chronic noncancer pain in the Canadian population. *Pain Res Manag.* 2009;14(6):454-460. doi: 10.1155/2009/919628.

- 45. Schopflocher D, Taenzer P, Jovey R. The prevalence of chronic pain in Canada.
   *Pain Res Manag.* 2011;16(6):445-450. doi: 10.1155/2011/876306.
- 46. Reitsma ML, Tranmer JE, Buchanan DM, Vandenkerkhof EG. The prevalence of chronic pain and pain-related interference in the Canadian population from 1994 to 2008. *Chronic Dis Inj Can.* 2011;31(4):157-164.
  https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/migration/phac-aspc/publicat/hpcdp-pspmc/31-4/assets/pdf/cdic-mcbc-31-4-ar-04-eng.pdf.
  Accessed October 17, 2017.
- 47. Boulanger A, Clark AJ, Squire P, Cui E, Horbay GLA. Chronic pain in Canada: Have we improved our management of chronic noncancer pain? *Pain Res Manag.* 2007;12(1):39-47. doi: 10.1155/2007/762180.
- 48. Millar WJ. Chronic pain. *Health reports*. 1996;7(4):47-53, 51-58.
- 49. Shupler MS, Kramer JK, Cragg JJ, Jutzeler CR, Whitehurst DGT. Pan-Canadian Estimates of Chronic Pain Prevalence From 2000 to 2014: A Repeated Cross-Sectional Survey Analysis. *J Pain.* 2019;20(5):557-565. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2018.10.010.
- Gureje O, Von Korff M, Simon GE, Gater R. Persistent pain and well-being: a World Health Organization Study in Primary Care. *JAMA*. 1998;280(2):147-151. doi: 10.1001/jama.280.2.147.
- 51. Samuelsen PJ, Svendsen K, Wilsgaard T, Stubhaug A, Nielsen CS, Eggen AE. Persistent analgesic use and the association with chronic pain and other risk factors in the population-a longitudinal study from the Tromso Study and the
Norwegian Prescription Database. *Euro J Clin Pharmacol*. 2016;72(8):977-985. doi: 10.1007/s00228-016-2056-7.

- 52. Elliott AM, Smith BH, Hannaford PC, Smith WC, Chambers WA. The course of chronic pain in the community: results of a 4-year follow-up study. *Pain*. 2002;99(1-2):299-307. doi: 10.1016/s0304-3959(02)00138-0.
- Birse TM, Lander J. Prevalence of chronic pain. *Can J Public Health*.
   1998;89(2):129-131. doi: 10.1007/BF03404405.
- 54. Tonelli M, Wiebe N, Fortin M, et al. Methods for identifying 30 chronic conditions: application to administrative data. *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak*. 2015;15:31. doi: 10.1186/s12911-015-0155-5.
- 55. Health Surveillance, Alberta Health. Chronic Pain in Alberta: A Portrait from the 1996 National Population Health Survey and the 2001 Canadian Community Health Survey. <u>http://www.health.alberta.ca/documents/Chronic-Pain-Survey-</u> 2003.pdf. Published May, 2003. Accessed March 11, 2014.
- 56. Tripp DA, VanDenKerkhof EG, McAlister M. Prevalence and determinants of pain and pain-related disability in urban and rural settings in southeastern Ontario. *Pain Res Man.* 2006;11(4):225-233. doi: 10.1155/2006/720895.
- 57. Reitsma ML, Tranmer JE, Buchanan DM, VanDenKerkhof EG. The epidemiology of chronic pain in Canadian men and women between 1994 and 2007: Results from the longitudinal component of the National Population Health Survey. *Pain Res Manag.* 2012;17(3):166-172. doi: 10.1155/2012/875924.

- King S, Chambers CT, Huguet A, et al. The epidemiology of chronic pain in children and adolescents revisited: a systematic review. *Pain*. 2011;152(12):2729-2738. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2011.07.016.
- 59. Stanford EA, Chambers CT, Biesanz JC, Chen E. The frequency, trajectories and predictors of adolescent recurrent pain: a population-based approach. *Pain*. 2008;138(1):11-21. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2007.10.032.
- 60. Thomas E, Mottram S, Peat G, Wilkie R, Croft P. The effect of age on the onset of pain interference in a general population of older adults: prospective findings from the North Staffordshire Osteoarthritis Project (NorStOP). *Pain.* 2007;129(1-2):21-27. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2006.09.027.
- 61. Patel KV, Guralnik JM, Dansie EJ, Turk DC. Prevalence and impact of pain among older adults in the United States: findings from the 2011 National Health and Aging Trends Study. *Pain.* 2013;154(12):2649-2657. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2013.07.029.
- 62. Nakamura M, Nishiwaki Y, Ushida T, Toyama Y. Prevalence and characteristics of chronic musculoskeletal pain in Japan: a second survey of people with or without chronic pain. *J Orthop Sci.* 2014;19(2):339-350. doi: 10.1007/s00776-013-0525-8.
- 63. Eriksen J, Ekholm O, Sjogren P, Rasmussen NK. Development of and recovery from long-term pain. A 6-year follow-up study of a cross-section of the adult Danish population. *Pain.* 2004;108(1-2):154-162. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2003.12.018.

- Blyth FM, March LM, Brnabic AJ, Jorm LR, Williamson M, Cousins MJ. Chronic pain in Australia: a prevalence study. *Pain*. 2001;89(2-3):127-134. doi: 10.1016/s0304-3959(00)00355-9.
- 65. Carauana EJ, Roman M, Hernandez-Sanchez J, Solli P. Longitudinal studies. *J Thorac Dis*.2015;7(11):E537-E540. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.10.63.
- Benchimol EI, Manuel DG, To T, Griffiths AM, Rabeneck L, Guttmann A.
  Development and use of reporting guidelines for assessing the quality of validation studies of health administrative data. *J Clin Epidemiol.* 2011;64(8):821-829. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.10.006.
- 67. Marrie RA, Yu N, Blanchard J, Leung S, Elliott L. The rising prevalence and changing age distribution of multiple sclerosis in Manitoba. *Neurology*. 2010;74(6):465-471. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181cf6ec0.
- Beaudet N, Courteau J, Sarret P, Vanasse A. Prevalence of claims-based recurrent low back pain in a Canadian population: a secondary analysis of an administrative database. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2013;14:151. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-14-151.
- 69. Kopec JA, Rahman MM, Berthelot JM, et al. Descriptive epidemiology of osteoarthritis in British Columbia, Canada. J Rheumatol. 2007;34(2):386-393. https://www.jrheum.org/content/jrheum/34/2/386.full.pdf. Accessed November 12, 2017.
- Lacasse A, Cauvier Charest E, Dault R, et al. Validity of Algorithms for Identification of Individuals Suffering from Chronic Noncancer Pain in

Administrative Databases: A Systematic Review. Pain Med. 2020;pnaa004. doi: 10.1093/pm/pnaa004.

- Power JD, Perruccio AV, Desmeules M, Lagace C, Badley EM. Ambulatory physician care for musculoskeletal disorders in Canada. J Rheumatol. 2006;33(1):133-139. https://www.jrheum.org/content/33/1/133. Accessed November 11, 2017.
- MacKay C, Canizares M, Davis AM, Badley EM. Health care utilization for musculoskeletal disorders. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2010;62(2):161-168. doi: 10.1002/acr.20064.
- Oxford Dictionary of English. 3rd ed. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press;
   2015.
- 74. Melzack R, Wall PD. Pain mechanisms: a new theory. *Science*. 1965;150(3699):971-979. doi: 10.1126/science.150.3699.971.
- 75. Melzack R. Pain: past, present and future. *Can J Exp Psychol.* 1993;47(4):615-629. doi: 10.1037/h0078871.
- Flor H, Turk D. *Chronic Pain: An Integrated Biobehavioural Approach*. 1st ed.Seattle, WA: IASP Press; 2012.
- 77. Marchand S. *The Phenomenon of Pain*. 1st ed. Seattle, Washington: IASP Press;2012.
- Melzack R. Phantom Limbs, the Self and the Brain (The D.O. Hebb Memorial Lecture). *Canadian Psychology*. 1989;30(1):1-16. doi: 10.1037/h0079793.

- Martucci KT, Mackey SC. Neuroimaging of Pain: Human Evidence and Clinical Relevance of Central Nervous System Processes and Modulation. *Anesthesiology*. 2018;128(6):1241-1254. doi: 10.1097/ALN.00000000002137.
- Cohen I, Lema MJ. What's New in Chronic Pain Pathophysiology. *Can J Pain*.
   2020. doi: 10.1080/24740527.2020.1752641.
- 81. Aydede M. Does the IASP definition of pain need updating? *Pain Rep.*2019;4(5):e777. doi: 10.1097/PR9.00000000000777.
- 82. Cohen M, Quintner J, van Rysewyk S. Reconsidering the International Association for the Study of Pain definition of pain. *Pain Rep.* 2018;3(2):e634. doi: 10.1097/PR9.00000000000634.
- Apkarian AV, Hashmi JA, Baliki MN. Pain and the brain: specificity and plasticity of the brain in clinical chronic pain. *Pain*. 2011;152 Suppl 3:S49-64. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2010.11.010.
- 84. Tracey I, Bushnell MC. How neuroimaging studies have challenged us to rethink: is chronic pain a disease? *J Pain.* 2009;10(11):1113-1120. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2009.09.001.
- Siddall PJ, Cousins MJ. Persistent pain as a disease entity: implications for clinical management. *Anesth Analg.* 2004;99(2):510-520, table of contents. doi: 10.1213/01.ANE.0000133383.17666.3A.
- 86. Treede RD, Rief W, Barke A, et al. Chronic pain as a symptom or a disease: the IASP Classification of Chronic Pain for the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11). *Pain.* 2019;160(1):19-27. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000001384.

- 87. Department of Health and Community Services. Chronic Disease. Government of Newfoundland and Labrador.
   <u>http://www.health.gov.nl.ca/health/chronicdisease/cdcontrol.html</u>. Published
   2013. Accessed February 1, 2014.
- 88. Carroll LJ, Holm LW, Hogg-Johnson S, et al. Course and prognostic factors for neck pain in whiplash-associated disorders (WAD): results of the Bone and Joint Decade 2000-2010 Task Force on Neck Pain and Its Associated Disorders. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976).* 2008;33(4 Suppl):S83-92. doi: 10.1097/BRS.0b013e3181643eb8.
- 89. Koleck M, Mazaux JM, Rascle N, Bruchon-Schweitzer M. Psycho-social factors and coping strategies as predictors of chronic evolution and quality of life in patients with low back pain: A prospective study. *Euro J Pain*. 2006;10(1):1-11. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpain.2005.01.003.
- 90. Arends S, Böhmer AB, Poels M, et al. Post-thoracotomy pain syndrome: seldom severe, often neuropathic, treated unspecific, and insufficient. *Pain Rep.* 2020;5(2):e810. doi: 10.1097/PR9.00000000000810.
- 91. Choiniere M, Watt-Watson J, Victor JC, et al. Prevalence of and risk factors for persistent postoperative nonanginal pain after cardiac surgery: a 2-year prospective multicentre study. *CMAJ*. 2014;186(7):E213-E223. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.131012.
- 92. Forbes HJ, Thomas SL, Smeeth L, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of risk factors for postherpetic neuralgia. *Pain.* 2016;157(1):30-54. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.000000000000307.

- Parker R, Stein DJ, Jelsma J. Pain in people living with HIV/AIDS: a systematic review. *J Int AIDS Soc.* 2014;17(1):18719. doi: 10.7448/IAS.17.1.18719.
- 94. de C. Williams AC, Amris K. Pain from torture. *Pain*. 2007;133:5-8. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2007.10.001.
- 95. Majlesi J. Patients with Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain of 3-6-Month Duration Already Have Low Levels of Health-Related Quality of Life and Physical Activity. *Curr Pain Headache Rep.* 2019;23(11):81. doi: 10.1007/s11916-019-0817-6.
- 96. Mason VL, Skevington SM, Osborn M. Development of a pain and discomfort module for use with the WHOQOL-100. *Qual Life Res.* 2004;13(6):1139-1152. doi: 10.1023/B:QURE.0000031344.53009.eb.
- 97. Pérez C, Margarit C, Sánchez-Magro I, de Antonio A, Villoria J. Chronic Pain Features Relate to Quality of Life More than Physiopathology: A Cross-Sectional Evaluation in Pain Clinics. *Pain Pract.* 2017;17(7):866-878. doi: 10.1111/papr.12533.
- 98. Hadi MA, McHugh GA, Closs SJ. Impact of Chronic Pain on Patients' Quality of Life: A Comparative Mixed-Methods Study. *J Patient Exp.* 2019;6(2):133-141. doi: 10.1177/2374373518786013.
- 99. O'Hagan FT, Ballantyne PJ, Vienneau P. Mental health status of Ontario injured workers with permanent impairments. *Can J Public Health*. 2012;103(4):e303-308. doi: 10.1007/BF03404240.

- 100. de Heer EW, Gerrits MM, Beekman AT, et al. The association of depression and anxiety with pain: a study from NESDA. *PloS One*. 2014;9(10):e106907. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0106907.
- 101. Gerrits MM, van Oppen P, van Marwijk HW, Penninx BW, van der Horst HE.
  Pain and the onset of depressive and anxiety disorders. *Pain.* 2014;155(1):53-59.
  doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2013.09.005.
- 102. Tang NYK, Crane C. Suicidality in chronic pain: a review of the prevalence, risk factors and psychological links. *Psychol Med.* 2006;36(5):575-586. doi: 10.1017/S0033291705006859.
- 103. Racine M, Choiniere M, Neilson WR. Predictors of suicidal ideation in chronic pain patients: an exploratory study. *Clin J Pain*. 2014;30:371-378. doi: 10.1097/AJP.0b013e31829e9d4d.
- 104. Whitlock EL, Diaz-Ramirez LG, Glymour MM, Boscardin WJ, Covinsky KE, Smith AK. Association Between Persistent Pain and Memory Decline and Dementia in a Longitudinal Cohort of Elders. *JAMA Intern Med.* 2017;177(8):1146-1153. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2017.1622.
- 105. Scott W, Garcia Calderon Mendoza Del Solar M, Kemp H, McCracken LM, C de C Williams A, Rice ASC. A qualitative study of the experience and impact of neuropathic pain in people living with HIV. *Pain.* 2020;161(5):970-978. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000001783.
- 106. Groenewald CB, Essner BS, Wright D, Fesinmeyer MD, Palermo TM. The economic costs of chronic pain among a cohort of treatment-seeking adolescents

in the United States. J Pain. 2014;15(9):925-933. doi:

10.1016/j.jpain.2014.06.002.

- 107. Le A, Dick BR, Spiers J, Reid K, Scott SD. Parents' experiences with pediatric chronic pain. *Can J Pain*. 2019;3(1):20-32. doi: 10.1080/24740527.2019.1577679.
- 108. Ohayon MM, Stingl JC. Prevalence and comorbidity of chronic pain in the German general population. *J Psychiatr Res.* 2012;46(4):444-450. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.01.001.
- 109. Khan F, Pallant J. Chronic pain in multiple sclerosis: prevalence, characteristics, and impact on quality of life in an Australian community cohort. *J Pain*. 2007;8(8):614-623. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2007.03.005.
- 110. Leadley RM, Armstrong N, Reid KJ, Allen A, Misso KV, Kleijnen J. Healthy aging in relation to chronic pain and quality of life in europe. *Pain Pract*. 2014;14(6):547-558. doi: 10.1111/papr.12125.
- 111. Ehde DM, Jensen MP, Engel JM, Turner JA, Hoffman AJ, Cardenas DD. Chronic pain secondary to disability: a review. *Clin J Pain*. 2003;19(1):3-17. doi: 10.1097/00002508-200301000-00002.
- Buhmann C, Wrobel N, Grashorn W, et al. Pain in Parkinson disease: a cross-sectional survey of its prevalence, specifics, and therapy. *J Neurol*. 2017;264(4):758-769. doi: 10.1007/s00415-017-8426-y.
- 113. O'Donnell MJ, Diener HC, Sacco RL, et al. Chronic pain syndromes after ischemic stroke: PRoFESS trial. *Stroke*. 2013;44(5):1238-1243. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.671008.

- 114. Weyer Jamora C, Schroeder SC, Ruff RM. Pain and mild traumatic brain injury: The implications of pain severity on emotional and cognitive functioning. *Brain Inj.* 2013;27(10):1134-1140. doi: 10.3109/02699052.2013.804196.
- Ataoglu E, Tiftik T, Kara M, Tunç H, Ersöz M, Akkus S. Effects of chronic pain on quality of life and depression in patients with spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord*. 2013;51(1):23-26. doi: 10.1038/sc.2012.51.
- 116. Hopman WM, Coo H, Edgar CM, McBride EV, Day AG, Brunet DG. Factors associated with health-related quality of life in multiple sclerosis. *Can J Neurol Sci.* 2007;34(2):160-166. doi: 10.1017/s0317167100005989.
- Godfrey CM, Harrison MB, Friedberg E, Medves JM, Tranmer JE. The symptom of pain in individuals recently hospitalized for heart failure. *J Cardiovasc Nurs*. 2007;22(5):368-374. doi: 10.1097/01.JCN.0000287035.77444.d9.
- Tripp DA, Curtis Nickel J, Landis JR, Wang YL, Knauss JS, Group CS.
  Predictors of quality of life and pain in chronic prostatitis/chronic pelvic pain syndrome: findings from the National Institutes of Health Chronic Prostatitis
  Cohort Study. *BJU Int.* 2004;94(9):1279-1282. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-410X.2004.05157.x.
- 119. van den Beuken-van Everdingen MH, Hochstenbach LM, Joosten EA, Tjan-Heijnen VC, Janssen DJ. Update on Prevalence of Pain in Patients With Cancer: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *J Pain Symptom Manage*.
  2016;51(6):1070-1090.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2015.12.340.
- 120. Addis DR, DeBerry JJ, Aggarwal S. Chronic Pain in HIV. *Mol Pain*.
  2020;16:1744806920927276. doi: 10.1177/1744806920927276.

- 121. Balderson BH, Grothaus L, Harrison RG, McCoy K, Mahoney C, Catz S. Chronic illness burden and quality of life in an aging HIV population. *AIDS Care*. 2013;25(4):451-458. doi: 10.1080/09540121.2012.712669.
- Levy MH, Chewistek M, Mehta RS. Management of Chronic Pain in Cancer Survivors. *Cancer J.* 2008;14(6):401-409. doi: 10.1097/PPO.0b013e31818f5aa7.
- 123. Cox-Martin E, Anderson-Mellies A, Borges V, Bradley C. Chronic pain, healthrelated quality of life, and employment in working-age cancer survivors. *J Cancer Surviv.* 2020;14(2):179-187. doi: 10.1007/s11764-019-00843-0.
- 124. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet*. 2018;392(10159):1789-1858. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32279-7.
- Hylands-White N, Duarte RV, Raphael JH. An overview of treatment approaches for chronic pain management. *Rheumatol Int.* 2017;37(1):29-42. doi: 10.1007/s00296-016-3481-8.
- 126. Agostoni EC, Barbanti P, Calabresi P, et al. Current and emerging evidence-based treatment options in chronic migraine: a narrative review. *J Headache Pain*. 2019;20(1):92. doi: 10.1186/s10194-019-1038-4.
- 127. Kosharskyy B, Almonte W, Shaparin N, Pappagallo M, Smith H. Intravenous infusions in chronic pain management. *Pain Physician*. 2013;16(3):231-249. https://www.painphysicianjournal.com/current/pdf?article=MTkwOQ%3D%3D&j ournal=75. Accessed May 15, 2020.

- 128. Mailis A, Taenzer P. Evidence-based guideline for neuropathic pain interventional treatments: spinal cord stimulation, intravenous infusions, epidural injections and nerve blocks. *Pain Res Manag.* 2012;17(3):150-158. doi: 10.1155/2012/794325.
- 129. Farrell SM, Green A, Aziz T. The Current State of Deep Brain Stimulation for Chronic Pain and Its Context in Other Forms of Neuromodulation. *Brain Sci.* 2018;8(8):158. doi: 10.3390/brainsci8080158.
- Gibson W, Wand BM, Meads C, Catley MJ, O'Connell NE. Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) for chronic pain an overview of Cochrane Reviews. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2019;4(4):CD011890. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011890.pub3.
- 131. Ebadi S, Henschke N, Nakhostin Ansari N, Fallah E, van Tulder MW.
  Therapeutic ultrasound for chronic low-back pain. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.*2014;(3)CD009169. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD009169.pub2.
- French SD, Cameron M, Walker BF, Reggars JW, Esterman AJ. Superficial heat or cold for low back pain. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2006;(1):CD004750. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004750.pub2.
- Furlan AD, Giraldo M, Baskwill A, Irvin E, Imamura M. Massage for low-back pain. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2015;(9):CD001929. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001929.pub3.
- 134. Gross A, Langevin P, Burnie SJ, et al. Manipulation and mobilisation for neck pain contrasted against an inactive control or another active treatment. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2015;(9):CD004249. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004249.pub4.

- Ju ZY, Wang K, Cui HS, et al. Acupuncture for neuropathic pain in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;(12):CD012057. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD012057.pub2.
- Simpson CA. Complementary medicine in chronic pain treatment. *Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am.* 2015;26(2):321-347. doi: 10.1016/j.pmr.2014.12.005.
- 137. Boyd A, Bleakley C, Hurley DA, et al. Herbal medicinal products or preparations for neuropathic pain. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2019;(4):CD10528. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010528.pub4.
- Lakhan SE, Sheafer H, Tepper D. The Effectiveness of Aromatherapy in Reducing Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Pain Res Treat*. 2016;2016:8158693. doi: 10.1155/2016/8158693.
- 139. Geneen LJ, Moore RA, Clarke C, Martin D, Colvin LA, Smith BH. Physical activity and exercise for chronic pain in adults: an overview of Cochrane Reviews. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2017;4(4):CD011279. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011279.pub3.
- Gross A, Kay TM, Paquin JP, et al. Exercises for mechanical neck disorders. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2015;(1):CD004250. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004250.pub5.
- 141. Jaromi M, Nemeth A, Kranicz J, Laczko T, Betlehem J. Treatment and ergonomics training of work-related lower back pain and body posture problems for nurses. *J Clin Nurs*. 2012;21(11-12):1776-1784. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2012.04089.x.

- 142. Kregel J, Coppieters I, DePauw R, et al. Does Conservative Treatment Change the Brain in Patients with Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain? A Systematic Review. *Pain Physician*. 2017;20(3):139-154. https://www.painphysicianjournal.com/current/pdf?article=NDMwMw%3D%3D &journal=104. Accessed May 16, 2020.
- 143. Basson A, Olivier B, Ellis R, Coppieters M, Stewart A, Mudzi W. The Effectiveness of Neural Mobilization for Neuromusculoskeletal Conditions: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther*. 2017;47(9):593-615. doi: 10.2519/jospt.2017.7117.
- Hughes LS, Clark J, Colclough JA, Dale E, McMillan D. Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) for Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analyses. *Clin J Pain*. 2017;33(6):552-568. doi: 10.1097/AJP.00000000000425.
- 145. Khoo EL, Small R, Cheng W, et al. Comparative evaluation of group-based mindfulness-based stress reduction and cognitive behavioural therapy for the treatment and management of chronic pain: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Evid Based Ment Health*. 2019;22(1):26-35. doi: 10.1136/ebmental-2018-300062.
- 146. Ehde DM, Dillworth TM, Turner JA. Cognitive-behavioral therapy for individuals with chronic pain: efficacy, innovations, and directions for research. *Am Psychol.* 2014;69(2):153-166. doi: 10.1037/a0035747.

- 147. Thompson T, Terhune DB, Oram C, et al. The effectiveness of hypnosis for pain relief: A systematic review and meta-analysis of 85 controlled experimental trials. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2019;99:298-310. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.02.013.
- Moseley GL, Nicholas MK, Hodges PW. A randomized controlled trial of intensive neurophysiology education in chronic low back pain. *Clin J Pain*. 2004;20(5):324-330. doi: 10.1097/00002508-200409000-00007.
- 149. Nicholas M, Ushida T, Wallace M, et al. Task Force on Multimodal Pain Treatment Defines Terms for Chronic Pain Care. International Association for the Study of Pain. <u>https://www.iasp-</u> <u>pain.org/PublicationsNews/NewsDetail.aspx?ItemNumber=6981</u>. Published 2017. Accessed March 3, 2019.
- 150. Nicol AL, Hurley RW, Benzon HT. Alternatives to Opioids in the Pharmacologic Management of Chronic Pain Syndromes: A Narrative Review of Randomized, Controlled, and Blinded Clinical Trials. *Anesthesia and Analgesia*.
  2017;125(5):1682-1703. doi: 10.1213/ANE.0000000002426.
- 151. Kamper SJ, Apeldoorn AT, Chiarotto A, et al. Multidisciplinary biopsychosocial rehabilitation for chronic low back pain. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2014;(9):CD000963. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD000963.pub3.
- 152. Campbell F, Stinson J, Ouellette C, Ostapets V, Salisbury G. The association between pediatric chronic pain clinic attendance and health care utilization: A retrospective analysis. *Can J Pain.* 2018;2(1):30-36. doi: 10.1080/24740527.2017.1415701.

- Katz L, Patterson L, Zacharias R. Evaluation of an interdisciplinary chronic pain program and predictors of readiness for change. *Can J Pain*. 2019;3(1):70-78. doi: 10.1080/24740527.2019.1582296.
- 154. Lynch ME, Schopflocher D, Taenzer P, Sinclair C. Research funding for pain in Canada. Pain Res Manag. 2009;14(2):113-115. doi: 10.1155/2009/746828.
- 155. Opioids and the opioid crisis Get the facts. Government of Canada. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/substance-use/problematic-prescription-drug-use/opioids/get-the-facts.html - a5</u>. Published 2020. Accessed May 15, 2020.
- 156. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. Pain management and the opioid epidemic: Balancing Societal and Individual Benefits and Risks of Prescription Opioid Use. 1st ed. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2017. doi: 10.17226/24781. Accessed August 15, 2017.
- 157. Canadian Institute for Substance Use Research and the Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addition. Canadian Substance Use Costs and Harms Scientific Working Group: Canadian Substance Use Costs and Harms (2007-2014). https://www.ccsa.ca/sites/default/files/2019-04/CSUCH-Canadian-Substance-Use-Costs-Harms-Report-2018-en.pdf. Published 2018. Accessed June 18, 2020.
- 158. Opioid-related harms in Canada. Government of Canada. <u>https://health-infobase.canada.ca/substance-related-harms/opioids</u>. Published 2020. Updated June 17, 2020. Accessed June 18, 2020.

- 159. Colvin LA, Bull F, Hales TG. Perioperative opioid analgesia-when is enough too much? A review of opioid-induced tolerance and hyperalgesia. *Lancet*. 2019;393(10180):1558-1568. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30430-1.
- 160. Els C, Jackson TD, Hagtvedt R, et al. High-dose opioids for chronic non-cancer pain: an overview of Cochrane Reviews. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2017;10(10):CD012299. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD012299.pub2.
- 161. Els C, Jackson TD, Kunyk D, et al. Adverse events associated with medium- and long-term use of opioids for chronic non-cancer pain: an overview of Cochrane Reviews. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2017;10(10):CD012509. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD012509.pub2.
- Busse JW, Wang L, Kamaleldin M, et al. Opioids for Chronic Noncancer Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA*. 2018;320(23):2448-2460. doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.18472.
- 163. Chou R, Turner JA, Devine EB, et al. The effectiveness and risks of long-term opioid therapy for chronic pain: a systematic review for a National Institutes of Health Pathways to Prevention Workshop. *Ann Intern Med.* 2015;162(4):276-286. doi: 10.7326/M14-2559.
- 164. OECD. *Health at a Glance 2019: OECD Indicators*. Paris: OECD Publishing;
  2019:92-93. doi: 10.1787/4dd50c09-en. Accessed June 18, 2020.
- 165. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Opioid Prescribing. In: Pan-Canadian Trends in the Prescribing of Opioids and Benzodiazepines, 2012 to 2017. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI); 2018.

https://www.cihi.ca/sites/default/files/document/opioid-prescribing-june2018-enweb.pdf. Accessed June 10, 2020.

- 166. Raftery MN, Ryan P, Normand C, Murphy AW, de la Harpe D, McGuire BE. The economic cost of chronic noncancer pain in Ireland: results from the PRIME study, part 2. *J Pain*. 2012;13(2):139-145. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2011.10.004.
- 167. Evans JR, Benore E, Banez GA. The Cost-Effectiveness of Intensive Interdisciplinary Pediatric Chronic Pain Rehabilitation. *J Pediatr Psychol*. 2016;41(8):849-856. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsv100.
- 168. Hong J, Reed C, Novick D, Happich M. Costs associated with treatment of chronic low back pain: an analysis of the UK General Practice Research Database. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)*. 2013;38(1):75-82. doi: 10.1097/BRS.0b013e318276450f.
- 169. Hogan ME, Taddio A, Katz J, Shah V, Krahn M. Incremental health care costs for chronic pain in Ontario, Canada: a population-based matched cohort study of adolescents and adults using administrative data. *Pain.* 2016;157(8):1626-1633. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.000000000000561.
- Public Health Agency of Canada. Economic Burden of Illness in Canada 2005-2008. https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/migration/phac-aspc/publicat/ebic-femc/2005-2008/assets/pdf/ebic-femc-2005-2008-eng.pdf.
  Published March, 2014. Accessed April 20, 2020.
- 171. Langley PC. The societal burden of pain in Germany: health-related quality-of-life, health status and direct medical costs. *J Med Econ.* 2012;15(6):1201-1215. doi: 10.3111/13696998.2012.716383.

- 172. Lalonde L, Choiniere M, Martin E, Berbiche D, Perreault S, Lussier D. Costs of moderate to severe chronic pain in primary care patients - a study of the ACCORD Program. *J Pain Res.* 2014;7:389-403. doi: 10.2147/JPR.S55388.
- 173. Weaver CG, Clement FM, Campbell NR, et al. Healthcare costs attributable to hypertension: Canadian population-based cohort study. *Hypertension*.
  2015;66(3):502-508. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.115.05702.
- 174. Rosella LC, Lebenbaum M, Fitzpatrick T, et al. Impact of diabetes on healthcare costs in a population-based cohort: a cost analysis. *Diabet Med.* 2016;33(3):395-403. doi: 10.1111/dme.12858.
- 175. Outcalt SD, Yu Z, Hoen HM, Pennington TM, Krebs EE. Health care utilization among veterans with pain and posttraumatic stress symptoms. *Pain Med*. 2014;15(11):1872-1879. doi: 10.1111/pme.12045.
- 176. Rampersaud YR, Power JD, Perruccio AV, et al. Healthcare utilization and costs for spinal conditions in Ontario, Canada - opportunities for funding high-value care: a retrospective cohort study. *Spine J.* 2020;20(6):874-881. doi: 10.1016/j.spinee.2020.01.013.
- Andersson HI, Ejlertsson G, Leden I, Schersten B. Impact of chronic pain on health care seeking, self care, and medication. Results from a population-based Swedish study. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 1999;53(8):503-509. doi: 10.1136/jech.53.8.503.
- 178. Mann EG, Johnson A, VanDenKerkhof EG. Frequency and characteristics of healthcare visits associated with chronic pain: results from a population-based

Canadian study. *Can J Anaesth*. 2016;63(4):411-441. doi: 10.1007/s12630-015-0578-6.

- 179. Mann EG, Johnson A, Gilron I, VanDenKerkhof EG. Pain Management Strategies and Health Care Use in Community-Dwelling Individuals Living with Chronic Pain. *Pain Med.* 2017;18(12):2267-2279. doi: 10.1093/pm/pnw341.
- 180. Tumin D, Drees D, Miller R, et al. Health Care Utilization and Costs Associated With Pediatric Chronic Pain. *J Pain*. 2018;19(9):973-982. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2018.03.012.
- 181. Stockbridge EL, Suzuki S, Pagan JA. Chronic pain and health care spending: an analysis of longitudinal data from the Medical Expenditure Panel Survey. *Health Serv Res.* 2015;50(3):847-870. doi: 10.1111/1475-6773.12263.
- 182. Romanelli RJ, Shah SN, Ikeda L, et al. Patient characteristics and healthcare utilization of a chronic pain population within an integrated healthcare system. *Am J Manag Care*. 2017;23(2):e50-e56. https://www.ajmc.com/view/patientcharacteristics-and-healthcare-utilization-of-a-chronic-pain-population-within-anintegrated-healthcare-system. Accessed January 10, 2020.
- 183. O'Mallon F. Shocking epidemic of chronic pain revealed. Australian Associated Press. https://www.aap.com.au/shocking-epidemic-of-chronic-pain-revealed/.
   Published May 7, 2020. Accessed June 20, 2020.
- 184. Dahlhamer J, Lucas J, Zelaya C, et al. Prevalence of Chronic Pain and High-Impact Chronic Pain Among Adults - United States, 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2018;67(36):1001-1006. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6736a2.

- 185. Birgenheir DG, Ilgen MA, Bohnert AS, et al. Pain conditions among veterans with schizophrenia or bipolar disorder. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. 2013;35(5):480-484. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2013.03.019.
- 186. Tian TY, Zlateva I, Anderson DR. Using electronic health records data to identify patients with chronic pain in a primary care setting. *J Am Med Inform Assoc*. 2013;20(e2):e275-e280. doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2013-001856.
- 187. Bull J, Drolet G, Hamilton E, et al. NPHS Public Use Microdata Documentation.
  Carleton University Digital Objects. <u>https://cudo.carleton.ca/dli-training/2064</u>.
  Published 2019. Accessed February 26, 2019.
- 188. Department of Finance. POPULATION PROJECTIONS NEWFOUNDLAND AND LABRADOR, High Scenario, April 2014, TOTAL PROVINCE.
  Government of Newfoundland and Labrador.
  http://www.economics.gov.nl.ca/pdf/Popbyagehigh-web.pdf. Published 2014.
  Accessed May 10, 2014.
- 189. Forum on Health Facilities & Services Review Presentations & Videos.
  Newfoundland and Labrador Medical Association.
  https://www.nlma.nl.ca/Advocacy/Forum-on-Health-Facilities--Services-Review/.
  Published 2017. Accessed May 1, 2020.
- 190. Thomas E, Peat G, Harris L, Wilkie R, Croft PR. The prevalence of pain and pain interference in a general population of older adults: cross-sectional findings from the North Staffordshire Osteoarthritis Project (NorStOP). *Pain.* 2004;110(1-2):361-368. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2004.04.017.

- Huguet A, Miro J. The severity of chronic pediatric pain: an epidemiological study. *J Pain*. 2008;9(3):226-236. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2007.10.015.
- 192. El-Shormilisy N, Strong J, Meredith PJ. Associations between gender, coping patterns and functioning for individuals with chronic pain: a systematic review. *Pain Res Manag.* 2015;20(1):48-55. doi: 10.1155/2015/490610.
- 193. Fillingim RB, King CD, Ribeiro-Dasilva MC, Rahim-Williams B, Riley JL, 3rd. Sex, gender, and pain: a review of recent clinical and experimental findings. *The journal of pain : official journal of the American Pain Society*. 2009;10(5):447.
- 194. Meana M, Cho R, DesMeules M. Chronic pain: The extra burden on Canadian women. BMC Womens Health. 2004;4 Suppl 1:S17. doi: 10.1186/1472-6874-4-S1-S17.
- 195. Keogh E. Gender differences in the nonverbal communication of pain: a new direction for sex, gender, and pain research? *Pain.* 2014;155(10):1927-1931. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2014.06.024.
- 196. von Baeyer CL. Interpreting the high prevalence of pediatric chronic pain revealed in community surveys. *Pain*. 2011;152(12):2683-2684. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2011.08.023.
- 197. Virnig BA, McBean M. Administrative data for public health surveillance and planning. *Annu Rev Public Health*. 2001;22:213-230. doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.22.1.213.
- Canada's Health Care System. Government of Canada.
   <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/canada-health-care-system.html</u>.
   Published 2016. Accessed December 29, 2017.

- 199. Alaghehbandan R, Macdonald D, Barrett B, Collins K, Chen Y. Using administrative databases in the surveillance of depressive disorders-case definitions. *Popul Health Manag.* 2012;15(6):372-280. doi: 10.1089/pop.2011.0084.
- 200. Public Health Agency of Canada. The Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System - An Overview. Government of Canada. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/canadian-chronic-disease-surveillance-system-factsheet.html - fn6-0-rf</u>. Published 2018. Accessed January 14, 2019.
- 201. Freytag A, Schiffhorst G, Thoma R, et al. Identification and grouping of pain patients according to claims data. *Schmerz*. 2010;24(1):12-22. doi: 10.1007/s00482-009-0861-y.
- 202. Beaudet N, Courteau J, Sarret P, Vanasse A. Improving the selection of true incident cases of low back pain by screening retrospective administrative data. *Eur J Pain.* 2014;18(7):923-931. doi: 10.1002/j.1532-2149.2013.00437.x.
- Ritzwoller DP, Crounse L, Shetterly S, Rublee D. The association of comorbidities, utilization and costs for patients identified with low back pain. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2006;7:72. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-7-72.
- 204. Marrie RA, Yu BN, Leung S, et al. The incidence and prevalence of fibromyalgia are higher in multiple sclerosis than the general population: A population-based study. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. 2012;1(4):162-167. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2012.06.001.
- 205. Widdifield J, Bernatsky S, Paterson JM, et al. Accuracy of Canadian health administrative databases in identifying patients with rheumatoid arthritis: A

validation study using the medical records of rheumatologists. *Arthritis Care Res* (*Hoboken*). 2013;65(10):1582-1591. doi: 10.1002/acr.22031.

- 206. Lachaine J, Gordon A, Choiniere M, Collet JP, Dion D, Tarride JE. Painful neuropathic disorders: an analysis of the Regie de l'Assurance Maladie du Quebec database. *Pain Res Manag.* 2007;12(1):31-37. doi: 10.1155/2007/713835.
- 207. Ritzwoller DP, Ellis JL, Korner EJ, Hartsfield CL, Sadosky A. Comorbidities, healthcare service utilization and costs for patients identified with painful DPN in a managed-care setting. *Curr Med Res Opin.* 2009;25(6):1319-1328. doi: 10.1185/03007990902864749.
- 208. Lacasse A, Ware MA, Dorais M, Lanctot H, Choiniere M. Is the Quebec provincial administrative database a valid source for research on chronic noncancer pain? Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2015;24(9):980-990. doi: 10.1002/pds.3820.
- 209. Lix LM, Yogendran MS, Shaw SY, Targownick LE, Jones J, Bataineh O.
   Comparing administrative and survey data for ascertaining cases of irritable bowel syndrome: a population-based investigation. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2010;10:31.
   doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-10-31.
- 210. Marrie RA, Yu BN, Leung S, et al. The incidence and prevalence of thyroid disease do not differ in the multiple sclerosis and general populations: a validation study using administrative data. *Neuroepidemiology*. 2012;39(2):135-142. doi: 10.1159/000339757.

- 211. Marrie RA, Yu BN, Leung S, et al. The utility of administrative data for surveillance of comorbidity in multiple sclerosis: a validation study. *Neuroepidemiology*. 2013;40(2):85-92. doi: 10.1159/000343188.
- Hux JE, Ivis F, Flintoft V, Bica A. Diabetes in Ontario: determination of prevalence and incidence using a validated administrative data algorithm.
   *Diabetes Care.* 2002;25(3):512-516. doi: 10.2337/diacare.25.3.512.
- 213. Lipscombe LL, Hwee J, Webster L, Shah BR, Booth GL, Tu K. Identifying diabetes cases from administrative data: a population-based validation study. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2018;18(1):316. doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-3148-0.
- 214. Béland Y. Canadian community health survey-methodological overview. *Health Rep.* 2002;13(3):9-14.
- 215. Knight JC, Mathews M, Aubrey-Bassler K. Relation between family physician retention and avoidable hospital admission in Newfoundland and Labrador: a population-based cross-sectional study. *CMAJ Open.* 2017;5(4):E746-E752. doi: 10.9778/cmajo.20170007.
- 216. Newfoundland and Labrador Centre for Health Information. *Clinical Database Management System (CDMS) data users guide V.1.0.* St. John's, NL: Newfoundland and Labrador Centre for Health Information; 2014. https://www.nlchi.nl.ca/images/PDFs/2014-04-15%20CDMS%20UG%20%20v%201%200%20%20Final.pdf. Accessed October 13, 2017.
- 217. Newfoundland and Labrador Centre for Health Information. *NL Electronic Health Record Client Registry User Guide V2.0.* St. John's, NL: Newfoundland and

Labrador Centre for Health Information; 2013.

https://www.nlchi.nl.ca/images/PDFs/Client%20Registry%20Data%20User%20G uide.pdf. Accessed October 13, 2017.

- 218. Newfoundland and Labrador Centre for Health Information. Electronic Medical Record and Electronic Health Record Proof of Concept Study. 2013.
- 219. Foley HE, Knight JC, Ploughman M, Asghari S, Audas R. Identifying cases of Chronic Pain in Health Administrative Data: A Validation Study. 18 December 2019. PREPRINT (Version 1) available at Research Square. doi: 10.21203/rs.2.19115/v1.
- 220. Foley HE, Knight JC, Ploughman M, Asghari S, Audas R. Identifying cases of chronic pain in health administrative data: A validation study. *Can J Pain*.
  2020;4(1):252-267. doi: 10.1080/24740527.2020.1820857.
- 221. Elliott AM, Smith BH, Penny KI, Smith WC, Chambers WA. The epidemiology of chronic pain in the community. *Lancet.* 1999;354(9186):1248-1252. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(99)03057-3.
- Phillips CJ, Schopflocher D. The Economics of Chronic Pain. In: Rashiq S,
   Schopflocher D, Taenzer P, Jonsson E, eds. *Chronic Pain: A Health Policy Perspective*. Vol 1. 1st ed. Weinheim, Germany: Wiley-Blackwell; 2008:41-47.
- 223. Tricco AC, Pham B, Rawson NS. Manitoba and Saskatchewan administrative health care utilization databases are used differently to answer epidemiologic research questions. *J Clin Epidemiol.* 2008;61(2):192-197. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2007.03.009.

- 224. Chubak J, Pocobelli G, Weiss NS. Tradeoffs between accuracy measures for electronic health care data algorithms. *J Clin Epidemiol.* 2012;65(3):343-349.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2011.09.002.
- 225. Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network. <u>http://cpcssn.ca/</u>.
   Published 2013. Accessed November 11, 2014.
- 226. Fact Sheet Primary Care. Newfoundland and Labrador Medical Association. <u>https://www.nlma.nl.ca/documents/document\_21.pdf</u>. Published 2010. Accessed October 30, 2019.
- 227. Garies S, Birtwhistle R, Drummond N, Queenan J, Williamson T. Data Resource Profile: National electronic medical record data from the Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network (CPCSSN). *Int J Epidemiol.* 2017;46(4):1091-1092f. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyw248.
- 228. Kotecha JA, Manca D, Lambert-Lanning A, et al. Ethics and privacy issues of a practice-based surveillance system: need for a national-level institutional research ethics board and consent standards. *Can Fam Physician*. 2011;57(10):1165-1173. https://www.cfp.ca/content/57/10/1165.long. Accessed November 2, 2019.
- 229. Classification of Diseases. World Health Organization. <u>https://www.who.int/classifications/icd/en/</u>. Published 2018. Accessed November 11, 2018.
- Williamson T, Green ME, Birtwhistle R, et al. Validating the 8 CPCSSN case definitions for chronic disease surveillance in a primary care database of electronic health records. *Ann Fam Med.* 2014;12(4):367-372. doi: 10.1370/afm.1644.

- 231. Williamson T, Miyagishima RC, Derochie JD, Drummond N. Manual review of electronic medical records as a reference standard for case definition development: a validation study. *CMAJ Open.* 2017;5(4):E830-E833. doi: 10.9778/cmajo.20170077.
- 232. Goff SL, Feld A, Andrade SE, et al. Administrative data used to identify patients with irritable bowel syndrome. *J Clin Epidemiol.* 2008;61(6):617-621. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2007.07.013.
- 233. Yawn BP, Wollan P, St Sauver J. Comparing shingles incidence and complication rates from medical record review and administrative database estimates: how close are they? *Am J Epidemiol*. 2011;174(9):1054-1061. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwr206.
- 234. Sinnott PL, Siroka AM, Shane AC, Trafton JA, Wagner TH. Identifying neck and back pain in administrative data: defining the right cohort. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)*.
  2012;37(10):860-874. doi: 10.1097/BRS.0b013e3182376508.
- 235. Lachaine J, Beauchemin C, Landry PA. Clinical and economic characteristics of patients with fibromyalgia syndrome. *Clin J Pain*. 2010;26(4):284-290. doi: 10.1097/AJP.0b013e3181cf599f.
- 236. Harrold LR, Yood RA, Andrade SE, et al. Evaluating the predictive value of osteoarthritis diagnoses in an administrative database. *Arthritis Rheum*.
  2000;43(8):1881-1885. doi: 10.1002/1529-0131(200008)43:8<1881::AID-ANR26>3.0.CO;2-#.

- 237. Berger A, Dukes EM, Oster G. Clinical characteristics and economic costs of patients with painful neuropathic disorders. *J Pain.* 2004;5(3):143-149. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2003.12.004.
- Index of Diagnosis Codes. Anesthesia, Pain Management Compliance Auditors. http://www.aceanesthesiapain.com/. Published 2011. Accessed September 13, 2016.
- 239. Newfoundland and Labrador Centre for Health Information. <u>http://www.nlchi.nl.ca/</u>. Published 2014. Accessed November 12, 2014.
- 240. Medical Care Plan, Department of Health and Community Services. Medical Payment Schedule - 2009.
   <u>http://www.health.gov.nl.ca/health/mcp/providers/full\_mcp\_payment\_schedule\_2</u> 009.pdf. Published 2011. Accessed January 10, 2017.
- 241. Centre for Pain and Disability Management. Eastern Health Authority.
   <u>http://www.easternhealth.ca/WebInWeb.aspx?d=1&id=1628&p=74</u>. Published
   2015. Accessed Mar 12, 2018.
- Health and Community Services. Prescription Drug Program. Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. <u>http://www.health.gov.nl.ca/health/prescription/</u>.
   Published 2018. Accessed March 12, 2018.
- 243. Trevethan R. Sensitivity, Specificity, and Predictive Values: Foundations, Pliabilities, and Pitfalls in Research and Practice. *Front Public Health*.
  2017;5:307. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2017.00307.
- 244. Szklo M, Nieto FJ. Appendix A: Standard errors, confidence intervals, and hypothesis testing for selected measures of risk and measures of association. In:

Johnson M, Reilly T, eds. *Epidemiology: beyond the basics*. 3rd ed. Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning; 2014:431-453.

- Glas AS, Lijmer JG, Prins MH, Bonsel GJ, Bossuyt PM. The diagnostic odds ratio: a single indicator of test performance. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 2003;56(11):1129-1135. doi: 10.1016/s0895-4356(03)00177-x.
- 246. Chen G, Faris P, Hemmelgarn B, Walker RL, Quan H. Measuring agreement of administrative data with chart data using prevalence unadjusted and adjusted kappa. *BMC Med Res Methodol.* 2009;9:5. doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-9-5.
- 247. McHugh ML. Interrater reliability: the kappa statistic. *Biochem Med (Zagreb)*.
  2012;22(3):276-282. https://www.biochemia-medica.com/en/journal/22/3/10.11613/BM.2012.031/fullArticle. Accessed
  November 14, 2017.
- 248. Rector TS, Wickstrom SL, Shah M, et al. Specificity and sensitivity of claimsbased algorithms for identifying members of Medicare+Choice health plans that have chronic medical conditions. *Health Serv Res.* 2004;39(6 Pt 1):1839-1857. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2004.00321.x.
- 249. 2011 Census of Population, Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 98-311-XCB2011006. Statistics Canada. <u>http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-</u> recensement/2011/dp-pd/tbt-tt/Rpeng.cfm?TABID=2&LANG=E&APATH=3&DETAIL=0&DIM=0&FL=A&FRE
  E=0&GC=0&GK=0&GRP=1&PID=103142&PRID=10&PTYPE=101955&S=0
  &SHOWALL=0&SUB=0&Temporal=2011&THEME=88&VID=0&VNAMEE=
  &VNAMEF=. Published 2017. Accessed October 21, 2017.

- 250. Western Regional Integrated Health Authority, Newfoundland and Labrador (Code 1013) and Canada (Code 01) (table). Census Profile. 2011 Census. Statistics Canada Catalogue No. 98-316-WXE. Statistics Canada. <u>http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2011/dp-</u> <u>pd/prof/index.cfm?Lang=E</u>. Published 2012. Accessed December 12, 2017.
- 251. Eastern Regional Integrated Health Authority, Newfoundland and Labrador (Code 1011) and Canada (Code 01 (table). Census Profile. 2011 Census. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 98-316-XWE. Statistics Canada.
  <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2011/dp-</u>
  <u>pd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Geo1=HR&Code1=1011&Geo2=PR&Code2=</u>
  <u>01&Data=Count&SearchText=Eastern Regional Integrated Health</u>
  <u>Authority&SearchType=Begins&SearchPR=01&B1=All&GeoLevel=PR&GeoCo</u>
  <u>de=1011&TABID=1</u>. Published 2012. Accessed December 12, 2017.
- 252. Central Regional Integrated Health Authority, Newfoundland and Labrador (Code 1012) and Canada (Code 01). Census Profile. 2011 Census. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 98-316-XWE. Statistics Canada.
  <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2011/dp-</u>pd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Geo1=HR&Code1=1012&Geo2=PR&Code2= 01&Data=Count&SearchText=Central Regional Integrated Health Authority&SearchType=Begins&SearchPR=01&B1=All&GeoLeve1=PR&GeoCo de=1012&TABID=1. Published 2012. Accessed December 12, 2017.
- 253. Labrador-Grenfell Regional Integrated Health Authority, Newfoundland and Labrador (Code 1014) and Canada (Code 01) (table). Census profile. 2011

Census. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 98-316-XWE. Statistics Canada. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2011/dppd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Geo1=HR&Code1=1014&Geo2=PR&Code2= 01&Data=Count&SearchText=Labrador-Grenfell Regional Integrated Health Authority&SearchType=Begins&SearchPR=01&B1=All&GeoLevel=PR&GeoCo de=1014&TABID=1. Published 2012. Accessed December 12, 2017.

- 254. Mandrekar JN. Receiver operating characteristic curve in diagnostic test assessment. *J Thorac Oncol.* 2010;5(9):1315-1316. doi: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e3181ec173d.
- Landis JR, Koch GG. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. *Biometrics*. 1977;33(1):159-174.
- 256. Sands BE, Duh MS, Cali C, et al. Algorithms to identify colonic ischemia, complications of constipation and irritable bowel syndrome in medical claims data: development and validation. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* 2006;15(1):47-56. doi: 10.1002/pds.1118.
- 257. Smith B, Gribbin M. Etiology, prevention, treatment, and disability management of chronic pain. Introduction. *Clin J Pain*. 2001;17(4 Suppl):S1-S4. doi: 10.1097/00002508-200112001-00001.
- 258. Benchimol EI, Smeeth L, Guttmann A, et al. The REporting of studies Conducted using Observational Routinely-collected health Data (RECORD) statement. *PLoS Med.* 2015;12(10):e1001885. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001885.
- 259. Newfoundland and Labrador Statistics Agency, Department of Finance.Population and Demographics. Government of Newfoundland and Labrador.

https://www.stats.gov.nl.ca/Statistics/Statistics.aspx?Topic=population. Published 2018. Accessed March 31, 2018.

- 260. Segovia J, Edwards AC, Bartlett RF. Newfoundland Panel on Health and Medical Care--adult health survey. *Can J Public Health*. 1999;90(6):412-416. doi: 10.1007/BF03404148.
- 261. Population centre (POPCEN). Statistics Canada.
   <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2011/ref/dict/geo049a-eng.cfm</u>.
   Published 2015. Updated November 27, 2015. Accessed January 19, 2020.
- 262. Department of Finance. 2016 Census Information and Statistics. Government of Newfoundland and Labrador.
   <u>https://stats.gov.nl.ca/Statistics/Census2016/PDF/Pop\_CSD\_Alphabetical\_2016.p</u> df. Published 2016. Accessed February 15, 2020.
- 263. Asghari S, Courteau J, Carpentier AC, Vanasse A. Optimal strategy to identify incidence of diagnostic of diabetes using administrative data. *BMC Med Res Methodol.* 2009;9:62. doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-9-62.
- 264. Raffaeli W, Arnaudo E. Pain as a disease: an overview. *J Pain Res.* 2017;10:2003-2008. doi: 10.2147/JPR.S138864.
- 265. Public Health Agency of Canada. Public Health Infobase: Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System (CCDSS). Government of Canada. <u>https://health-infobase.canada.ca/ccdss/data-tool/</u>. Published 2018. Accessed February 27, 2019.
- 266. Rustoen T, Wahl AK, Hanestad BR, Lerdal A, Paul S, Miaskowski C. Age and the experience of chronic pain: differences in health and quality of life among

younger, middle-aged, and older adults. *Clin J Pain*. 2005;21(6):513-523. doi: 10.1097/01.ajp.0000146217.31780.ef.

- 267. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Profiling physicians by payment program: A closer look at three provinces.
  https://secure.cihi.ca/free\_products/physicians\_payment\_aib\_2010\_e.pdf.
  Published March 2010. Accessed January 10, 2020.
- Hurd J, Pike A, Knight J, et al. Health and health service use of very elderly Newfoundlanders. *Can Fam Physician*. 2018;64(10):e453-e461.
   https://www.cfp.ca/content/64/10/e453.long. Accessed November 19, 2019.
- 269. About Us: The Organization. Eastern Health. <u>http://www.easternhealth.ca/AboutEH.aspx</u>. Published 2014. Accessed December 12, 2014.
- 270. Lix LM, Yao X, Kephart G, et al. A prediction model to estimate completeness of electronic physician claims databases. *BMJ Open.* 2015;5(8):e006858. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006858.
- 271. Tu K, Wang M, Jaakkimainen RL, et al. Assessing the validity of using administrative data to identify patients with epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. 2014;55(2):335-343. doi: 10.1111/epi.12506.
- 272. Andersen RM. Revisiting the behavioral model and access to medical care: does it matter? *J Health Soc Behav.* 1995;36(1):1-10.
- 273. Jonsdottir T, Jonsdottir H, Lindal E, Oskarsson GK, Gunnarsdottir S. Predictors for chronic pain-related health care utilization: a cross-sectional nationwide study in Iceland. *Health Expect.* 2015;18(6):2704-2719. doi: 10.1111/hex.12245.

- 274. Margolis JM, Juneau P, Sadosky A, Cappelleri JC, Bryce TN, Nieshoff EC.
  Health care resource utilization and medical costs of spinal cord injury with
  neuropathic pain in a commercially insured population in the United States. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2014;95(12):2279-2287. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2014.07.416.
- 275. Takura T, Ushida T, Kanchiku T, et al. The societal burden of chronic pain in Japan: an internet survey. *J Orthop Sci.* 2015;20(4):750-760. doi: 10.1007/s00776-015-0730-8.
- 276. Häuser W, Schmutzer G, Hilbert A, Brähler E, Henningsen P. Prevalence of Chronic Disabling Noncancer Pain and Associated Demographic and Medical Variables: A Cross-Sectional Survey in the General German Population. *Clin J Pain.* 2015;31(10):886-892. doi: 10.1097/AJP.000000000000173.
- 277. van Hecke O, Hocking LJ, Torrance N, et al. Chronic pain, depression and cardiovascular disease linked through a shared genetic predisposition: Analysis of a family-based cohort and twin study. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(2):e0170653. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0170653.
- 278. Vedsted P, Christensen MB. Frequent attenders in general practice care: a literature review with special reference to methodological considerations. *Public Health.* 2005;119(2):118-137. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2004.03.007.
- 279. Roberts MH, Mapel DW, Thomson HN. The impact of chronic pain on direct medical utilization and costs in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Clinicoecon Outcomes Res.* 2015;7:173-184. doi: 10.2147/CEOR.S80424.
- 280. Doshi JA, Cai Q, Buono JL, et al. Economic burden of irritable bowel syndrome with constipation: a retrospective analysis of health care costs in a commercially

insured population. *J Manag Care Spec Pharm.* 2014;20(4):382-390. doi: 10.18553/jmcp.2014.20.4.382.

- 281. Lix LM, Ayles J, Bartholomew S, et al. The Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System: A Model for Collaborative Surveillance. *Int J Popul Data Sci.* 2018;3(3):5. https://doi.org/10.23889/ijpds.v3i3.433.
- 282. Bancej C, Ellison J, Gao Y, et al. Report from the Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System: Mental Illness in Canada, 2015. Ottawa, ON: Public Health Agency of Canada;2015. https://www.canada.ca/en/publichealth/services/publications/diseases-conditions/report-canadian-chronic-diseasesurveillance-system-mental-illness-canada-2015.html. Accessed July 5, 2020.
- 283. Xie L, Semenciw R, Mery L. Cancer incidence in Canada: trends and projections (1983-2032). *Health Promot Chronic Dis Prev Can.* 2015;35 Suppl 1:2-186. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/reports-publications/healthpromotion-chronic-disease-prevention-canada-research-policy-practice/vol-35-no-1-2015/supplement.html. Accessed April 12, 2019.
- 284. Chen W, Qian L, Shi J, Franklin M. Comparing performance between logbinomial and robust Poisson regression models for estimating risk ratios under model misspecification. *BMC Med Res Methodol.* 2018;18(1):63. doi: 10.1186/s12874-018-0519-5.
- 285. Long SJ, Freese J. Predicted probabilities for count models. *The Stata Journal*.
  2001;1(1):51-57.
  https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/1536867X0100100103. Accessed
  August 3, 2019.
- 286. Bernfort L, Gerdle B, Rahmqvist M, Husberg M, Levin LA. Severity of chronic pain in an elderly population in Sweden-impact on costs and quality of life. *Pain*. 2015;156(3):521-527. doi: 10.1097/01.j.pain.0000460336.31600.01.
- 287. Kay C, Wozniak E, Bernstein J. Utilization of Health Care Services and Ambulatory Resources Associated with Chronic Noncancer Pain. *Pain Med.* 2017;18(7):1236-1246. doi: 10.1093/pm/pnw336.
- 288. Nabalamba A, Millar WJ. Going to the doctor. *Health Rep.* 2007;18(1):23-35. https://www150-statcan-gc-ca.qe2a-proxy.mun.ca/n1/pub/82-003x/2006002/article/doctor-medecin/9569-eng.pdf. Accessed April 12, 2020.
- 289. Morasco BJ, Yarborough BJ, Smith NX, et al. Higher Prescription Opioid Dose is Associated With Worse Patient-Reported Pain Outcomes and More Health Care Utilization. J Pain. 2017;18(4):437-445. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2016.
- 290. Roberts MH, Mapel DW, Hartry A, Von Worley A, Thomson H. Chronic pain and pain medication use in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. A cross-sectional study. *Ann Am Thorac Soc.* 2013;10(4):290-298. doi:

10.1513/AnnalsATS.201303-040OC.

291. Howe CQ, Sullivan MD. The missing 'P' in pain management: how the current opioid epidemic highlights the need for psychiatric services in chronic pain care. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. 2014;36(1):99-104. doi:

10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2013.10.003.

292. Norton G, McDonough CM, Cabral HJ, Shwartz M, Burgess JF, Jr. Classification of patients with incident non-specific low back pain: implications for research. *Spine J.* 2016;16(5):567-576. doi: 10.1016/j.spinee.2015.08.015.

- 293. Dworkin RH, Malone DC, Panarites CJ, Armstrong EP, Pham SV. Impact of postherpetic neuralgia and painful diabetic peripheral neuropathy on health care costs. *J Pain*. 2010;11(4):360-368. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2009.08.005.
- 294. Graham H. Social determinants and their unequal distribution: clarifying policy understandings. *Milbank Q.* 2004;82(1):101-124. doi: 10.1111/j.0887-378x.2004.00303.x.
- 295. Engel JM, Jensen MP, Hoffman AJ, Kartin D. Pain in persons with cerebral palsy: extension and cross validation. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2003;84(8):1125-1128. doi: 10.1016/s0003-9993(03)00263-6.
- 296. Gerrits MM, Vogelzangs N, van Oppen P, van Marwijk HW, van der Horst H, Penninx BW. Impact of pain on the course of depressive and anxiety disorders. *Pain.* 2012;153(2):429-436. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2011.11.001.
- 297. Morales-Espinoza EM, Kostov B, Salami DC, et al. Complexity, comorbidity, and health care costs associated with chronic widespread pain in primary care. *Pain*.
  2016;157(4):818-826. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000000440.
- 298. Beehler GP, Rodrigues AE, Mercurio-Riley D, Dunn AS. Primary care utilization among veterans with chronic musculoskeletal pain: a retrospective chart review. *Pain Med.* 2013;14(7):1021-1031. doi: 10.1111/pme.12126.
- 299. Stanos S, Brodsky M, Argoff C, et al. Rethinking chronic pain in a primary care setting. *Postgrad Med.* 2016;128(5):502-515. doi: 10.1080/00325481.2016.1188319.
- 300. Jensen MP, Hoffman AJ, Stoelb BL, Abresch RT, Carter GT, McDonald CM. Chronic pain in persons with myotonic dystrophy and facioscapulohumeral

dystrophy. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2008;89(2):320-328. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2007.08.153.

- 301. Ivers NM, Jiang M, Alloo J, et al. Diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines: Key messages for family physicians caring for patients living with type 2 diabetes. *Can Fam Physician*. 2019;65(1):14-24. https://www.cfp.ca/content/65/1/14.long. Accessed June 15, 2020.
- 302. Von Korff M, Wagner EH, Dworkin SF, Saunders KW. Chronic pain and use of ambulatory health care. *Psychosom Med.* 1991;53(1):61-79. doi: 10.1097/00006842-199101000-00006.
- 303. Szklo M, Nieto FJ. Understanding Lack of Validity: Bias. In: Johnson M, Reilly T, eds. *Epidemiology: Beyond the Basics*. 3rd ed. Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning; 2014:109-147.
- 304. Department of Health and Community Services. Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. https://www.gov.nl.ca/hcs/. Updated 2020. Accessed September 1, 2020.
- Rao DP, Kropac E, Do MT, Roberts KC, Jayaraman GC. Childhood overweight and obesity trends in Canada. *Health Promot Chronic Dis Prev Can*. 2016;36(9):194-198. doi: 10.24095/hpcdp.36.9.03.
- 306. Roberts KC, Yao X, Carson V, Chaput JP, Janssen I, Tremblay MS. Meeting the Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for Children and Youth. *Health Rep.* 2017;28(10):3-7. https://www150-statcan-gc-ca.qe2a-proxy.mun.ca/n1/pub/82-003-x/2017010/article/54875-eng.pdf. Accessed August 1, 2020.

- 307. McRae L, O'Donnell S, Loukine L, Rancourt N, Pelletier C. Report summary -Mood and Anxiety Disorders in Canada, 2016. *Health Promot Chronic Dis Prev Can.* 2016;36(12):314-315. doi: 10.24095/hpcdp.36.12.05.
- 308. The Daily. Canadian Income Survey, 2017. Statistics Canada.
   <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/190226/dq190226b-eng.htm</u>.
   Published 2019. Accessed August 3, 2020.
- 309. Centre for Research on Children and Families, School of Social Work. Canadian Child Welfare Research Portal - Statistics. McGill University. <u>https://cwrp.ca/statistics</u>. Published 2020. Accessed August 3, 2020, 2020.
- 310. Jones GT, Power C, Macfarlane GJ. Adverse events in childhood and chronic widespread pain in adult life: Results from the 1958 British Birth Cohort Study. *Pain.* 2009;143(1-2):92-96. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2009.02.003.
- 311. Davis DA, Luecken LJ, Zautra AJ. Are reports of childhood abuse related to the experience of chronic pain in adulthood? A meta-analytic review of the literature. *Clin J Pain*. 2005;21(5):398-405. doi: 10.1097/01.ajp.0000149795.08746.31.
- 312. Shelby GD, Shirkey KC, Sherman AL, et al. Functional abdominal pain in childhood and long-term vulnerability to anxiety disorders. *Pediatrics*. 2013;132(3):475-482. doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-2191.
- 313. Hotopf M, Carr S, Mayou R, Wadsworth M, Wessely S. Why do children have chronic abdominal pain, and what happens to them when they grow up?
  Population based cohort study. *BMJ*. 1998;316(7139):1196-1200. doi: 10.1136/bmj.316.7139.1196.

- 314. Jones GT, Silman AJ, Power C, Macfarlane GJ. Are common symptoms in childhood associated with chronic widespread body pain in adulthood? Results from the 1958 British Birth Cohort Study. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2007;56(5):1669-1675. doi: 10.1002/art.22587.
- 315. 1 in 5 without a family doctor in N.L., says medical association. CBC News.
  September 17, 2019. Accessed September 1, 2020.
  https://cbc.ca/news/canada/newfoundland-labrador/nlma-family-doctors1.5286410.
- 316. Health Profile Newfoundland and Labrador. Statistics Canada. <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/health-sante/82-228/search-</u> <u>recherche/lst/page.cfm?Lang=E&GeoLevel=PR&GEOCODE=10</u>. Published 2016. Accessed February 26, 2019.
- Busse JW, Douglas J, Chauhan TS, Kobeissi B, Blackmer J. Perceptions and impact of the 2017 Canadian Guideline for Opioid Therapy and Chronic Noncancer Pain: A cross-sectional study of Canadian physicians. *Pain Res Man*. 2020. doi: 10.1155/2020/8380171.
- 318. Referral Guidelines. Canadian Association of Radiologists. https://car.ca/patientcare/referral-guidelines/. Published 2020. Accessed December 29, 2020.
- 319. Logan GS, Copsey B, Etchegary H, Parfrey P, Mahone K, Hall A. Family physician referral rates for lumbar spine computed tomography in Newfoundland and Labrador: a cross-sectional analysis using routinely collected data. *CMAJ Open.* 2020;8(1):E56-E59. doi: 10.9778/cmajo.20190076.

- 320. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Unnecessary care in Canada. https://www.cihi.ca/sites/default/files/document/choosing-wisely-baseline-reporten-web.pdf. Published April 2017. Accessed December 29, 2020.
- 321. Atlantic Mentorship Network Pain & Addiction.
   https://www.atlanticmentorship.com/. Published 2013. Last updated 2020.
   Accessed December 29, 2020.
- 322. Office of Professional and Educational Development. Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Anxiety. Faculty of Medicine, Memorial University of Newfoundland. https://www.med.mun.ca/oped/programs/?id=4277. Published 2020. Accessed December 29, 2020.
- EConsult. Newfoundland and Labrador Medical Association.
   https://www.nlma.nl.ca/Physicians/eConsult/. Updated 2019. Accessed September
   5, 2020.
- 324. Asghari S, Boyd S, Knight J, et al. Developing a comprehensive database with sensitive health information: A profile of people living with HIV in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada. *Int J Popul Data Sci.* 2020;5:1:04. doi: 10.23889/ijpds.v5i1.1144.
- 325. National Ambulatory Care Reporting System metadata (NACRS). Canadian Institute for Health Information. <u>https://www.cihi.ca/en/national-ambulatory-care-reporting-system-metadata-nacrs</u>. Published 2020. Accessed August 3, 2020.
- WorkplaceNL. Annual Performance Report 2018.
   https://workplacenl.ca/site/uploads/2019/06/apr-2018-workplacenl-annual-report-20190613-web.pdf. Published May 27, 2018. Accessed August 3, 2018.

 327. Manitoba Population Research Data Repository - Overview. University of Manitoba.
 <u>http://umanitoba.ca/faculties/health\_sciences/medicine/units/chs/departmental\_uni</u> <u>ts/mchp/resources/repository/index.html</u>. Published 2020. Accessed August 3,

2020.

328. WHO ATC/DDD Index; 2012. WHO Collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics Methodology. <u>http://www.whocc.no/atc\_ddd\_index/.</u> Published 2012. Accessed October 23, 2013. **Chapter 7 Appendices** 

7.1 Appendix 1. Anatomical Therapeutic Classification Codes<sup>a</sup> of Opioid Medication Used Almost Exclusively for Pain Treatment

ATC Code	Drug Name
N02AA01	Morphine
N02AA02	Opium
N02AA03	Hydromorphone
N02AA05	Oxycodone
N02AA55	Oxycodone, combinations (Targin®)
N02AA59	Codeine, combinations excluding psycholeptics
N02AA79	Codeine, combinations with psycholeptics
N02AB02	Pethidine (Meperidine in Canada)
N02AB03	Fentanyl
N02AC04	Dextropropoxphene (Discontinued in Canada in 2010)
N02AD01	Pentazocine
N02AE01	Buprenorphine
N02AF01	Butorphanol
N02AF02	Nalbuphine (usually used pre-operation or during labour)
N02AX02	Tramadol
N02AX06	Tapentadol (available in Canada since 2010)
N02AX52	Tramadol, combinations
N01AH01	Fentanyl
N01AH02	Alfentanil

N01AH03	Sufentanil

N01AH06 Remifentanil

Abbreviations: ATC; Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical classification codes, WHO;

World Health Organization, DDD; defined daily dose.

<sup>a.</sup> Source: WHO ATC/DDD Index; 2012. WHO Collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics
Methodology. <u>http://www.whocc.no/atc\_ddd\_index/.</u> Published 2012. Accessed October
23, 2013.

7.2 Appendix 2. Pain-related Diagnostic Codes Recorded by Primary Care Providers in Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network<sup>a</sup>-Newfoundland and Labrador Electronic Medical Record Data

Pain Condition Group	ICD-9 codes
Neuropathic pain	53, 53.11, 53.9
	250.6
	256, 256.3, 256.4
	350, 350.1, 350.2
	351, 351.0, 351.8
	352, 352.0, 352.9
	353, 353.0, 353.2, 353.6
	354, 354.0, 354.4,
	355, 355.0, 355.1, 355.3, 355.5, 355.6, 355.9,
	356, 356.2, 356.9,
	357, 357.2, 357.4,
	729, 729.0, 729.1, 729.2, 729.3, 729.31, 729.4, 729.5,
	729.71, 729.81, 729.82, 729.9
Musculoskeletal conditions	710, 710.0, 710.1, 710.2, 710.4
and arthritis	
	711.9
	712.2, 712.3
	713.3, 713,6

	714, 714.0, 714.1, 714.3, 714.8, 714.9
	715, 715.26, 715.3, 715.9, 715.98
	716, 716.1, 716.15, 716.4, 716.5, 716.9
	717, 717.0, 717.3, 717.4, 717.41, 717.43, 717.5, 717.6,
	717.7, 717.8, 717.82
	718, 718.01, 718.07, 718.4, 718.6, 718.80
	719, 719.0, 719.1, 719.4, 719.41, 719.44, 719.45, 719.46,
	719.47, 719.51, 719.52, 719.53, 719.54, 719.55, 719.56,
	719.57, 719.61, 719.62, 719.63, 719.67, 719.7, 719.9
	725
	726, 726.0, 726.1, 726.11, 726.12, 726.19, 726.3, 726.31,
	726.32, 726.33, 726.5, 726.6, 726.61, 726.64, 726.65,
	726.7, 726.71, 726.72, 726.79, 726.9, 726.91
	727, 727.0, 727.03, 727.05, 727.1, 727.3, 727.4, 727.43,
	727.51, 727.6, 727.60, 727.61, 727.62, 727.65, 727.68,
	727.82, 727.9
	728, 728.10, 728.11, 728.2, 728.3, 728.4, 728.5, 728.6,
	728.7, 728.71, 728.79, 728.83, 728.84, 728.85, 728.87,
	728.9
Back/neck disorders	720, 720.0, 720.2, 720.8, 720.9
	721, 721.0, 721.2, 721.3, 721.8

	722, 722.10, 722.4, 722.5, 722.52, 722.6, 722.71, 722.9,
	722.91, 722.92, 722.93
	723, 723.0, 723.1, 723.5, 723.8
	724, 724.0, 724.02, 724.1, 724.2, 724.3, 724.5, 724.6,
	724.7, 724.79, 724.8
	737, 737.0, 737.1, 737.12, 737.21, 737.3
	738, 738.0, 738.1, 738.5, 738.7
	739, 739.5
	756, 756.1, 756.11, 756.17, 756.52, 756.59, 756.71
	805, 805.6, 805.8
	806.0, 806.7
	839.8
	846, 846.0, 846.1
	847, 847.0, 847.2, 847.3, 847.4, 847.9
	848, 848.0, 848.1, 848.3, 848.4, 848.41, 848.42, 848.9
	905.9
	959.09
Bone disorders	730.0, 730.1, 730.36, 730.38, 730.39
	731, 731.0
	732, 732.4, 732.7, 732.9
	733, 733.0, 733.02, 733.03, 733.2, 733.4, 733.5, 733.6,
	733.82, 733.9, 733.90, 733.92, 733.93

	734			
	735, 735.0, 735.2, 735.4, 735.5, 735.8, 735.9			
	736.00, 736.1, 736.2, 736.21, 736.4, 736.41, 736.73,			
	736.76, 736.79, 736.81			
Musculoskeletal trauma	807, 807.0, 807.2			
	808			
	820			
	821.00			
	822			
	823, 823.02, 823.80, 823.81, 823.82			
	824, 824.0, 824.2, 824.4, 824.6			
	825, 825.0, 825.23			
	826			
	827			
	829			
	831, 831.04			
	840, 840.0, 840.4, 840.5, 840.6, 840.9			
	841			
	842, 842.0, 842.1			
	843, 843.0			
	844, 844.0, 844.1, 844.2			

845, 845.0, 845.01, 845.03, 845.09, 845.1, 845.11, 845.12,
845.13
346, 346.0, 346.1, 346.2, 346.8, 346.9
784, 784.0, 784.1, 784.9, 784.99
287.2
307, 307.81
337, 337.2
340
349
388.5
440, 440.21,
443, 443.0, 443.1, 443.89, 443.9
447.6
459.81, 459.9
524.6
558
564, 564.1, 564.2, 564.4, 564.6, 564.8
569.42
577.0, 577.1
592, 592.0, 592.1
596.59

	608.9
	617, 617.9
	625, 625.0, 625.1, 625.2, 625.3, 625.4, 625.5, 625.6, 625.9
	709.2
	781, 781.0, 781.1, 781.2, 781.3, 781.94
	785.6
	786.5, 786.59, 786.8
	788.0, 788.1
	789, 789.0, 789.06, 789.1, 789.2, 789.3, 789.5, 789.66,
	789.9
	991.2, 991.3
Central Pain Syndrome,	338.0 <sup>b</sup> , 338.2 <sup>b</sup> , 338.4
Chronic Pain, or Chronic Pain	
Syndrome	

Abbreviations: ICD-9, International Classification of Disease – 9<sup>th</sup> revision.

<sup>a.</sup> The Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network is a clinical data source comprised of information retrieved directly from the electronic medical records of consenting patients attending participating primary care practices across Canada.
 <sup>b</sup> The diagnostic code is not used in the Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network-Newfoundland and Labrador data but is included for completeness.

Pain Condition	ICD-9	Description	ICD-10-	Description
Group	Code		CA Code	
Neuropathic Pain	053	Herpes Zoster	G50	Disorders of Trigeminal Nerve
	256	Ovarian Dysfunction	G52	Disorders of Other Cranial Nerves
	350	Trigeminal Nerve Disorders	G53	Cranial Nerve Disorder in Diseases
				Classified Elsewhere
	351	Facial Nerve Disorders	G54	Nerve Root and Plexus Diseases
	352	Disorders of Other Cranial Nerves	G55	Nerve Root and Plexus Compression in
				Diseases Classified Elsewhere
	353	Nerve Root and Plexus Disorders	G56	Mononeuropathies of Upper Limb
	354	Mononeuritis of Upper Limb and	G57	Mononeuropathies of Lower Limb
		Mononeuritis Multiplex		
	355	Mononeuritis of Lower Limb	G58	Other Mononeuropathies

7.3 Appendix 3. Pain-related Diagnostic Codes Recorded by Physicians in the Medical Care Plan Fee-For-Service Physicians Claims File and/or Provincial Discharge Abstract Data of Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada

356	Hereditary and Idiopathic	G59	Mononeuropathy in Diseases Classified
	Peripheral Neuropathy		Elsewhere
357	Inflammatory and Toxic	G60	Hereditary and Idiopathic Neuropathy
	Neuropathy		
729	Other Disorders of Soft Tissue	G61	Inflammatory Polyneuropathy
		G62	Other and Unspecified Polyneuropathies
		G63	Polyneuropathy in Diseases Classified
			Elsewhere
		G64	Other Diseases of the Peripheral Nervous
			System
		G82	Paraplegia (Paraparesis) and Quadriplegia
			(Quadriparesis)
		G97	Intraoperative and Post-procedural
			Complications and Disorders of Nervous
			System, Not Elsewhere Classified

			M89	Other Disorders of Bone
			R29	Other Symptoms and Signs Involving the
				Nervous and Musculoskeletal Systems
Musculoskeletal	710	Diffuse Diseases of Connective	M05	Rheumatoid Arthritis with Rheumatoid
Conditions and		Tissue		Factor
Arthritis				
	711	Arthropathy Associated with	M06	Other Rheumatoid Arthritis
		Infections		
	712	Crystal Arthropathies	M07	Enteropathic Arthropathies
	713	Arthropathy Associated with Other	M08	Juvenile Arthritis
		Disorders Classified Elsewhere		
	714	Rheumatoid Arthritis and Other	M10	Gout
		Inflammatory Polyarthropathies		
	715	Osteoarthritis and Allied Disorders	M11	Other Crystal Arthropathies

710	6	Other and Unspecified	M12	Other and Unspecified Arthropathy
		Arthropathies		
71	7	Internal Derangement of Knee	M13	Other Arthritis
718	8	Other Derangement of Joint	M14	Arthropathies in Other Diseases Classified
				Elsewhere
719	9	Other and Unspecified Disorders of	M15	Polyosteoarthritis
		Joint		
72:	5	Polymyalgia Rheumatica	M16	Osteoarthritis of Hip
720	6	Peripheral Enthesopathies and	M17	Osteoarthritis of Knee
		Allied Syndromes		
72	7	Other Disorders of Synovium,	M18	Osteoarthritis of First Carpometacarpal
		Tendon, and Bursa		Joint
725	8	Disorders of Muscle, Ligament,	M19	Other and Unspecified Osteoarthritis
		and Fascia		
			M23	Disorder of Patella

			M24	Other Specified Joint Derangements
		M25 Other Joint Disord		Other Joint Disorder, Not Classified
				Elsewhere
		M36		Systemic Disorders of Connective Tissue
				in Diseases Classified Elsewhere
			M77	Other Enthesopathies
			R26	Abnormalities of Gait and Mobility
Back/neck	720	Ankylosing Spondylitis and Other	M43	Other Deforming Dorsopathies
disorders		Inflammatory Spondylopathies		
	721	Spondylosis and Allied Disorders	M45	Ankylosing Spondylitis
	722	Intervertebral Disc Disorders	M46	Other Inflammatory Spondylopathies
	723	Other Disorders of Cervical Region	M48	Other Spondylopathies
	724	Other and Unspecified Disorders of	M49	Spondylopathies in Diseases Classified
		Back		Elsewhere
	737	Curvature of Spine	M50	Cervical Disc Disorders

 738	Other Acquired Deformity	M51	Thoracic, Thoracolumbar, and
,00	State Progenou Derennity	1,101	
			Lumbosacral Intervertebral Disc Disorders
739	Nonallopathic Lesions, Not	M54	Dorsalgia
	Elsewhere Classified		
756	Other Congenital Musculoskeletal	M81	Osteoporosis without Current Pathological
	Anomalies		Fracture
805	Fracture of Vertebral Column	M82	Osteoporosis in Diseases Classified
	without mention of Spinal Cord		Elsewhere
	Injury		
806	Fracture of Vertebral Column with		
	Spinal Cord Injury		
839	Other, Multiple, and Ill-defined		
	Dislocations		
846	Sprains and strains of Sacroiliac		
	Region		

	847	Sprains and Strains of Other
		Unspecified Parts of Back
	848	Other and Ill-defined Sprains and
		Strains
	905	Late Effects of Musculoskeletal
		and Connective Tissue Injuries
Bone Disorders	730	Osteomyelitis, Periostitis, and
		Other Infections Involving Bone
	731	Osteitis Deformans and
		Osteopathies Associated with Other
		Disorders Classified Elsewhere
	732	Osteochondropathies
	733	Other Disorders of Bone and
		Cartilage
	734	Flatfoot

735	Acquired Deformities of Toe
736	Other Acquired Deformities of
	Limbs

Musculoskeletal	808	Fracture of Pelvis	S12	Fracture of Cervical Vertebra and Other
Trauma				Parts of Neck
	830	Dislocation of Jaw	S22	Fracture of Rib(s), Sternum, and Thoracic
				Spine
	831	Dislocation of Shoulder	S32	Fracture of the Lumbar Spine and Pelvis
	832	Dislocation of Elbow	S42	Fracture of the Shoulder and Upper Arm
	840	Sprains and Strains of Shoulder and	S43	Dislocation and Sprain of Joints and
		Upper Arm		Ligaments of Shoulder Girdle
	841	Sprains and Strains of Elbow and	S53	Dislocation and Sprain of Joints and
		Forearm		Ligaments of Elbow

 842	Sprains and Strains of Wrist and	T02	Fractures Involving Several Regions of the
	Hand		Body
843	Sprains and Strains of Hip and	T08	Fractures of the Spine, Level Not
	Thigh		Specified
844	Sprains and Strains of Knee and	T91	Sequelae of Injuries of Neck and Body
	Leg		
845	Sprains and Strains of Ankle and		
	Foot		

Headaches	346	Migraine	G43	Migraine
	784	Symptoms Involving Head and	G44	Other Headache Syndromes
		Neck		
			R51	Headache

Other conditions	307	Special Symptoms or Syndromes,	F45	Somatoform Disorders
associated with		Not Elsewhere Classified		
chronic pain				
	564	Functional Digestive Disorders,	G96	Other Disorders of Central Nervous
		Not Elsewhere Classified		System
	625	Pain and Other Symptoms L89 Pressure Ulcer		Pressure Ulcer
		Associated with Female Genital		
		Organs		
	781	Symptoms Involving Nervous and	L97	Non-Pressure Chronic Ulcer of Lower
		Musculoskeletal Systems		Limb, Not Elsewhere Classified
	789	Other Symptoms Involving L98 Other Disorders of Skin		Other Disorders of Skin and Subcutaneous
		Abdomen and Pelvis		Tissue, Not Elsewhere Classified
	907	Late Effects of Injuries to the	M22	Internal Derangement of Knee
		Nervous System		

 908	Late Effects of Other and	M47	Spondylosis
	Unspecified Injuries		
		M53	Other and Unspecified Dorsopathies, Not
			Elsewhere Classified
		M65	Synovitis and Tenosynovitis
		M70	Soft Tissue Disorders Related to Use,
			Overuse, and Pressure
		M75	Shoulder Lesions
		M79	Other Enthesopathies
		M80	Other and Unspecified Soft Tissue
			Disorders, Not Elsewhere Classified
		M99	Biomechanical Lesions, Not Elsewhere
			Classified
		R07	Pain in Throat and Chest
		R10	Abdominal and Pelvic Pain

R52	Pain, Unspecified
S13	Dislocation and Sprain of Joints and
	Ligaments at Neck Level
T85	Complications of Other Internal Prosthetic
	Devices, Implants, and Grafts
T88	Other Complications of Surgical and
	Medical Care, Not Elsewhere Classified
T92	Sequelae of Injuries of Upper Limb
Т93	Sequelae of Injuries of Lower Limb
T94	Sequelae of Injuries Involving Multiple
	and Unspecified Body Region

Abbreviations: ICD-9, International Classification of Disease – 9<sup>th</sup> Revision; ICD-10-CA, International Classification of Disease – 10<sup>th</sup> Revision (Canadian).

Notes: All diagnostic codes are organized by pain condition. All diagnostic codes are displayed in the three-digit *International* Classification of Disease –  $9^{th}$  Revision and the International Classification of Disease –  $10^{th}$  Revision (Canadian) format with the accompanying description. See Section 7.5, Appendix 5 for further description of code formats used in the Newfoundland and Labrador health administrative datasets.

7.4 Appendix 4. Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada, Provincial Medical Care

Plan C	hronic l	Pain	Clinic	Procedure	Billing	Codes
--------	----------	------	--------	-----------	---------	-------

Fee Code	Procedure
400020	Pain Clinic Consultation
419020	Pain Clinic Reassessment
578000	Epidural Steroid Injection
578020	Intercostal Nerve Block(s)
578040	Paravertebral Nerve Block of Thoracic or Lumbar Roots
578060	Peripheral Nerve Block for Chronic Pain
578080	Cranial Nerve/Branch Block for Chronic Pain
578100	Stellate Ganglion Block
578120	Intravenous Sympathetic Block by Injection and Infusion of Bretylium,
	Guanetidine, and Reserpine
578140	Intravenous Injection and Infusion with Lidocaine for the treatment of
	Chronic Pain

Medical Care Plan, Department of Health and Community Services. Medical Payment Schedule - 2009.

 $\underline{http://www.health.gov.nl.ca/health/mcp/providers/full\_mcp\_payment\_schedule\_2009.pdf.$ 

Published 2011. Accessed January 10, 2017.

Database	Data	Diagnostic	Number of	Variables Obtained for study datasets
	Period	Codes Utilized	Diagnostic Codes	
			per Entry	
MCP Physician	1999-	3-digit ICD-9	1	• MCP number (de-identified prior to data
Fee-for-Service	2010			provision to research team)
Claims File				• Service date
				Diagnostic code
				Diagnostic description
				• Procedure code
				Physician specialty code
NL Provincial	1999-	Up to 5-digit	Up to 16	• MCP number (de-identified prior to data
Discharge	2010	ICD-9 up to		provision to research team)
Abstract		March 31, 2001		• Care episode identifier
Database				Admission date

## 7.5 Appendix 5. Health Administrative Databases Providing Study Data from Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada

		Up to 6-digit		Discharge date	
		ICD-10-CA		• Diagnostic code(s)	
		April 1, 2001		• Diagnostic description(s)	
		onwards		Diagnostic type	
				Provider service code	
				Admission type	
МСР	1999-	Not applicable	Not applicable	• MCP number (de-identified prior to data	
Beneficiary File	2010			provision to research team)	
				• Age as of September 1, 2012	
				• Sex	
				• Rural/urban location of residence based on	
				population cut-off of 4000 in 2009/10 fiscal yea	ır
				• Regional health authority location of residence	
				in 2009/10 fiscal year	

• MCP eligibility status for each fiscal year from

2003/2004 to 2009/2010

Abbreviations: MCP, Medical Care Plan; ICD-9, International Classification of Disease – 9th Revision; ICD-10-CA,

International Classification of Disease – 10<sup>th</sup> Revision (Canadian); NL, Newfoundland and Labrador.

## 7.6 Appendix 6. Summary of Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System Coding Algorithm Case Definitions for

**Comorbid Conditions** 

Health	Hospital Diagnosis	Physician fee-	Case Definition	Age	Start year
Condition	Codes	for-service			for
	(ICD-9 up to and	Diagnosis			reporting
	including March 31,	Codes (ICD-9)			
	2001; ICD-10-CA				
	from April 1, 2001				
	onwards)				
Mental health	290-319 up to and	290-319	One or more hospitalizations or one or	1+	2000-01
conditions	including March 31,		more physician claims within one year		
	2001				
	F00-F99 from April 1,				
	2001 onward				

Hypertension,	401; 402; 403; 404;	401; 402; 403;	One or more hospitalizations or two or	20+	2000-01
pregnancy-	405 up to and	404; 405	more physician claims within two years		
induced	including March 31,				
hypertension	2001		Special exclusion: Pregnancy-induced		
excluded			hypertension in women age 20-54: 120		
	110, 111, 112, 113, 115		days preceding or 180 days after hospital		
	from April 1, 2001		records containing any of the gestational		
	onward		diagnostic codes.		
			• ICD-9: 641-676, V27		
			• ICD-10 and ICD-10-CA: O1, O21-95,		
			O98, O99, Z37		
Mood and	296; 300; 311 up to	296; 300; 311	One or more hospitalizations or one or	1+	2000-01
anxiety	and including March		more physician claims within one year		
disorders	31, 2001				

## F30-F42, F44-F48,

F68 from April 1, 2001

onward

Diabetes, type	250 up to and	250	One or more hospitalizations or two or	1+	2000-01
unspecified,	including March 31,		more physician claims within two years		
gestational	2001				
diabetes			Special exclusion: Evidence from women		
excluded	E10, E11, E12, E13,		aged 10-54 is removed 120 days preceding		
	E14 from April 1, 2001		or 180 days after hospital records		
	onward		containing any of the pregnancy-related		
			and obstetrical codes:		
			• ICD-9: 641-676, V27		
			• ICD-10 and ICD-10-CA: O1, O21-95,		
			O98, O99, Z37		
Ischemic heart	410; 411; 412; 413;	410; 411; 412;	One or more hospitalizations or procedure	20+	2000-01
----------------	--------------------------	----------------	---	-----	---------
disease (IHD)	414 up to and	413; 414	code or two or more physician claims		
	including March 31,		within one year		
	2001				
	120, 121, 122, 123, 124,				
	I25 from April 1, 2001				
	onward				
Chronic	491; 492; 496 up to	491; 492; 496	One or more hospitalizations or one or	35+	2000-01
obstructive	and including March		more physician claims ever		
pulmonary	31, 2001				
disease (COPD)			Special exclusions:		
	J41, J42, J43, J44 from		ICD-9 Code 490, and ICD-10 Code J40		
	April 1, 2001 onward				

Asthma	493 up to and	493	One or more hospitalizations ever or two or 1-	+	2000-01
	including March 31,		more physician claims within two years		
	2001				
	J45, J46 from April 1,				
	2001 onward				
Cancer	C00-80, C97	N/A	One or more hospitalizations		2001-02
Heart failure	428 up to and	428	One or more hospitalizations or two or 40	0+	2000-01
	including March 31,		more physician claims within one year		
	2001				
	150 from April 1, 2001				
	onward				

Acute	410 up to and	N/A	One or more hospital inpatient admission	20+	2000-01
myocardial	including March 31,				
infarction	2001				
	I21; I22 from April 1,				
	2001 onward				
Stroke	G45.x (exclude	430, 431, 434,	One or more hospitalization or two or more	20+	2003-04
	G45.4), H34.0, H34.1,	435, 436	physician claims within one year		
	I60.x, I61.x, I63.x				
	(exclude I63.6), I64				

Hip fracture	820 up to and	N/A	One or more hospitalizations (6 month	40+	2000-01
	including March 31,		episode period)		
	2001				
	\$72.0; \$72.1; \$72.2				
	from April 1, 2001				
	onward				
Dementia,	G30, F00, F01, F02,	290, 331	One or more hospitalizations; or three or	65+	2002-03
including	F03		more physician claims within two years,		
Alzheimer's			with at least 30 days between each claim		
disease					

Epilepsy	G40	345	• For individuals aged 1-19 years:	1+	2005-06
			Three or more physician claims, with at		
			least 30 days between each claim, within		
			two years.		
			• For individuals aged 20 years and over:		
			One or more hospitalizations; or three or		
			more physician claims, with at least 30		
			days between each claim, within two years.		
Parkinsonism	N/A	332	Two or more physician claims, with at least	40+	2004-05
			30 days between the first and the second		
			claim within one year		
Multiple	G35	340	One or more hospitalizations or five or	20+	2003-04
sclerosis			more physician claims within two years		

Abbreviations: ICD-9, International Classification of Disease – 9<sup>th</sup> Revision; ICD-10-CA, International Classification of Disease

- 10<sup>th</sup> Revision (Canadian)

Source: Public Health Agency of Canada. Public Health Infobase: Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System (CCDSS). Government of Canada. https://health-infobase.canada.ca/ccdss/data-tool/. Published 2018. Accessed February 27, 2019.

Source: Xie L, Semenciw R, Mery L. Cancer incidence in Canada: trends and projections (1983-2032). *Health Promot Chronic Dis Prev Can.* 2015;35 Suppl 1:2-186. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/reports-publications/health-promotion-chronic-disease-prevention-canada-research-policy-practice/vol-35-no-1-2015/supplement.html. Accessed April 12, 2019.

# 7.7 Appendix 7. Provincial Medical Care Plan Procedure Billing Codes Used to Describe Diagnostic Imaging Claims in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada

Procedure Code	Procedure Description
General	
Radiograph	
701000	Skull-Routine
701010	Sella turcica
701100	Facial bones
701110	Nose
701120	Mandible
701130	Temporomandibular joints
701200	sinuses
701210	Mastoids - acute
701320	Teeth - full set
701400	Eye - for foreign body
701410	Eye - for localization (stereo-optics)
701420	Optic Foramina
701500	Salivary gland region
701600	Neck for soft tissues
701900	General radiograph
702000	Cervical spine
702100	Thoracic spine

702200	Lumbar or lumbosacral spine
702250	Sacrum and/or coccyx
702300	Pelvis - single view
702350	Pelvis and hips
702400	Sacroiliac joints
702450	Spine - scoliosis series
702500	Ribs - unilateral
702510	Ribs - bilateral, extra
702600	Sternum
702700	Special additional view of any spine and pelvis item
703000	Clavicle
703010	Sternoclavicular joint
	Acromioclavicular joints - bilateral (with or without weighted
703030	distraction)
703100	Shoulder
703200	Scapula
703300	Humerus
703310	Elbow
703320	Ulna and radius
703330	Wrist
703340	Wrist and Hand
703350	Hand

703360	Finger
703370	Thumb, including metacarpals
703380	Scaphoid
703500	Hip
703510	Hip pinning, interpretation only
703520	Femur
703530	Orthoroentgenogram
703600	Knee
703640	Tibia and fibula
703660	Ankle
703680	Calcaneus
703700	Foot
703800	Toe
	Special additional view of any item in the section headed
703900	extremities
703950	Post reduction check
704300	Skeletal survey for bone age - single film
704310	Skeletal survey for bone age - 2 or more films or views
704400	Other survey - basic for rheumatoid survey
704500	Other survey - basic for metabolic survey
704600	Other survey - basic for metastatic survey
704650	Other survey - plus per film or view for either of the above

705010	Chest - single film
705020	Chest - 2 views
705030	Chest - 3 or more views
705200	Mammography - unilateral
705220	Mammography - bilateral
705250	Screening mammography program
706000	Abdomen - Survey film
706010	Abdomen - additional film studies (acute abdomen)
706100	Esophagus
706200	Stomach and duodenum
706210	Stomach and duodenum with small intestinal series
706250	Small bowel only
706260	Upper GI - double contrast
706300	Colon - barium enema
706310	Colon - with air study
706450	T-tube cholangiogram
706500	Operative cholangiogram, interpretation only
707000	GU tract - Survey film
707050	Retrograde pyelogram
707100	Intravenous pyelogram
707140	Intravenous pyelogram - with nephrotomogram
707300	Urethrocystogram

707350	Stress urethrocystogram
707380	Voiding urethrocystogram
707450	Nephrostogram
708240	Obstetrics and Gynecology - Hysterosalpingogram

# Computed

## Tomography

### Scan

738000	Head - without IV contrast
738010	Head - with IV contrast
738020	Head - with and without IV contrast
738050	Complex head - without IV contrast
738060	Complex head - with IV contrast
738070	Complex head - with and without IV contrast
738100	Neck - with IV contrast
738110	Neck - without IV contrast
738120	Neck - with and without IV contrast
738150	Thorax - without IV contrast
738160	Thorax with IV contrast
738170	Thorax with and without IV contrast
738200	Abdomen - without IV contrast
738210	Abdomen - with IV contrast
738230	Abdomen with and without IV contrast

738250	Extremities - without IV contrast
738260	Extremities - with IV contrast
738270	Extremities - with and without IV contrast
738300	Spine without IV contrast
738310	Spine with IV contrast
738320	Spine with and without IV contrast
738350	Pelvis without IV contrast
738360	Pelvis with IV contrast
738370	Pelvis with and without IV contrast

# Magnetic

### Resonance

# **Imaging Scan**

738500	Head - multislice SE
738510	Head - multislice IR
738520	Head - repeat
738530	Head with gating
738550	Neck - multislice SE
738560	Neck - multislice IR
738570	Neck - repeat
738600	Thorax - multislice SE
738610	Thorax - multislice IR
738620	Thorax - repeat

738630	Thorax - when gating is performed
738650	Abdomen - multislice SE
738660	Abdomen - multislice IR
738670	Abdomen - repeat
738680	Abdomen - when gating is performed
738700	Pelvis - multislice SE
738710	Pelvis - multislice IR
738720	Pelvis - repeat
738750	Extremity - multislice SE
738760	Extremity - multislice IR
738770	Extremity - repeat
738800	Spine - 1 segment - multislice SE
738810	Spine 1 segment - multislice IR
738820	Spine 1 segment - repeat
738860	Spine 2 segments - multislice SE
738870	Spine 2 segments - multislice IR
738880	Spine - 2 segments - repeat
738910	Complex spine - multislice SE
738920	Complex spine - multislice IR
738930	Complex spine - repeat
745200	Diagnostic biopsy by any radiography technique

Source: Medical Care Plan, Department of Health and Community Services. Medical Payment Schedule - 2009.

http://www.health.gov.nl.ca/health/mcp/providers/full\_mcp\_payment\_schedule\_2009.pdf.

Published 2011. Accessed January 10, 2017.

#### 7.8 Appendix 8. Most Recent Approval from the Health Research Ethics Board of

#### Newfoundland and Labrador

**Heather Foley** 

From:administrator@hrea.caSent:February-03-20 9:08 AMTo:Heather FoleyCc:Audas Richard(Supervisor); administrator@hrea.caSubject:HREB - Approval of Ethics Renewal

Researcher Portal File #: 20181270

Dear Mrs. Heather Foley:

This e-mail serves as notification that your ethics renewal for study HREB # 2017.273 – Portrait of Chronic Pain in Newfoundland and Labrador: (Incidence, Prevalence and Health Care Utilization) – has been **approved**. Please log in to the Researcher Portal to view the approved event.

Ethics approval for this project has been granted for a period of twelve months effective from January 31, 2020 to January 31, 2021.

Please note, it is the responsibility of the Principal Investigator (PI) to ensure that the Ethics Renewal form is submitted prior to the renewal date each year. Though the Research Ethics Office makes every effort to remind the PI of this responsibility, the PI may not receive a reminder. The Ethics Renewal form can be found on the Researcher Portal as an "Event".

The ethics renewal will be reported to the Health Research Ethics Board at their meeting dated February 13, 2020.

Thank you,

Research Ethics Office

(e) <u>info@hrea.ca</u> (t) 709-777-6974 (f) 709-777-8776 (w) <u>www.hrea.ca</u> Office Hours: 8:30 a.m. – 4:30 p.m. (NL TIME) Monday-Friday

This email is intended as a private communication for the sole use of the primary addressee and those individuals copied in the original message. If you are not an intended recipient of this message you are hereby notified that copying, forwarding or other dissemination or distribution of this communication by any means is prohibited. If you believe that you have received this message in error please notify the original sender immediately.

1